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PART I. Financial Statements

Item 1.    Consolidated Financial Statements

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In millions, except per share amounts)

As of

As of
December 31, 2022

September 30, 2023

(Unaudited)

Assets:

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 837  $ 1,799  

Short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents 471  6,149  

Restricted short-term investments 730  —  

Cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds 79,297  141,990  

Invested deposits, delivery contracts receivable and unsettled variation margin 1,899  5,382  

Customer accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $ 27 and $ 22 at September 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively 1,422  1,169  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 741  458  

Total current assets 85,397  156,947  

Property and equipment, net 1,918  1,767  

Other non-current assets:

Goodwill 30,463  21,111  

Other intangible assets, net 17,595  13,090  

Long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents 190  405  

Long-term restricted investments 199  —  

Other non-current assets 1,260  1,018  

Total other non-current assets 49,707  35,624  

Total assets $ 137,022  $ 194,338  

Liabilities and Equity:

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 964  $ 866  

Section 31 fees payable 18  223  

Accrued salaries and benefits 377  352  

Deferred revenue 334  170  

Short-term debt 2,257  4  

Margin deposits and guaranty funds 79,297  141,990  

Invested deposits, delivery contracts payable and unsettled variation margin 1,899  5,382  

Other current liabilities 136  184  

Total current liabilities 85,282  149,171  

Non-current liabilities:

Non-current deferred tax liability, net 4,210  3,493  

Long-term debt 21,042  18,118  

Accrued employee benefits 177  160  

Non-current operating lease liability 306  254  

Other non-current liabilities 493  381  

Total non-current liabilities 26,228  22,406  

Total liabilities 111,510  171,577  

Commitments and contingencies
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Equity:

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $ 0.01 par value; 100 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding —  —  

Common stock, $ 0.01 par value; 1,500 shares authorized; 648 and 634 issued at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively, and 572 and 559 shares outstanding at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively 6  6  

Treasury stock, at cost; 76 and 75 shares at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively ( 6,278 ) ( 6,225 )

Additional paid-in capital 15,837  14,313  

Retained earnings 16,225  14,943  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss ( 331 ) ( 331 )

Total Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. stockholders’ equity 25,459  22,706  

Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries 53  55  

Total equity 25,512  22,761  

Total liabilities and equity $ 137,022  $ 194,338  

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

(In millions, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Revenues:

Exchanges $ 4,754  $ 4,824  $ 1,540  $ 1,577  

Fixed income and data services 1,668  1,555  559  534  

Mortgage technology 815  880  330  276  

Total revenues 7,237  7,259  2,429  2,387  

Transaction-based expenses:

Section 31 fees 231  332  56  158  

Cash liquidity payments, routing and clearing 1,219  1,403  370  418  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses 5,787  5,524  2,003  1,811  

Operating expenses:

Compensation and benefits 1,103  1,058  400  344  

Professional services 88  101  31  32  

Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs 201  81  155  19  

Technology and communication 529  513  184  169  

Rent and occupancy 65  63  20  22  

Selling, general and administrative 196  166  59  54  

Depreciation and amortization 836  768  309  258  

Total operating expenses 3,018  2,750  1,158  898  

Operating income 2,769  2,774  845  913  

Other income/(expense):

Interest income 287  42  94  33  

Interest expense ( 557 ) ( 440 ) ( 206 ) ( 176 )

Other expense, net ( 121 ) ( 1,132 ) ( 51 ) ( 1,097 )

Total other income/(expense), net ( 391 ) ( 1,530 ) ( 163 ) ( 1,240 )

Income/(loss) before income tax expense 2,378  1,244  682  ( 327 )

Income tax expense/(benefit) 330  186  123  ( 152 )

Net income/(loss) $ 2,048  $ 1,058  $ 559  $ ( 175 )

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest ( 53 ) ( 37 ) ( 18 ) ( 16 )

Net income/(loss) attributable to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. $ 1,995  $ 1,021  $ 541  $ ( 191 )

Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. common stockholders:

Basic $ 3.56  $ 1.83  $ 0.96  $ ( 0.34 )

Diluted $ 3.55  $ 1.82  $ 0.96  $ ( 0.34 )

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 561  559  563  558  

Diluted 562  561  565  560  

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Net income/(loss) $ 2,048  $ 1,058  $ 559  $ ( 175 )

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments —  ( 207 ) ( 47 ) ( 98 )

Other comprehensive loss —  ( 207 ) ( 47 ) ( 98 )

Comprehensive income/(loss) $ 2,048  $ 851  $ 512  $ ( 273 )

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest ( 53 ) ( 37 ) ( 18 ) ( 16 )

Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. $ 1,995  $ 814  $ 494  $ ( 289 )

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity Non-

Controlling

Interest in

Consolidated

Subsidiaries

Total

Equity

Common

 Stock Treasury Stock Additional

Paid-in

Capital

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income/(Loss)Shares Value Shares Value

Balance, as of December 31, 2022 634  $ 6  ( 75 ) $ ( 6,225 ) $ 14,313  $ 14,943  $ ( 331 ) $ 55  $ 22,761  

Stock consideration issued for acquisition 11  1,256  1,256  

Exercise of common stock options — — — — 27  — — — 27  

Payments relating to treasury shares — — ( 1 ) ( 53 ) — — — — ( 53 )

Stock-based compensation — — — — 198  — — — 198  

Issuance under the employee stock purchase plan 1  — — — 43  — — — 43  

Contribution from equity partners — — — — — — — 9  9  

Issuance of restricted stock 2  — — — — — — — — 

Distributions of profits — — — — — — — ( 64 ) ( 64 )

Dividends paid to stockholders — — — — — ( 713 ) — — ( 713 )

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interest — — — — — ( 53 ) — 53  — 

Net income — — — — — 2,048  — — 2,048  

Balance, as of September 30, 2023 648  $ 6  ( 76 ) $ ( 6,278 ) $ 15,837  $ 16,225  $ ( 331 ) $ 53  $ 25,512  

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity Non-

Controlling

Interest in

Consolidated

Subsidiaries

Total

Equity

Common

 Stock Treasury Stock Additional

Paid-in

Capital

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income/(Loss)Shares Value Shares Value

Balance, as of June 30, 2023 636  $ 6  ( 76 ) $ ( 6,276 ) $ 14,449  $ 15,925  $ ( 284 ) $ 69  $ 23,889  

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — ( 47 ) — ( 47 )

Stock consideration issued for acquisition 11  1,256  1,256  

Exercise of common stock options — — — — 3  — — — 3  

Payments relating to treasury shares — — — ( 2 ) — — — — ( 2 )

Stock-based compensation — — — — 104  — — — 104  

Issuance under the employee stock purchase plan 1  — — — 25  — — — 25  

Distributions of profits — — — — — — — ( 34 ) ( 34 )

Dividends paid to stockholders — — — — — ( 241 ) — — ( 241 )

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interest — — — — — ( 18 ) — 18  — 

Net income — — — — — 559  — — 559  

Balance, as of September 30, 2023 648  $ 6  ( 76 ) $ ( 6,278 ) $ 15,837  $ 16,225  $ ( 331 ) $ 53  $ 25,512  
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest - (Continued)

(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity Non-

Controlling

Interest in

Consolidated

Subsidiaries

Total

Equity

Common

 Stock Treasury Stock Additional

Paid-in

Capital

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income/(Loss)Shares Value Shares Value

Balance, as of December 31, 2021 631  $ 6  ( 70 ) $ ( 5,520 ) $ 14,069  $ 14,350  $ ( 196 ) $ 39  $ 22,748  

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — ( 207 ) — ( 207 )

Exercise of common stock options — — — — 22  — — — 22  

Repurchases of common stock — — ( 4 ) ( 632 ) — — — — ( 632 )

Payments relating to treasury shares — — ( 1 ) ( 72 ) — — — — ( 72 )

Stock-based compensation — — — — 129  — — — 129  

Issuance under the employee stock purchase plan 1  — — — 49  — — — 49  

Issuance of restricted stock 2  — — — — — — — — 

Distributions of profits — — — — — — — ( 35 ) ( 35 )

Dividends paid to stockholders — — — — — ( 640 ) — — ( 640 )

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interest — — — — — ( 37 ) — 37  — 

Net income — — — — — 1,058  — — 1,058  

Balance, as of September 30, 2022 634  $ 6  ( 75 ) $ ( 6,224 ) $ 14,269  $ 14,731  $ ( 403 ) $ 41  $ 22,420  

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity Non-

Controlling

Interest in

Consolidated

Subsidiaries

Total

Equity

Common

 Stock Treasury Stock Additional

Paid-in

Capital

Retained

Earnings

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Income/(Loss)Shares Value Shares Value

Balance, as of June 30, 2022 633  $ 6  ( 75 ) $ ( 6,223 ) $ 14,201  $ 15,135  $ ( 305 ) $ 47  $ 22,861  

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — ( 98 ) — ( 98 )

Exercise of common stock options — — — — 2  — — — 2  

Payments relating to treasury shares — — — ( 1 ) — — — — ( 1 )

Stock-based compensation — — — — 41  — — — 41  

Issuance under the employee stock purchase plan 1  — — — 25  — — — 25  

Distributions of profits — — — — — — — ( 22 ) ( 22 )

Dividends paid to stockholders — — — — — ( 213 ) — — ( 213 )

Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interest — — — — — ( 16 ) — 16  — 

Net loss — — — — — ( 175 ) — — ( 175 )

Balance, as of September 30, 2022 634  $ 6  ( 75 ) $ ( 6,224 ) $ 14,269  $ 14,731  $ ( 403 ) $ 41  $ 22,420  

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In millions)
(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022

Operating activities:

Net income $ 2,048  $ 1,058  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 836  768  

Stock-based compensation 164  116  

Deferred taxes ( 247 ) ( 515 )

Loss/(gain) on sale of investments 8  ( 41 )

Net losses from and impairment of unconsolidated investees 91  1,152  

Other 54  31  

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Customer accounts receivable ( 112 ) ( 72 )

  Other current and non-current assets ( 35 ) ( 170 )

Section 31 fees payable ( 205 ) 1  

Deferred revenue 127  130  

Other current and non-current liabilities ( 156 ) 4  

Total adjustments 525  1,404  

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,573  2,462  

 Investing activities:

Capital expenditures ( 104 ) ( 125 )

Capitalized software development costs ( 222 ) ( 200 )

Purchases of invested margin deposits ( 1,360 ) ( 6,935 )

Proceeds from sales of invested margin deposits 3,396  4,285  

Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired ( 10,247 ) ( 57 )

Proceeds from sale of/(purchases of) equity and equity method investments 90  ( 69 )

Proceeds from sale of Euroclear investment —  741  

Purchases of investments ( 956 ) —  

Other —  ( 1 )

Net cash used in investing activities ( 9,403 ) ( 2,361 )

Financing activities:

 Proceeds from/(repayments of) debt facilities, net 514  5,189  

 Proceeds from/(redemption of) commercial paper, net 2,257  ( 1,012 )

Repurchases of common stock —  ( 632 )

Dividends to stockholders ( 713 ) ( 640 )

 Change in cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds ( 64,729 ) 13,503  

Payments relating to treasury shares received for restricted stock tax payments and stock option exercises ( 53 ) ( 72 )

Other 13  37  

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities ( 62,711 ) 16,373  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash equivalent margin deposits
and guaranty funds ( 7 ) ( 41 )

Net (decrease)/increase in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and
guaranty funds ( 69,548 ) 16,433  

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds at beginning of
period 150,343  147,976  

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds at end of
period $ 80,795  $ 164,409  

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

(In millions)
(Unaudited)



Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022

Supplemental cash flow disclosure:

Cash paid for income taxes $ 658  $ 710  

Cash paid for interest $ 524  $ 368  

Reconciliation of the components of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash
equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds to the balance sheet:

As of
September 30, 2023

As of
 September 30, 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 837  $ 1,183  

Short-term restricted cash and cash equivalents 471  6,032  

Long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents 190  405  

Cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds 79,297  156,789  

Total $ 80,795  $ 164,409  

See accompanying notes.
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Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1.  Description of Business

Nature of Business and Organization

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. is a provider of market infrastructure, data services and technology solutions to a broad range of customers including financial institutions, corporations
and government entities. These products, which span major asset classes including futures, equities, fixed income and United States, or U.S., residential mortgages provide our
customers with access to mission critical tools that are designed to increase asset class transparency and workflow efficiency. Our business is conducted through three reportable
business segments:

• Exchanges: We operate regulated marketplaces for the listing, trading and clearing of a broad array of derivatives contracts and financial securities.

• Fixed Income and Data Services:  We provide fixed income pricing, reference data, indices, analytics and execution services as well as global credit default swap, or CDS,
clearing and multi-asset class data delivery solutions.

• Mortgage Technology: We provide a technology platform that offers customers comprehensive, digital workflow tools that aim to address inefficiencies and mitigate risks that
exist in the U.S. residential mortgage market life cycle from application through closing, servicing and the secondary market.

We operate marketplaces, technology and provide data services in the U.S., United Kingdom, or U.K., European Union, or EU, Canada, Asia Pacific and the Middle East.

2.      Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP, pursuant to the
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, regarding interim financial reporting. Accordingly, the unaudited consolidated financial statements do not
include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements and should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements
and related notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2022. The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments that are, in our opinion,
necessary for a fair presentation of results for the interim periods presented. We believe that these adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.

Preparing financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts that are reported in our consolidated
financial statements and accompanying disclosures. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates. The results of operations for the nine and three months ended September 30,
2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period or the full fiscal year.

These statements include the accounts of our wholly-owned and controlled subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions between us and our wholly-owned and controlled
subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation. For consolidated subsidiaries in which our ownership is less than 100% and for which we have control over the assets and liabilities
and the management of the entity, the outside stockholders’ interests are shown as non-controlling interests.

We have considered the impacts of macroeconomic conditions during the quarter, including interest rates, the inflationary environment, geopolitical events and military conflicts, including
repercussions from the conflicts in Ukraine, Israel and Gaza and the impacts that any of the foregoing may have on the global economy and on our business. As of September 30, 2023,
our businesses and operations, including our exchanges, clearing houses, listings venues, data services businesses and mortgage platforms, have not suffered a material negative
impact as a result of these events. There continues to be uncertainty surrounding the current macroeconomic environment and the impact that it may have on the global economy and on
our business.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, there were no significant changes to the new and recently adopted accounting pronouncements applicable to us from those
disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, or the 2022 Form 10-K.
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3.      Acquisitions and Divestitures

Black Knight, Inc.

On September 5, 2023 we acquired Black Knight, Inc., or Black Knight, a software, data and analytics company that serves the housing finance continuum, including real estate data,
mortgage lending and servicing, as well as the secondary markets. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 4, 2022, among ICE, Sand Merger Sub Corporation,
a wholly owned subsidiary of ICE, or Sub, and Black Knight, which we refer to as the "merger agreement," Sub merged with and into Black Knight, which we refer to as the "merger," with
Black Knight surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of ICE.

The aggregate transaction consideration was approximately $ 11.8  billion, or $ 76 per share of Black Knight common stock, with cash comprising 90 % of the value of the aggregate
transaction consideration and shares of our common stock comprising 10 % of the value of the aggregate transaction consideration. The aggregate cash component of the transaction
consideration was $ 10.5  billion, and the value of the aggregate stock component of the transaction consideration was based on the market price of our common stock and the average
of the volume weighted averages of the trading prices of our common stock on each of the ten consecutive trading days ending three trading days prior to the closing of the merger. We
expect that this transaction will build on our position as a provider of end-to-end electronic workflow solutions for the rapidly evolving U.S. residential mortgage industry. We believe the
Black Knight ecosystem adds value for clients of all sizes across the mortgage and real estate lifecycles by helping organizations lower costs, increase efficiencies, grow their
businesses, and reduce risk.

On September 14, 2023, or the Divestiture Date, in connection with the merger agreement, we sold Black Knight's Optimal Blue and Empower loan origination system, or LOS,
businesses, or the Divestitures, to subsidiaries of Constellation Software, Inc. The cash proceeds from the Divestitures were $ 241  million. The structure of the Optimal Blue transaction
also included a promissory note with a face value of $ 500  million, or the Promissory Note, issued by the purchaser to Black Knight, as a subsidiary of ICE, at the closing of the
transaction. The Promissory Note has a 40 -year term with a maturity date of September 5, 2063, and a coupon interest rate of 7.0 % per year. As discussed in more detail below, the
Promissory Note was valued at $ 235  million on the Divestiture Date. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, 805, Business Combinations, or ASC 805, as well
as ASC 360, Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets , we are required to measure an acquired long-lived asset or disposal group that is classified as held for sale at the
acquisition date at fair value less cost to sell. Accordingly, there was no gain or loss recognized on the Divestitures.

For the period between the acquisition date of September 5, 2023 through the Divestiture Date, the discontinued operations of Empower and Optimal Blue were immaterial and have
been included in acquisition-related transaction and integration costs in our consolidated statements of income for the nine and three months ending September 30, 2023.

Pursuant to the Agreement Containing Consent Orders entered into between the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, and ICE and Black Knight, all rights, title and interest in the
promissory note were transferred to a trustee appointed by the FTC for the purpose of selling the promissory note within six months of the Divestiture Date. Proceeds of the promissory
note sale, net of trustee expenses, will be paid to ICE and Black Knight once the sale is final and approved by the FTC. We have elected the fair value option for the right to receive the
net proceeds of the sale of the Promissory Note, which was $ 235  million based on Level 3 inputs on the Divestiture Date (Note 14).

The estimated fair value of the consideration transferred for Black Knight was approximately $ 11.3  billion as of the acquisition date, which consisted of the following (in millions):

Transaction Consideration

Cash $ 10,542  

ICE common stock 1,256  

Converted unvested Black Knight awards 22  

Total preliminary purchase price $ 11,820  

Less: Divestitures ( 476 )

Total net preliminary purchase price $ 11,344  

The purchase price has been allocated to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities based on the preliminary respective estimated fair values on the date of
acquisition. The excess of purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets has been recorded as goodwill. Goodwill represents potential revenue synergies related
to new product development, various expense synergies and opportunities to enter new markets, and is assigned to our
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mortgage technology reporting unit. The preliminary purchase price allocation is as follows (in millions):

Preliminary Purchase Price

Cash and cash equivalents $ 58  

Property and equipment 147  

Goodwill 9,349  

 Identifiable intangibles 4,991  

Debt acquired ( 2,389 )

 Other assets and liabilities, net 154  

Deferred tax liabilities on identifiable intangibles ( 1,276 )

Other deferred tax assets 310  

Preliminary purchase price $ 11,344  

In performing the preliminary purchase price allocation, we considered, among other factors, the intended future use of acquired assets, analysis of historical financial performance and
estimates of future performance of the Black Knight business. We have not yet obtained all of the information related to the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities.

The primary areas of the preliminary purchase price allocation that are not yet finalized relate to the valuation of the identifiable intangible assets, income taxes, and certain other tangible
assets and liabilities. The allocation of the purchase price will be finalized upon the completion of the analysis of the acquired assets and liabilities within one year of the date of
acquisition.

The following table sets forth the components of the preliminary intangible assets associated with the acquisition as of September 30, 2023 (in millions, except years):

Acquisition-Date Preliminary
Fair Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value Useful Life (Years)

Developed Technology $ 1,129  $ ( 9 ) $ 1,120  2 to 10

Trademarks/Tradenames 159  ( 1 ) 158  5 to 20

Customer Relationships 3,077  ( 19 ) 3,058  1 to 15

Data and Databases 579  ( 5 ) 574  10

In-process Research & Development 47  — 47  N/A

Total $ 4,991  $ ( 34 ) $ 4,957  

From the acquisition date through September 30, 2023, Black Knight revenues of $ 87  million, which were included in our mortgage technology revenues and operating expenses of $
139  million were recorded in our consolidated income statement for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023.

We are currently reviewing the impact of this acquisition under ASC 805. Any additional disclosures would not be practical for the nine and three months ending September 30, 2023 due
to the size and timing of the acquisition. Such disclosures, if any, will be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023.

See Note 13 where additional details of this transaction are discussed.

4. Investments

Dun & Bradstreet

In connection with our acquisition of Black Knight, we acquired an investment in Dun & Bradstreet Holdings, Inc., or D&B, a global provider of business decisioning data and analytics,
which we classify as an equity investment. During the three months ended September 30, 2023, we sold 51 % of our investment for $ 97  million and recorded a loss on the sale of $ 1
 million. As of September 30, 2023, we maintain an investment of approximately 2 % ownership in D&B, which we
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record at fair value with gains and losses recognized in net income using Level 2 inputs (Note 14). During the three months ended September 30, 2023, we recorded a fair value loss of
$ 7  million, which is included as other expense.

Euroclear

We previously owned a 9.8 % stake in Euroclear, plc, or Euroclear, that we originally purchased for $ 631  million. We participated on the Euroclear Board of Directors, and we classified
our investment in Euroclear as an equity investment.

On May 20, 2022, we completed the sale of our 9.8 % stake in Euroclear. The carrying value of our investment was $ 700  million at the time of the sale and was classified within other
current assets on our balance sheet. We recorded a net gain on the sale of $ 41  million, which was included in other income, during the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

Equity Method Investments

Our equity method investments include the Options Clearing Corporation, or OCC, and Bakkt Holdings, LLC, or Bakkt, among others. Our equity method investments are included in
other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. We initially record our equity method investments at cost. At the end of each reporting period, we record our
share of profits or losses of our equity method investments as equity earnings included in other income, and adjust the carrying value of our equity method investment accordingly. In
addition, if and when our equity method investments issue cash dividends to us, we deduct the amount of these dividends from the carrying amount of that investment. We assess the
carrying value periodically if impairment indicators are present.

We recognized $ 91 million and $ 1.1 billion as our share of estimated losses, net, from our equity method investments during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, and $ 2 6  million and $ 1.1  billion as our share of losses, net, from our equity method investments during the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The estimated losses during both the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 are primarily related to our investment in Bakkt, partially offset by our
share of OCC profits. Both periods include adjustments to reflect the difference between reported prior period actual results from our original estimates.

When performing our assessment of the carrying value of our investments, we consider, among other things, the length of time and the extent to which the market value has been less
than our cost basis, if applicable, the investee's financial condition and near-term prospects, the economic or technological environment in which our investees operate, weakening of the
general market condition of the related industry, whether an investee can continue as a going concern, any impairment charges recorded by an investee on goodwill, intangible or long-
lived assets, and our intent and ability to retain the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value.

OCC

We own a 40 % interest in OCC through a direct investment by the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE. OCC is regulated by the SEC as a registered clearing agency and by the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission, or CFTC, as a derivatives clearing organization. OCC serves as a clearing house for securities options, security futures, commodity futures
and options on futures traded on various independent exchanges. OCC clears securities options traded on NYSE Arca and NYSE Amex Options, along with other non-affiliated
exchanges.

Bakkt

As of September 30, 2023, we held an approximate 64 % economic interest in Bakkt. As a result of limitations on ICE from the Bakkt voting agreement entered into in connection with
Bakkt's merger with VIH, we hold a minority voting interest in Bakkt and treat it as an equity method investment. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, Bakkt reported an
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets of approximately $ 1.5  billion, of which $ 1.0  billion was included in our share of estimated losses. We also recorded an impairment of $ 40
 million in our investment in Bakkt to its fair value as of September 30, 2022 as other expense. This was based on what we considered to be an other than temporary decline in fair value
as a result of the factors noted above, including consideration for the impairment charge recorded by Bakkt.

5. Revenue Recognition

Substantially all of our revenues are considered to be revenues from contracts with customers. The related accounts receivable balances are recorded in our balance sheets as
customer accounts receivable. We do not have obligations for warranties, returns or refunds to customers, other than rebates, which are settled each period and therefore do not result
in variable consideration. We do not have significant revenue recognized from performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods, and we do not have any transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations other than in our deferred revenue. Certain judgments and estimates are used in the identification and timing of satisfaction of
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performance obligations and the related allocation of transaction price. We believe that these represent a faithful depiction of the transfer of services to our customers.

Deferred revenue represents our contract liabilities related to our annual, original and other listings revenues, certain data services, clearing services, mortgage technology services and
other revenues. Deferred revenue is our only significant contract liability. See Note 7 for our discussion of deferred revenue balances, activity, and expected timing of recognition.

For all of our contracts with customers, except for listings and certain data, clearing and mortgage services, our performance obligations are short term in nature and there is no
significant variable consideration. In addition, we have elected the practical expedient of excluding sales taxes from transaction prices. We have assessed the costs incurred to obtain or
fulfill a contract with a customer, which are primarily our sales commissions.

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of our 2022 Form 10-K where our primary revenue contract classifications are described in detail.

The following table depicts the disaggregation of our revenue according to business line and segment (in millions). Amounts here have been aggregated as they follow consistent
revenue recognition patterns, and are consistent with the segment information in Note 15:

 Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data

Services Segment
Mortgage Technology

Segment Total Consolidated

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023:

Total revenues $ 4,754  $ 1,668  $ 815  $ 7,237  

Transaction-based expenses 1,450  —  —  1,450  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 3,304  $ 1,668  $ 815  $ 5,787  

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Services transferred at a point in time $ 1,902  $ 343  $ 240  $ 2,485  

Services transferred over time 1,402  1,325  575  3,302  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 3,304  $ 1,668  $ 815  $ 5,787  

 Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data

Services Segment
Mortgage Technology

Segment Total Consolidated

Three Months Ended September 30, 2023:

Total revenues $ 1,540  $ 559  $ 330  $ 2,429  

Transaction-based expenses 426  —  —  426  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 1,114  $ 559  $ 330  $ 2,003  

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Services transferred at a point in time $ 639  $ 114  $ 92  $ 845  

Services transferred over time 475  445  238  1,158  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 1,114  $ 559  $ 330  $ 2,003  
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 Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data

Services Segment
Mortgage Technology

Segment Total Consolidated

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022:

Total revenues $ 4,824  $ 1,555  $ 880  $ 7,259  

Transaction-based expenses 1,735  —  —  1,735  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 3,089  $ 1,555  $ 880  $ 5,524  

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Services transferred at a point in time $ 1,760  $ 263  $ 374  $ 2,397  

Services transferred over time 1,329  1,292  506  3,127  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 3,089  $ 1,555  $ 880  $ 5,524  

 Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data

Services Segment
Mortgage Technology

Segment Total Consolidated

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022:

Total revenues $ 1,577  $ 534  $ 276  $ 2,387  

Transaction-based expenses 576  $ —  $ —  576  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 1,001  $ 534  $ 276  $ 1,811  

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Services transferred at a point in time $ 563  $ 104  $ 104  $ 771  

Services transferred over time 438  430  172  1,040  

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 1,001  $ 534  $ 276  $ 1,811  

The Exchanges segment and the Fixed Income and Data Services segment revenues above include data services revenues. Our data services revenues are transferred over time, and a
majority of those revenues are performed over a short period of time of one month or less and relate to subscription-based data services billed monthly, quarterly or annually in advance.
These revenues are recognized ratably over time as our data delivery performance obligations are met consistently throughout the period.

The Exchanges segment revenues transferred over time in the table above include services related to listings, services related to risk management of open interest performance
obligations and services related to regulatory fees, trading permits, and software licenses.

The Fixed Income and Data Services segment revenues transferred over time in the table above include services related to risk management of open interest performance obligations,
primarily in our CDS business.

The Mortgage Technology segment revenues transferred over time in the table above primarily relate to our origination technology revenue where performance obligations consist of a
series of distinct services and are recognized over the contract terms as subscription performance obligations are satisfied, and to a lesser extent, professional services revenues and
revenues from certain of our data and analytics and servicing software offerings.
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The components of services transferred over time for each of our segments are as follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

 2023 2022 2023 2022

Exchanges Segment:

Data services revenues $ 699  $ 651  $ 236  $ 219  

Services transferred over time related to risk management of open interest performance obligations 229  201  78  62  

Services transferred over time related to listings 376  388  124  128  

Services transferred over time related to regulatory fees, trading permits, and software licenses 98  89  37  29  

Total $ 1,402  $ 1,329  $ 475  $ 438  

Fixed Income Data Services Segment:

Data services revenues $ 1,300  $ 1,263  $ 436  $ 420  

Services transferred over time related to risk management of open interest performance obligations
in our CDS business 25  29  9  10  

Total $ 1,325  $ 1,292  $ 445  $ 430  

Mortgage Technology Segment:

Recurring revenues $ 564  $ 479  $ 235  $ 163  

Other 11  27  3  9  

Total $ 575  $ 506  $ 238  $ 172  

Total consolidated revenues transferred over time $ 3,302  $ 3,127  $ 1,158  $ 1,040  

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of the activity in our goodwill balance for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 (in millions):

Goodwill balance at December 31, 2022 $ 21,111  

Acquisition 9,349  

Foreign currency translation 2  

  Other activity, net 1  

Goodwill balance at September 30, 2023 $ 30,463  

The following is a summary of the activity in our other intangible assets balance for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 (in millions):

Other intangible assets balance at December 31, 2022 $ 13,090  

Acquisition 4,996  

Foreign currency translation 1  

Amortization of other intangible assets ( 492 )

Other intangible assets balance at September 30, 2023 $ 17,595  

The goodwill and intangible assets related to acquisitions in the tables above are primarily a result of our acquisition of Black Knight in September 2023, as described in Note 3.

Foreign currency translation adjustments result from a portion of our goodwill and other intangible assets being held at our U.K., EU and Canadian subsidiaries, whose functional
currencies are not the U.S. dollar. The changes in other activity, net, in the table above primarily relate to adjustments to the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets made
within one year of acquisitions, with a corresponding adjustment to goodwill.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, we considered potential indicators of impairment to goodwill and other intangible assets for each of our reporting units, which
included continued global inflation concerns and rising interest rates, including their effect on our forecasts, among other things. As such, we performed this assessment to determine
whether it was more-likely-than-not that goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles within each of our reporting units were impaired. Additionally, we evaluated whether the carrying value of
the finite lived intangible assets within our
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reporting units may not be recoverable. After evaluating events, circumstances and factors which could affect the significant inputs used in our evaluation of cash flows and related fair
value, we determined it was not more-likely-than-not that an impairment existed in our goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assets or that the carrying amount of our finite lived
intangible assets was not recoverable. We plan to perform our annual impairment testing in the fourth quarter.

7. Deferred Revenue

Our contract liabilities, or deferred revenue, represent consideration received that is yet to be recognized as revenue. Total deferred revenue was $ 449 million as of September 30,
2023, including $ 334 million in current deferred revenue and $ 115 million in other non-current liabilities. The changes in our deferred revenue during the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 are as follows (in millions):

Listings Revenues
Data Services and Other

Revenues Mortgage Technology Total

Deferred revenue balance at January 1, 2023 $ 115  $ 88  $ 51  $ 254  

Additions 485  311  144  940  

Amortization ( 376 ) ( 281 ) ( 88 ) ( 745 )

Deferred revenue balance at September 30, 2023 $ 224  $ 118  $ 107  $ 449  

(1) Additions in our Mortgage Technology segment in the table above include $ 68  million of deferred revenue acquired on the date of the Black Knight acquisition (Note 3) and $ 28  million of Black Knight related

deferred revenue added in the period after the date of acquisition through September 30, 2023.

The changes in our deferred revenue during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 are as follows (in millions):

Listings Revenues
Data Services and Other

Revenues Mortgage Technology Total

Deferred revenue balance at January 1, 2022 $ 112  $ 93  $ 79  $ 284  

Additions 505  330  62  897  

Amortization ( 388 ) ( 301 ) ( 82 ) ( 771 )

Deferred revenue balance at September 30, 2022 $ 229  $ 122  $ 59  $ 410  

Included in the amortization recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 is $ 127 million related to the deferred revenue balance as of January 1, 2023. Included in
the amortization recognized for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 is $ 144 million related to the deferred revenue balance as of January 1, 2022. As of September 30, 2023,
the remaining deferred revenue balance will be recognized over the period of time we satisfy our performance obligations as described in Note 5.

(1)
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8. Debt

Our total debt, including short-term and long-term debt, consisted of the following (in millions):

As of September 30, 2023 As of December 31, 2022

Debt:

Short-term debt:

Commercial Paper $ 2,257  $ —  

Other short-term debt $ —  $ 4  

Total short-term debt 2,257  4  

Long-term debt:

2025 Term Loan due August 31, 2025 2,000  —  

2025 Senior Notes ( 3.65 % senior unsecured notes due May 23, 2025) 1,245  1,243  

2025 Senior Notes ( 3.75 % senior unsecured notes due December 1, 2025) 1,248  1,247  

2027 Senior Notes ( 4.00 % senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2027) 1,488  1,487  

2027 Senior Notes ( 3.10 % senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2027) 498  498  

2028 Senior Notes ( 3.625 % senior unsecured notes due September 1, 2028) 909  —  

2028 Senior Notes ( 3.75 % senior unsecured notes due September 21, 2028) 595  594  

2029 Senior Notes ( 4.35 % senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2029) 1,241  1,240  

2030 Senior Notes ( 2.10 % senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2030) 1,237  1,235  

2032 Senior Notes ( 1.85 % senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2032) 1,486  1,485  

2033 Senior Notes ( 4.60 % senior unsecured notes due March 15, 2033) 1,489  1,488  

2040 Senior Notes ( 2.65 % senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2040) 1,232  1,231  

2048 Senior Notes ( 4.25 % senior unsecured notes due September 21, 2048) 1,232  1,231  

2050 Senior Notes ( 3.00 % senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2050) 1,222  1,221  

2052 Senior Notes ( 4.95 % senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2052) 1,465  1,464  

2060 Senior Notes ( 3.00 % senior unsecured notes due September 15, 2060) 1,472  1,471  

2062 Senior Notes ( 5.20 % senior unsecured notes due June 15, 2062) 983  983  

Total long-term debt 21,042  18,118  

Total debt $ 23,299  $ 18,122  

Our senior notes of $ 19.0  billion have a weighted average maturity of 15 years and a weighted average cost of 3.6 % per annum.

Black Knight Senior Notes

As of September 30, 2023, Black Knight's $ 1.0  billion principal amount of its 3.625 % senior notes due 2028 were outstanding. The notes became part of ICE's consolidated long-term
debt on the acquisition date of September 5, 2023.

Credit Facilities

We have a $ 3.9  billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility, or the Credit Facility, with a maturity date of May 25, 2027, with future capacity to increase our borrowings under the
Credit Facility by an additional $ 1.0  billion, subject to the consent of the lenders funding the increase and certain other conditions. No amounts were outstanding under the Credit
Facility as of September 30, 2023.

As of September 30, 2023, of the $ 3.9  billion that was available for borrowing under the Credit Facility, $ 2.3  billion is required to back-stop the amount outstanding under our U.S.
dollar commercial paper program, or the Commercial Paper Program, and $ 171 million is required to support certain broker-dealer and other subsidiary commitments. The amount
required to backstop the amounts outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program will fluctuate as we increase or decrease our commercial paper borrowings. The remaining $ 1.4
billion was available for working capital and general corporate purposes including, but not limited to, acting as a backstop to future amounts outstanding under the Commercial Paper
Program.

We have a $ 2.4  billion two-year senior unsecured delayed draw term loan facility, or the Term Loan, with a maturity date of August 31, 2025. We borrowed the Term Loan in full on
August 31, 2023 in connection with the Black Knight acquisition, and on September 29, 2023, we repaid $ 400  million, reducing the principal outstanding balance at September 30,
2023, to $ 2.0  billion. Draws under the Term Loan bear interest on the principal amount outstanding at the Term Secured Overnight
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Financing Rate, or Term SOFR, plus an applicable margin, currently 0.775 %, plus a credit spread adjustment of 10 basis points. We have the option to prepay outstanding amounts
under the Term Loan in whole or in part at any time.

Our India subsidiaries maintain $ 14 million of credit lines for their general corporate purposes. As of September 30, 2023, there were no amounts outstanding under these credit lines.

Commercial Paper Program

Our Commercial Paper Program is currently backed by the borrowing capacity available under the Credit Facility, as described above. The effective interest rate of commercial paper
issuances does not materially differ from short-term interest rates, which fluctuate due to market conditions and as a result may impact our interest expense. During the three months
ended September 30, 2023, we had net issuances of $ 2.3  billion under the Commercial Paper Program that were primarily used to fund a portion of the purchase price for the Black
Knight acquisition.

Commercial paper notes of $ 2.3  billion with original maturities ranging from three to 45 days were outstanding as of September 30, 2023, with a weighted average interest rate of 5.62
% per annum, and a weighted average remaining maturity of 20 days.

9. Share-Based Compensation

We currently sponsor stock option plans, restricted stock plans and our Employee Stock Purchase Plan to our employees and directors. Stock options and restricted stock are granted at
the discretion of the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors, or Board, based on the estimated fair value on the date of grant. The fair value of the stock options and
restricted stock on the date of grant is recognized as expense over the vesting period, net of forfeitures. The non-cash compensation expenses recognized in our consolidated
statements of income for stock options, restricted stock and under our employee stock purchase plan, net of amounts classified as capitalized software, were $ 164 million and $ 116
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $ 7 9 million and $ 3 9 million during the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, including the expense related to the converted Black Knight restricted stock awards, discussed below.

Stock Option Plans

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value our stock option awards. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, we used the assumptions in the table
below to compute the value:

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Assumptions: 2023 2022

Risk-free interest rate 3.47 % 1.72 %

Expected life in years 6.1 6.0

Expected volatility 24 % 23 %

Expected dividend yield 1.56 % 1.17 %

Estimated weighted-average fair value of options granted per share $ 27.39 $ 28.18

The risk-free interest rate is based on the zero-coupon U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the date of grant. The expected life is derived from historical and anticipated future exercise
patterns. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility data of our stock.

Restricted Stock Plans

Restricted shares are used as an incentive to attract and retain qualified employees and to align our and our stockholders' interests by linking actual performance to both short and long-
term stockholder return. We issue awards that may contain a combination of time, performance and/or market conditions. The grant date fair value of each award is based on the closing
stock price of our stock at the date of grant. The grant date fair value of time-based restricted stock is recognized as expense ratably over the vesting period, which is typically three or
four years , net of forfeitures.

In February 2023, we reserved a maximum of 0.9 million restricted shares for potential issuance as performance-based restricted shares to certain of our employees. The number of
shares ultimately granted under this award will be based on our actual financial performance as compared to financial performance targets set by our Board and the Compensation
Committee for the year ending December 31, 2023, and will also be subject to a market condition reduction based on how our 2023 total stockholder return, or TSR, compares to that of
the S&P 500 Index. The maximum compensation expense to be recognized under these performance-based restricted shares is $ 92  million if the maximum financial performance
target is met and all 0.9  million shares vest. The compensation expense to be recognized under these performance-based restricted shares will be $ 46  million if the target financial
performance is met, which would result in 0.4  million shares
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vesting. For these awards with performance conditions, we recognize expense on an accelerated basis over the three-year vesting period based on our quarterly assessment of the
probable 2023 actual financial performance as compared to the 2023 financial performance targets. As of September 30, 2023, our best estimate is that the financial performance level
will be above target for 2023. Based on this assessment, we recorded non-cash compensation expense of $ 2 6  million and $ 1 2  million for the nine and three months ended
September 30, 2023, respectively, related to these awards and the remaining $ 4 0 million in non-cash compensation expense will be recorded on an accelerated basis over the
remaining vesting period, including $ 10 million which will be recorded over the remainder of 2023.

We also issue awards with a market condition but no performance condition. The fair value of these awards is estimated based on a simulation of various outcomes and includes inputs
such as our stock price on the grant date, the valuation of historical awards with market conditions, the relatively low likelihood that the market condition will affect the number of shares
granted (as the market condition only affects shares granted in excess of certain financial performance targets), and our expectation of achieving the financial performance targets.

In October 2023, we granted performance-based restricted awards to certain of our employees. We reserved shares for potential issuance of these awards with vesting terms over five
years .

Black Knight Restricted Stock Awards

In connection with our Black Knight acquisition in September 2023, certain restricted stock awards held by Black Knight employees were converted to ICE restricted stock awards. The
replacement awards contain the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the awards immediately prior to the merger. These awards will be fully vested by 2026. Our stock
compensation expense for the three months ended September 30, 2023 related to these awards was $ 5  million. In connection with the Divestitures, $ 28  million of replacement
restricted stock awards accelerated for the period between the acquisition date of September 5, 2023, through the Divestiture Date (Note 3).

10.      Equity

Stock Repurchase Program

In December 2021, our Board approved an aggregate of $ 3.15 billion for future repurchases of our common stock with no fixed expiration date that became effective on January 1,
2022. The approval of our Board for the share repurchases does not obligate us to acquire any particular amount of our common stock. In addition, our Board may increase or decrease
the amount available for repurchases from time to time. We fund repurchases from our operating cash flow or borrowings under our debt facilities or our Commercial Paper Program.
Repurchases may be made from time to time on the open market, through established trading plans, in privately-negotiated transactions or otherwise, in accordance with all applicable
securities laws, rules and regulations. We may begin or discontinue stock repurchases at any time and may amend or terminate a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan at any time or enter into
additional plans, subject to applicable rules.

We did not have any share repurchases during the nine months or three months ended September 30, 2023. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, we repurchased a total
of 5.0  million shares of our outstanding common stock at a cost of $ 632  million, consisting of 4.6  million shares at a cost of $ 582  million under our Rule 10b5-1 trading plan and 0.4
 million shares at a cost of $ 50  million on the open market during an open trading period. We did not have any stock repurchases during the three months ended September 30, 2022.
As of September 30, 2023, the remaining balance of Board approved funds for future repurchases was $ 2.5 billion. In connection with our acquisition of Black Knight, on May 4, 2022 we
terminated our Rule 10b5-1 trading plan and suspended share repurchases.

Dividends

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, we declared and paid cash dividends per share of $ 1.26 and $ 1.14 , respectively, for an aggregate payout of $ 713
 million and $ 640  million, respectively. During the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, we declared dividends per share of $ 0.42 and $ 0.38 , respectively for an
aggregate payout of $ 241  million and $ 213  million, respectively. The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board. Our Board has adopted a quarterly dividend
declaration policy providing that the declaration of any dividends will be determined quarterly by the Board or the Audit Committee, taking into account such factors as our evolving
business model, prevailing business conditions, our financial results and capital requirements and other considerations which our Board deems relevant, without a predetermined annual
net income payout ratio.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

The following tables present changes in the accumulated balances for each component of other comprehensive income/ (loss) (in millions):
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Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) by Component

Foreign currency translation
adjustments

Comprehensive income from equity
method investment

Employee benefit plans
adjustments Total

Balance, as of December 31, 2022 $ ( 278 ) $ 2  $ ( 55 ) $ ( 331 )

Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  

Income tax benefit/(expense) —  —  —  —  

Net current period other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  

Balance, as of September 30, 2023 $ ( 278 ) $ 2  $ ( 55 ) $ ( 331 )

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) by Component

Foreign currency translation
adjustments

Comprehensive income from equity
method investment

Employee benefit plans
adjustments Total

Balance, as of June 30, 2023 $ ( 231 ) $ 2  $ ( 55 ) $ ( 284 )

Other comprehensive loss ( 47 ) —  —  ( 47 )

Income tax benefit/(expense) —  —  —  —  

Net current period other comprehensive loss ( 47 ) —  —  ( 47 )

Balance, as of September 30, 2023 $ ( 278 ) $ 2  $ ( 55 ) $ ( 331 )

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) by Component

Foreign currency translation
adjustments

Comprehensive income from equity
method investment

Employee benefit plans
adjustments Total

Balance, as of December 31, 2021 $ ( 150 ) $ 2  $ ( 48 ) $ ( 196 )

Other comprehensive loss ( 208 ) —  —  ( 208 )

Income tax benefit/(expense) 1  —  —  1  

Net current period other comprehensive loss ( 207 ) —  —  ( 207 )

Balance, as of September 30, 2022 $ ( 357 ) $ 2  $ ( 48 ) $ ( 403 )

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) by Component

Foreign currency translation
adjustments

Comprehensive income from equity
method investment

Employee benefit plans
adjustments Total

Balance, as of June 30, 2022 $ ( 259 ) $ 2  $ ( 48 ) $ ( 305 )

Other comprehensive loss ( 98 ) —  —  ( 98 )

Income tax benefit/(expense) —  —  —  —  

Net current period other comprehensive loss ( 98 ) —  —  ( 98 )

Balance, as of September 30, 2022 $ ( 357 ) $ 2  $ ( 48 ) $ ( 403 )

11. Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 14 % and 15 % during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and 18 % and 47 % during the three months ended September 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively. The effective tax rates for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 were lower than the effective tax rates for the comparable periods in 2022
primarily due to the deferred income tax benefits from the impairment to our equity method investment in Bakkt during the three months ended September 30, 2022, and the current year
tax benefits resulting from the following items: favorable audit settlements for historical years, favorable state apportionment changes and the application of the high-tax exception to
Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income. These current year tax benefits were partially offset by the impact of the U.K. corporate income tax increase from 19% to 25% effective April 1,
2023 and the tax impact of certain non-deductible Black Knight acquisition costs.

In conjunction with the increase in the U.K. corporate income tax rate, we intend to elect the high-tax exception to Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income in 2023. During the three months
ended September 30, 2023, our tax provision includes the impacts of this election. Our unrecognized tax benefit as of September 30, 2023 was $ 267  million, a $ 20  million net
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increase from the $ 247  million as of December 31, 2022. The net increase includes a $ 40  million reduction as a result of audit settlements, a $ 24  million increase related to our
acquisition of Black Knight, a $ 22  million increase related to current year positions, a $ 33  million increase related to prior year positions, and a $ 19  million reduction related to prior
year positions.

In July 2023, the U.K. Finance Act 2023, or the Act, was enacted and is effective as of January 1, 2024. The Act included provisions to implement certain portions of the Organisation for
Economic Cooperation and Development Global Anti-Base Erosion Pillar Two global minimum tax rules. The Act did not have a material impact on our financial statements as of
September 30, 2023.

In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRA, was signed into law. The IRA introduced a 15% corporation minimum tax, or CAMT, on adjusted financial statement income
for corporations with profits in excess of $1 billion, effective for tax years after December 31, 2022. Based on the current guidance provided by the Internal Revenue Service and
Treasury, the implementation of the CAMT does not have a material impact to our financial statements as of September 30, 2023.

The IRA also includes a share buyback excise tax of 1% on share repurchases, which will apply to net share repurchases after December 31, 2022. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2023, we did not repurchase any shares, therefore, we were not subject to any excise tax. The newly imposed excise tax on share repurchases is not considered an
income tax. Any excise tax, as a result of future share repurchases, will be considered part of the cost of the shares repurchased and reflected in the equity section of our consolidated
financial statements.

12. Clearing Operations

We operate six clearing houses, each of which acts as a central counterparty that becomes the buyer to every seller and the seller to every buyer for its clearing members or
participants, or Members. Through this central counterparty function, the clearing houses provide financial security for each transaction for the duration of the position by limiting
counterparty credit risk.

Our clearing houses are responsible for providing clearing services to each of our futures exchanges, and in some cases to third-party execution venues, and are as follows, referred to
herein collectively as "the ICE Clearing Houses":

Clearing House Products Cleared Exchange where Executed Location

ICE Clear Europe
Energy, agricultural, interest rates and equity index futures and options

contracts and OTC European CDS instruments

ICE Futures Europe, ICE Futures U.S., ICE Endex, ICE

Futures Abu Dhabi and third-party venues
U.K.

ICE Clear U.S.
Agricultural, metals, foreign exchange, or FX, interest rate and equity index

futures and/or options contracts
ICE Futures U.S. U.S.

ICE Clear Credit
OTC North American, European, Asian-Pacific and Emerging Market CDS

instruments
Creditex and third-party venues U.S.

ICE Clear Netherlands Derivatives on equities and equity indices traded on regulated markets ICE Endex The Netherlands

ICE Clear Singapore Energy, metals and financial futures products ICE Futures Singapore Singapore

ICE NGX Physical North American natural gas and electricity ICE NGX Canada

In 2022, we announced our decision to cease our CDS clearing service at ICE Clear Europe, our clearing house in the U.K., and thereafter our sole CDS clearing offering will be at our
ICE Clear Credit clearing house in the U.S. All cleared CDS positions at ICE Clear Europe were successfully transferred as of October 2023. All CDS products have been delisted at ICE
Clear Europe and the final regulatory steps for de-registration should be completed in November 2023.

Original and Variation Margin

Each of the ICE Clearing Houses generally requires all Members to deposit collateral in cash or certain pledged assets. The collateral deposits are known as “original margin.” In
addition, the ICE Clearing Houses may make intraday original margin calls in circumstances where market conditions require additional protection. The daily profits and losses to and
from the ICE Clearing Houses due to the marking-to-market of open contracts is known as “variation margin.” The ICE Clearing Houses mark all outstanding contracts to market, and,
with the exception of ICE NGX’s physical natural gas and physical power products discussed separately below, pay and collect variation margin, at least once daily.

The amounts that Members are required to maintain are determined by proprietary risk models established by each ICE Clearing House and reviewed by the relevant regulators,
independent model validators, risk committees and the boards of directors of the respective ICE Clearing House. The amounts required may fluctuate over time. Each of the ICE Clearing
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Houses is a separate legal entity and is not subject to the liabilities of the others, or the obligations of Members of the other ICE Clearing Houses.

Should a particular Member fail to deposit its original margin or fail to make a variation margin payment, when and as required, the relevant ICE Clearing House may liquidate or hedge
the defaulting Member's open positions and use their original margin and guaranty fund deposits to pay any amount owed. In the event that the defaulting Member's deposits are not
sufficient to pay the amount owed in full, the ICE Clearing Houses will first use their respective contributions to the guaranty fund, often referred to as Skin In The Game, or SITG, to pay
any remaining amount owed. In the event that the SITG is not sufficient, the ICE Clearing Houses may utilize the respective guaranty fund deposits and default insurance, or collect
limited additional funds from their respective non-defaulting Members on a pro-rata basis, to pay any remaining amount owed.

As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the ICE Clearing Houses had received or had been pledged $ 178.4 billion and $ 273.3 billion, respectively, in cash and non-cash
collateral in original margin and guaranty fund deposits to cover price movements of underlying contracts for both periods.

Guaranty Funds and ICE Contribution

As described above, mechanisms have been created, called guaranty funds, to provide partial protection in the event of a Member default. With the exception of ICE NGX, each of the
ICE Clearing Houses requires that each Member make deposits into a guaranty fund.

In addition, we have contributed our own capital that could be used if a defaulting Member’s original margin and guaranty fund deposits are insufficient. Such amounts are recorded as
long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents or long-term restricted investments in our balance sheets and are as follows (in millions):

ICE Portion of Guaranty Fund Contribution Default insurance

Clearing House As of September 30, 2023
As of 

December 31, 2022 As of September 30, 2023
As of 

December 31, 2022

ICE Clear Europe $ 247 $ 247 $ 100 $ 100

ICE Clear U.S.* 75  90  25  25  

ICE Clear Credit 50  50  75  75  

ICE Clear Netherlands 2  2  N/A N/A

ICE Clear Singapore 1  1  N/A N/A

ICE NGX 15  15  200  200  

Total $ 390 $ 405 $ 400 $ 400

*The decrease in the ICE portion of the guaranty fund contribution during the three months ended September 30, 2023 was driven by the termination of our agreement with Bakkt to clear Bitcoin, and the related

requirement for us to maintain a $ 15  million guaranty fund contribution.

We also maintain default insurance as an additional layer of clearing member default protection. The default insurance was renewed in September 2022 and has a three-year term for
the following clearing houses in the following amounts: ICE Clear Europe - $ 100 million; ICE Clear U.S. - $ 25 million; and ICE Clear Credit - $ 75  million. The default insurance layer
resides after and in addition to the ICE Clear Europe, ICE Clear U.S. and ICE Clear Credit SITG contributions and before the guaranty fund contributions of the non-defaulting Members.

Similar to SITG, the default insurance layer is not intended to replace or reduce the position risk-based amount of the guaranty fund. As a result, the default insurance layer is not a
factor that is included in the calculation of the Members' guaranty fund contribution requirement. Instead, it serves as an additional, distinct, and separate default resource that should
serve to further protect the non-defaulting Members’ guaranty fund contributions from being mutualized in the event of a default.

As of September 30, 2023, ICE NGX maintained a guaranty fund of $ 215 million, comprised of $ 15  million in cash and a $ 200  million letter of credit backed by a default insurance
policy of the same amount, discussed below.

Below is a depiction of our Default Waterfall which summarizes the lines of defense and layers of protection we maintain for our mutualized clearing houses.
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ICE Clearing House Default Waterfall

Cash and Invested Margin Deposits

We have recorded cash and invested margin and guaranty fund deposits and amounts due in our balance sheets as current assets with corresponding current liabilities to the Members.
As of September 30, 2023, our cash and invested margin deposits were as follows (in millions):

ICE Clear
Europe 

ICE Clear 
Credit ICE Clear U.S. ICE NGX

Other ICE
Clearing Houses Total

Original margin $ 41,441  $ 27,317  $ 4,050  $ —  $ 5  $ 72,813  

Unsettled variation margin, net —  —  —  785  —  785  

Guaranty fund 3,785  2,661  613  —  5  7,064  

Delivery contracts receivable/payable, net —  —  —  534  —  534  

Total $ 45,226  $ 29,978  $ 4,663  $ 1,319  $ 10  $ 81,196  

As of December 31, 2022, our cash and invested margin deposits were as follows (in millions):

ICE Clear
Europe 

ICE Clear 
Credit ICE Clear U.S. ICE NGX

Other ICE Clearing
Houses Total

Original margin $ 101,243  $ 31,277  $ 4,141  $ —  $ 5  $ 136,666  

Unsettled variation margin, net —  —  —  749  —  749  

Guaranty fund 4,162  3,177  597  —  4  7,940  

Delivery contracts receivable/payable, net —  —  —  2,017  —  2,017  

Total $ 105,405  $ 34,454  $ 4,738  $ 2,766  $ 9  $ 147,372  

 $ 43.6 billion and $ 1.6 billion is related to futures/options and CDS, respectively.

$ 97.6 billion and $ 7.8 billion is related to futures/options and CDS, respectively.

Our cash and invested margin and guaranty fund deposits are maintained in accounts with national banks and highly-rated financial institutions or secured through direct investments,
primarily in U.S. Treasury and other highly-rated foreign government securities, or reverse repurchase agreements with primarily overnight maturities. We primarily use Level 1

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2) 
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inputs when evaluating the fair value of the non-cash equivalent direct investments, as highly-rated government securities are quoted in active markets. The carrying value of these
deposits is deemed to approximate fair value.

To provide a tool to address the liquidity needs of our clearing houses and manage the liquidation of margin and guaranty fund deposits held in the form of cash and high quality
sovereign debt, ICE Clear Europe, ICE Clear Credit and ICE Clear U.S. have entered into Committed Repurchase Agreement Facilities, or Committed Repo. Additionally, ICE Clear
Credit and ICE Clear Netherlands have entered into Committed FX Facilities to support these liquidity needs. As of September 30, 2023, the following facilities were in place:

• ICE Clear Europe: $ 1.0 billion in Committed Repo to finance U.S. dollar, euro and pound sterling deposits.

• ICE Clear Credit: $ 300 million in Committed Repo (U.S. dollar based) to finance U.S. dollar denominated sovereign debt and euro deposits, € 250 million in Committed Repo
(euro based) to finance euro and U.S. dollar denominated sovereign debt deposits, and € 1.9 billion in Committed FX Facilities to finance euro payment obligations.

• ICE Clear U.S.: $ 250 million in Committed Repo to finance U.S. dollar denominated sovereign debt deposits.

• ICE Clear Netherlands: € 10 million in Committed FX Facilities to finance euro payment obligations.

Details of our deposits are as follows (in millions):

Cash and Cash Equivalent Margin Deposits and Guaranty Funds

Clearing House Investment Type As of September 30, 2023
As of 

December 31, 2022

ICE Clear Europe National bank account $ 5,553  $ 17,390  

ICE Clear Europe Reverse repo 37,107  65,352  

ICE Clear Europe Sovereign debt 1,963  19,894  

ICE Clear Europe Demand deposits 22  153  

ICE Clear Credit National bank account 21,690  27,145  

ICE Clear Credit Reverse repo 5,075  3,916  

ICE Clear Credit Demand deposits 3,213  3,393  

ICE Clear U.S. Reverse repo 4,515  4,266  

ICE Clear U.S. Sovereign Debt 149  472  

Other ICE Clearing Houses Demand deposits 10  9  

Total cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds $ 79,297  $ 141,990  

Invested Deposits, Delivery Contracts Receivable and Unsettled Variation Margin

Clearing House Investment Type As of September 30, 2023
As of 

December 31, 2022

ICE NGX Unsettled variation margin and delivery contracts receivable/payable 1,319  2,766  

ICE Clear Europe Invested deposits - sovereign debt 580  2,616  

Total invested deposits, delivery contracts receivable and unsettled variation margin $ 1,899  $ 5,382  

As of September 30, 2023, ICE Clear Europe held € 92 million ($ 97 million based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate of 1.0572 as of September 30, 2023) at the European Central Bank, or ECB, £ 4.5 billion ($ 5.4

billion based on the pound sterling/U.S. dollar exchange rate of 1.2200 as of September 30, 2023) at the Bank of England, or BOE, and € 10 million ($ 11 million based on the above exchange rate) at the BOE. As of

December 31, 2022, ICE Clear Europe held € 11.7 billion ($ 12.5 billion based on the euro/U.S. dollar exchange rate of 1.0704 as of December 31, 2022) at ECB, £ 4.0 billion ($ 4.9 billion based on the pound

sterling/U.S. dollar exchange rate of 1.2093 as of December 31, 2022) at the BOE and € 10 million ($ 11 million based on the above exchange rate) at the BOE.

Other Deposits

Non-cash original margin and guaranty fund deposits are not reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as the risks and rewards of these assets remain with the
clearing members unless the clearing houses have sold or re-pledged the assets or in the event of a clearing member default, where the clearing member is no longer entitled to redeem
the assets. Any income, gain or loss accrues to the clearing members.

In addition to the cash and invested deposits above, the ICE Clearing Houses have also received other assets from Members, which include government obligations, emissions
allowances, and may include other non-cash collateral such

(1)

(1) 
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as letters of credit at ICE NGX to mitigate credit risk. For certain deposits, we may impose discount or “haircut” rates to ensure adequate collateral if market values fluctuate. The value-
related risks and rewards of these assets remain with the Members. Any gain or loss accrues to the Member. The ICE Clearing Houses do not, in the ordinary course, rehypothecate or
re-pledge these assets. These pledged assets are not reflected in our balance sheets, and are as follows (in millions):

 As of September 30, 2023

ICE Clear 
Europe

ICE Clear 
Credit ICE Clear U.S. ICE NGX Total

Original margin:

Government securities at face value $ 45,875  $ 30,955  $ 12,224  $ —  $ 89,054  

Letters of credit and other 529  —  —  4,046  4,575  

ICE NGX cash deposits —  —  —  1,286  1,286  

Total $ 46,404  $ 30,955  $ 12,224  $ 5,332  $ 94,915  

Guaranty fund:

Government securities at face value $ 962  $ 1,082  $ 290  $ —  $ 2,334  

As of December 31, 2022

ICE Clear 
Europe

ICE Clear 
Credit ICE Clear U.S. ICE NGX Total

Original margin:

Government securities at face value $ 74,964  $ 26,601  $ 14,855  $ —  $ 116,420  

Letters of credit —  —  —  5,434  5,434  

ICE NGX cash deposits —  —  —  2,357  2,357  

Total $ 74,964  $ 26,601  $ 14,855  $ 7,791  $ 124,211  

Guaranty fund:

Government securities at face value $ 641  $ 805  $ 269  $ —  $ 1,715  

The ICE Clearing Houses invest cash margin deposits, including both the guaranty fund and original margin deposits on behalf of clearing members, primarily for purposes of
safeguarding customer funds. Interest earned on cash margin investments is provided back to clearing members net of certain costs and administrative fees charged and retained by
ICE. The ICE Clearing Houses also charge fees for clearing members pledging non-cash margin in lieu of cash margin, these fees are fully retained by ICE. The net interest income on
cash margin and fees charged for non-cash margin retained by the ICE Clearing Houses is recorded in our Exchanges segment as OTC and other revenues and in our Fixed Income and
Data Services segment as CDS clearing revenues in our consolidated statement of income. We recognized a combined $ 280  million and $ 241  million as our revenues during the nine
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $ 8 9  million and $ 102  million as our revenues during the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

ICE NGX

ICE NGX owns a clearing house which primarily administers the physical delivery of energy trading contracts. ICE NGX is the central counterparty to Members on opposite sides of its
physically-settled contracts, and the balance related to delivered but unpaid contracts is recorded as a delivery contract net receivable, with an offsetting delivery contract net payable in
our balance sheets. Unsettled variation margin equal to the fair value of open contracts is recorded as of each balance sheet date. There is no impact on our consolidated statements of
income as an equal amount is recognized as both an asset and a liability. ICE NGX marks all its outstanding physical natural gas and physical power contracts to market daily, but only
collects variation margin when a Member's open position falls outside a specified percentage of its pledged collateral. Due to the highly liquid nature and the short period of time to
maturity, the fair values of our delivery contract net payable and net receivable are determined to approximate carrying value.

ICE NGX requires Members to maintain cash or letters of credit to serve as collateral in the event of default. The cash is maintained in a segregated bank account for the benefit of the
Member, and remains the property of the Member, therefore, it is not included in our balance sheets. ICE NGX maintains a committed daylight-overnight liquidity facility in the amount of
$ 100  million with an additional $ 200  million uncommitted with a third-party Canadian chartered bank which provides liquidity in the event of a settlement shortfall, subject to certain
conditions.

As of September 30, 2023, ICE NGX maintains a guaranty fund of $ 215 million funded by a $ 200  million letter of credit issued by a major Canadian chartered bank, and backed by
default insurance underwritten by Export Development
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Canada, or EDC, a Crown corporation operated at arm’s length from the Canadian government, plus $ 15  million held as restricted cash to fund the first loss amount that ICE NGX is
responsible for under the default insurance policy. In the event of a participant default where the Member’s collateral is depleted, the shortfall would be covered by a draw down on the
letter of credit following which ICE NGX would file a claim under the default insurance to recover additional losses up to $ 200 million beyond the $ 15 million first-loss amount that ICE
NGX is responsible for under the default insurance policy.

Clearing House Exposure

The net notional value of unsettled contracts was $ 2.1  trillion as of September 30, 2023. Each ICE Clearing House bears financial counterparty credit risk and provides a central
counterparty guarantee, or performance guarantee, to its Members. To reduce their exposure, the ICE Clearing Houses have a risk management program with both initial and ongoing
membership standards. Excluding the effects of original and variation margin, guaranty fund and collateral requirements and default insurance, the ICE Clearing Houses’ maximum
estimated exposure for this guarantee is $ 147.5 billion as of September 30, 2023, which represents the maximum estimated value by the ICE Clearing Houses of a hypothetical one-day
movement in pricing of the underlying unsettled contracts. This value was determined using proprietary risk management software that simulates gains and losses based on historical
market prices, volatility and other factors present at that point in time for those particular unsettled contracts. Future market price volatility could result in the exposure being significantly
different than this amount.

13. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, from time to time we are subject to legal proceedings, lawsuits, government investigations and other claims with respect to a variety of matters. In
addition, we are subject to periodic reviews, inspections, examinations and investigations by regulators in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, any of which may result in claims, legal
proceedings, assessments, fines, penalties, restrictions on our business or other sanctions. We record estimated expenses and reserves for legal or regulatory matters or other claims
when these matters present loss contingencies that are probable and the related amount is reasonably estimable. Any such accruals may be adjusted as circumstances change.
Assessments of losses are inherently subjective and involve unpredictable factors. While the outcome of legal and regulatory matters is inherently difficult to predict and/or the range of
loss often cannot be reasonably estimable, we do not believe that the liabilities, other than our accrual related to a potential regulatory settlement of $ 10  million, which may ultimately
result from the resolution of the various legal and regulatory matters that arise in the ordinary course of our business, including the PennyMac Arbitration matter described below and
those described in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of our 2022 Form 10-K, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
condition, results of operations, or liquidity. It is possible, however, that future results of operations for any particular quarterly or annual period could be materially and adversely affected
by any developments relating to these legal and regulatory matters. A range of possible losses related to certain cases cannot be reasonably estimated at this time, except as otherwise
disclosed below and in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of our 2022 Form 10-K. Individual matter disclosures in this Form 10-Q are limited to new
significant matters or significant updates on existing matters since the 2022 Form 10-K.

Black Knight Transaction Litigation

On March 9, 2023, the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, filed an administrative complaint alleging that the proposed transaction between ICE and Black Knight, if consummated,
would be an unfair method of competition in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, and that it would substantially lessen competition, or tend to create a monopoly,
in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act. The complaint sought a variety of injunctive relief, including, among other things, a prohibition on the completion of the transaction without the
FTC’s consent and, if the transaction is completed, a divestiture or reconstitution of assets in a manner that restores such separate and independent businesses as the parties had
operated prior to the completion of the transaction. On April 10, 2023, the FTC filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California for a temporary
restraining order and preliminary injunction enjoining the completion of the transaction. On April 21, 2023, the court entered a temporary restraining order, or TRO, enjoining the
completion of the transaction until the court ruled on the FTC’s motion for a preliminary injunction. In their answers to the administrative and court complaints, filed on March 20, 2023
and April 25, 2023, respectively, ICE and Black Knight denied the FTC’s substantive allegations; asserted numerous affirmative defenses; described the pro-competitive aspects and
significant lender, servicer, investor, vendor and consumer benefits relating to this transaction; and denied that the combination of their respective businesses would violate any laws.
Additionally, the answers to the court complaint contained counterclaims by ICE and Black Knight against the FTC seeking declaratory relief that the FTC’s administrative process is
unconstitutional and should be enjoined. On July 17, 2023, the district court entered an order granting a joint motion by the parties to continue the evidentiary hearing on the FTC's
motion for a preliminary injunction, noting that the parties were discussing a potential resolution of the matter resulting from the announcement of the planned divestiture of the Optimal
Blue business (Note 3) and the FTC’s analysis
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of the implications of the divestiture for this case and the administrative complaint. On July 25, 2023, the FTC granted an unopposed motion filed by FTC counsel to withdraw the
administrative complaint from adjudication, and, on August 7, 2023, the parties announced a joint stipulation to dismiss the federal court complaint and dissolve the TRO. ICE and Black
Knight entered into an Agreement Containing Consent Orders with the FTC's Bureau of Competition on August 25, 2023, which fully and finally resolved the matter upon completion of
the transaction effective as of September 5, 2023.

PennyMac Arbitration

In 2019, Black Knight Servicing Technologies, LLC, or BKST, an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Black Knight, filed a Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial, or the Black Knight
Complaint, against PennyMac Loan Services, LLC, or PennyMac, in Florida state court. The Black Knight Complaint includes causes of action for breach of contract and misappropriation
of MSP  System trade secrets by PennyMac for it to develop a mortgage servicing system intended to replace the MSP® System. The Black Knight Complaint seeks damages for
breach of contract and misappropriation of trade secrets, injunctive relief under the Florida Uniform Trade Secrets Act and a declaratory judgment that BKST owns all intellectual
property and software developed by or on behalf of PennyMac as a result of its wrongful use of and access to the MSP  System and related trade secret and confidential information.
PennyMac filed a motion to compel arbitration of the action, and the trial court granted the motion in 2020. The trial court’s order compelling arbitration was confirmed on appeal.

Shortly after the filing of the Black Knight Complaint, PennyMac filed an Antitrust Complaint, or the PennyMac Complaint, against Black Knight in the United States District Court for the
Central District of California. The PennyMac Complaint includes causes of action for alleged monopolization and attempted monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Antitrust Act,
violation of California’s Cartwright Act, violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law and common law unfair competition under California law. The PennyMac Complaint seeks
equitable remedies, damages and other monetary relief, including treble and punitive damages. Generally, PennyMac alleges that Black Knight relies on various anticompetitive, unfair
and discriminatory practices to maintain and to enhance its dominance in the mortgage servicing platform market and in an attempt to monopolize the platform software applications
market. Black Knight moved to dismiss the PennyMac Complaint or have the action transferred to Florida based upon a forum selection clause in the agreement with BKST. In 2020, the
judge granted Black Knight's motion to transfer the case to Florida and denied as moot the motion to dismiss, and PennyMac filed a notice of dismissal of this action without prejudice
and indicated that it intended to bring the claims raised in the dismissed PennyMac Complaint as defenses, third party claims and/or counterclaims in arbitration. Following PennyMac’s
submission of this matter in 2020 to the American Arbitration Association, PennyMac filed an amended arbitration demand and Black Knight filed an answering statement. A multi-week
arbitration hearing was held on Black Knight’s and PennyMac’s respective claims, and the hearing concluded in June 2023. The arbitrator’s decision is expected to be issued by
November 30, 2023.

For further information on our legal and regulatory matters, please see Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of our 2022 Form 10-K.

14. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Our financial instruments consist primarily of certain short-term and long-term assets and liabilities, customer
accounts receivable, margin deposits and guaranty funds, equity and equity method investments, and short-term and long-term debt.

The fair value of our financial instruments is measured based on a three-level hierarchy:

• Level 1 inputs — quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

• Level 2 inputs — observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs other than quoted prices that are
directly observable.

• Level 3 inputs — unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Financial assets and liabilities recorded or disclosed at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were classified in
their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the asset or liability’s fair value measurement.

Our restricted short-term and long-term investments represent restricted regulatory funds and SITG funds, respectively, at ICE Clear Europe, invested in treasury securities with
maturities of greater than 90 days.

®

®
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Our mutual funds are equity and fixed income mutual funds held for the purpose of providing future payments for our supplemental executive savings plan and the supplemental
executive retirement plan. These mutual funds are classified as equity investments and measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs with adjustments recorded in net income.

Excluding our equity investments without a readily determinable fair value, all other financial instruments are determined to approximate carrying value due to the short period of time to
their maturities. Our equity investment in D&B (Note 4) is measured at fair value on a recurring basis using Level 2 inputs including the directly observable D&B stock price, adjusted for
a lack of marketability factor associated with the investment.

As described in Note 3, we measured the right to receive the net proceeds of the sale of the Promissory Note obtained in connection with the Optimal Blue sale using Level 3 inputs. The
valuation technique used was a discounted cash flow model using key unobservable assumptions including an estimated prepayment rate of 2 % and a discount rate of 13.9 %. There
were no material fair value changes from the Divestiture Date to September 30, 2023. Prior to the Divestiture Date, and excluding the Promissory Note, we did not use Level 3 inputs to
determine the fair value of assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2023 or at December 31, 2022.

We measure certain assets, such as intangible assets and equity method investments, at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These assets are recognized at fair value if they are
deemed to be impaired. As of December 31, 2022, certain equity method investments were measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. As of September 30, 2023, none of our
intangible assets or equity method investments were required to be recorded at fair value since no impairments were recorded, except for certain assets that had total impairment
charges of $ 17  million which are recorded in other expense and depreciation and amortization in our consolidated statement of income.

We measure certain equity investments at fair value on a non-recurring basis using our policy election under ASU 2016-01 . During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, we
evaluated these investments and determined that no fair value adjustments were required under our accounting policy election related to these investments.

See Note 12 for the fair value considerations related to our margin deposits, guaranty funds and delivery contracts receivable.

The table below displays the fair value of our debt as of September 30, 2023. The fair values of our fixed rate notes were estimated using quoted market prices for these instruments.
The fair value of other short-term debt approximates par value since the interest rates on this short-term debt approximate market rates as of September 30, 2023.
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As of September 30, 2023

(in millions)

Debt: Carrying Amount Fair value

Commercial Paper $ 2,257  $ 2,257  

2025 Term Loan due August 31, 2025 2,000  2,000  

3.65 % Senior Notes due May 23, 2025 1,245  1,208  

3.75 % Senior Notes due December 1, 2025 1,248  1,202  

4.00 % Senior Notes due September 15, 2027 1,488  1,420  

3.10 % Senior Notes due September 15, 2027 498  459  

3.625 % Senior Notes due September 1, 2028 909  900  

3.75 % Senior Notes due September 21, 2028 595  556  

4.35 % Senior Notes due June 15, 2029 1,241  1,176  

2.10 % Senior Notes due June 15, 2030 1,237  1,000  

1.85 % Senior Notes due September 15, 2032 1,486  1,098  

4.60 % Senior Notes due March 15, 2033 1,489  1,376  

2.65 % Senior Notes due September 15, 2040 1,232  817  

4.25 % Senior Notes due September 21, 2048 1,232  983  

3.00 % Senior Notes due June 15, 2050 1,222  772  

4.95 % Senior Notes due June 15, 2052 1,465  1,302  

3.00 % Senior Notes due September 15, 2060 1,472  856  

5.20 % Senior Notes due June 15, 2062 983  876  

Total debt $ 23,299  $ 20,258  

15. Segment Reporting

Our business is conducted through three reportable business segments:

• Exchanges: We operate regulated marketplaces for the listing, trading and clearing of a broad array of derivatives contracts and financial securities;

• Fixed Income and Data Services:  We provide fixed income pricing, reference data, indices, analytics and execution services as well as global CDS clearing and multi-asset
class data delivery solutions; and

• Mortgage Technology: We provide a technology platform that offers customers comprehensive, digital workflow tools that aim to address inefficiencies and mitigate risks that
exist in the U.S. residential mortgage market life cycle, from application through closing, servicing and the secondary market.

While revenues are recorded specifically in the segment in which they are earned or to which they relate, a significant portion of our operating expenses are not solely related to a
specific segment because the expenses serve functions that are necessary for the operation of more than one segment. We directly allocate expenses when reasonably possible to do
so. Otherwise, we use a pro-rata revenue approach as the allocation method for the expenses that do not relate solely to one segment and serve functions that are necessary for the
operation of all segments.

Our chief operating decision maker does not review total assets or statements of income below operating income by segments; therefore, such information is not presented below. Our
three segments do not engage in intersegment transactions.

During 2023, we reclassified certain revenues within our Mortgage Technology segment that were previously included in other revenues to closing solutions, origination technology and
data and analytics revenues. Closing solutions revenues now include membership dues, and origination technology revenues and data and analytics revenues now include its related
professional services revenues. As of September 30, 2023, other revenues are no longer separately presented. We believe this is a more accurate reflection of the nature of these
revenues. The impact of this change was not material, and the prior year periods have been adjusted for comparability. Additionally, following the acquisition of Black Knight and
beginning in the third quarter of 2023, we have added servicing software to our Mortgage Technology segment revenues.
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Financial data for our business segments is as follows for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in millions):

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023

Exchanges
Fixed Income and

Data Services Mortgage Technology Consolidated

Revenues:

Energy futures and options $ 1,084  $ —  $ —  $ 1,084  

Agricultural and metals futures and options 208  —  —  208  

Financial futures and options 344  —  —  344  

Cash equities and equity options 1,734  —  —  1,734  

OTC and other 309  —  —  309  

Data and connectivity services 699  —  —  699  

Listings 376  —  —  376  

Fixed income execution —  89  —  89  

CDS clearing —  279  —  279  

Fixed income data and analytics —  832  —  832  

Other data and network services —  468  —  468  

Origination technology —  —  524  524  

Closing solutions —  —  136  136  

Servicing software —  —  69  69  

Data and analytics —  —  86  86  

Revenues 4,754  1,668  815  7,237  

Transaction-based expenses 1,450  —  —  1,450  

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses 3,304  1,668  815  5,787  

Operating expenses 944  1,057  1,017  3,018  

Operating income/(loss) $ 2,360  $ 611  $ ( 202 ) $ 2,769  

Three Months Ended September 30, 2023

Exchanges
Fixed Income and

Data Services Mortgage Technology Consolidated

Revenues:

Energy futures and options $ 384  $ —  $ —  $ 384  

Agricultural and metals futures and options 61  —  —  61  

Financial futures and options 112  —  —  112  

Cash equities and equity options 519  —  —  519  

OTC and other 104  —  —  104  

Data and connectivity services 236  —  —  236  

Listings 124  —  —  124  

Fixed income execution —  29  —  29  

CDS clearing —  94  —  94  

Fixed income data and analytics —  279  —  279  

Other data and network services —  157  —  157  

Origination technology —  —  172  172  

Closing solutions —  —  48  48  

Servicing software —  —  69  69  

Data and analytics —  —  41  41  

Revenues 1,540  559  330  2,429  

Transaction-based expenses 426  —  —  426  

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses 1,114  559  330  2,003  

Operating expenses 313  358  487  1,158  

Operating income/(loss) $ 801  $ 201  $ ( 157 ) $ 845  
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

Exchanges
Fixed Income and

Data Services Mortgage Technology Consolidated

Revenues:

Energy futures and options $ 884  $ —  $ —  $ 884  

Agricultural and metals futures and options 179  —  —  179  

Financial futures and options 375  —  —  375  

Cash equities and equity options 2,021  —  —  2,021  

OTC and other 326  —  —  326  

Data and connectivity services 651  —  —  651  

Listings 388  —  —  388  

Fixed income execution —  66  —  66  

CDS clearing —  226  —  226  

Fixed income data and analytics —  824  —  824  

Other data and network services —  439  —  439  

Origination technology —  —  617  617  

Closing solutions —  —  195  195  

Servicing software —  —  —  —  

Data and analytics —  —  68  68  

Revenues 4,824  1,555  880  7,259  

Transaction-based expenses 1,735  —  —  1,735  

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses 3,089  1,555  880  5,524  

Operating expenses 904  1,029  817  2,750  

Operating income $ 2,185  $ 526  $ 63  $ 2,774  

Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

Exchanges
Fixed Income and

Data Services Mortgage Technology Consolidated

Revenues:

Energy futures and options $ 266  $ —  $ —  $ 266  

Agricultural and metals futures and options 57  —  —  57  

Financial futures and options 122  —  —  122  

Cash equities and equity options 664  —  —  664  

OTC and other 121  —  —  121  

Data and connectivity services 219  —  —  219  

Listings 128  —  —  128  

Fixed income execution —  26  —  26  

CDS clearing —  88  —  88  

Fixed income data and analytics —  273  —  273  

Other data and network services —  147  —  147  

Origination technology —  —  197  197  

Closing solutions —  —  56  56  

Servicing software —  —  —  —  

Data and analytics —  —  23  23  

Revenues 1,577  534  276  2,387  

Transaction-based expenses 576  —  —  576  

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses 1,001  534  276  1,811  

Operating expenses 301  337  260  898  

Operating income $ 700  $ 197  $ 16  $ 913  

Revenue from one member of the Exchanges segment comprised $ 394  million, or 12 %, and $ 140  million, or 13 %, of our Exchange revenues, less transaction-based expenses for
the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively. No customers or clearing members accounted for more than 10% of our Exchange revenues, less transaction-based
expenses during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2022. Clearing members are primarily intermediaries and represent a broad range of principal trading firms. If a
clearing member ceased its operations,
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we believe that the trading firms would continue to conduct transactions and would clear those transactions through another clearing member firm. No additional customers or clearing
members accounted for more than 10% of our segment revenues or consolidated revenues during the six months or three months ended September 30, 2023 or 2022.

16. Earnings Per Common Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per common share computations for the nine and three months ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in millions, except per share amounts):

Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022

Basic:

Net income/(loss) attributable to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. $ 1,995  $ 1,021  $ 541  $ ( 191 )

Weighted average common shares outstanding 561  559  563  558  

Basic earnings/(loss) per common share $ 3.56  $ 1.83  $ 0.96  $ ( 0.34 )

Diluted:

Weighted average common shares outstanding 561  559  563  558  

Effect of dilutive securities - stock options and restricted stock 1  2  2  2  

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 562  561  565  560  

Diluted earnings/(loss) per common share $ 3.55  $ 1.82  $ 0.96  $ ( 0.34 )

Basic earnings/(loss) per common share is calculated using the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period.

Common equivalent shares from stock options and restricted stock awards, calculated using the treasury stock method, are included in the diluted per share calculations unless the
effect of their inclusion would be antidilutive. During both the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 1  million outstanding stock options and restricted stock awards were not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per common share, because to do so would have had an antidilutive effect.

17. Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events, and determined that no events or transactions, other than those already disclosed in this Quarterly Report, met the definition of a subsequent
event for purposes of recognition or disclosure in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or this Quarterly Report, and unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Intercontinental Exchange,” “ICE,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “our company” and “our
business” refer to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries. All references to “options” or “options contracts” in the context of our futures products refer
to options on futures contracts. Solely for convenience, references in this Quarterly Report to any trademarks, service marks and trade names owned by ICE are listed without the ®, ™
and © symbols, but we will assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights to these trademarks, service marks and trade names.

We also include references to third-party trademarks, trade names and service marks in this Quarterly Report. Except as otherwise expressly noted, our use or display of any such
trademarks, trade names or service marks is not an endorsement or sponsorship and does not indicate any relationship between us and the parties that own such marks and names.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. Due to rounding, figures
in tables may not sum exactly.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report, including the sections entitled “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” “Legal Proceedings” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” contains “forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any statements contained herein that are
not statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements relate to future events or our future financial performance and are based on our present beliefs and assumptions as well as the information currently
available to us. They involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our results, levels of activity, performance, cash flows, financial position or
achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these statements.

Forward-looking statements may be introduced by or contain terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “targets,” “goal,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
“estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” or the antonyms of these terms or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking
statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, cash flows, financial position or achievements. Accordingly, we caution you not to place
undue reliance on any forward-looking statements we may make.

Factors that may affect our performance and the accuracy of any forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those listed below:
• conditions in global financial markets and domestic and international economic and social conditions, including inflation, risk of recession, political uncertainty and discord,

geopolitical events or conflicts (including the conflicts in Ukraine, Israel and Gaza), international trade policies and sanctions laws;
• the impact of the introduction of or any changes in laws, regulations, rules or government policies with respect to financial markets, climate change, increased regulatory scrutiny

or enforcement actions and our ability to comply with these requirements;
• volatility in commodity prices and equity prices, and price volatility of financial benchmarks and instruments such as interest rates, credit spreads, equity indices, foreign

exchange rates, and mortgage origination trends;
• the impact of climate change and the transition to renewable energy;
• the business environment in which we operate and trends in our industries, including trading volumes, prevalence of clearing, demand for data services, mortgage lending

activity, fees, changing regulations, competition and consolidation;
• our ability to minimize the risks associated with operating clearing houses in multiple jurisdictions;
• our exchanges’ and clearing houses' compliance with their respective regulatory and oversight responsibilities;
• the resilience of our electronic platforms and soundness of our business continuity and disaster recovery plans;
• our ability to realize the expected benefits of our acquisitions and our investments, including the acquisition of Black Knight;
• our ability to execute our growth strategy, identify and effectively pursue, implement and integrate acquisitions, including that of Black Knight, and strategic alliances and realize

the synergies and benefits of such transactions within the expected time frame;
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• the performance and reliability of our trading, clearing and mortgage technologies and those of third-party service providers;
• our ability to keep pace with technological developments and client preferences;
• our ability to ensure that the technology we utilize is not vulnerable to cyberattacks, hacking and other cybersecurity risks or other disruptive events or to minimize the impact of

any such events;
• our ability to keep information and data relating to the customers of the users of the software and services provided by our ICE Mortgage Technology and Black Knight

businesses confidential;
• the impacts of a public health emergency or pandemic, including the re-emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic, on our business, results of operations and financial condition as

well as the broader business environment;
• our ability to identify trends and adjust our business to benefit from such trends, including trends in the U.S. mortgage industry such as inflation rates, interest rates, new home

purchases, refinancing activity, and home builder and buyer sentiment, among others;
• our ability to evolve our benchmarks and indices in a manner that maintains or enhances their reliability and relevance;
• the accuracy of our cost and other financial estimates and our belief that cash flows from operations will be sufficient to service our debt and to fund our operational and capital

expenditure needs;
• our ability to incur additional debt and pay off our existing debt in a timely manner;
• our ability to maintain existing market participants and data and mortgage technology customers, and to attract new ones;
• our ability to offer additional products and services, leverage our risk management capabilities and enhance our technology in a timely and cost-effective fashion;
• our ability to attract, develop and retain key talent;
• our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and to operate our business without violating the intellectual property rights of others; and
• potential adverse results of threatened or pending litigation and regulatory actions and proceedings.

These risks and other factors include, among others, those set forth in Part 1, Item 1(A) under the caption “Risk Factors” in our 2022 Form 10-K, as filed with the SEC on February 2,
2023. Due to the uncertain nature of these factors, management cannot assess the impact of each factor on the business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any of these statements to reflect events or
circumstances occurring after the date of this Quarterly Report. New factors may emerge and it is not possible to predict all factors that may affect our business and prospects.

Overview
We are a provider of market infrastructure, data services and technology solutions to a broad range of customers including financial institutions, corporations and government entities.
Our products, which span major asset classes including futures, equities, fixed income and residential mortgages in the U.S., provide our customers with access to mission critical tools
that are designed to increase asset class transparency and workflow efficiency. Although we report our results in three reportable business segments, we operate as one business,
leveraging the collective expertise, particularly in data services and technology, that exists across our platforms to inform and enhance our operations. Our segments are as follows:

• Exchanges: We operate regulated marketplaces for the listing, trading and clearing of a broad array of derivatives contracts and financial securities.

• Fixed Income and Data Services:  We provide fixed income pricing, reference data, indices, analytics and execution services as well as global CDS clearing and multi-asset
class data delivery solutions.

• Mortgage Technology: We provide a technology platform that offers customers comprehensive, digital workflow tools that aim to address inefficiencies and mitigate risks that
exist in the U.S. residential mortgage market life cycle from application through closing, servicing and the secondary market.

Recent Developments
Acquisition of Black Knight, Inc.

On September 5, 2023, we acquired Black Knight, Inc., or Black Knight, a software, data and analytics company that serves the housing finance continuum, including real estate data,
mortgage lending and servicing, as well as the secondary markets. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 4, 2022, among ICE, Sand Merger

34



Sub Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of ICE, or Sub, and Black Knight, which we refer to as the "merger agreement," Sub merged with and into Black Knight, which we refer to as
the "merger," with Black Knight surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of ICE.

The aggregate transaction consideration was approximately $11.8 billion, or $76 per share of Black Knight common stock, with cash comprising 90% of the value of the aggregate
transaction consideration and shares of our common stock comprising 10% of the value of the aggregate transaction consideration. The aggregate cash component of the transaction
consideration was $10.5 billion, and the value of the aggregate stock component of the transaction consideration was based on the market price of our common stock and the average of
the volume weighted averages of the trading prices of our common stock on each of the ten consecutive trading days ending three trading days prior to the closing of the merger. We
expect that this transaction will build on our position as a provider of end-to-end electronic workflow solutions for the rapidly evolving U.S. residential mortgage industry. We believe the
Black Knight ecosystem adds value for clients of all sizes across the mortgage and real estate lifecycles by helping organizations lower costs, increase efficiencies, grow their
businesses, and reduce risk.

On September 14, 2023, in connection with the merger agreement, we sold Black Knight’s Optimal Blue and Empower LOS businesses to subsidiaries of Constellation Software, Inc.
The cash proceeds from the Divestitures were $241 million. The structure of the Optimal Blue transaction also included a Promissory Note with a face value of $500 million issued by the
purchaser to Black Knight, as a subsidiary of ICE, at the closing of the transaction. As described elsewhere in the Quarterly Report, the Promissory Note was valued at $235 million on
the Divestiture Date. Pursuant to Agreement Containing Consent Orders entered into between the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, and ICE and Black Knight, all rights, title and
interest in the Promissory Note were transferred to a trustee appointed by the FTC for the purpose of selling the promissory note within six months of the Divestiture Date.

Global Market Conditions

Our results of operations are affected by global economic conditions, including macroeconomic conditions and geopolitical events or conflicts. Since 2022, macroeconomic conditions,
including rising interest rates, inflation and significant market volatility, along with geopolitical concerns, including the conflicts in Ukraine, Israel and Gaza, have created ongoing
uncertainty and volatility in the global economy and resulted in a dynamic operating environment.

Our business has been impacted positively and negatively by these global economic conditions. For instance, due to market volatility and rising interest rates, we have seen increased
trading across a number of our products, such as interest rate and equity futures, credit default swaps and bonds. Conversely, increases in mortgage interest rates in 2022 and 2023
have resulted in reduced consumer and investor demand for mortgages and adversely impacted the transaction-based revenues in our Mortgage Technology segment. If mortgage rates
remain high or further increase, or if banks change their mortgage lending practices, our Mortgage Technology segment revenues may be further impacted.

From an operational perspective, our businesses, including our exchanges, clearing houses, listings venues, data services businesses and mortgage platforms, have not suffered a
material negative impact as a result of the events in Ukraine, Israel, Gaza and surrounding regions.

We expect the macroeconomic environment to remain dynamic in the near-term, and we continue to monitor macroeconomic conditions, including interest rates, the inflationary
environment, geopolitical events and military conflicts, including repercussions from the conflicts in Ukraine, Israel and Gaza and the impact that any of the foregoing may have on the
global economy and on our business. Throughout 2023, we have closely monitored the credit worthiness of our counterparties and investment agents during the recent banking sector
events, scrutinized counterparties directly impacted and monitored for any potential contagion. We did not suffer any material negative impact from the banking sector events that
occurred in early 2023. In light of the current and expected macroeconomic environment we will continue to closely monitor credit worthiness of our counterparties, clearing members and
our financial service providers and take risk management measures in line with established risk management frameworks.

Regulation

Our activities and the markets in which we operate are subject to regulations that impact us as well as our customers, and, in turn, meaningfully influence our activities, the manner in
which we operate and our strategy. We are primarily subject to the jurisdiction of regulatory agencies in the U.S., U.K., EU, Canada, Singapore and Abu Dhabi. Failure to satisfy
regulatory requirements can or may give rise to sanctions by the applicable regulator.

Global policy makers have undertaken reviews of their existing legal framework governing financial markets in connection with regulatory reform, and have either passed new laws and
regulations, or are in the process of debating and/or enacting new laws and regulations that apply to our business and to our customers’ businesses. Legislative and
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regulatory actions may impact the way in which we or our customers conduct business and may create uncertainty, which could affect trading volumes or demand for market data. See
Part 1, Item 1 “Business — Regulation” and Part 1, Item 1(A) "Risk Factors" included in our 2022 Form 10-K for a discussion of the primary regulations applicable to our business and
certain risks associated with those regulations.

Domestic and foreign policy makers continue to review their legal frameworks governing financial markets, and periodically change the laws and regulations that apply to our business
and to our customers’ businesses. Our key areas of focus on these evolving efforts are:

• Policy intervention to address high energy prices . Various legislative proposals in the European Union, or EU, have been adopted to address high energy prices and impact ICE
Endex, the primary European exchange for the benchmark European gas contract, and ICE Clear Europe, which clears ICE Endex contracts. These policy interventions include
price limiting mechanisms for exchange-traded gas products and a new liquified natural gas, or LNG, import benchmark. In December 2022, the EU adopted a price cap on certain
Dutch Title Transfer Facility, or TTF, derivatives traded on ICE Endex effective February 2023. In March 2023, the European Commission extended the price cap to derivatives on all
other EU gas hubs effective May 2023. In December 2022, a coalition of G7 and other nations set the price of certain Russian crude oil at or below $60 a barrel, which impacts the
services we offer to clients. Global leaders continue to discuss the implementation of additional sanctions against Russia.

• Changes to EU regulation of gas and power markets. In March 2023, the European Commission published legislative proposals to amend the Regulation on Wholesale Energy
Market Integrity and Transparency, or REMIT, by introducing requirements for non-EU firms trading in European gas and power markets establishing an office in the EU. These
requirements could make trading on ICE Endex more difficult and could result in a reduction in volumes and liquidity. We are monitoring the impact of these proposals on ICE Endex.

• EMIR 3.0. In December 2022, the European Commission proposed amendments to the European Market Infrastructure Regulation, or EMIR, requiring certain EU market
participants to clear specified derivative transactions at an EU central counterparty. The European Commission has identified three classes of derivatives as being of substantial
systemic importance, including short-term interest rate derivatives, which are traded on ICE Futures Europe and cleared at ICE Clear Europe, and euro denominated credit default
swaps cleared at ICE Clear Credit. If adopted, the proposal could result in a reduction of the cleared volume of these contracts at ICE Clear Europe and ICE Clear Credit. We are
monitoring the impact of this proposal on ICE Clear Europe and ICE Clear Credit.

• Benchmarks Regulation. ICE Benchmark Administration, Limited, or IBA, the administrator of London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, is no longer publishing any LIBOR settings
using panel bank contributions after the end of June 2023. The Financial Conduct Authority, or FCA, has decided to use its legal powers under the U.K. Benchmarks Regulation, or
U.K. BMR, to require IBA to continue publishing 3-month "synthetic" Sterling LIBOR until the end of March 2024 and 1-, 3- and 6- month "synthetic" U.S. Dollar LIBOR until the end
of September 2024. “Synthetic” LIBOR settings are not based on panel bank contributions and are not representative of the underlying market or economic reality the settings were
previously intended to measure. All other LIBOR settings have ceased to be published. Usage of "synthetic" LIBOR settings may be restricted or prohibited in certain circumstances
under applicable law.

Finally, the European Commission used its powers under the EU Benchmarks Regulation, or EU BMR, to designate replacement benchmarks for certain Swiss franc LIBOR
settings. Certain benchmarks provided by our index provider businesses may continue to be used by supervised entities in the EU under EU BMR transitional provisions until
December 31, 2025. In October 2023, the European Commission published a proposal to amend the EU BMR to require third country benchmark providers who publish certain EU
ESG benchmarks to be located in the EU. Uncertainties relating to the proposed EU BMR reform may impact our ability to provide certain benchmarks into the EU.

• EU Deforestation Regulation. The EU Deforestation Regulation, or EUDR, aims to curb the EU market’s impact on global deforestation and forest degradation by requiring seven
commodities, including cocoa and coffee, and certain specified products made from them, to be deforestation-free to be sold on the EU market or exported from it. The EUDR
obligations are scheduled to be effective in December 2024. The EUDR requirements may decelerate the physical trade of cocoa and coffee, impact the useable EU coffee and
cocoa physical inventories, and reduce trading volumes on ICE Futures Europe of the Robusta Coffee Contract and London Cocoa Contract and on ICE Futures U.S. of the Coffee
C ® Contract (Arabica). We are monitoring the impact of the EUDR and working to implement the regulation.

• EU proposal on ESG rating activities. In June 2023, the European Commission published a proposal for a new regulation on the transparency and integrity of Environmental,
Social, and Governance, or ESG, rating activities, which aims to enhance the integrity, transparency, governance, and independence of ESG ratings provided in the EU. The
proposal expands the definition of an ESG rating product, which may impact certain ICE Data Service offerings and requires EU and third country market participants providing ESG
ratings to become authorized and supervised by the European Securities and Markets Authority, or ESMA. If adopted, the proposal would result in increased regulation
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and could make publishing ESG ratings and ESG data more expensive. We are monitoring the impact of this proposal on ICE Data Services.

• Financial Services and Markets Act 2023. In June 2023, the Financial Services and Markets Act 2023, or 2023 FSMA, was formally approved by the monarchy. The 2023 FSMA
makes significant changes to U.K. financial services regulation to reflect the U.K.'s position outside the EU. The 2023 FSMA grants the Bank of England additional powers relating to
Central Counterparties, or CCPs, which enable the Bank of England to act before a special resolution regime is triggered including temporarily restricting or prohibiting discretionary
payments to specified shareholders or employees of CCPs. If adopted, this proposal could impact the ability of ICE Clear Europe to pay dividends to its shareholder in certain
extreme circumstances. We are monitoring the impact of this proposal on ICE Clear Europe.

• Basel III Endgame and GSIB Proposals. In July 2023, the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve, or the Federal Reserve, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or FDIC, issued a proposal to implement various Basel Committee standards, or Basel III Endgame. Among other things, for large
banking organizations, the proposal would apply credit valuation adjustment risk capital requirements to bank-affiliated clearing members' exposures to their clearing clients. Also in
July 2023, the Federal Reserve proposed amendments to risk-based capital surcharges for global systemically important bank holding companies, or GSIBs. The proposal would
revise certain indicators of the GSIB surcharge to include bank-affiliated clearing members' exposures to their clearing clients. Both proposals would increase capital requirements
for client clearing activities. Any increase in bank capital requirements for clearing activities could increase costs for clearing services, decrease clearing capacity, especially for U.S.
GSIBs, and result in a reduction of cleared volumes at ICE clearing houses.
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Consolidated Financial Highlights
The following summarizes our results and significant changes in our consolidated financial performance for the periods presented (dollars in millions, except per share amounts).

      

  

Operating income from our Mortgage Technology segment was $63 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Operating loss from our Mortgage Technology segment was $202 million for the nine months

ended September 30, 2023.

The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business performance. Adjusted net income attributable to ICE is presented net of taxes. These adjusted numbers are not

calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

(1) 

(2) 
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Nine Months Ended September 30,
Three Months Ended September

30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 5,787 $ 5,524 5 % $ 2,003 $ 1,811 11 %

      Recurring revenues $ 2,939 $ 2,781 6 % $ 1,031 $ 930 11 %

      Transaction revenues, net $ 2,848 $ 2,743 4 % $ 972 $ 881 10 %

Operating expenses $ 3,018 $ 2,750 10 % $ 1,158 $ 898 29 %

Adjusted operating expenses $ 2,308 $ 2,213 4 % $ 812 $ 727 12 %

Operating income $ 2,769 $ 2,774 — % $ 845 $ 913 (7) %

Adjusted operating income $ 3,479 $ 3,311 5% $ 1,191 $ 1,084 10%

Operating margin 48 % 50 % (2 pts) 42 % 50 % (8 pts)

Adjusted operating margin 60  % 60  % — 59  % 60  % (1 pt)

Other income/(expense), net $ (391) $ (1,530) (74) % $ (163) $ (1,240) (87) %

Income tax expense/(benefit) $ 330 $ 186 78 % $ 123 $ (152) (181) %

Effective tax rate 14 % 15 % (1 pt) 18 % 47 % (29 pt)

Net income/(loss) attributable to ICE $ 1,995 $ 1,021 95 % $ 541 $ (191) n/a

Adjusted net income attributable to ICE $ 2,417 $ 2,276 6 % $ 824 $ 733 12 %

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 3.55 $ 1.82 95 % $ 0.96 $ (0.34) n/a

Adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE common
stockholders $ 4.30 $ 4.06 6 % $ 1.46 $ 1.31 11 %

Cash flows from operating activities $ 2,573 $ 2,462 5 %

Free cash flow $ 2,247 $ 2,137 5 %

Adjusted free cash flow $ 2,452 $ 2,136 15 %

 We define recurring revenues as the portion of our revenues that are generally predictable, stable, and can be expected to occur at regular intervals in the future with a relatively high degree of certainty and visibility.

We define transaction revenues as those associated with a more specific point-in-time service, such as a trade execution.

The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business performance. Adjusted net income attributable to ICE and adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE

common stockholders are presented net of taxes. These adjusted figures are not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

We believe these non-GAAP liquidity measures provide useful information to management and investors to analyze cash resources generated from our operations. We believe that free cash flow is useful as one of the

bases for comparing our performance with our competitors, and demonstrates our ability to convert the reinvestment of capital expenditures and capitalized software development costs required to maintain and grow

our business, and that adjusted free cash flow eliminates the impact of timing differences related to the payment of section 31 fees. These figures are not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “—Non-GAAP

Liquidity Measures” below.

* Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful.

• Revenues, less transaction-based expenses, increased $263 million and $192 million for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the
comparable periods in 2022. See "—Exchanges Segment", "—Fixed Income and Data Services Segment" and "—Mortgage Technology Segment" below for a discussion of the
significant changes in our revenues. The increase in revenues during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 includes $1 million and $20 million, respectively, in
favorable foreign exchange effects arising from fluctuations in the U.S. dollar from the comparable period in 2022. See Item 3 "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk-Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk" below for additional information on the impact of currency fluctuations.

• Operating expenses increased $268 million and $260 million for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022. See
"—Consolidated Operating Expenses" below for a discussion of the significant changes in our operating expenses. The increase in operating expenses during the nine months
ended September 30, 2023 includes $2 million in favorable foreign exchange effects arising from fluctuations in the U.S. dollar from the comparable period in 2022 and the
increase in operating expenses during the three months ended September 30, 2023 includes $6 million in unfavorable foreign exchange effects arising from fluctuations in the
U.S. dollar from the comparable period in 2022. See Item 3 "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk-Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk" below for
additional information on the impact of currency fluctuations.
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(1)

(2)

(2)

(2)
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(1)
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Variability in Quarterly Comparisons

Our business environment has been characterized by:

• globalization of marketplaces, customers and competitors;

• growing customer demand for workflow efficiency and automation;

• commodity, interest rate, inflation rate and financial markets volatility and uncertainty;

• growing demand for data to inform customers' risk management and investment decisions;

• evolving, increasing and disparate regulation across multiple jurisdictions;

• price volatility increasing customers' demand for risk management services;

• increasing focus on capital and cost efficiencies;

• customers' preference to manage risk in markets demonstrating the greatest depth of liquidity and product diversity;

• the evolution of existing products and new product innovation to serve emerging customer needs and changing industry agreements;

• rising demand for speed, data, data capacity and connectivity by market participants, necessitating increased investment in technology; and

• consolidation and increasing competition among global markets for trading, clearing and listings.

For additional information regarding the factors that affect our results of operations, see Item 1(A) “Risk Factors” included in our 2022 Form 10-K.

Segment Results
Our business is conducted through three reportable business segments:

• Exchanges: We operate regulated marketplaces for the listing, trading and clearing of a broad array of derivatives contracts and financial securities;

• Fixed Income and Data Services:  We provide fixed income pricing, reference data, indices, analytics and execution services as well as global CDS clearing and multi-asset
class data delivery solutions; and

• Mortgage Technology: We provide a technology platform that offers customers comprehensive, digital workflow tools that aim to address inefficiencies and mitigate risks that
exist in the U.S. residential mortgage market life cycle, from application through closing, servicing and the secondary market.

While revenues are recorded specifically in the segment in which they are earned or to which they relate, a significant portion of our operating expenses are not solely related to a
specific segment because the expenses serve functions that are necessary for the operation of more than one segment. We directly allocate expenses when reasonably possible to do
so. Otherwise, we use a pro-rata revenue approach as the allocation method for the expenses that do not relate solely to one segment and serve functions that are necessary for the
operation of all segments. Our segments do not engage in intersegment transactions.
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Exchanges Segment

The following presents selected statements of income data for our Exchanges segment (dollars in millions and YTD represents the nine-month periods ended September 30th):

  

The adjusted figures in the charts above are calculated by excluding items that are not reflective of our cash operations and core business performance. As a result, these adjusted figures are not calculated in

accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “ —Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

(1) 
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Nine Months Ended September
30,

Three Months Ended September
30,

2023 2022 Change* 2023 2022 Change

Revenues:

Energy futures and options $ 1,084 $ 884 23 % $ 384 $ 266 45 %

Agricultural and metals futures and options 208 179 16 61 57 7 

Financial futures and options 344 375 (8) 112 122 (8)

Futures and options 1,636 1,438 14 557 445 25 

Cash equities and equity options 1,734 2,021 (14) 519 664 (22)

OTC and other 309 326 (5) 104 121 (15)

Transaction and clearing, net 3,679 3,785 (3) 1,180 1,230 (4)

Data and connectivity services 699 651 7 236 219 8 

Listings 376 388 (3) 124 128 (4)

Revenues 4,754 4,824 (1) 1,540 1,577 (2)

Transaction-based expenses 1,450 1,735 (16) 426 576 (26)

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses 3,304 3,089 7 1,114 1,001 11 

Other operating expenses 760 725 5 252 241 4 

Depreciation and amortization 184 178 4 61 60 3 

Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs — 1 n/a — — —

Operating expenses 944 904 4 313 301 4 

Operating income $ 2,360 $ 2,185 8 % $ 801 $ 700 14 %

Recurring revenues $ 1,075 $ 1,039 3 % $ 360 $ 347 4 %

Transaction revenues, net $ 2,229 $ 2,050 9 % $ 754 $ 654 15 %

Transaction-based expenses are largely attributable to our cash equities and options business.

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful.

Exchanges Revenues

Our Exchanges segment includes transaction and clearing revenues from our futures and NYSE exchanges, related data and connectivity services, and our listings business. Transaction
and clearing revenues consist of fees collected from derivatives, cash equities and equity options trading and derivatives clearing, and are reported on a net basis, except for the NYSE
transaction-based expenses discussed below. Rates per-contract, or RPC, are driven by the number of contracts or securities traded and the fees charged per contract, net of certain
rebates. Our per-contract transaction and clearing revenues will depend upon many factors, including, but not limited to, market conditions, transaction and clearing volume, product mix,
pricing, applicable revenue sharing and market making agreements, and new product introductions.

Transaction and clearing revenues are generally assessed on a per-contract basis and revenues and profitability fluctuate with changes in contract volume and product mix. We consider
data and connectivity services revenues and listings revenues to be recurring revenues. Our data and connectivity services revenues are recurring subscription fees related to the various
data and connectivity services that we provide which are directly attributable to our exchange venues. Our listings revenues are also recurring subscription fees that we earn for the
provision of NYSE listings services for public companies and ETFs, and related corporate actions for listed companies.

For both the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 19% of our Exchanges segment revenues, less transaction-based expenses, were billed in pounds sterling or euros and
for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 20% and 19%, respectively, of our Exchanges segment revenues, less transaction-based expenses, were billed in pounds
sterling or euros. Due to the fluctuations of the pound sterling and euro compared to the U.S. dollar, our Exchanges segment revenues, less transaction-based expenses, were higher by
$1 million and $16 million for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022.

Our exchange transaction and clearing revenues are presented net of rebates. We recorded rebates of $729 million and $665 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively, and $241 million and $201 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We offer rebates in certain of our markets primarily to
support market liquidity and trading volume by providing qualified participants in those markets a discount to the applicable commission rate. Such rebates are calculated based on
volumes traded. The increase in rebates for the

(1)

(1)
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nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 is primarily due to higher volumes traded as compared to the comparable periods in 2022.

• Energy Futures and Options: Total energy volume increased 12% and revenues increased 23% for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 from the comparable period in
2022 and volume increased 28% and revenues increased 45% for the three months ended September 30, 2023 from the comparable period in 2022.

– Total oil futures and options volume increased 15% and 38% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022,
in part due to price volatility related to oil supply and demand dynamics in the third quarter of 2023, coupled with increased focus on Brent with Midland WTI now deliverable
into the Brent Basket, providing additional physical liquidity and exposure.

– Our global natural gas futures and options volume increased 8% and 13% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable
periods in 2022, primarily due to strength across our Dutch TTF complex driven by reduced uncertainty and normalization of price levels.

– Our environmentals and other futures and options volume decreased 5% and 3% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the
comparable periods in 2022, due in part to lower power volumes versus the year ago period.

• Agricultural and Metals Futures and Options: Total volumes in our agricultural and metals futures and options markets increased 17% and 5% for the nine and three months
ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022 and revenues increased 16% and 7% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023,
respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022. The nine months ended September 30, 2023 benefited from price volatility as a result of weather-related supply and demand
dynamics, such as El Niño, driving an increased need to manage risk across our commodity markets.

– Sugar futures and options volumes increased 21% and 3% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022.

– Other agricultural and metal futures and options volume increased 14% and 6% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable
periods in 2022.

• Financial Futures and Options: Total volumes in our financial futures and options markets decreased 5% and 14% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023,
respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022 and revenues decreased 8% for both the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, from the comparable periods in
2022, including the impacts of foreign exchange effects. The nine months ended September 30, 2022 benefited from elevated volatility across global markets driven by geopolitical
events, central bank activity and inflationary concerns.

– Interest rate futures and options volume decreased 2% and 14% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in
2022, and revenue decreased 6% and 4% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022. The nine and three
months ended September 30, 2022 benefited from elevated interest rate volatility related to increased speculation regarding central bank activity due to inflation concerns.
Interest rate futures and options revenues were $222 million and $235 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $73 million and
$77 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

– Other financial futures and options volume, which includes our MSCI®, FTSE® and NYSE FANG+ equity index products, decreased 15% and 18% for the nine and three
months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022. Financial futures and options revenue decreased 13% for both the nine and three
months ended September 30, 2023 from the comparable periods in 2022 as the nine months and three months ended September 30, 2022 benefited from elevated volatility
across global markets driven by geopolitical events, central bank activity and inflationary concerns. Other financial futures and options revenues were $122 million and
$140 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $39 million and $45 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively.

• Cash Equities and Equity Options: Cash equities volume decreased 10% and 4% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable
periods in 2022, due to lower total market volumes
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as the nine months ended September 30, 2022 benefited from elevated volatility related to inflationary, recessionary and geopolitical concerns. Cash equities revenues, net of
transaction-based expenses, were $198 million and $211 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $64 million for both the three months
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. Equity options volume increased 4% and 5% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable
periods in 2022. The overall increase in equity options volume for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 was driven by increased participation. Equity options revenues, net of
transaction-based expenses, were $86 million and $75 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $29 million and $24 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

• OTC and Other: OTC and other transactions include revenues from our OTC energy business and other trade confirmation services, as well as interest income on certain clearing
margin deposits, regulatory penalties and fines, fees for use of our facilities, regulatory fees charged to member organizations of our U.S. securities exchanges, designated market
maker service fees, exchange membership fees and agricultural grading and certification fees. Our OTC and other revenues decreased 5% and 15% for the nine and three months
ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022, primarily due to a decrease in interest income on clearing margin deposits.

• Data and Connectivity Services:  Our data and connectivity services revenues increased 7% and 8% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from
the comparable periods in 2022. The increase in revenue was driven by the strong retention rate of existing customers, the addition of new customers and increased purchases by
existing customers.

• Listings Revenues: Through NYSE, NYSE American and NYSE Arca, we generate listings revenue related to the provision of listings services for public companies and ETFs, and
related corporate actions for listed companies. Listings revenues decreased 3% and 4% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the
comparable periods in 2022, driven by market volatility causing IPO delays. All listings fees are billed upfront and revenues are recognized over time as the identified performance
obligations are satisfied.

Selected Operating Data

Volume of contracts traded, futures and options rate per contract and open interest are measures that we use in analyzing the performance of our futures and options contracts. Handled
volume, matched volume and cash equities and equity options rate per contract are measures that we use in analyzing our NYSE cash equities and equity options performance. We
believe each of these measures provides useful information for management and investors in understanding our performance. Management considers these metrics when making
financial and operating decisions. Our calculation of these metrics may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

The following charts and tables present trading activity in our futures and options markets by commodity type based on the total number of contracts traded, as well as futures and options
rate per contract (in millions, except for percentages and rate per contract amounts):
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Volume and Rate per Contract

  

Nine Months Ended September
30,

Three Months Ended September
30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Number of contracts traded (in millions):

Energy futures and options 640 572 12 % 221 173 28 %

Agricultural and metals futures and options 90 77 17 27 25 5 

Financial futures and options 479 504 (5) 149 176 (14)

Total 1,209 1,153 5 % 397 374 6 %

Nine Months Ended September
30,

Three Months Ended September
30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Average daily volume of contracts traded (in thousands):

Energy futures and options 3,422 3,046 12 % 3,510 2,706 30 %

Agricultural and metals futures and options 480 408 17 419 393 7 

Financial futures and options 2,507 2,622 (4) 2,316 2,668 (13)

Total 6,409 6,076 5 % 6,245 5,767 8 %

Nine Months Ended September
30,

Three Months Ended September
30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Rate per contract:

Energy futures and options $ 1.69 $ 1.54 10 % $ 1.74 $ 1.54 13 %

Agricultural and metals futures and options $ 2.32 $ 2.33 — % $ 2.31 $ 2.26 2 %

Financial futures and options $ 0.71 $ 0.74 (4) % $ 0.74 $ 0.69 8 %

            
Open interest is the aggregate number of contracts (long or short) that clearing members hold either for their own account or on behalf of their clients. Open interest refers to the total
number of contracts that are currently “open,” in other words, contracts that have been entered into but not yet liquidated by either an offsetting trade, exercise, expiration or assignment.
Open interest represents a measure that we believe is useful for management and investors in understanding future activity remaining to be closed out in terms of the number of
contracts that members and their clients continue to hold in the particular contract and by the number of contracts held for each contract month listed by the exchange. The following
charts and table present our quarter-end open interest for our futures and options contracts (in thousands, except for percentages):
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Open Interest

  

As of September 30,

2023 2022 Change

Open interest — in thousands of contracts:

Energy futures and options 48,720 42,853 14 %

Agricultural and metals futures and options 4,607 3,948 17 

Financial futures and options 22,880 26,636 (14)

Total 76,207 73,437 4 %

46



The following charts and tables present selected cash and equity options trading data. All trading volume below is presented as average net daily trading volume, or ADV, and is single
counted:

  

Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

NYSE cash equities (shares in millions):

Total cash handled volume 2,206 2,453 (10) % 2,071 2,158 (4) %

  Total cash market share matched 19.7 % 19.9 % (0.2 pts) 19.5 % 19.4 % 0.1 pt

NYSE equity options (contracts in thousands):

NYSE equity options volume 7,932 7,631 4 % 7,397 7,037 5 %

Total equity options volume 40,429 37,888 7 % 39,622 36,994 7 %

  NYSE share of total equity options 19.6 % 20.1 % (0.5 pts) 18.7 % 19.0 % (0.3 pts)

Revenue capture or rate per contract:

Cash equities rate per contract (per 100 shares) $0.048 $0.046 5 % $0.049 $0.046 5 %

Equity options rate per contract $0.06 $0.05 11 % $0.06 $0.05 14 %

Handled volume represents the total number of shares of equity securities, ETFs and crossing session activity internally matched on our exchanges or routed to and executed on an
external market center. Matched volume represents the total number of shares of equity securities, ETFs and crossing session activity executed on our exchanges.

Transaction-Based Expenses

Our equities and equity options markets pay fees to the SEC pursuant to Section 31 of the Exchange Act. Section 31 fees are recorded on a gross basis as a component of transaction
and clearing fee revenue. These Section 31 fees are assessed to recover the government’s costs of supervising and regulating the securities markets and professionals and are subject
to change. We, in turn, collect corresponding activity assessment fees from member organizations clearing or settling trades on the equities and options exchanges, and recognize these
amounts in our transaction and clearing revenues when invoiced. The activity assessment fees are designed to equal the Section 31 fees. As a result, activity
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assessment fees and the corresponding Section 31 fees do not have an impact on our net income, although the timing of payment by us will vary from collections. Section 31 fees were
$231 million and $332 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $56 million and $158 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively. The decrease in Section 31 fees during the three months ended September 30, 2023 was primarily due to a decrease in rates. The fees we collect are included
in cash at the time of receipt and we remit the amounts to the SEC twice a year as required. The total amount is included in current liabilities and was $18 million as of September 30,
2023.

We make liquidity payments to cash and options trading customers, as well as routing charges made to other exchanges which are included in transaction-based expenses. We incur
routing charges when we do not have the best bid or offer in the market for a security that a customer is trying to buy or sell on one of our securities exchanges. In that case, we route
the customer’s order to the external market center that displays the best bid or offer. The external market center charges us a fee per share (denominated in tenths of a cent per share)
for routing to its system. We record routing charges on a gross basis as a component of transaction and clearing fee revenue. Cash liquidity payments, routing and clearing fees were
$1.2 billion and $1.4 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $370 million and $418 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

Operating Expenses, Operating Income and Operating Margin

The following chart summarizes our Exchanges segment's operating expenses, operating income and operating margin (dollars in millions). See “—Consolidated Operating Expenses”
below for a discussion of the significant changes in our operating expenses.

Exchanges Segment: Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Operating expenses $ 944 $ 904 4 % $ 313 $ 301 4 %

Adjusted operating expenses $ 878 $ 854 3 % $ 297 $ 284 4 %

Operating income $ 2,360 $ 2,185 8 % $ 801 $ 700 14 %

Adjusted operating income $ 2,426 $ 2,235 9 % $ 817 $ 717 14 %

Operating margin 71  % 71  % — 72  % 70  % 2 pts

Adjusted operating margin 73  % 72  % 1 pt 73  % 72  % 1 pt

The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business performance. These adjusted numbers are not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “—Non-GAAP

Financial Measures” below.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Fixed Income and Data Services Segment

The following charts and table present our selected statements of income data for our Fixed Income and Data Services segment (dollars in millions):

  

The adjusted figures in the charts above are calculated by excluding items that are not reflective of our cash operations and core business performance. As a result, these adjusted numbers are not calculated in

accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

(1) 

49



Nine Months Ended September
30,

Three Months Ended September
30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Revenues:

Fixed income execution $ 89 $ 66 34 % $ 29 $ 26 10 %

CDS clearing 279 226 23 94 88 6 

Fixed income data and analytics 832 824 1 279 273 2 

Fixed income and credit 1,200 1,116 7 402 387 4 

Other data and network services 468 439 7 157 147 7 

Revenues 1,668 1,555 7 559 534 5 

Other operating expenses 799 766 4 274 250 10 

Depreciation and amortization 258 262 (2) 84 86 (4)

Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs — 1 n/a — 1 n/a

Operating expenses 1,057 1,029 3 358 337 6 

Operating income $ 611 $ 526 16 % $ 201 $ 197 2 %

Recurring revenues $ 1,300 $ 1,263 3 % $ 436 $ 420 4 %

Transaction revenues $ 368 $ 292 26 % $ 123 $ 114 7 %

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful.

In the table above, we consider fixed income data and analytics revenues and other data and network services revenues to be recurring revenues.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 11% and 12%, respectively, of our Fixed Income and Data Services segment revenues were billed in pounds sterling or euros
and for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 11% and 10%, respectively, of our Fixed Income and Data Services segment revenues were billed in pounds sterling or
euros. As the pound sterling or euro exchange rate changes, the U.S. equivalent of revenues denominated in foreign currencies changes accordingly. Due to the fluctuations of the
pound sterling and euro compared to the U.S. dollar, our Fixed Income and Data Services revenues were flat for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and higher by $4 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2023, than in the comparable periods in 2022.

Fixed Income and Data Services Revenues

Our Fixed Income and Data Services revenues increased 7% and 5% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022. The
increase in revenue was primarily due to strength in our fixed income execution, CDS clearing, and other data and network services businesses.

• Fixed Income Execution: Fixed income execution includes revenues from ICE Bonds. Execution fees are reported net of rebates, which were nominal for both the nine and three
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. Our fixed income execution revenues increased 34% and 10% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023,
respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022, due to increased activity as a result of continued interest rate volatility.

• CDS Clearing: CDS clearing revenues increased 23% and 6% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022. The
notional value of CDS cleared was $15.1 trillion and $19.7 trillion for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $5 trillion and $6.1 trillion for the three
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase in revenues was primarily due to net interest income on collateral balances.

• Fixed Income Data and Analytics: Our fixed income data and analytics revenues increased 1% and 2% for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively,
from the comparable periods in 2022 due to strength in our index business and growth in our pricing and reference data business in the third quarter of 2023.

• Other Data and Network Services: Our other data and network services revenues increased 7% for both the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, from the
comparable periods in 2022. The increase in revenues was driven by growth in our ICE Global Network offering, coupled with strength in our desktop, feeds and derivatives
analytics revenues.
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Annual Subscription Value, or ASV, represents, at a point in time, the data services revenues, which includes Fixed Income Data and Analytics as well as other data and network
services, subscribed for the succeeding 12 months. ASV does not include new sales, contract terminations or price changes that may occur during that 12-month period. However, while
it is an indicative forward-looking metric, it does not provide a precise growth forecast of the next 12 months of data services revenues.

As of September 30, 2023, ASV was $1.722 billion, which increased 4.8% compared to the ASV as of September 30, 2022. ASV represents nearly 100% of total data services revenues
for this segment. This does not adjust for year-over-year foreign exchange fluctuations.

Operating Expenses, Operating Income and Operating Margin

The following chart summarizes our Fixed Income and Data Services segment's operating expenses, operating income and operating margin (dollars in millions). See “—Consolidated
Operating Expenses” below for a discussion of the significant changes in our operating expenses.

Fixed Income and Data Services Segment: Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Operating expenses $ 1,057 $ 1,029 3 % $ 358 $ 337 6 %

Adjusted operating expenses $ 930 $ 892 4 % $ 316 $ 293 8 %

Operating income $ 611 $ 526 16 % $ 201 $ 197 2 %

Adjusted operating income $ 738 $ 663 11 % $ 243 $ 241 1 %

Operating margin 37  % 34  % 3 pts 36  % 37  % (1 pt)

Adjusted operating margin 44  % 43  % 1 pt 44  % 45  % (1 pt)

The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business performance. These adjusted figures are not calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “—Non-GAAP

Financial Measures” below.

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Mortgage Technology Segment

The following charts and table present our selected statements of income data for our Mortgage Technology segment (dollars in millions):

 

 

 Servicing Software is a new revenue category following completion of the Black Knight acquisition.

The adjusted figures in the charts above are calculated by excluding items that are not reflective of our cash operations and core business performance. As a result, these adjusted figures are not calculated in

accordance with U.S. GAAP. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below.

(1)

(2) 
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Nine Months Ended September
30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Revenues:

Origination technology $ 524 $ 617 (15)% $ 172 $ 197 (13)%

Closing solutions 136 195 (30) 48 56 (14)

Servicing software 69 — n/a 69 — n/a

Data and analytics 86 68 26 41 23 76

Revenues 815 880 (7) 330 276 20

Other operating expenses 422 410 3 168 130 30

Depreciation and amortization 394 328 20 164 112 47

Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs 201 79 152 155 18 707

Operating expenses 1,017 817 24 487 260 87

Operating income/(loss) $ (202) $ 63 n/a $ (157) $ 16 n/a

Recurring revenues $ 564 $ 479 17% $ 235 $ 163 44%

Transaction revenues $ 251 $ 401 (37)% $ 95 $ 113 (16)%

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful.

In the table above, we consider subscription fee and certain servicing revenues to be recurring revenues. Each revenue classification, above, contains a mix of recurring and transaction
revenues, based on the various service offerings described in more detail, below.

During 2023, we reclassified certain revenues within our Mortgage Technology segment that were previously included in other revenues to closing solutions, origination technology and
data and analytics revenues. Closing solutions revenues now include membership dues, and origination technology revenues and data and analytics revenues now include its related
professional services revenues. As of September 30, 2023, other revenues are no longer separately presented. We believe this is a more accurate reflection of the nature of these
revenues. The impact of this change was not material, and the prior year periods have been adjusted for comparability. Additionally, following the acquisition of Black Knight and
beginning in the third quarter of 2023, we have added servicing software to our Mortgage Technology segment revenues. The comparable periods in 2022 results do not include a
contribution from this acquisition.

Mortgage Technology Revenues

Our mortgage technology revenues are derived from our comprehensive, end-to-end U.S. residential mortgage platform. Our mortgage technology business is intended to enable greater
workflow efficiency and mitigate risks for customers throughout the mortgage life cycle. Mortgage technology revenues decreased $65 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2023 and increased $54 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023, from the comparable periods in 2022. During the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023,
Black Knight contributed $87 million of revenues following completion of the acquisition. Excluding the revenue contributed by Black Knight, both the nine and three months ended
September 30, 2023 decreased from the prior year periods due to lower mortgage origination volumes driven by rising interest rates. See Note 5 of our consolidated financial statements
in this Quarterly Report for additional information.

• Origination technology: Our origination technology revenues decreased 15% and 13% during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the
comparable periods in 2022, due to lower transaction-based revenues as mortgage origination volumes declined. Our origination technology acts as a system of record for the
mortgage transaction, automating the gathering, reviewing, and verifying of mortgage-related information and enabling automated enforcement of rules and business practices
designed to help ensure that each completed loan transaction is of high quality and adheres to secondary market standards. These revenues are based on recurring Software as a
Service, or SaaS, subscription fees, with an additive transaction-based or success-based pricing fee as lenders exceed the number of loans closed that are included with their
monthly base subscription, as well as professional services.

In addition, the ICE Mortgage Technology network provides originators connectivity to the mortgage supply chain and facilitates the secure exchange of information between our
customers and a broad ecosystem of third-party service providers, as well as lenders and investors that are critical to consummating the millions of loan transactions that occur on
our origination network each year. Revenue from the ICE Mortgage Technology network is largely transaction-based.
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• Closing solutions: Our closing solutions revenues decreased 30% and 14% during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable
periods in 2022, due to lower mortgage origination volumes. Our closing solutions connect key participants, such as lenders, title and settlement agents and individual county
recorders, to digitize the closing and recording process. Closing solutions also include revenues from our MERSCORP Holdings, Inc., or MERS database, which provides a system
of record for recording and tracking changes and servicing rights and beneficial ownership interests in loans secured by U.S. residential real estate. Revenues from closing solutions
are largely transaction-based and are based on the volume of loans closed.

• Servicing software: Our servicing software revenues include Black Knight’s integrated mortgage servicing solutions, which help automate all areas of the servicing process, from
loan boarding to default, to help lower costs, reduce risk and improve financial performance. Our servicing software includes business intelligence, mortgage default and servicing
technology, digital mortgage solutions and related professional services.

• Data and analytics: Our data and analytics revenues increased 26% and 76% during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable
periods in 2022, primarily due to $15 million of revenue from Black Knight following completion of the acquisition during the three months ended September 30, 2023. Revenues
include those related to ICE Mortgage Technology’s Data & Document Automation and Mortgage Analyzer solutions, or Analyzer (formerly known as AIQ), which offers customers
greater efficiency by streamlining data collection and validation through our automated document recognition and data extraction capabilities, as well as professional services.
Analyzer revenues can be both recurring and transaction-based in nature. In addition, our data offerings include real-time industry and peer benchmarking tools, which provide
originators a granular view into the real-time trends of nearly half the U.S. residential mortgage market, as well as credit and prepayment models, custom and proprietary analytics,
valuation, and MLS solutions. We also provide a Data as a Service, or DaaS, offering through private data clouds for lenders to access their own data and origination information.
Revenues related to our data products are largely subscription-based and recurring in nature. The data and insights from solutions in this business informs, supports and enhances
our other software solutions to help lenders and servicers make more informed decisions, improve performance, identify and predict risk and generate more qualified leads.

Operating Expenses, Operating Income/(Loss) and Operating Margin

The following chart summarizes our Mortgage Technology segment's operating expenses, operating income/(loss) and operating margin (dollars in millions). See “—Consolidated
Operating Expenses” below for a discussion of the significant changes in our operating expenses.

Mortgage Technology Segment: Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 Change* 2023 2022 Change

Operating expenses $ 1,017 $ 817 24% $ 487 $ 260 87%

Adjusted operating expenses $ 500 $ 467 7% $ 199 $ 150 34%

Operating income/(loss) $ (202) $ 63 n/a $ (157) $ 16 n/a

Adjusted operating income $ 315 $ 413 (24)% $ 131 $ 126 3%

Operating margin (25) % 7  % n/a (48) % 6  % n/a

Adjusted operating margin 39  % 47  % (8 pts) 39  % 46  % (7 pts)

*Percentage changes in the table above deemed "n/a" are not meaningful.

The adjusted figures exclude items that are not reflective of our ongoing core operations and business performance. These adjusted numbers are not calculated in accordance with GAAP. See “—Non-GAAP

Financial Measures”

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Consolidated Operating Expenses
The following presents our consolidated operating expenses (dollars in millions):

Nine Months Ended September
30,

Three Months Ended September
30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Compensation and benefits $ 1,103 $ 1,058 4 % $ 400 $ 344 16 %

Professional services 88 101 (12) 31 32 (2)

Acquisition-related transaction and integration costs 201 81 146 155 19 698 

Technology and communication 529 513 3 184 169 9 

Rent and occupancy 65 63 3 20 22 (9)

Selling, general and administrative 196 166 18 59 54 9 

Depreciation and amortization 836 768 9 309 258 20 

Total operating expenses $ 3,018 $ 2,750 10 % $ 1,158 $ 898 29 %

The majority of our operating expenses do not vary directly with changes in our volume and revenues, except for certain technology and communication expenses, including data
acquisition costs, licensing and other fee-related arrangements and a portion of our compensation expense that is tied directly to sales or overall financial performance.

We expect our operating expenses to increase in absolute terms in future periods in connection with the growth of our business, and to vary from year-to-year based on the type and
level of our acquisitions, integration of acquisitions and other investments.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 9% and 10%, respectively, of our operating expenses were billed in pounds sterling or euros, and for the three months ended
September 30, 2023 and 2022, 7% and 9%,
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respectively, of our operating expenses were billed in pounds sterling or euros. Due to fluctuations in the U.S. dollar compared to the pound sterling and euro, our consolidated operating
expenses were lower by $2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, and were higher by $6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023, than in the
comparable periods in 2022. See Item 3 “—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk —Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk” below for additional information.

Compensation and Benefits Expenses
Compensation and benefits expense is our most significant operating expense and includes non-capitalized employee wages, bonuses, non-cash or stock compensation, certain
severance costs, benefits and employer taxes. The bonus component of our compensation and benefits expense is based on both our financial performance and individual employee
performance. The performance-based restricted stock compensation expense is also based on our financial performance. Therefore, our compensation and benefits expense will vary
year-to-year based on our financial performance and fluctuations in our number of employees. The below chart summarizes the significant drivers of our compensation and benefits
expense results for the periods presented (dollars in millions, except employee headcount).

Nine Months Ended September 30, Three Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Employee headcount 13,226 8,935 48 %

Stock-based compensation expenses $ 133 $ 110 21 % $ 50 $ 37 36 %

Employee headcount increased during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 from the comparable period in 2022 primarily due to our acquisition of Black Knight.
Compensation and benefits expense increased $45 million and $56 million for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022,
primarily due to $38 million attributable to our acquisition of Black Knight, an increase in our bonus and noncash performance-based restricted stock compensation accruals and higher
payroll, partially offset by higher capitalized labor. The stock-based compensation expenses in the table above relate to employee stock option and restricted stock awards and exclude
stock-based compensation related to acquisition-related transaction and integration costs.

Professional Services Expenses
Professional services expense includes fees for consulting services received on strategic and technology initiatives, temporary labor, as well as regulatory, legal and accounting fees,
and may fluctuate as a result of changes in our use of these services in our business.

Professional services expenses decreased $13 million and $1 million for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, from the comparable periods in 2022,
primarily due to lower consulting expenses related to bringing certain mortgage technology-related costs in-house, partially offset by higher legal expenses.

Acquisition-Related Transaction and Integration Costs
We incurred $201 million and $155 million in acquisition-related transaction and integration costs during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, primarily
due to legal, consulting and integration expenses related to our acquisition and integration of Black Knight and our integration of Ellie Mae, Inc., or Ellie Mae. We incurred $81 million and
$19 million in acquisition-related transaction costs during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, primarily due to legal and consulting expenses related to
our acquisition of Black Knight and our integration of Ellie Mae.

We expect to continue to explore and pursue various potential acquisitions and other strategic opportunities to strengthen our competitive position and support our growth. As a result, we
may incur acquisition-related transaction costs in future periods.

Technology and Communication Expenses
Technology support services consist of costs for running our wholly-owned data centers, hosting costs paid to third-party data centers and maintenance of our computer hardware and
software required to support our technology and cybersecurity. These costs are driven by system capacity, functionality and redundancy requirements. Communication expenses consist
of costs or network connections for our electronic platforms and telecommunications costs.

Technology and communications expense also includes fees paid for access to external market data, licensing and other fee agreement expenses. Technology and communications
expenses may be impacted by growth in electronic contract volume, our capacity requirements, changes in the number of telecommunications hubs and connections with customers to
access our electronic platforms directly.
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Technology and communications expenses increased $16 million and $15 million for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 respectively, from the comparable periods in
2022, primarily due $11 million related to Black Knight and an increase in hardware and software support costs, which was partially offset by a decrease in license expense.

Rent and Occupancy Expenses
Rent and occupancy expense relates to leased and owned property and includes rent, maintenance, real estate taxes, utilities and other related costs. We have significant operations
located in the U.S., U.K., and India, with smaller offices located throughout the world.

Rent and occupancy expenses increased $2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and decreased $2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023, from the
comparable periods in 2022 primarily due to changes in rent and utility costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses include marketing, advertising, public relations, insurance, bank service charges, dues and subscriptions, travel and entertainment, non-
income taxes and other general and administrative costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $30 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, from the comparable period in 2022 primarily due to payments of
claims made following a NYSE system outage that occurred in January 2023, potential regulatory settlements, increased bad debt expense and other operating costs, partially offset by
lower marketing costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023, from the comparable period in 2022 primarily due to the Black Knight
acquisition and an increase in marketing and travel and entertainment expenses. This was partially offset by lower bank service charges.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense results from depreciation of long-lived assets such as buildings, leasehold improvements, aircraft, hardware and networking equipment, software,
furniture, fixtures and equipment over their estimated useful lives. This expense includes amortization of intangible assets obtained in our acquisitions of businesses, as well as on various
licensing agreements, over their estimated useful lives. Intangible assets subject to amortization consist primarily of customer relationships, trading products with finite lives and
technology. This expense also includes amortization of internally-developed and purchased software over its estimated useful life.

We recorded amortization expenses on intangible assets acquired as part of our acquisitions, as well as on other intangible assets, of $492 million and $459 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively and $191 million and $153 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. During the three months
ended September 30, 2023, $34 million of amortization expense was related to intangible assets acquired in connection with the Black Knight acquisition.

We recorded depreciation expenses on our fixed assets of $344 million and $309 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $118 million and
$105 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This increase was primarily due to an increase in internally developed software assets in our
Mortgage Technology segment.
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Consolidated Non-Operating Income/(Expense)
Income and expenses incurred through activities outside of our core operations are considered non-operating. The following tables present our non-operating income/(expenses) (dollars
in millions):

Nine Months Ended September
30,

Three Months Ended September
30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change

Other income/(expense):

Interest income $ 287 $ 42 582% $ 94 $ 33 185%

Interest expense (557) (440) 27 (206) (176) 17

Other expense, net (121) (1,132) (89) (51) (1,097) (95)

Total other income/(expense), net $ (391) $ (1,530) (74)% $ (163) $ (1,240) (87)%

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest $ (53) $ (37) 44% $ (18) $ (16) 16%

Interest Income
Interest income increased during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 from the same periods in 2022 primarily due to an increase in short-term interest rates combined
with larger investment balances. Interest income primarily represents interest income on our short-term investments, and for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023,
included $170 million and $46 million, respectively, in interest income recorded in connection with the short-term investments related to the $5.0 billion of the Notes (as defined in
"Liquidity and Capital Resources—Debt") issued for the Black Knight acquisition. The remainder of the increase primarily relates to interest on the restricted cash and restricted
investment balances held within our regulated entities.

Interest Expense
We recognized interest expense of $557 million and $440 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $206 million and $176 million during the
three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest expense for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 primarily represents interest expense on
our outstanding debt. Interest expense increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2023, as we recognized $84 million additional interest expense on the $5.0 billion of the
Notes issued for the Black Knight acquisition following our May 2022 debt refinancing. See "-Debt" below. The remainder of the increase relates to interest expense incurred on our
Commercial Paper program and Term Loan (each as defined in "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Debt") to fund the Black Knight acquisition.

Other Expense, net
Our equity method investments include OCC and Bakkt, among others. We recognized $91 million and $1.1 billion during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, and $26 million and $1.1 billion during the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of our share of estimated equity method investment losses, net,
which is included in other expense, net. The estimated losses for both the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022 are primarily related to our
investment in Bakkt, partially offset by our share of net profits of OCC. Both the nine month periods ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 include adjustments to reflect the difference
between reported prior period actual results from our original estimates.

In connection with our acquisition of Black Knight, we acquired an investment in Dun & Bradstreet, which we classify as an equity investment. During the three months ended
September 30, 2023, we sold 51% of our investment for $97 million and recorded a loss on the sale of $1 million, a fair value loss of $7 million and a $1 million dividend, all of which are
included as other expense, net.

As of September 30, 2022, after recording our share of Bakkt's equity method losses, which included Bakkt's impairment charge, the carrying value was determined to be $439 million.
Based on our review, we determined that the decline in fair value was other than temporary in nature. Therefore, we recorded an impairment charge of $40 million on our investment in
Bakkt to its fair value as of September 30, 2022 as other expense (see Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report).

During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, we recorded $9 million for a legal settlement, and during the three months ended September 30, 2023, we recorded an impairment
related to our Consolidated Audit Trail, or CAT, loan receivable of $16 million. Both of these are included in other expense.
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On May 20, 2022, we completed the sale of our Euroclear stake. The carrying value of our investment was $700 million at the time of the sale. We recorded a net gain of $41 million on
the sale, which is included in other income during the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

We incurred foreign currency transaction losses of $8 million and $9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $3 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2023, primarily attributable to the fluctuations of the pound sterling and euro relative to the U.S. dollar. We did not incur any significant foreign currency transaction
gains/(losses) during the three months ended September 30, 2022. Foreign currency transaction gains/(losses) are recorded in other income/(expense), net, when the settlement of
foreign currency assets, liabilities and payables occur in non-functional currencies and there is an increase or decrease in the period-end foreign currency exchange rates between
periods. See Item 3 “—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk—Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk” included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report for more
information on these items.

Non-controlling Interest
For consolidated subsidiaries in which our ownership is less than 100%, and for which we have control over the assets, liabilities and management of the entity, the outside stockholders’
interests are shown as non-controlling interests. As of September 30, 2023, our non-controlling interests included those related to the non-ICE limited partners' interest in our CDS
clearing subsidiaries, and non-controlling interests in ICE Futures Abu Dhabi.

Consolidated Income Tax Provision
Consolidated income tax expense/(benefit) was $330 million and $186 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $123 million and ($152 million)
for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The change in consolidated income tax expense between periods is primarily due to the tax impact of changes
in our pre-tax income and the changes in our effective tax rate each period.

Our effective tax rate was 14% and 15% for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and 18% and 47% for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively. The effective tax rates for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 were lower than the effective tax rates for the comparable periods in 2022 primarily
due to the deferred income tax benefits from the impairment to our equity method investment in Bakkt during the three months ended September 30, 2022, and the current year tax
benefits resulting from the following items: favorable audit settlements for historical years, favorable state apportionment changes and the application of the high-tax exception to Global
Intangible Low-Taxed Income. These current year tax benefits, were partially offset by the impact of the U.K. corporate income tax increase from 19% to 25% effective April 1, 2023 and
the tax impact of certain non-deductible Black Knight acquisition costs.

In conjunction with the increase in the U.K. corporate income tax rate, we intend to elect the high-tax exception to Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income in 2023. During the three months
ended September 30, 2023, our tax provision includes the impacts of this election. Our unrecognized tax benefit as of September 30, 2023 was $267 million, a $20 million net increase
from the $247 million as of December 31, 2022. The net increase includes a $40 million reduction as a result of audit settlements, a $24 million increase related to our acquisition of
Black Knight, a $22 million increase related to current year positions, a $33 million increase related to prior year positions, and a $19 million reduction related to prior year positions.

In July 2023, the U.K. Finance Act 2023, or the Act, was enacted and is effective as of January 1, 2024. The Act included provisions to implement certain portions of the Organisation for
Economic Cooperation and Development Global Anti-Base Erosion Pillar Two global minimum tax rules. The Act did not have a material impact on our financial statements as of
September 30, 2023.

In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRA, was signed into law. The IRA introduced a 15% corporation minimum tax, or CAMT, on adjusted financial statement income
for corporations with profits in excess of $1 billion, effective for tax years after December 31, 2022. Based on the current guidance provided by the Internal Revenue Service and
Department of the Treasury, the implementation of the CAMT did not have a material impact on our financial statements as of September 30, 2023.

The IRA also includes a share buyback excise tax of 1% on share repurchases, which will apply to net share repurchases after December 31, 2022. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2023, we did not repurchase any shares, therefore, we were not subject to any excise tax. The newly imposed excise tax on share repurchases is not considered an
income tax. Any excise tax, as a result of future share repurchases, will be considered part of the cost of the shares repurchased and reflected in the equity section of our consolidated
financial statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Below are charts that reflect our outstanding debt and capital allocation. The acquisition and integration costs in the chart below include cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash received
for divestitures, cash paid for equity and equity method investments, cash paid for non-controlling interest and redeemable non-controlling interest, and acquisition-related transaction
and integration costs in each period.

  

  

We have financed our operations, growth and cash needs primarily through income from operations and borrowings under our various debt facilities. Our principal capital requirements
have been to fund capital expenditures, working capital, strategic acquisitions and investments, stock repurchases, dividends and the development of our technology platforms. We
believe that our cash on hand and cash flows from operations will be sufficient to repay our outstanding debt, but we
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may also need to incur additional debt or issue additional equity securities in the future. See “- Future Capital Requirements” below.

See “– Cash Flow” below for a discussion of our capital expenditures and capitalized software development costs.

Consolidated cash and cash equivalents were $837 million and $1.8 billion as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. We had $661 million and $6.6 billion in short-
term and long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. We had $929 million in restricted short-term and long term
investments as of September 30, 2023. We had $79.3 billion and $142.0 billion of cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds as of September 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively.

As of September 30, 2023, the amount of unrestricted cash held by our non-U.S. subsidiaries was $421 million. Due to the application of Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income as of
January 1, 2018, the majority of our foreign earnings as of December 31, 2022 have been subject to immediate U.S. income taxation and can be distributed to the U.S. in the future with
no material additional income tax consequences. As we decided to make the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income high-tax exception election in the current period, the majority of our
foreign earnings in 2023 are not expected to be subject to immediate U.S. income taxation; however, these foreign earnings can also generally be distributed to the U.S. with no
additional income tax consequences.

Our cash and cash equivalents and financial investments are managed as a global treasury portfolio of non-speculative financial instruments that are readily convertible into cash, such
as overnight deposits, term deposits, money market funds, mutual funds for treasury investments, short duration fixed income investments and other money market instruments, thus
ensuring high liquidity of financial assets. We may invest a portion of our cash in excess of short-term operating needs in investment-grade marketable debt securities, including
government or government-sponsored agencies and corporate debt securities.

Cash Flow
The following table presents the major components of net changes in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents (in millions):

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022

Net cash provided by/(used in):

Operating activities $ 2,573 $ 2,462 

Investing activities (9,403) (2,361)

Financing activities (62,711) 16,373 

Effect of exchange rate changes (7) (41)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash equivalent margin
deposits and guaranty funds $ (69,548) $ 16,433 

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities primarily consists of net income adjusted for certain items, including depreciation and amortization, deferred taxes, stock based compensation
and the effects of changes in working capital.

The $111 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 from the comparable period in 2022 was primarily driven by an
increase in net income, partially offset by the net losses from and impairment of unconsolidated investees during the nine months ended September 30, 2022. The remaining fluctuations
are due to changes in our working capital and the timing of various payments, such as lower Section 31 fee payments of $205 million.

Investing Activities

Consolidated net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 primarily relates to $10.2 billion paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, $1.4 billion
of purchases of invested margin deposits, $956 million of purchases of investments, $104 million of capital expenditures and $222 million of capitalized software development costs,
partially offset by $3.4 billion in proceeds from the sale of invested margin deposits.

Consolidated net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 primarily relates to $6.9 billion of purchases of invested margin deposits, $125 million
of capital expenditures and $200 million of capitalized
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software development costs, partially offset by $4.3 billion in proceeds from the sale of invested margin deposits and $741 million in proceeds from the sale of our Euroclear investment.

The capital expenditures primarily relate to hardware and software purchases to continue the development and expansion of our electronic platforms, data services and clearing houses,
and leasehold improvements. The software development expenditures primarily relate to the development and expansion of our electronic trading platforms, data services, mortgage
services and clearing houses.

Financing Activities

Consolidated net cash used in financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 primarily relates to a decrease in our cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and
guaranty fund balances of $64.7 billion due to lower commodity prices and reduced volatility, $713 million in dividend payments to stockholders and $53 million in cash payments related
to treasury shares received for restricted stock tax payments and stock option exercises, partially offset by $2.3 billion in proceeds from net issuances under our Commercial Paper
Program and $514 million in net proceeds from our debt facilities.

Consolidated net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 primarily relates to an increase in our cash and cash equivalent margin deposits
and guaranty fund balances of $13.5 billion due to increased volatility and $7.9 billion in net proceeds from our debt facilities, partially offset by $2.7 billion repayments of debt facilities,
$1.0 billion in net repayments under our Commercial Paper Program, $632 million in repurchases of our common stock, $640 million in dividend payments to stockholders and $72 million
in cash payments related to treasury shares received for restricted stock tax payments and stock option exercises.

Debt
As of September 30, 2023, we had $23.3 billion in outstanding debt, consisting of $19.0 billion of senior notes, $2.3 billion under our Commercial Paper Program and $2.0 billion under
our Term Loan. Our senior notes of $19.0 billion have a weighted average maturity of 15 years and a weighted average cost of 3.6% per annum. As of September 30, 2023, Black
Knights $1.0 billion principal amount of its 3.625% senior notes due 2028 remained outstanding and became part of ICE's consolidated long-term debt on the acquisition date of
September 5, 2023. Our commercial paper notes had original maturities ranging from 3 to 45 days as of September 30, 2023, with a weighted average interest rate of 5.62% per annum
and a weighted average remaining maturity of 20 days. The Term Loan has a maturity date of August 31, 2025 and bears interest at a rate of 6.3% as of September 30, 2023.

As of December 31, 2022, we had $18.1 billion in outstanding debt, all of which related to our senior notes. We also had $4 million outstanding under credit lines at our ICE India
subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2022, our senior notes of $18.1 billion had a weighted average maturity of 16 years and a weighted average cost of 3.6% per annum. We did not have
any commercial paper notes or term loan balances outstanding as of December 31, 2022.

We have a $3.9 billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility, or the Credit Facility, with a maturity date of May 25, 2027. As of September 30, 2023, of the $3.9 billion that was
available for borrowing under the Credit Facility, $2.3 billion is required to back-stop the amount outstanding under our U.S. dollar commercial paper program, or the Commercial Paper
Program, and $171 million is required to support certain broker-dealer and other subsidiary commitments. The remaining $1.4 billion was available for working capital and general
corporate purposes including, but not limited to, acting as a backstop to future increases in the amounts outstanding under the Commercial Paper Program.

We used the net proceeds of our senior notes due in 2025, 2027, 2029 and 2062, or, collectively, the Notes, together with the issuance of commercial paper, cash on hand and
borrowings under the Term Loan, to finance the cash portion of the purchase price for Black Knight. For additional information regarding this transaction, refer to Note 3 to our
consolidated unaudited financial statements, included in this Quarterly Report.

We have a $2.4 billion two-year senior unsecured delayed draw term loan facility, or the Term Loan. We borrowed the Term Loan in full on August 31, 2023 in connection with the
closing of the Black Knight acquisition, and on September 29, 2023, we repaid $400 million, reducing the principal outstanding balance at September 30, 2023, to $2.0 billion. Draws
under the Term Loan bear interest on the principal amount outstanding at Term SOFR plus an applicable margin,currently 0.775%, plus a credit spread adjustment of 10 basis points.
The proceeds from borrowings under the Term Loan were used to fund a portion of the purchase price for the Black Knight acquisition. We have the option to prepay outstanding
amounts under the Term Loan in whole or in part at any time.

Our Commercial Paper Program enables us to borrow efficiently at reasonable short-term interest rates and provides us with the flexibility to de-lever using our strong annual cash flows
from operating activities whenever our leverage becomes elevated as a result of investment or acquisition activities. In connection with our acquisition of Black Knight, during the three
months ended September 30, 2023, we had $2.3 billion of net issuances under the Commercial Paper Program.

62



Upon maturity of our commercial paper and to the extent old issuances are not repaid by cash on hand, we are exposed to the rollover risk of not being able to issue new commercial
paper. To mitigate this risk, we maintain the Credit Facility for an aggregate amount which meets or exceeds the amount issued under our Commercial Paper Program at any time. If we
were not able to issue new commercial paper, we have the option of drawing on the backstop revolving facility. However, electing to do so would result in higher interest expense.

For additional details of our debt instruments, refer to Note 8 to our consolidated unaudited financial statements, included in this Quarterly Report, and Note 10 to our consolidated
financial statements included in our 2022 Form 10-K.

Capital Return
In December 2021, our Board approved an aggregate of $3.15 billion for future repurchases of our common stock with no fixed expiration date that became effective January 1, 2022.

We did not have any share repurchases during the nine months ended September 30, 2023. For the nine months ended September 30, 2022, we repurchased 5.0 million shares of our
outstanding common stock at a cost of $632 million, including 4.6 million shares at a cost of $582 million under our Rule 10b5-1 trading plan and 0.4 million shares at a cost of $50 million
on the open market during an open trading period. We did not have any share repurchases during the three months ended September 30, 2022. Shares repurchased are held in treasury
stock.

The remaining balance of Board approved funds for future repurchases as of September 30, 2023 is $2.5 billion. In connection with our initial announcement of our plan to acquire Black
Knight, on May 4, 2022 we terminated our Rule 10b5-1 trading plan and suspended share repurchases. The approval of our Board for stock repurchases does not obligate us to acquire
any particular amount of our common stock. In addition, our Board may increase or decrease the amount available for repurchases from time to time.

From time to time, we enter into Rule 10b5-1 trading plans, as authorized by our Board, to govern some or all of the repurchases of our shares of common stock. We may discontinue
stock repurchases at any time and may amend or terminate a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan at any time, subject to applicable rules. We expect funding for any stock repurchases to come
from our operating cash flow or borrowings under our Commercial Paper Program or our debt facilities. The timing and extent of future repurchases that are not made pursuant to a Rule
10b5-1 trading plan will be at our discretion and will depend upon many conditions. In making a determination regarding any stock repurchases, management considers multiple factors,
including overall stock market conditions, our common stock price performance, the remaining amount authorized for repurchases by our Board, the potential impact of a stock
repurchase program on our corporate debt ratings, our expected free cash flow and working capital needs, our current and future planned strategic growth initiatives, and other potential
uses of our cash and capital resources.

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, we paid a quarterly dividend of $0.42 per share of our common stock for an aggregate payout of $241 million, which includes the
payment of dividend equivalents on unvested employee restricted stock units.

Future Capital Requirements
Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the rate of growth across our segments, strategic plans and acquisitions, available sources for financing activities,
required and discretionary technology and clearing initiatives, regulatory requirements, the timing and introduction of new products and enhancements to existing products, the
geographic mix of our business and potential stock repurchases.

We currently expect to incur capital expenditures (including operational and real estate capital expenditures) and to incur software development costs that are eligible for capitalization
ranging in the aggregate between $500 million and $525 million in 2023, which we believe will support the enhancement of our technology, business integration and the continued
growth of our businesses.

As of September 30, 2023, we had $2.5 billion authorized for future repurchases of our common stock. Refer to Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly
Report for additional details on our stock repurchase program.

Our Board has adopted a quarterly dividend policy providing that dividends will be approved quarterly by the Board or the Audit Committee taking into account factors such as our
evolving business model, prevailing business conditions, our current and future planned strategic growth initiatives and our financial results and capital requirements, without a
predetermined net income payout ratio. On November 2, 2023, we announced a $0.42 per share dividend for the fourth quarter of 2023 with the dividend payable on December 29, 2023
to stockholders of record as of December 14, 2023.
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Other than the facilities for the ICE Clearing Houses, our Credit Facility, our Term Loan, our Bridge Facility and our Commercial Paper Program are currently the only significant
agreements or arrangements that we have for liquidity and capital resources with third parties. See Notes 8 and 12 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly
Report for further discussion. In the event of any strategic acquisitions, mergers or investments, or if we are required to raise capital for any reason or desire to return capital to our
stockholders, we may incur additional debt, issue additional equity to raise necessary funds, repurchase additional shares of our common stock or pay a dividend. However, we cannot
provide assurance that such financing or transactions will be available or successful, or that the terms of such financing or transactions will be favorable to us. See “—Debt" above.

Non-GAAP Measures
Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use certain financial measures internally to evaluate our performance and make financial and operational decisions that are presented in a manner that adjusts from their equivalent
GAAP measures or that supplement the information provided by our GAAP measures. We use these adjusted results because we believe they more clearly highlight trends in our
business that may not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on GAAP financial measures, since these measures eliminate from our results specific financial items that have less
bearing on our core operating performance.

We use these measures in communicating certain aspects of our results and performance, including in this Quarterly Report, and believe that these measures, when viewed in
conjunction with our GAAP results and the accompanying reconciliation, can provide investors with greater transparency and a greater understanding of factors affecting our financial
condition and results of operations than GAAP measures alone. In addition, we believe the presentation of these measures is useful to investors for making period-to-period comparisons
of results because the adjustments to GAAP are not reflective of our core business performance.

These financial measures are not presented in accordance with, or as an alternative to, GAAP financial measures and may be different from non-GAAP measures used by other
companies. We encourage investors to review the GAAP financial measures included in this Quarterly Report, including our consolidated financial statements, to aid in their analysis and
understanding of our performance and in making comparisons.

The tables below outline our adjusted operating expenses, adjusted operating income, adjusted operating margin, adjusted net income attributable to ICE common stockholders,
adjusted diluted earnings per share and adjusted free cash flow, which are non-GAAP measures that are calculated by making adjustments for items we view as not reflective of our
cash operations and core business performance. These measures, including the adjustments and their related income tax effect and other tax adjustments (in millions, except for
percentages and per share amounts), are as follows:
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Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data

Services Segment
Mortgage Technology

Segment Consolidated

Nine Months Ended September 30,

Operating income adjustments: 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 3,304 $ 3,089 $ 1,668 $ 1,555 $ 815 $ 880 $ 5,787 $ 5,524 

Operating expenses 944 904 1,057 1,029 1,017 817 3,018 2,750 

Less: Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles 49 50 127 137 316 271 492 458 

Less: Transaction and integration costs — — — — 201 79 201 79 

Less: Other 17 — — — — — 17 — 

Adjusted operating expenses $ 878 $ 854 $ 930 $ 892 $ 500 $ 467 $ 2,308 $ 2,213 

Operating income/(loss) $ 2,360 $ 2,185 $ 611 $ 526 $ (202) $ 63 $ 2,769 $ 2,774 

Adjusted operating income $ 2,426 $ 2,235 $ 738 $ 663 $ 315 $ 413 $ 3,479 $ 3,311 

Operating margin 71 % 71 % 37 % 34 % (25)% 7 % 48 % 50 %

Adjusted operating margin 73 % 72 % 44 % 43 % 39 % 47 % 60 % 60 %

Non-operating income adjustments:

Net income attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 1,995 $ 1,021 

Add: Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles 492 458 

Add: Transaction and integration costs 201 79 

Add/(Less): Net interest (income)/expense on pre-acquisition-related debt and debt extinguishment (12) 79 

Less: Gain on sale of Euroclear equity investment and dividends received — (41)

Add: Net losses from and impairment of unconsolidated investees 91 1,152 

Add: Other 40 9 

Less: Income tax effect for the above items (178) (478)

Less: Deferred tax adjustments on acquisition-related intangibles (131) (3)

Less: Other tax adjustments (81) — 

Adjusted net income attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 2,417 $ 2,276 

Diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 3.55 $ 1.82 

 Adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 4.30 $ 4.06 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 562 561 
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Exchanges Segment
Fixed Income and Data

Services Segment
Mortgage Technology

Segment Consolidated

Three Months Ended September 30,

Operating income adjustments: 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ 1,114 $ 1,001 $ 559 $ 534 $ 330 $ 276 $ 2,003 $ 1,811 

Operating expenses 313 301 358 337 487 260 1,158 898 

Less: Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles 16 17 42 44 133 91 191 152 

Less: Transaction and integration costs — — — — 155 19 155 19 

Adjusted operating expenses $ 297 $ 284 $ 316 $ 293 $ 199 $ 150 $ 812 $ 727 

Operating income/(loss) $ 801 $ 700 $ 201 $ 197 $ (157) $ 16 $ 845 $ 913 

Adjusted operating income $ 817 $ 717 $ 243 $ 241 $ 131 $ 126 $ 1,191 $ 1,084 

Operating margin 72 % 70 % 36 % 37 % (48)% 6 % 42 % 50 %

Adjusted operating margin 73 % 72 % 44 % 45 % 39 % 46 % 59 % 60 %

Non-operating income adjustments:

Net income/(loss) attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 541 $ (191)

Add: Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles 191 152 

Add: Transaction and integration costs 155 19 

Add: Net interest expense on pre-acquisition-related debt and debt extinguishment — 31 

Add: Net losses from and impairment of unconsolidated investees 26 1,095 

Add: Other 23 — 

Less: Income tax effect for the above items (66) (355)

Less: Deferred tax adjustments on acquisition-related intangibles (46) (18)

Adjusted net income attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 824 $ 733 

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 0.96 $ (0.34)

 Adjusted diluted earnings per share attributable to ICE common stockholders $ 1.46 $ 1.31 

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 565 560 

Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles are included in non-GAAP adjustments as excluding these non-cash expenses provides greater clarity regarding our financial strength and
stability of cash operating results.

Transaction and integration costs are included as part of our core business expenses, except for those that are directly related to the announcement, closing, financing, or termination of
a transaction. However, we adjust for the acquisition-related transaction and integration costs for acquisitions such as Ellie Mae given the magnitude of the $11.4 billion purchase price of
the acquisition. We also adjust for the acquisition-related transaction costs related to our $11.8 billion acquisition of Black Knight for the same reason.

We adjust for our share of net gains/(losses) related to our equity method investments, which primarily include OCC and Bakkt. During the three months ended September 30, 2022, we
also exclude an impairment in our investment in Bakkt to its fair value. We believe these adjustments provide greater clarity of our performance, given that equity and equity method
investments are non-cash and not a part of our core operations.

Other non-GAAP adjustments during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 relate to a $6 million expense for claims made following a NYSE system outage that occurred in
January 2023, accruals related to potential regulatory settlements of $11 million, the combined loss of $7 million related to our fair value adjustment and sale of a portion of our Dun &
Bradstreet investment, net of dividends, and an impairment related to our consolidated audit trail, or CAT, loan receivable of $16 million. The CAT was approved by the SEC in 2016 to
improve regulators’ ability to monitor trading activity. Other non-GAAP adjustments during the nine months ended September 30, 2022 relate to an accrual for a legal settlement. We do
not consider events of this type to be reflective of our core business.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, we exclude $12 million of net interest income on interest earned on investments from the pre-acquisition debt proceeds, net of
interest expense on pre-acquisition-related debt from our May 2022 debt refinancing related to the Black Knight acquisition. During the nine months ended September 30, 2022, we
exclude $79 million of net interest expense on pre-acquisition-related debt for the same refinancing. This adjustment is net of $30 million of interest income earned on investments from
the pre-acquisition debt proceeds. In addition, during the three months ended September 30, 2022 we exclude the $30 million of costs associated with the May and June 2022
extinguishment of four series of senior notes that would have matured in 2022 and 2023 using proceeds from our May 2022 issuance of new senior notes as a non-GAAP adjustment.
Finally, during the nine months ended September 30, 2022, we exclude the gain on the sale of our Euroclear investment. We do not consider events of this type to be reflective of our
core business.
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Non-GAAP tax adjustments include the tax impacts of the pre-tax non-GAAP adjustments, deferred tax adjustments on acquisition-related intangibles, and other tax adjustments. The
deferred tax adjustments of $131 million and $46 million for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, and $3 million and $18 million for the nine and three
months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, are primarily related to U.S. state apportionment changes. Other tax adjustments of $81 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 are primarily related to audit settlements for pre-acquisition tax matters as well as state apportionment changes in prior years.

Non-GAAP Liquidity Measures

We consider adjusted free cash flow to be a non-GAAP liquidity measure that provides useful information to management and investors to analyze cash resources generated from our
operations. We believe that adjusted free cash flow is also useful as one of the bases for comparing our performance with our competitors, and demonstrates our ability to convert the
reinvestment of capital expenditures and capitalized software development costs required to maintain and grow our business, as well as adjust for timing differences related to the
payment of section 31 fees. This non-GAAP liquidity measure is not presented in accordance with, or as an alternative to, GAAP liquidity measures and may be different from non-GAAP
measures used by other companies. Adjusted free cash flow, including the related adjustments are as follows (in millions):

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2023 2022

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,573 $ 2,462 

Less: Capital expenditures (104) (125)

Less: Capitalized software development costs (222) (200)

Free cash flow 2,247 2,137 

Add/(less): Section 31 fees, net 205 (1)

Adjusted free cash flow $ 2,452 $ 2,136 

For additional information on these items, refer to our consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report and “—Consolidated Operating Expenses” above.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, there were no significant changes to our contractual obligations and commercial commitments from those disclosed in the section
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our 2022 Form 10-K.

As described in Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, certain clearing house collateral is reported off-balance sheet.
We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities.

New and Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, there were no significant changes to the new and recently adopted accounting pronouncements applicable to us from those
disclosed in Note 2 of our 2022 Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, there were no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates from those disclosed in the section
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our 2022 Form 10-K.

ITEM 3.     QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
As a result of our operating and financing activities, we are exposed to market risks such as interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk and credit risk. We have implemented
policies and procedures designed to measure, manage, monitor and report risk exposures, which are regularly reviewed by the appropriate management and supervisory bodies.
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Interest Rate Risk

We have exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relating to our cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents, short-term and
long-term investments. As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, our cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents, short-term
and long-term investments and indebtedness were $2.5 billion and $8.4 billion, respectively. We do not use our investment portfolio for trading or other speculative purposes. A
hypothetical 50% decrease in short-term interest rates would decrease our annual pre-tax earnings by $15 million as of September 30, 2023, assuming no change in the amount or
composition of our cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term restricted cash and cash equivalents.

As of September 30, 2023, we had $23.3 billion in outstanding debt, the majority of which relate to our senior notes with fixed rates. Changes in interest rates impact the fair value of our
fixed rate debt but do not impact earnings or cash flows. See Part I, Item 2 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Debt" and Note 8
to our consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report.

The interest rates on our Commercial Paper Program are currently evaluated based upon current maturities and market conditions. The weighted average interest rate under our
Commercial Paper Program was 5.62% as of September 30, 2023. The effective interest rate of commercial paper issuances will fluctuate based on the movement in short-term interest
rates along with shifts in supply and demand within the commercial paper market.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

As an international business, we are subject to foreign currency exchange rate risk. We may experience gains or losses from foreign currency transactions in the future given that a
significant part of our assets and liabilities are recorded in pounds sterling, Canadian dollars or euros, and a significant portion of our revenues and expenses are recorded in pounds
sterling or euros. Certain assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of foreign subsidiaries are denominated in the local functional currency of such subsidiaries. Our exposure to foreign
denominated earnings for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is presented by primary foreign currency in the following table (dollars in millions, except
exchange rates):

 

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023

Three Months Ended September 30,
2023

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2022

Three Months Ended September 30,
2022

 Pound Sterling Euro Pound Sterling Euro Pound Sterling Euro Pound Sterling Euro

Average exchange rate to the U.S. dollar in the current

year period 1.2444 1.0835 1.2660 1.0881 1.2589 1.0649 1.1774 1.0071 

Average exchange rate to the U.S. dollar in the same

period in the prior year 1.2589 1.0649 1.1774 1.0071 1.3854 1.1967 1.3784 1.1788 

Average exchange rate increase/ (decrease) (1)% 2 % 8 % 8 % (9)% (11)% (15)% (15)%

Foreign denominated percentage of:       

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses 7 % 7 % 7 % 7 % 8 % 6 % 7 % 6 %

Operating expenses 7 % 2 % 6 % 1 % 8 % 2 % 7 % 2 %

Operating income 7 % 14 % 7 % 15 % 7 % 11 % 8 % 11 %

Impact of the currency fluctuations on:   

Revenues, less transaction-based expenses $ (6) $ 7 $ 10 $ 10 $ (42) $ (44) $ (22) $ (20)

Operating expenses $ (2) $ — $ 6 $ — $ (21) $ (6) $ (11) $ (2)

Operating income $ (4) $ 7 $ 4 $ 10 $ (21) $ (38) $ (11) $ (18)

(1)    Represents the impact of currency fluctuation for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 compared to the same periods in the prior year.

We have a significant part of our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses recorded in pounds sterling or euros. During both the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, 14%
of our consolidated revenues, less transaction-based expenses were denominated in pounds sterling or euros and for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023, 9% and
7%, respectively of our consolidated operating expenses were denominated in pounds sterling or euros. As the pound sterling or euro exchange rate changes, the U.S. equivalent of
revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies changes accordingly.

(1) 
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Foreign currency transaction risk related to the settlement of foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and payables occurs through our operations, which are received in or paid in
pounds sterling, Canadian dollars, or euros, due to the increase or decrease in the foreign currency exchange rates between periods. We incurred foreign currency transaction losses of
$8 million and $9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023, inclusive of the impact
of foreign currency hedging transactions. We did not incur significant foreign currency gains/(losses) during the three months ended September 30, 2022. The foreign currency
transaction losses were primarily attributable to the fluctuations of the pound sterling and euro relative to the U.S. dollar. A 10% adverse change in the underlying foreign currency
exchange rates as of September 30, 2023, assuming no change in the composition of the foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and payables and assuming no hedging
activity, would result in a foreign currency loss of $8 million.

We entered into foreign currency hedging transactions during the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 as economic hedges to help mitigate a portion of our
foreign exchange risk exposure and may enter into additional hedging transactions in the future to help mitigate our foreign exchange risk exposure. Although we may enter into
additional hedging transactions in the future, these hedging arrangements may not be effective, particularly in the event of imprecise forecasts of the levels of our non-U.S. denominated
assets and liabilities.

We have foreign currency translation risk equal to our net investment in our foreign subsidiaries. The financial statements of these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using a
current rate of exchange, with gains or losses included in the cumulative translation adjustment account, a component of equity. Our exposure to the net investment in foreign currencies
is presented by primary foreign currencies in the table below (in millions):

 As of September 30, 2023

 
Position in 

pounds sterling  

Position in 
Canadian dollars Position in euros

Assets £ 762 $ 2,327 € 184 

   of which goodwill represents 545 391 92 

Liabilities 164 1,891 61 

Net currency position £ 598 $ 436 € 123 

Net currency position, in $USD $ 729 $ 321 $ 129 

Negative impact on consolidated equity of a 10% decrease in foreign currency exchange rates $ 73 $ 32 $ 13 

Foreign currency translation adjustments are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) within our balance sheet. See the table below for the portion
of equity attributable to foreign currency translation adjustments as well as the activity for the nine and three months ended September 30, 2023 included within our statement of other
comprehensive income. The impact of the foreign currency exchange rate differences were primarily driven by the following fluctuations of currencies:

 Pound sterling to U.S. dollar  Euro to U.S. Dollar

September 30, 2023 1.2200 1.0572

June 30, 2023 1.2697 1.0911

December 31, 2022 1.2093 1.0704

Changes in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss from Foreign Currency

Translation Adjustments 
(in millions)

Balance, as of December 31, 2022 $ (278)

Other comprehensive income — 

Income tax benefit/(expense) — 

Net current period other comprehensive income — 

Balance, as of September 30, 2023 $ (278)
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Changes in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss from Foreign Currency

Translation Adjustments 
(in millions)

Balance, as of June 30, 2023 $ (231)

Other comprehensive income (47)

Income tax benefit/(expense) — 

Net current period other comprehensive income (47)

Balance, as of September 30, 2023 $ (278)

The future impact on our business relating to the U.K. leaving the EU and the corresponding regulatory changes are uncertain at this time, including future impacts on currency exchange
rates.

Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk in our operations in the event of a counterparty default. We limit our exposure to credit risk by rigorously selecting the counterparties with which we make
our investments, monitoring them on an ongoing basis and executing agreements to protect our interests.

Clearing House Cash Deposit Risks

The ICE Clearing Houses hold material amounts of clearing member margin deposits which are held or invested primarily to provide security of capital while minimizing credit, market and
liquidity risks. Refer to Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements for more information on the ICE Clearing Houses' cash and cash equivalent margin deposits and guaranty funds,
invested deposits, delivery contracts receivable and unsettled variation margin which were $81.2 billion as of September 30, 2023. While we seek to achieve a reasonable rate of return
which may generate interest income for our clearing members, we are primarily concerned with preservation of capital and managing the risks associated with these deposits. As the ICE
Clearing Houses may pass on interest revenues (minus costs) to the clearing members, this could include negative or reduced yield due to market conditions. For a summary of the risks
associated with these deposits and how these risks are mitigated, see Part II, Item 7(A) “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” in our 2022 Form 10-K.

ITEM 4.        CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a)  Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.   As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation was carried out by our management, with the participation

of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the
period covered by this report.

(b )  Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting.  There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal
quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

PART II. Other Information

ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and related notes, which is incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 1(A).     RISK FACTORS
During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, there were no significant new risk factors from those disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in our 2022 Form 10-K. In addition to
the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report, including the information in the "—Regulation" section of Item 2 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations, you should carefully consider the factors discussed under “Risk Factors” and the
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regulation discussion under “Business—Regulation” in our 2022 Form 10-K. These risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The risks and uncertainties in our 2022 Form 10-K are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently believe to be
immaterial, may also adversely affect our business.

ITEM 2.    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES, USE OF PROCEEDS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Stock Repurchases

During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, there were not any purchases made by or on behalf of ICE or any “affiliated purchaser” (as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the
Exchange Act) of our common stock.

Refer to Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements and related notes, which are included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, for details on our stock repurchases.

ITEM 3.    DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.

ITEM 5.        OTHER INFORMATION
On August 7, 2023 , Jeffrey C. Sprecher , our Chair and Chief Executive Officer , adopted a trading plan for the sale of shares of ICE common stock for himself and Continental Power
Exchange, Inc., of which he owns 100% of the equity interests. The plan is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act. The plan
expires on the earlier of (i) October 31, 2024; or (ii) upon the completion of the sale of the maximum number of shares under the plan. The aggregate number of shares to be sold under
the plan is 505,165 shares plus an undetermined number of shares to be sold resulting from the vesting of performance-based restricted stock units less the amount of shares that will
be withheld to satisfy the payment of Mr. Sprecher's tax withholding obligations. The number of shares to be sold under the plan, excluding the unknown number of unvested
performance-based restricted stock units, is less than ten percent of the aggregate number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Sprecher as reported in our most recently filed Definitive
Proxy Statement.

Certain of our officers or directors have made elections to participate in, and are participating in, our dividend reinvestment plan and employee stock purchase plan and have made, and
may from time to time make, elections to have shares withheld to cover withholding taxes or pay the exercise price of options, which may be designed to satisfy the affirmative defense
conditions of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act or may constitute non-Rule 10b5–1 trading arrangements (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K).
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ITEM 6.        EXHIBITS
Exhibit Number  Description of Document

3.1 — Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., effective August 22, 2022 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 22, 2022, File No. 001-36198).

3.2 — Ninth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc., effective August 22, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 22, 2022, File No. 001-36198).

4.1* — Indenture among Black Knight InfoServ, LLC, the Guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, dated August 26, 2020.          

4.2* — Form of 3.625% Senior Note due 2028 of Black Knight InfoServ, LLC (included as an exhibit to the Indenture dated August 26, 2020).

10.1 — Black Knight, Inc. Amended and Restated 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan  (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s
Registration Statement on Form S-8, filed with the SEC on September 5, 2023, File No. 333-274344).

10.2 — Form of 2023 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Deal Incentive Award) used with respect to grants of performance-based
restricted stock units by the Company under the Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. 2022 Omnibus Employee Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 6, 2023, File No. 001-36198).

31.1* — Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

31.2* — Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

32.1** — Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

32.2** — Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

101 — The following materials from Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023, formatted in
Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Income, (iii) the
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.

104 — The cover page from Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 formatted in Inline
XBRL.

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith. These exhibits shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the liability of that
Section. Such exhibits shall not be deemed incorporated into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
 

Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.
(Registrant)

Date: November 2, 2023 By: /s/ A. Warren Gardiner

 A. Warren Gardiner

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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-iv- EXHIBITS EXHIBIT A Form of Note EXHIBIT B Form of Certificate of Transfer EXHIBIT C Form of Certificate of Exchange EXHIBIT D Form of Supplemental Indenture to be Delivered by Subsequent Guarantors -1- INDENTURE, dated as of August 26, 2020, among Black Knight InfoServ, LLC, a ?]dYoYj] daeal]\ daYZadalq [gehYfq 'l`] wIssuerx(* l`] BmYjYflgjk 'Yk \]^af]\ `]j]af( Yf\ R]ddk Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee (as defined herein). W I T N E S S E T H WHEREAS, the Issuer has duly authorized the creation of an issue of $1,000,000,000 Y__j]_Yl] hjaf[ahYd Yegmfl g^ 1,403% N]fagj Igl]k \m] 0.06 'l`] wInitial Notesx Yf\* lg_]l`]j oal` Yfq <\\alagfYd Igl]k 'Yk \]^af]\ `]j]af(* l`] wNotesx(9 Yf\ WHEREAS, the Issuer has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Indenture. NOW, THEREFORE, the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee agree as follows for the benefit of each other and for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders (as defined herein) of the Notes. ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE Section 1.01 Definitions. w144A Global Notex e]Yfk Y BdgZYd Igl] kmZklYflaYddq af l`] ^gje g^ Exhibit A hereto bearing the Global Note Legend and the Private Placement Legend and deposited with or on behalf of, and registered in the name of, the Depositary or its nominee that will be issued in an initial denomination equal to the outstanding principal amount of the Notes sold in reliance on Rule 144A. wAcquired EBITDAx means, with respect to any Acquired Entity or Business or any >gfn]jl]\ M]klja[l]\ NmZka\aYjq 'Yfq g^ l`] ^gj]_gaf_* Y wPro Forma Entityx( ^gj Yfq h]jag\* l`] amount for such period of EBITDA of such Pro Forma Entity (determined using such definitions as if references to the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries therein were to such Pro Forma Entity and its Restricted Subsidiaries), all as determined on a consolidated basis for such Pro Forma Entity in accordance with GAAP. wAcquired Entity or Businessx `Yk l`] e]Yfaf_ hjgna\]\ af l`] \]^afalagf g^ l`e term w@=DO?<x, wAffiliatex g^ Yfq kh][a^a]\ K]jkgf e]Yfk Yfq gl`]j K]jkgf \aj][ldq gj af\aj][ldq controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person. Agj hmjhgk]k g^ l`ak \]^afalagf* wcontrolx 'af[dm\af_* oith correlative meanings, the l]jek wcontrolling*x wcontrolled byx Yf\ wunder common control withx(*

Yk mk]\ oal` j]kh][l lg any Person, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise. wAgentx e]Yfk Yfq M]_akljYj gj KYqaf_ <_]fl, -2- wAmended and Restated Credit Facilitiesx means the Amended and Restated Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2018, and as amended on August 7, 2020, among the Issuer, the other borrowers named therein, the other guarantors named therein, the lenders party thereto in their capacities as lenders thereunder and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other parties thereto including any guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals, restatements, refundings or refinancings thereof and any indentures or credit facilities or commercial paper facilities with banks or other institutional lenders or investors that replace, refund or refinance any part of the loans, notes, other credit facilities or commitments thereunder, including any such replacement, refunding or refinancing facility or indenture that increases the amount borrowable thereunder or alters the maturity thereof. wApplicable Premiumx e]Yfk* oal` j]kh][l lg Yfq Igl] gf Yfq M]\]ehlagf ?Yl]* l`] greater of: (1) 1.0% of the principal amount of such Note on such Redemption Date; and (2) the excess, if any, of (a)(i) the sum of the present value at such Redemption Date of (A) the redemption price of such Note at September 1, 2023 (such redemption price being set forth in the table appearing in Section 3.07(b)) plus (B) all required interest payments due on such Note through, September 1, 2023, discounted to such Redemption Date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the Treasury Rate as of such Redemption Date plus 50 basis points; minus (ii) accrued but unpaid interest to, but excluding, the Redemption Date, over (b) the principal amount of such Note. The Issuer or such Person as designated by the Issuer shall determine the Applicable Premium. wApplicable Proceduresx e]Yfk* oal` j]kh][l lg Yfq hYqe]fl* l]f\]j* j]\]ehlagf* transfer or exchange of or for beneficial interests in any Global Note, the rules and

procedures of the Depositary, Euroclear and/or Clearstream that apply to such payment, tender, redemption, transfer or exchange. wBankruptcy Lawx e]Yfk Oald] //* P,N, >g\] gj Yfq kaeadYj ^]\]jYd gj klYl] dYo gj applicable foreign law for the relief of debtors. wBKFS Holdingsx e]Yfk =dY[c Ffa_`l AafYf[aYd N]jna[]k* GG>, wBusiness Dayx e]Yfk each day which is not a Legal Holiday. wCapital Stockx means: (1) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock or shares in the capital of such corporation; -3- (2) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock; (3) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership or membership interests (whether general or limited); and (4) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person. wCapitalized Lease Obligationx e]Yfk Y d]Yk] gZda_Ylagf l`Yl `Yk Z]]f gj k`gmd\ Z] 'a( prior to January 1, 2019, recorded as a capitalized lease on a balance sheet of the lessee in accordance with GAAP or (ii) on or after January 1, 2019, recorded as a financing lease on a balance sheet of the lessee in accordance with GAAP; provided that, with respect to this clause 'aa(* km[` ^afYf[af_ d]Yk] k`Ydd gfdq Z] Y w>YhalYdar]\ G]Yk] JZda_Ylagfx lg l`] ]pl]fl km[` financing lease would have been recorded prior to January 1, 2019 as a capitalized lease on a balance sheet of the lessee in accordance with GAAP as in effect on December 31, 2015. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all obligations of any Person that are or would be characterized as operating lease obligations in accordance with GAAP immediately prior to December 31, 2019 (whether or not such operating lease obligations were in effect on such date) shall continue to be accounted for as operating lease obligations (and not as Capitalized Lease Obligations) for purposes of this Indenture, regardless of any change in GAAP following the date that would otherwise require such obligations to be recharacterized as Capitalized Lease Obligations. wCapitalized Software Expendituresx means, for any period, the aggregate of all expenditures (whether paid in cash or accrued as liabilities) by BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries during such period in respect of purchased

software or internally developed software and software enhancements that, in conformity with GAAP, are or are required to be reflected as capitalized costs on the consolidated balance sheet of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries. wCash Equivalentsx e]Yfk8 (1) United States dollars, pounds sterling, Canadian dollars, euros, yen, swiss francs or any national currency of any Participating Member State in the European Union, or local currencies held from time to time in the ordinary course of business; (2) securities issued or directly and fully and unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or any agency or instrumentality thereof the securities of which are unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation of such government with maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition; (3) deposits, money market deposits, certificates of deposit, time deposits and eurodollar time deposits with maturities of one year or less from the date of acquisition, ZYfc]jkz Y[[]hlYf[]k oal` eYlmjala]k fgl ]p[]]\af_ gf] q]Yj Yf\ gn]jfa_`l ZYfc \]hgsits, in each case, with any commercial bank having capital and surplus of not less than



 







-4- $250.0 million in the case of U.S. banks and $100.0 million (or the U.S. dollar equivalent as of the date of determination) in the case of non-U.S. banks; (4) repurchase obligations and reserve purchase obligations for underlying securities of the types described in clauses (2) and (3) above entered into with any financial institution meeting the qualifications specified in clause (3) above; (5) commercial paper rated at least P-0 Zq Hgg\qzk gj Yl d]Ykl <-2 by S&P and, in each case, maturing within 24 months after the date of creation thereof; (6) marketable short-term money market and similar securities having a rating of at least P-2 or A-0 ^jge ]al`]j Hgg\qzk or S&P, respectively (or, if at any time neither Hgg\qzk fgj N&K k`Ydd Z] jYlaf_ km[` gZda_Ylagfk* Yf ]imanYd]fl jYlaf_ ^jge Yfgl`]j Rating Agency) and, in each case, maturing within 24 months after the date of creation thereof; (7) investment funds investing 90% of their assets in securities of the types described in clauses (1) through (6) above and (8) through (12) below; (8) readily marketable direct obligations issued by any state, commonwealth or territory of the United States or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof `Ynaf_ Yf Dfn]kle]fl BjY\] MYlaf_ ^jge ]al`]j Hgg\qzk gj N&K oal` eYlmjala]k g^ 02 months or less from the date of acquisition; (9) Investments with average maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition in money market funds rated AAA- (or the equivalent thereof) or better by N&K gj <YY1 'gj l`] ]imanYd]fl l`]j]g^( gj Z]ll]j Zq Hgg\qzk9 (10) Indebtedness or preferred stock issued by Persons with a rating of A or `a_`]j ^jge N&K gj <0 gj `a_`]j ^jge Hgg\qzk oalh maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition; (11) institutional money market funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940; and (12) solely with respect to any Restricted Subsidiary that is a Foreign Subsidiary, investments of comparable tenor and credit quality to those described in the foregoing clauses (2) through (11) customarily utilized in countries in which such Foreign Subsidiary operates for short term cash management purposes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Cash Equivalents shall include amounts denominated in currencies other than those set forth in clause (1) above; provided that such amounts are converted into any currency listed in clause (1) as promptly as practicable and in any event within ten

Business Days following the receipt of such amounts. wCash Management Servicesx e]Yfk any of the following: treasury, depository and/or cash management services, including, without limitation, other netting services, overdraft protections, automated clearing-house arrangements, purchasing card services, employee credit -5- card programs, controlled disbursement services, ACH transactions, return items, interstate depository network services, foreign exchange facilities, deposit and other accounts and merchant services. wCertificate of Exchangex e]Yfk Y []jla^a[Yl] kmZklYflaYddq af l`] ^gje g^ Exhibit C hereto. wCertificate of Transferx e]Yfk Y []jla^a[Yl] kmZklYflaYddq af l`] ^gje g^ Exhibit B hereto. wCFCx e]Yfk Y [gfljgdd]\ ^gj]a_f [gjhgjYlagf oal`af l`] e]Yfaf_ g^ N][lagf 735 of the Code. wChange of Controlx e]Yfk l`] g[[mjj]f[] g^ Yfq g^ l`] ^gddgoaf_8 (1) the sale, lease or transfer, in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of Holdings and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to any other Person other than one or more Permitted Holders; or (2) the acquisition by any Person or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or Section 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act or any successor provision), including any group acting for the purpose of acquiring, holding or disposing of securities (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act or any successor provision), other than one or more Permitted Holders, in a single transaction or in a related series of transactions, by way of merger, consolidation or other business combination or purchase, of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, or any successor provision) of a majority or more of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of Holdings. For purposes of this definition, any direct or indirect holding company of Holdings shall fgl alk]d^ Z] [gfka\]j]\ Y wPersonx gj wgroupx ^gj hmjhgk]k g^ [dYmk] '0( YZgn]9 provided that no wK]jkgfx gj w_jgmhx Z]f]^a[aYddq gofk* \aj][ldq gj af\aj][ldq* egj] than a majority of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of such holding company. wChange of Control Triggering Eventx means the occurrence of both a Change of Control and a related Ratings Event. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for the avoidance of doubt, no Change of Control Triggering Event will be deemed to have occurred in connection with any particular

Change of Control unless and until such Change of Control has actually been consummated. wClearstreamx e]Yfk >d]Yjklj]Ye =Yfcaf_* Ng[asls <fgfqe], wCodex e]Yfk l`] Pfal]\ NlYl]k Dfl]jfYd M]n]fm] >g\] g^ /764* Yk Ye]f\]\, wConsolidated Depreciation and Amortization Expensex means with respect to any Person for any period, the total amount of depreciation and amortization expense, including the amortization of intangible goodwill, deferred financing fees or costs, debt issuance costs, commissions, fees, and expenses, capitalized expenditures (including Capitalized Software Expenditures), customer acquisition costs, the amortization of original issue discount resulting -6- from the issuance of Indebtedness at less than par and incentive payments, conversion costs, and contract acquisition costs of such Person and its Subsidiaries (other than its Unrestricted Subsidiaries) for such period on a consolidated basis and otherwise determined in accordance with GAAP. wConsolidated Indebtednessx means, as of any date of determination, the sum, without duplication, of the total amount of Indebtedness of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP. wConsolidated Interest Expensex means, with respect to any Person for any period, total interest expense of such Person and its Subsidiaries (other than its Unrestricted Subsidiaries) determined on a consolidated basis and otherwise in accordance with GAAP. wConsolidated Net Incomex means, with respect to any Person for any period, the aggregate of the Net Income of such Person and its Subsidiaries (other than its Unrestricted Subsidiaries) for that period, on a consolidated basis, and otherwise determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that, without duplication: (1) extraordinary, non-recurring or unusual gains or losses or expenses (including any unusual or non-recurring operating expenses directly attributable to the implementation of cost savings initiatives and any accruals or reserves in respect of any extraordinary, non-recurring or unusual items), shall be excluded; (2) the Net Income for such period shall not include the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles and changes as a result of the adoption or modification of accounting policies during such period; (3) any gain (loss) (less all fees and expenses relating thereto) on asset sales,

disposals or abandonments (other than asset sales, disposals or abandonments in the ordinary course of business) or discontinued operations (but if such operations are classified as discontinued due to the fact that they are subject to an agreement to dispose of such operations, only when and to the extent such operations are actually disposed of), shall be excluded; (4) any after-tax effect of gains or losses (less all fees and expenses relating thereto) attributable to asset dispositions or abandonments other than in the ordinary course of business, as determined in good faith by the board of directors or senior management of the Issuer, shall be excluded; (5) the Net Income for such period of any Person that is not a Subsidiary, or is an Unrestricted Subsidiary, or that is accounted for by the equity method of accounting, shall be excluded; provided that Consolidated Net Income shall be increased by the amount of dividends or distributions or other payments that are actually paid in cash (or to the extent converted into cash or Cash Equivalents) to the referent Person or a Restricted Subsidiary thereof in respect of such period; (6) (a) any after-tax effect of income (loss) from the early extinguishment of Indebtedness or Hedging Obligations or other derivative instruments (including deferred -7- financing costs written off and premiums paid), (b) any non-cash charges resulting from mark-to-market accounting relating to Equity Interests and (c) any unrealized or realized net gain or loss resulting from currency translation or transaction gains or losses impacting net income (including currency remeasurements of Indebtedness) and any foreign currency translation or transaction gains or losses, including those resulting from intercompany Indebtedness and any unrealized net gains and losses resulting from obligations in respect of any Hedging Obligations in accordance with GAAP or any other derivative instrument pursuant the application of Accounting Standards Codification Ogha[ ImeZ]j 6/3 w?]janYlan]k Yf\ C]\_af_x* k`Ydd Z] ]p[dm\]\9 (7) any impairment charge, asset write-off, or write-down pursuant to GAAP and the amortization of intangibles arising pursuant to GAAP shall be excluded; (8) any non-cash compensation expense, charge, cost, accrued or reserve recorded from grants of stock appreciation or similar rights, phantom equity, stock options units, restricted stock, or other rights to

officers, directors, managers, or employees; (9) any fees commissions and expenses incurred during such period, or any amortization thereof for such period, in connection with any acquisition, Investment, recapitalization, disposition, issuance, or repayment of Indebtedness, issuance of Equity Interests, refinancing transaction or amendment or modification of any debt instrument (in each case, including any such transaction consummated prior to the Issue Date and any such transaction undertaken but not completed) and any charges or non-recurring merger costs incurred during such period as a result of any such transaction shall be excluded; (10) accruals and reserves (including contingent liabilities) that are established or adjusted within twelve months after the Issue Date that are so required to be established as a result of the issuance of the Notes in accordance with GAAP, or changes as a result of adoption or modification of accounting policies, shall be excluded; and (11) any deferred tax expense associated with tax deductions or net operating losses arising as a result of the issuance of the Notes, or the release of any valuation allowance related to such items, shall be excluded. wConsolidated Secured Debt Ratiox means, as of the date of determination (such date, the wConsolidated Secured Debt Ratio Calculation Datex(* l`] jYlag g^ 'Y( l`] >gfkgda\Yl]\ Indebtedness that is secured by Liens, less cash and Cash Equivalents that would be stated on the balance sheet of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries and held by BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, as of the date for which internal financial statements are available immediately preceding the date on which the event for which such calculation is being made shall occur, as determined in accordance with GAAP, to (b) EBITDA of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries for the four fiscal quarters ending on the date of the balance sheet referred to in clause (a) above, on a Pro Forma Basis. wContingent Obligationsx e]Yfk* oal` j]kh][l lg Yfq K]jkgf* Yfq gZda_Ylagf g^ km[` Person guaranteeing any leases, dividends or other obligations that do not constitute



 







-8- Df\]Zl]\f]kk 'wprimary obligationsx( g^ Yfq gl`]j K]jkgf 'l`] wprimary obligorx( af Yfq eYff]j* whether directly or indirectly, including, without limitation, any obligation of such Person, whether or not contingent: (1) to purchase any such primary obligation or any property constituting direct or indirect security therefor, (2) to advance or supply funds: (a) for the purchase or payment of any such primary obligation, or (b) to maintain working capital or equity capital of the primary obligor or otherwise to maintain the net worth or solvency of the primary obligor, or (3) to purchase property, securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of any such primary obligation of the ability of the primary obligor to make payment of such primary obligation against loss in respect thereof. wConverted Restricted Subsidiaryx `Yk l`] e]Yfaf_ hjgna\]\ af l`] \]^afalagf g^ l`] l]je w@=DO?<x, wConverted Unrestricted Subsidiaryx `Yk l`] e]Yfaf_ hjgna\]\ af l`] \]^afalagf g^ l`] l]je w@=DO?<x, wCorporate Trust Office of the Trusteex k`Ydd Z] Yl l`] Y\\j]kk g^ l`] Ojmkl]] kh][a^a]\ af Section 12.01 or such other address as to which the Trustee may give notice to the Holders and the Issuer. wCredit Facilitiesx means one or more debt facilities, including the Amended and Restated Credit Facilities, or other financing arrangements (including, without limitation, commercial paper facilities or indentures) providing for revolving credit loans, term loans, letters of credit or other short or long-term indebtedness, including any notes, debt securities, mortgages, guarantees, collateral documents, instruments, indentures and other agreements executed in connection therewith, and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals, restatements or refundings thereof and any debt facilities or financing arrangements that replace, refund or refinance any part of the loans, letters of credit, notes, debt securities, or other indebtedness or credit facilities commitments thereunder, including any such replacement, refunding or refinancing facility or financing arrangements that increases the amount permitted to be borrowed thereunder or alters the maturity thereof or adds additional borrowers or guarantors thereunder and whether by the same or any other agent, lender or group of lenders, trustee or investors or group of investors. wCustodianx e]Yfk l`] Ojmkl]] o`]f k]jnaf_ Yk [mklg\aYf ^gj l`e Depositary with respect to the Global

Notes, or any successor entity thereto. wDefaultx e]Yfk Yfq ]n]fl l`Yl ak* gj oal` l`] hYkkY_] g^ lae] gj l`] _anaf_ g^ fgla[] gj both would be, an Event of Default. -9- wDefinitive Notex e]Yfk Y []jla^a[Yl]\ Igl] j]_aklered in the name of the Holder thereof and issued in accordance with Section 2.06(c), substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, except that such Igl] k`Ydd fgl Z]Yj l`] BdgZYd Igl] G]_]f\ Yf\ k`Ydd fgl `Yn] l`] wSchedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Notex YllY[`]\ l`]j]lg, wDepositaryx e]Yfk* oal` j]kh][l lg l`] Igl]k akkmYZd] gj akkm]\ af o`gd] gj af hYjl af global form, the Person specified in Section 2.03 as the Depositary with respect to the Notes, and any and all successors thereto appointed as Depositary hereunder and having become such pursuant to the applicable provision of this Indenture. wDisposed EBITDAx means, with respect to any Sold Entity or Business or any Converted Unrestricted Subsidiary for any period, the amount for such period of EBITDA of such Sold Entity or Business or Converted Unrestricted Subsidiary (determined as if references to the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries in the definition of EBITDA were references to such Sold Entity or Business or Converted Unrestricted Subsidiary and its respective Subsidiaries), all as determined on a consolidated basis for such Sold Entity or Business or Converted Unrestricted Subsidiary, as the case may be. wDisqualified Stockx means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock of such Person which, by its terms, or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is putable or exchangeable, or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable (other than solely as a result of a fundamental change, change of control or asset sale) for cash or in exchange for Indebtedness pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable or repurchasable for cash or in exchange of Indebtedness at the option of the holder thereof (other than solely as a result of a fundamental change, change of control or asset sale), in whole or in part, in each case prior to the date 91 days after the earlier of the maturity date of the Notes or the date the Notes are no longer outstanding; provided that only the portion of Capital Stock which so matures or is mandatorily redeemable, is so convertible or exchangeable or is so redeemable at the option of the holder

thereof prior to such date shall be deemed to be Disqualified Stock; provided, further, that, if such Capital Stock is issued to any plan for the benefit of employees, directors, officers or consultants of Holdings, the Issuer or any of their respective Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such Persons, such Capital Stock shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased by Holdings, the Issuer or its Subsidiaries in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations or as Y j]kmdl g^ km[` K]jkgfzk l]jeafYlagf* \]Yl` gj \akYZadalq, wDTCx e]Yfk O`] ?]hgkalgjq Ojmkl >gehYfq gj Yfq kuccessor securities clearing agency. wEBITDAx means, with respect to any Person and its Subsidiaries (other than Unrestricted Subsidiaries) for any period, an amount equal to (a) Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period plus (b), without duplication, the sum of (i) provision for taxes based on income or profits or capital, including, without limitation, U.S. federal, state, non-U.S., franchise, excise, value added, and similar taxes and foreign withholding taxes paid or accrued during such period deducted, including any penalties and interest related to such taxes or -10- arising from any tax examinations (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income; (ii) Consolidated Interest Expense; (iii) Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Expense of such Person for such period to the extent the same were deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income; (iv) any expenses, fees, charges, or losses (other than depreciation or amortization expense) related to any equity offering, Investment, stock repurchase, dividend, debt payment, acquisition, disposition, recapitalization, or the incurrence of Indebtedness (including a refinancing thereof) (whether or not successful and including any such transaction consummated prior to the Issue Date), including (1) such fees, expenses, or charges related to any credit facility, and (2) any amendment or other modification of the Notes and other Indebtedness and (iii) commissions, discounts, yield and other fees and charges, in each case, deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income; (v) any non-cash purchase accounting adjustment and any non-cash write-up, write-down or write-off with respect to re-valuing assets and liabilities; (vi) any other non-cash expenses and charges, including (i) any write offs or

write downs, (ii) equity based awards compensation expense, (iii) losses on sales, disposals or abandonment of, or any impairment charges or asset write off related to, intangible assets, long-lived assets and investments in debt and equity securities, (iv) all losses from investments recorded using the equity method (other than to the extent funded with cash) and (v) other non-cash charges, non-cash expenses or non-cash losses reducing Consolidated Net Income for such period (provided that if any such non-cash charges, expenses or losses represent an accrual or reserve for potential cash items in any future period, the cash payment in respect thereof in such future period shall be subtracted from EBITDA to such extent, and excluding amortization of a prepaid cash item that was paid in a prior period); (vii) the amount of any net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests in any non- Wholly-Owned Subsidiary deducted (and not added back) in such period in calculating Consolidated Net Income; (viii) costs of surety bonds incurred in such period in connection with financing activities; (ix) the amount of reasonably identifiable and factually supportable yyjmf-jYl]zz [gkl kYnaf_k* gh]jYlaf_ ]ph]fk] j]\m[lagfk* Yf\ kqf]j_a]k l`Yl Yj] projected by the Issuer in good faith to result from actions either taken or expected to be taken within 24 months of the determination to take such action, net of the amount of actual benefits realized prior to or during such period from such actions (which cost savings, operating expense reductions, and synergies -11- shall be calculated and given pro forma effect as though such cost savings, operating expense reductions, or synergies had been realized on the first day of such period); (x) the amount of loss or discount on sale of receivables and related assets to the Receivables Subsidiary in connection with a Receivables Facility; (xi) any costs or expense incurred by BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary pursuant to any management equity plan or stock option or phantom equity plan or any other management or employee benefit plan or agreement or any stock subscription or shareholder agreement, to the extent that such cost or expenses are funded with cash proceeds contributed to the capital of BKFS Holdings or the Issuer or net cash proceeds of an issuance of equity interests of BKFS Holdings or the Issuer; (xii) the amount of expenses

relating to payments made to option, phantom equity or profits interest holders of any direct or indirect parent company of the Issuer or any of its direct or indirect parent companies in connection with, or as a result of, any distribution being made to shareholders of such Person or its direct or indirect parent companies, which payments are being made to compensate such option, phantom equity or profits interest holders as though they were shareholders at the time of, and entitled to share in, such distribution, in each case to the extent permitted under this Agreement and expenses relating to distributions made to equity holders of such Person or its direct or indirect parent companies resulting from the application of Financial Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718- CompensationvStock Compensation (formerly Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123 (Revised 2004)); (xiii) with respect to any joint venture that is not a Restricted Subsidiary, an amount equal to the proportion of those items described in clauses (i) and (iii) YZgn] j]dYlaf_ lg km[` bgafl n]flmj] [gjj]khgf\af_ lg =FAN Cgd\af_kz* l`] Dkkm]jzk Yf\ l`] M]klja[l]\ NmZka\aYja]kz hjghgjlagfYl] k`Yj] g^ km[` bgafl n]flmj]zk >gfkgda\Yl]\ I]l Df[ge] '\]l]jeaf]\ Yk a^ km[` bgafl n]flmj] o]j] Y Restricted Subsidiary); (xiv) costs associated with, or in anticipation of, or preparation for, compliance with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations promulgated in connection therewith and Public Company Costs; (xv) to the extent covered by insurance or indemnification and actually reimbursed, or, so long as the Issuer has made a good faith determination that such amount will in fact be reimbursed by the insurer or indemnifying party; (xvi) expenses consisting of internal software development costs that are expensed during the period but could have been capitalized under alternative accounting policies in accordance with GAAP;



 







-12- (xvii) any loss from disposed or discontinued operations or disposed property or assets; (xviii) cash receipts (or any netting arrangements resulting in reduced cash expenditures) not representing EBITDA or Net Income in any period to the extent non-cash gains relating to such income were deducted in the calculation of EBITDA pursuant to clause (a) below for any previous period and not added back; (xix) earn-out and contingent consideration obligations incurred or accrued in connection with any acquisition or Investment and paid or accrued during such period and on similar acquisitions or Investments completed prior to the Issue Date to the extent the same was deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income; (xx) charges attributable to the undertaking and/or implementation of cost savings initiatives, operating expense reductions and other synergies and similar initiatives, integration, transition, reconstruction, decommissioning, recommissioning or reconfiguration of fixed assets for alternative uses, facilities opening and preopening (including unused warehouse space costs), business optimization and other restructuring and integration costs (including those related to tax restructurings), charges, accruals, reserves and expenses (including, without limitation, inventory optimization programs, software development costs, systems implementation and upgrade expenses, costs related to the closure or consolidation of facilities (including but not limited to severance, rent termination costs, moving costs and legal costs), costs related to curtailments, costs related to entry into new markets (including unused warehouse space costs, strategic initiatives and contracts, consulting fees, signing costs, retention or completion bonuses, expansion and relocation expenses, severance payments, and modifications to pension and post-retirement employee benefit plans, new systems design and implementation costs and project startup costs), in an aggregate amount not to exceed 25% of Consolidated EBITDA for such period (calculated before giving effect to the adjustments in clause (ix) or this clause (xx)); (xxi) all extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring charges, expenses, costs, accruals or reserves; and (xxii) letter of credit fees; minus (a) Non-cash gains increasing Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such period, excluding any non-cash gains

which represent the reversal of any accrual of, or cash reserve for, anticipated cash charges that reduced EBITDA in any prior period other than non-cash gains relating to the application of Financial Accounting Standards Codification Topic 840- Leases (formerly Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 13); provided that, to the extent non cash gains are deducted pursuant to this clause (a) for any previous period and not otherwise added back to EBITDA, -13- EBITDA shall be increased by the amount of any cash receipts (or any netting arrangements resulting in reduced cash expenses) in respect of such non cash gains received in subsequent periods to the extent not already included therein; plus or minus (b) (i) any net gain or loss resulting in such period from currency gains or losses related to Indebtedness, intercompany balances, and other balance sheet items, plus or minus, as the case may be, and (ii) any net gain or loss resulting in such period from Hedging Obligations, and the application of Financial Accounting Standards Codification Topic 815-Derivatives and Hedging (ASC 815) (formerly Financing Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 133), and its related pronouncements and interpretations, or the equivalent accounting standard under GAAP or an alternative basis of accounting applied in lieu of GAAP. For the avoidance of doubt: (i) to the extent included in Consolidated Net Income, there shall be excluded in determining EBITDA for any period any adjustments resulting from the application of ASC 815 and its related pronouncements and interpretations, or the equivalent accounting standard under GAAP or an alternative basis of accounting applied in lieu of GAAP; (ii) there shall be included in determining EBITDA for any period, without duplication, (1) the Acquired EBITDA of any Person or business, or attributable to any property or asset acquired by BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary during such period (but not the Acquired EBITDA of any related Person or business or any Acquired EBITDA attributable to any assets or property, in each case to the extent not so acquired) to the extent not subsequently sold, transferred, abandoned, or otherwise disposed by BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or such Restricted Subsidiary during such period (each such Person, business, property, or asset acquired and not subsequently so disposed of, af

yyAcquired Entity or Businesszz( Yf\ l`] <[imaj]\ @=DO?< g^ Yfq Pfj]klja[l]\ NmZka\aYjq that is converted into a Restricted Subsidiary during such period (each, a yyConverted Restricted Subsidiaryzz(* ZYk]\ gf l`] Y[lmYd <[imaj]\ @=DO?< g^ such Acquired Entity or Business or Converted Restricted Subsidiary for such period (including the portion thereof occurring prior to such acquisition or conversion) and (2) an adjustment in respect of each Acquired Entity or Business equal to the amount of the Pro Forma Adjustment with respect to such Acquired Entity or Business for such period (including the portion thereof occurring prior to such acquisition); and (iii) to the extent included in Consolidated Net Income, there shall be excluded in determining EBITDA for any period the Disposed EBITDA of any Person, property, business, or asset sold, transferred, abandoned, or otherwise disposed of, closed or classified as discontinued operations by BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary during such period (each such Person, hjgh]jlq* Zmkaf]kk* gj Ykk]l kg kgd\ gj \akhgk]\ g^* Y wSold Entity or Businessx(* and the Disposed EBITDA of any Restricted Subsidiary that is converted into an -14- Pfj]klja[l]\ NmZka\aYjq \mjaf_ km[` h]jag\ ']Y[`* Y wConverted Unrestricted Subsidiaryx) based on the actual Disposed EBITDA of such Sold Entity or Business or Converted Unrestricted Subsidiary for such period (including the portion thereof occurring prior to such sale, transfer, or disposition or conversion); provided that for the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any classification under GAAP of any Person or business in respect of which a definitive agreement for the disposition thereof has been entered into as discontinued operations, the Disposed EBITDA of such Person or business shall not be excluded pursuant to this paragraph until such disposition shall have been consummated. wEMUx e]Yfk l`] ][gfgea[ Yf\ egf]lYjq mfagf Yk [gfl]ehdYl]\ af l`] Oj]Ylq gf European Union. wEquity Interestsx means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock, but excluding any debt security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock. wEquity Offeringx means any public or private sale of Equity Interests of the Issuer or any direct or indirect parent of the Issuer, other than: (1) hmZda[ g^^]jaf_k oal` j]kh][l lg Yfq km[` K]jkgfzk [geegf klg[c registered on Form S-8; and (2)

issuances to any Subsidiary of the Issuer. wEscrow Agentx e]Yfk M]_agfk =Yfc* Yf <dYZYeY ZYfcaf_ [gjhgjYlagf, wEscrow Agreementx e]Yfk l`] @k[jgo <_j]]e]fl* \Yl]\ Yk g^ <m_mkl 04* 0.0.* Yegf_ the Trustee, the Escrow Agent and the Issuer. weurox e]Yfk l`] kaf_d] [mjj]f[q g^ hYjla[ahYlaf_ e]eZ]j klYl]k g^ l`] @HP, wEuroclearx e]Yfk @mjg[d]Yj N,<,-I,Q,* Yk gh]jYlgj g^ the Euroclear system. wExchange Actx e]Yfk l`] N][mjala]k @p[`Yf_] <[l g^ /712* Yk Ye]f\]\* Yf\ l`] jmd]k and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder. wFitchx e]Yfk Aal[` MYlaf_ Df[, Yf\ Yfq km[[]kkgj lg alk jYlaf_k Y_]f[q Zmkaf]kk, wForeign Subsidiaryx means any Restricted Subsidiary that is (a) not organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, the District of Columbia, or any territory thereof or (b) any Subsidiary of an entity described in item (a) of this definition. wFSHCOx means, with respect to any Person, any Subsidiary substantially all the assets of which consist of (a) Equity Interests of (and/or intercompany obligations owed or treated as owed by) one or more CFCs and/or (b) Equity Interests of (and/or intercompany obligations owed or treated as owed by) one or more Subsidiaries described in this definition. -15- wGAAPx e]Yfk _]f]jYddq Y[[]hl]\ Y[[gmflaf_ hjaf[ahd]k af l`] Pfal]\ NlYl]k o`a[` Yj] in effect on the Issue Date, except with respect to any reports or financial information required to be delivered pursuant to Section 4.03, which shall be prepared in accordance with GAAP as in effect on the date thereof and except as the context otherwise requires herein. wGlobal Note Legendx e]Yfk l`] d]_]f\ k]l ^gjl` af Section 2.06(f)(2), which is required to be placed on all Global Notes issued under this Indenture. wGlobal Notesx e]Yfk Y Igl] af _dgZYd ^gje l`Yl ]na\]f[]k Ydd gj hYjl g^ l`] Igl]k Yf\ ak registered in the name of the Depositary for the Notes or a nominee thereof, and includes, individually and collectively, each of the Restricted Global Notes and the Unrestricted Global Notes, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, issued in accordance with Section 2.01, 2.06(b) or 2.06(d). wGovernment Securitiesx e]Yfk k][mjala]k l`Yl Yj]8 (1) direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the United States of America for the timely payment of which its full faith and credit is pledged; or (2) obligations of a Person controlled or supervised by and acting as an agency or instrumentality of the

United States of America the timely payment of which is unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation by the United States of America, which, in either case, are not callable or redeemable at the option of the issuers thereof, and shall also include a depository receipt issued by a bank (as defined in Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act), as custodian with respect to any such Government Securities or a specific payment of principal of or interest on any such Government Securities held by such custodian for the account of the holder of such depository receipt; provided that (except as required by law) such custodian is not authorized to make any deduction from the amount payable to the holder of such depository receipt from any amount received by the custodian in respect of the Government Securities or the specific payment of principal of or interest on the Government Securities evidenced by such depository receipt. wguaranteex means a guarantee (other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business), direct or indirect, in any manner (including letters of credit and reimbursement agreements in respect thereof), of all or any part of any Indebtedness or other obligations. wGuaranteex e]Yfk l`] _mYjYfl]] Zq Yfq BmYjYflgj g^ l`] Dkkm]jzk JZda_Ylagfk mf\]j l`ak Indenture. wGuarantorx means Holdings, BKFS Holdings and each other Person that Guarantees the Notes in accordance with the terms of this Indenture. wHedging Obligationsx means, with respect to any Person, the obligations of such Person under any and all interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement, commodity swap agreement, commodity cap agreement, commodity collar agreement, foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement, basis swaps, credit derivative



 







-16- transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity options, forward contracts, futures contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, cap transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options, spot contracts, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, sell buy backs and buy sell back agreements, and securities lending and borrowing agreements or any other similar agreement providing for the transfer or mitigation of interest rate, commodity risks either generally or under specific contingencies, (including any options to enter into any of the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement. wHolderx e]Yfk l`] K]jkgf af o`gk] fYe] Y Igl] ak j]_akl]j]\ gf l`] M]_akljYjzk Zggck, wHoldingsx e]Yfk =dY[c Ffa_`l* Df[, wIndebtednessx means, with respect to any Person, (i) any indebtedness (including principal and premium) of such Person, whether or not contingent (a) in respect of borrowed money, (b) evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures, or similar instruments or letters of credit or ZYfc]jkz Y[[]hlYf[]k 'gj* oal`gml \gmZd] [gmflaf_* j]aeZmjk]e]fl Y_j]]e]flk af j]kh][l l`]j]g^( and similar credit transactions, (c) representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property (including Capitalized Lease Obligations), or (d) representing any Hedging Obligations, if and to the extent that any of the foregoing Indebtedness (other than letters of credit and Hedging Obligations) would appear as a net liability upon a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes thereto) of such Person prepared in accordance with GAAP; provided that Indebtedness of any direct or indirect parent company appearing upon the balance sheet of the Issuer solely by reason of push down accounting under GAAP shall be excluded, (ii) to the extent not otherwise included, any obligation by such Person to be liable for, or to pay, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, on the obligations of the type referred to in clause (i) of another Person (whether or not such items would appear upon the balance sheet of such obligor or guarantor), other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business, and (iii) to the extent not

otherwise included, the obligations of the type referred to in clause (i) of another Person secured by a Lien on any asset owned by such Person, whether or not such Indebtedness is assumed by such Person; provided that notwithstanding the foregoing, Indebtedness shall be deemed not to include (1) Contingent Obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business, (2) obligations under or in respect of Receivables Facilities, (3) prepaid or deferred revenue arising in the ordinary course of business, (4) purchase price holdbacks arising in the ordinary course of business in respect of a portion of the purchase price of an asset to satisfy warrants or other unperformed obligations of the seller of such asset, (5) any balance that constitutes a trade payable or similar obligation to a trade creditor, accrued in the ordinary course of business, (6) any earn-out obligation until such obligation, within 60 days of becoming due and payable, has not been paid and such obligation is reflected as a liability on the balance sheet of such Person in accordance with GAAP, (7) any obligations attributable to the exercise of appraisal rights and the settlement of any claims or actions (whether actual, contingent or potential) with respect thereto, (8) accrued expenses and royalties or (9) asset j]laj]e]fl gZda_Ylagfk Yf\ gZda_Ylagfk af j]kh][l g^ ogjc]jkz [geh]fkYlagf 'af[dmding pensions and retiree medical care) that are not overdue by more than 60 days. The amount of Indebtedness of any Person for purposes of clause (iii) above shall (unless such Indebtedness has been -17- assumed by such Person) be deemed to be equal to the lesser of (x) the aggregate unpaid amount of such Indebtedness and (y) the fair market value of the property encumbered thereby as determined by such Person in good faith. For all purposes hereof, the Indebtedness of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, shall exclude all intercompany Indebtedness having a term not exceeding 365 days (inclusive of any roll-over or extensions of terms) and made in the ordinary course of business. wIndenturex e]Yfk l`ak Df\]flmj]* Yk Ye]f\]\ gj kmhhd]e]fl]\ from time to time. wIndirect Participantx e]Yfk Y K]jkgf o`g `gd\k Y Z]f]^a[aYd afl]j]kl af Y BdgZYd Igl] through a Participant. wInitial Notesx `Yk l`] e]Yfaf_ Ykka_f]\ lg km[` l]je af l`] j][alYdk `]j]lg, wInterest Payment Datex e]Yfk l`] N]hl]eZ]j / and March 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 2021, to

stated maturity. wInvestment Grade Ratingx means a rating equal to or higher than (1) Baa3 (or the ]imanYd]fl( Zq Hgg\qzk* '0( ===- (or the equivalent) by S&P or (3) BBB- (or the equivalent) by Fitch gj* a^ l`] Yhhda[YZd] k][mjala]k Yj] fgl l`]f jYl]\ Zq Hgg\qzk* N&K gj Aal[` ^gj j]Ykgfk gmlka\] l`] Dkkm]jzk [gfljgd* Yf ]imanYd]fl jYlaf_ Zq Yfq gl`]j MYlaf_ <_]f[q kh][a^a]\ Zq l`] Issuer. wInvestmentsx means, with respect to any Person, all investments by such Person in other Persons (including Affiliates) in the form of loans (including guarantees), advances or capital contributions (excluding accounts receivable, trade credit, deposits, advances to customers, commission, travel and similar advances to officers and employees, in each case, made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other securities issued by any other Person and investments that are required by GAAP to be classified on the balance sheet (excluding the footnotes) of such Person in the same manner as the other investments included in this definition to the extent such transactions involve the transfer of cash or other property; provided that Investments shall not include, in the case of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, intercompany loans (including guarantees), advances, or Indebtedness either (i) having a term not exceeding 364 days (inclusive of any roll-over or extensions of terms) and made in the ordinary course of business or (ii) arising from cash management, tax and/or accounting operations and made in the ordinary course of business or consistent with past practice. wIssue Datex e]Yfk <m_mkl 04* 0.0., wIssuerx `Yk l`] e]Yfing assigned to such term in the introductory paragraph hereto. wDkkm]jzk Jj\]jx e]Yfk Y ojall]f j]im]kl gj gj\]j ka_f]\ gf Z]`Yd^ g^ l`] Dkkm]j Zq Yf Officer of the Issuer, who must be the principal executive officer, the principal financial officer, the treasurer or the principal accounting officer of the respective Issuer, and delivered to the Trustee. -18- wLegal Holidayx means a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which commercial banking institutions are not required to be open in the State of New York or in the place of payment. wLienx means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien (statutory or otherwise), pledge, charge, security interest or similar encumbrance in respect of such asset, including any

conditional sale or other title retention agreement. wLimited Condition Transactionx means (x) any acquisition or investment, including by way of merger, amalgamation, consolidation or other business combination or the acquisition of Equity Interests or otherwise, by one or more of Holdings or its Subsidiaries of or in any assets, business or Person, in each case, whose consummation is not conditioned on the availability of, or on obtaining, third-party financing or (y) any redemption, purchase, repurchase, defeasance, satisfaction and discharge or prepayment or repayment of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or preferred stock by one or more of Holdings and its Subsidiaries requiring irrevocable notice in advance thereof. wHgg\qzkx e]Yfk Hgg\qzk Dfn]klgjk N]jna[]* Df[, Yf\ Yfq km[[]kkgj lg alk jYlaf_ Y_]f[q business. wNet Incomex means with respect to any Person, the net income (loss) of such Person, determined in accordance with GAAP and before any reduction in respect of preferred stock dividends. wNon-Capitalized Lease Obligationsx means a lease obligation that is not required to be accounted for as a financing or capital lease on both the balance sheet and the income statement for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP. For avoidance of doubt, a straight- line or operating lease shall be considered a Non-Capitalized Lease Obligation. wNon-U.S. Personx e]Yfk Y K]jkgf o`g ak fgl Y P,N, K]jkgf, wNotesx `Yk l`] e]Yfaf_ Ykka_f]\ lg km[` l]je af l`] j][alYdk `]j]lg Yf\ egj] particularly means any Note authenticated and delivered under this Indenture. For all purposes g^ l`ak Df\]flmj]* l`] l]je wIgl]kx k`Ydd Ydkg af[dm\] Yfq <\\alagfYd Igl]k l`Yl eYq Z] akkm]\ under a supplemental indenture. All Notes shall be treated as a single class for all purposes under this Indenture. wObligationsx means any principal (including any accretion), interest (including any interest accruing subsequent to the filing of a petition in bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding at the rate provided for in the documentation with respect thereto, whether or not such interest is an allowed claim under applicable state, federal or foreign law), penalties, fees, indemnifications, reimbursements (including reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of [j]\al Yf\ ZYfc]jzk Y[[]hlYf[]k(* \YeY_]k Yf\ gl`]j daYZadala]k* Ynd guarantees of payment of such principal (including any accretion), interest, penalties, fees,

indemnifications, reimbursements, damages and other liabilities, payable under the documentation governing any Indebtedness. wOffering Memorandumx e]Yfk l`] g^fering memorandum, dated August 12, 2020, relating to the sale of the Initial Notes. -19- wOfficerx means the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, any Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or Vice President, the Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, the Secretary or the Assistant Secretary of the Issuer. wJ^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl]x means a certificate signed on behalf of the Issuer by an Officer, that meets the requirements set forth in this Indenture. wOpinion of Counselx means a written opinion from legal counsel who is acceptable to the Trustee. The counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Issuer. wOptimal Bluex e]Yfk JhlaeYd =dm] Cgd\af_k* GG>, wOptimal Blue Acquisitionx e]Yfk l`] h]f\af_ Y[imakalagf g^ JhlaeYd =dm] hmjkmYfl lg the Equity Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2020, among Holdings, GTCR Fund XI/C LP, GTCR/OB Blocker Corp., GTCR/OB Splitter LP, OB Holdings I, LLC, OB Acquisition, LLC and OB Holdings I, LLC, in its capacity as representative. wParticipantx e]Yfk* oal` j]kh][l lg l`] ?]hgkalYjq* @mjg[d]Yj gj >d]Yjklj]Ye* Y K]jkgf who has an account with the Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, respectively (and, with respect to DTC, shall include Euroclear and Clearstream). wParticipating Member Statex means any member state of the European Union that adopts or has adopted the Euro as its lawful currency in accordance with legislation of the European Union relating to economic and monetary union. wPending Mergersx e]Yfk l`] e]j_]jk* [gfkgda\Ylagfk gj kaeadYj oaf\af_ mh g^ []jlYaf kmZka\aYja]k 'l`] wPending Merger Subsidiariesx( g^ l`] Dkkm]j oal` Yf aflg []jlYaf BmYjYflgjk Yk to which a certificate of merger (or other document, instrument or filing to effect such merger, consolidation or winding up) was filed prior to the date of the Offering Memorandum. wPermitted Holderx means officers, directors and members of management of the Issuer (and/or its direct or indirect parent including Holdings or management investment vehicle) who are holders of Equity Interests of the Issuer (and/or its direct or indirect parent company or management investment vehicle) and any group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or Section 14(d)(2) of the

Exchange Act or any successor provision) of which any of the foregoing are members; provided that, in the case of such group, such officers, directors and members of management own more than 50% of the Voting Stock of the Issuer (or its direct or indirect parent) owned by such group. wPermitted Liensx e]Yfk* oal` j]kh][l lg Yfq K]jkgf8 (1) hd]\_]k* \]hgkalk gj k][mjalq Zq km[` K]jkgf mf\]j ogjce]fzk [geh]fkYlagf dYok* mf]ehdgqe]fl afkmjYf[]* ]ehdgq]jkz `]Ydl` lYp* Yf\ gl`]j kg[aYd security laws or similar legislation or other insurance related obligations (including, but not limited to, in respect of deductibles, self-insured retention amounts and premiums and adjustments thereto) or indemnification obligations of (including obligations in respect of letters of credit or bank guarantees for the benefit of) insurance carriers providing property, casualty or liability insurance, or good faith deposits in connection with bids,



 







-20- tenders, contracts (other than for the payment of Indebtedness) or leases to which such Person is a party, or deposits to secure public or statutory obligations of such Person or deposits of cash or U.S. government bonds to secure surety, stay, customs or appeal bonds to which such Person is a party, or deposits as security for contested taxes or import duties or for the payment of rent, performance and return of money bonds and other similar obligations (including letters of credit issued in lieu of any such bonds or to support the issuance thereof and including those to secure health, safety and environmental obligations) or Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen and suppliers and other Liens imposed by law or pursuant to customary reservations or retentions of title, in each case, incurred in the ordinary course of business; (2) Liens imposed by law or regulation or pursuant to customary reservations gj j]l]flagfk g^ lald] Yjakaf_ af l`] gj\afYjq [gmjk] g^ Zmkaf]kk* km[` Yk [Yjja]jkz* oYj]`gmk]e]fzk* eYl]jaYde]fzk Yf\ e][`Yfa[kz Ga]fk* af ]Y[` [Yk]* 'a( ^gj kmek fgl q]l overdue for a period of more than 60 days (ii) being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings or (iii) with respect to which the failure to make payment could not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations, business or assets of Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; or other Liens arising out of judgments or awards against such Person with respect to which such Person shall then be proceeding with an appeal or other proceedings for review if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of such Person in accordance with GAAP; (3) Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet overdue for a period of more than 60 days or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of such Person in accordance with GAAP or for which failure to pay would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect; (4) Liens in favor of issuers of performance, surety bonds, trade contracts, leases (other than Indebtedness) or bid, governmental contracts, indemnity, warranty, release, appeal or similar bonds or with respect to other regulatory requirements or letters

g^ [j]\al gj ZYfc]jkz Y[[]hlYf[]k akkm]\* Yf\ [gehd]lagf _mYjYfl]]k hjgna\]\ ^gj* af ]Y[` case pursuant to the request of and for the account of such Person in the ordinary course of its business or consistent with past practice prior to the Issue Date; (5) minor survey exceptions, minor encumbrances, easements or reservations of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights-of-way, sewers, electric lines, telegraph and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions (including, without limitation, minor defects or irregularities in title and similar encumbrances) as to the use of real properties or Liens incidental to the conduct of the business of such Person or to the ownership of its properties which were not incurred or created in connection with the Indebtedness and which do not in the aggregate materially adversely affect the value of said properties or materially impair their use in the ordinary operation of the business of such Person; -21- (6) Liens securing Indebtedness (including Capitalized Lease Obligations) and Obligations in respect thereof incurred or issued to finance the purchase, lease, construction, repair, expansion, installation, maintenance, upgrade, replacement or improvement of property (real or personal) or equipment or other assets, whether through the direct purchase of assets or the Capital Stock of any Person owning such assets and Indebtedness and obligations in respect thereof arising from the conversion of the obligations uf\]j gj hmjkmYfl lg Yfq yykqfl`]la[ d]Yk]zz ljYfkY[lagfk lg gf-balance sheet Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary; provided that the aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness so secured under this clause (6), when aggregated with the principal amount of all other Indebtedness then outstanding and so secured under this clause (6), does not exceed the greater of (a) $220 million and (b) 40% of Pro Forma EBITDA of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries at the time of incurrence (for the period of the most recently ended four fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available immediately preceding the date of such incurrence of Indebtedness); (7) Liens securing Indebtedness and Obligations in respect thereof of Restricted Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors in an aggregate principal amount incurred, together with any other Indebtedness outstanding and so

secured under this clause (7) not to exceed the greater of (a) $165 million and (b) 30% of Pro Forma EBITDA of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries at the time of incurrence (for the period of the most recently ended four fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available immediately preceding the date of such incurrence of Indebtedness); (8) Liens (other than Liens with respect to the Amended and Restated Credit Facilities which shall be deemed incurred under clause (29) of this definition of Permitted Liens) existing on the Issue Date; (9) Liens on property or shares of stock of a Person at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Liens may not extend to any other property owned by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (other than, with respect to such Person, any replacements of such property or assets and additions and accessions thereto, after-acquired property subject to such Liens, and the proceeds and the products thereof and customary security deposits in respect thereof); (10) Liens on property at the time the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary acquired the property, including any acquisition by means of a merger or consolidation with or into the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries or the designation of an Unrestricted Subsidiary as a Restricted Subsidiary; provided that the Liens may not extend to any other property owned by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (other than, with respect to such property, any replacements of such property or assets and additions and accessions thereto, after-acquired property subject to such Liens, and the proceeds and the products thereof); (11) Liens securing Indebtedness or other obligations of a Restricted Subsidiary owing to the Issuer, Holdings or another Restricted Subsidiary; -22- (12) Liens securing Hedging Obligations; (13) Liens on specific items of inventory or other goods and proceeds of any K]jkgf k][mjaf_ km[` K]jkgfzk gZda_Ylagfk af j]kh][l g^ ZYfc]jkz Y[[]hlYf[]k* ZYfc guarantees or trade letters of credit issued or created for the account of such Person to facilitate the purchase, shipment or storage of such inventory or other goods; (14) leases, subleases, licenses or sublicenses, grants or permits (including of intellectual property and software); (15) Liens arising from Uniform Commercial Code (or equivalent

statute or equivalent filings, registrations or agreements in foreign jurisdictions) financing statement filings regarding leases, accounts or consignments not prohibited by this Indenture; (16) Liens in favor of the Issuer or any Guarantor; (17) Liens on equipment of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries granted in the ordinary course of business; (18) Liens to secure any refinancing, refunding, extension, renewal or replacement (or successive refinancing, refunding, extensions, renewals or replacements) as a whole, or in part, of any Indebtedness secured by any Lien referred to in the foregoing clauses (6), (7), (8), (9) and (10), this clause (18) and clauses (29) and (30) below; provided that (a) such new Lien shall be limited to all or part of the same property and assets that secured the original Lien (plus any replacements of such property or assets and additions and accessions thereto, after-acquired property subject to such Liens, and the proceeds and the products thereof and customary security deposits in respect thereof), and (b) the Indebtedness secured by such Lien at such time is not increased to any amount greater than the sum of (i) the outstanding principal amount of the Indebtedness (including any Increased Amount) at the time of such refinancing, refunding, extension, renewal or replacement, and (ii) an amount necessary to pay any costs, fees and expenses, including premiums, tender offer premiums and consent payments, and accrued and unpaid interest related to such refinancing, refunding, extension, renewal or replacement; (19) deposits made in the ordinary course of business to secure liability to insurance carriers; (20) Liens securing judgments for the payment of money not constituting an Event of Default under Section 6.01(a)(5); (21) Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure payment of customs duties in connection with the importation of goods in the ordinary course of business; (22) Liens (i) of a collection bank arising under Section 4-210 of the Uniform Commercial Code or any comparable or successor provision on items in the course of collection, (ii) attaching to commodity trading accounts or other commodity brokerage -23- accounts incurred in the ordinary course of business, and (iii) in favor of banking or other financial institutions or other electronic payment service arising as a matter of law

encumbering deposits (including the right of set-off) and which are within the general parameters customary in the banking or finance industry; (23) Liens deemed to exist in connection with Investments in repurchase agreements; provided that such Liens do not extend to any assets other than those that are the subject of such repurchase agreement; (24) Liens encumbering reasonable customary initial deposits and margin deposits and similar Liens attaching to commodity trading accounts or other brokerage accounts incurred in the ordinary course of business and not for speculative purposes; (25) Liens that are contractual rights of set-off (i) relating to the establishment of depository relations with banks not given in connection with the issuance of Indebtedness, (ii) relating to pooled deposit or sweep accounts of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to permit satisfaction of overdraft or similar obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries or (iii) relating to purchase orders and other agreements entered into with customers of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business; (26) Liens on the Equity Interests of Unrestricted Subsidiaries or Foreign Subsidiaries that secure Indebtedness of such Unrestricted Subsidiaries or Foreign Subsidiaries; (27) any encumbrance or restriction (including purchase options, put and call arrangements or similar rights) with respect to capital stock of any joint venture or similar arrangement pursuant to any joint venture or similar agreement and rights of first refusal and tag, drag and similar rights in joint venture agreements or similar arrangement pursuant to any joint venture or similar agreement; (28) Liens on property or assets used to defease or to irrevocably satisfy and discharge Indebtedness; (29) Liens securing (i) Indebtedness and Obligations in respect thereof under Credit Facilities, including any letter of credit relating thereto; provided that immediately after giving effect to any such incurrence, the then outstanding aggregate principal amount of all such Indebtedness secured by under this clause (29) does not exceed an amount equal to the sum of (x) $2,500 million plus (y) the maximum principal amount of Indebtedness that could be incurred such that giving effect to such incurrence, the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio does not exceed

4.50 to 1.00 after giving Pro Forma Effect to the incurrence of such Indebtedness and the application of the net proceeds therefrom), in each case in this clause (y) with the calculation of such Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio excluding any concurrent incurrence under clause (x) above; and (ii) Indebtedness and Obligations in respect thereof (x) under Hedging Obligations entered into for bona fide hedging purposes and not for speculation and (y) in respect of treasury



 







-24- and cash management services provided by, or entered into with, the lenders under Credit Facilities or their affiliates; (30) other Liens securing Indebtedness and Obligations in respect thereof the aggregate principal amount of which does not exceed, at any one time outstanding, the greater of (a) $220 million and (b) 40% of Pro Forma EBITDA of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries at the time of incurrence (for the period of the most recently ended four fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available immediately preceding the date on which the event for which the calculation is being made shall occur); (31) Liens on cash advances in favor of the seller of any property to be acquired in an Investment to be applied against the purchase price for such Investment solely to the extent such Investment would have been permitted on the date of the creation of such Lien; (32) Liens solely on any cash earnest money deposits or advances made in connection with any letter of intent, purchase agreement or other investment permitted under this Indenture; (33) receipt of progress payments and advances from customers in the ordinary course of business to the extent same creates a Lien on the related inventory and proceeds thereof; (34) Liens of sellers of goods to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries arising under Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code or similar provisions of applicable law in the ordinary course of business, covering only the goods sold and securing only the unpaid purchase price for such goods and related expenses; (35) 'Y( Ga]fk gf Ykk]lk g^ l`] lqh] kh][a^a]\ af l`] \]^afalagf g^ wM][]anYZd]k AY[adalqx af[mjj]\ af [gff][lagf oal` a Receivables Facility, and (b) Liens securing obligations under or in respect of any Receivables Facility; (36) Liens on property subject to Sale and Leaseback Transactions permitted by this Indenture, security deposits, related contract rights and payment intangibles related thereto; (37) rights reserved or vested in any Person by the terms of any lease, license, franchise, grant, or permit held by the Issuer or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries or by a statutory provision, to terminate any such lease, license, franchise, grant, or permit, or to require annual or periodic payments as a condition to the continuance thereof; (38) restrictive covenants affecting the use to which real

property may be put; provided that the covenants are complied with; (39) security given to a public utility or any municipality or governmental authority when required by such utility or authority in connection with the operations of that Person in the ordinary course of business; -25- (40) Liens arising out of conditional sale, title retention, consignment, or similar arrangements for sale of goods entered into by the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business; (41) Liens on goods purchased in the ordinary course of business the purchase price of which is financed by a documentary letter of credit issued for the account of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries; (42) any Lien granted pursuant to a security agreement between the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary and a licensee of intellectual property to secure the damages, if any, of such licensee resulting from the rejection of the licensee of such licensee in a bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding with respect to the Issuer or such Restricted Subsidiary; provided that such Liens, in the aggregate, do not encumber any assets of the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary other than the assets securing such Liens in existence on the Issue Date; (43) to the extent pursuant to a requirement of law, Liens on cash or investments securing swap obligations in the ordinary course of business; (44) Liens created for the benefit of (or to secure) all of the Notes and the related Guarantees; (45) Liens arising from Personal Property Security Act financing statement filings regarding leases entered into by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business; (46) zoning by-laws and other land use restrictions, including, without limitation, siteplan agreements, development agreements and contract zoning agreements; and (47) with respect to any owned real property, matters listed as exceptions to title in the title policy covering such real property and the matters disclosed in any survey with respect to such real property. For the avoidance of doubt, the inclusion of specific Liens in the definition of Permitted Liens shall not create any implication that the obligations secured by such Liens constitute Indebtedness. wPersonx means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated

organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity. wPreferred Stockx means any Equity Interest with preferential rights of payment of dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution, or winding up. wPrivate Placement Legendx e]Yfk l`] d]_]f\ k]l ^gjl` af Section 2.06(f)(1)(A) to be placed on all Notes issued under this Indenture, except where otherwise permitted by the provisions of this Indenture. -26- wPro Forma Adjustmentx means, for any period that includes all or any part of a fiscal quarter included in any period beginning on the date of consummation of an acquisition and ending on the last day of the eight full consecutive fiscal quarter immediately following the date on o`a[` km[` Y[imakalagf ak [gfkmeeYl]\ 'l`] wPost-Acquisition Periodx(* oal` j]kh][l lg l`] Acquired EBITDA of the applicable Acquired Entity or Business or Converted Restricted Subsidiary or the EBITDA, the pro forma increase or decrease in such Acquired EBITDA or such EBITDA, as the case may be, projected by the Issuer in good faith as a result of (i) actions taken during such Post-Acquisition Period for the purposes of realizing reasonably identifiable and factually supportable cost savings or (ii) any additional costs incurred during such Post- Acquisition Period, in each case in connection with the combination of the operations of such Acquired Entity or Business or Converted Restricted Subsidiary with the operations of the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries; provided that (a) at the election of the Issuer, such Pro Forma Adjustment shall not be required to be determined for any Acquired Entity or Business or Converted Restricted Subsidiary to the extent the aggregate consideration paid in connection with such acquisition was less than $10,000,000 and (b) so long as such actions are taken during such Post-Acquisition Period or such costs are incurred during such Post-Acquisition Period, as applicable, it may be assumed, for purposes of projecting such pro forma increase or decrease to such Acquired EBITDA or such EBITDA, as the case may be, that the applicable amount of such cost savings will be realizable during the entirety of such period, or the applicable amount of such additional costs, as applicable, will be incurred during the entirety of such period; provided further, that any such pro forma increase or decrease to such Acquired EBITDA or such EBITDA, as the case may be, shall be

without duplication for cost savings or additional costs already included in such Acquired EBITDA or such EBITDA, as the case may be, for such period. wPro Forma Basisx Yf\ wPro Forma Effectx mean, with respect to compliance with any test, financial ratio, or covenant under this Indenture, that (i) to the extent applicable, the Pro Forma Adjustment shall have been made and (ii) all Specified Transactions/Initiatives taking place subsequent to the first day of the most recently ended four fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available at such date of determination and prior to or concurrently with l`] ljYfkY[lagf ^gj o`a[` km[` l]kl* ^afYf[aYd jYlag gj [gn]fYfl ak Z]af_ eY\] 'l`] wTest Periodx( (and any increase or decrease in EBIDTA and the component financial definitions used therein attributable to such Specified Transaction/Initiative) had occurred on the first day of the Test Period. Whenever Pro Forma Effect is to be given to a transaction, the pro forma calculations shall be made in good faith by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Issuer. If any Indebtedness bears a floating rate of interest and is being given Pro Forma Effect, the interest on such Indebtedness shall be calculated as if the rate in effect on the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio Calculation Date had been the applicable rate for the entire period (taking into account any Hedging Obligations applicable to such Indebtedness). Interest on a Capitalized Lease Obligation shall be deemed to accrue at an interest rate reasonably determined by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Issuer to be the rate of interest implicit in such Capitalized Lease Obligation in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of making the computation referred to above, interest on any Indebtedness under a revolving credit facility computed on a Pro Forma Basis shall be computed based upon the average daily balance of such Indebtedness during the applicable period (or, if lower, the greater of (i) the maximum commitments under such -27- revolving credit facility as of the date of determination and (ii) the aggregate principal amount of loans outstanding under such revolving credit facility on such date). Interest on Indebtedness that may optionally be determined at an interest rate based upon a factor of a prime or similar rate, a eurocurrency interbank offered rate, or other rate, shall be deemed to have been based upon the rate actually

chosen, or, if none, then based upon such optional rate chosen as the Issuer may designate wPro Forma EBITDAx means, with respect to any period, the EBITDA of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period calculated on a Pro Forma Basis. wPublic Company Costsx means costs relating to compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable to companies with equity or debt securities held by the public, the rules of national securities exchange companies with listed equity or debt k][mjala]k* \aj][lgjkz gj eYfY_]jkz [geh]fkYlagf* ^]]k Yf\ ]ph]fk] j]aeZmjk]e]fl* [gklk j]dYlaf_ to investor relations, sharehold]j e]]laf_k Yf\ j]hgjlk lg k`Yj]`gd\]jk gj \]Zl`gd\]jk* \aj][lgjkz Yf\ g^^a[]jkz afkmjYf[] Yf\ gl`]j ]p][mlan] [gklk* d]_Yd Yf\ gl`]j hjg^]kkagfYd ^]]k* Yf\ daklaf_ fees. wQIBx e]Yfk Y wimYda^a]\ afklalmlagfYd Zmq]jx Yk \]^af]\ af Mmd] /22<, wRating Agenciesx e]Yfk Hgg\qzk* N&K Yf\ Aal[` gj a^ Hgg\qzk* N&K gj Aal[` gj ]Y[` shall not make a rating on the Notes publicly available, a nationally recognized statistical rating agency or agencies, as the case may be, selected by the Issuer which shall be substituted for Hgg\qzk* N&K Yf\ Aal[` gj ]Y[`* Yk l`] [Yk] eYq Z], wRatings Eventx means the ratings on the Notes are lowered and the Notes are rated below an Investment Grade Rating by two of three of the Rating Agencies on any day during the period that (1) begins on the earlier of (a) the date of the first public announcement of the occurrence of such Change of Control or of the intention by the Issuer to effect such Change of Control or (b) the occurrence of such Change of Control and (2) ends on the 60th calendar day following consummation of such Change of Control; provided, however, that such period shall be extended for so long as the rating of the Notes is under publicly announced consideration for possible downgrade by any Rating Agency. wReceivables Facilityx means any of one or more receivables financing facilities (and any guarantee of such financing facility), as amended, supplemented, modified, extended, renewed, restated, or refunded from time to time, the obligations of which are non-recourse (except for customary representations, warranties, covenants, and indemnities made in connection with such facilities) to the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries (other than a Receivables Subsidiary) pursuant to which the Issuer or any

Restricted Subsidiary sells, directly or indirectly, grants a security interest in or otherwise transfers its accounts receivable to either (i) a Person that is not a Restricted Subsidiary or (ii) a Receivables Subsidiary that in turn funds such purchase by purporting to sell its accounts receivable to a Person that is not a Restricted Subsidiary or by borrowing from such a Person or from another Receivables Subsidiary that in turn funds itself by borrowing from such a Person.



 







-28- wReceivables Subsidiaryx means any Subsidiary formed for the purpose of facilitating or entering into one or more Receivables Facilities, and in each case engages only in activities reasonably related or incidental thereto or another Person formed for the purposes of engaging in a Receivables Facility in which the Issuer or any Subsidiary makes an Investment and to which the Issuer or any Subsidiary transfers accounts receivables and related assets. wRecord Datex ^gj l`] afl]j]kl hYqYZd] gf Yfq Yhhda[YZd] Dfl]j]kl KYqe]fl ?Yl] e]Yfk the February 15 or August 15 (whether or not a Business Day) next preceding such Interest Payment Date. wRegulation Sx e]Yfk M]_mdYlagf N hjgemd_Yl]\ mf\]j l`] N][mjala]k <[l, wRegulation S Global Notex e]Yfk Y BdgZYd Igl] kmZklYflaYddq af l`] ^gje g^ Exhibit A hereto bearing the Global Note Legend and the Private Placement Legend and deposited with or on behalf of and registered in the name of the Depositary or its nominee, issued in a denomination equal to the outstanding principal amount of the Notes sold in reliance on Rule 903 of Regulation S. wResponsible Officerx e]Yfk* o`]f mk]\ oal` j]kh][l lg l`] Ojmkl]]* Yfq g^^a[]j oal`af the corporate trust department of the Trustee (or any successor department or group of the Trustee), including any vice president, assistant vice president, assistant secretary, assistant treasurer, trust officer or any other officer of the Trustee who customarily performs functions similar to those performed by the Persons who at the time shall be such officers, respectively, or to whom any corporate ljmkl eYll]j j]dYlaf_ lg l`ak Df\]flmj] ak j]^]jj]\ Z][Ymk] g^ km[` K]jkgfzk knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject and, in each case, who shall have direct responsibility for the administration of this Indenture. wRestricted Definitive Notex e]Yfk Y ?]^afalan] Igl] Z]Yjaf_ l`] KjanYl] KdY[]e]fl Legend. wRestricted Global Notex e]Yfk Y BdgZYd Igl] Z]Yjaf_ l`] KjanYl] KdY[]e]fl G]_]f\, wRestricted Periodx e]Yfk l`] 2.-day distribution compliance period as defined in Regulation S. wRestricted Subsidiaryx means, at any time, each direct and indirect Subsidiary of the Issuer that is not then an Unrestricted Subsidiary; provided that upon the occurrence of an Unrestricted Subsidiary ceasing to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary, such Subsidiary shall be af[dm\]\ af l`] \]^afalagf g^ wM]klja[l]\ NmZka\aYjq,x <k g^ l`] Dkkm] ?Yl]* Ydd g^ l`] Dkkm]jzk

Subsidiaries will be Restricted Subsidiaries. wRule 144x e]Yfk Mmd] /22 hjgemd_Yl]\ mf\]j l`] N][mjala]k <[l, wRule 144Ax e]Yfk Mmd] /22< hjgemd_Yl]\ mf\]r the Securities Act. wRule 903x e]Yfk Mmd] 7.1 hjgemd_Yl]\ mf\]j l`] N][mjala]k <[l, wRule 904x e]Yfk Mmd] 7.2 hjgemd_Yl]\ mf\]j l`] N][mjala]k <[l, -29- wS&Px e]Yfk NlYf\Yj\ & Kggjzk* Y \anakagf g^ O`] H[BjYo-Hill Companies, Inc., and any successor to its rating agency business. wSale and Leaseback Transactionx means any arrangement providing for the leasing by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of any real or tangible personal property, which property has been or is to be sold or transferred for value by the Issuer or such Restricted Subsidiary to a third Person in contemplation of such leasing. wSECx e]Yfk l`] P,N, N][mjala]k Yf\ @p[`Yf_] >geeakkagf, wSecurities Actx e]Yfk l`] N][mjala]k <[l g^ /711* Yk Ye]f\]\* Yf\ l`] jmd]k Yf\ regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder. wSignificant Subsidiaryx means any Restricted Subsidiary or any group of Restricted NmZka\aYja]k l`Yl ogmd\ Z] Y wka_fa^a[Yfl kmZka\aYjqx g^ Cgd\af_k Yk \]^af]\ af <jla[d] /* Mmd] /- 02 of Regulation S-X, promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act, as such regulation is in effect on the Issue Date. wSold Entity or Businessx `Yk l`] e]Yfaf_ hjgna\]\ af l`] \]^afalagf g^ l`] l]je w@=DO?<x, wSpecified Transaction/Initiativex means, with respect to any period, (a) any incurrence or issuance or repayment, prepayment, redemption, purchase, repurchase, defeasance or other satisfaction of Indebtedness (other than for working capital purposes or under a revolving facility), Preferred Stock or Disqualified Stock, (b) any Investment that results in a Person becoming a Subsidiary, (c) any acquisition or Investment constituting an acquisition of assets or equity constituting a business unit, line of business or division of another Person, (d) any disposition of a business, company, segment, operating division or line of business, or (e) any operating improvement, restructuring, cost savings initiative or similar activity or initiative. wSubordinated Indebtednessx e]Yfk8 (1) any Indebtedness of the Issuer which is by its terms subordinated in right of payment to the Notes, and (2) any Indebtedness of any Guarantor which is by its terms subordinated in right of payment to the Guarantee of such entity of the Notes. wSubsidiaryx e]Yfk* oal` j]kh][l lg Yfq K]jkgf8 (1) any corporation, association,

or other business entity (other than a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or similar entity) of which more than 50.0% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time of determination owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof; and -30- (2) any partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or similar entity of which (x) more than 50.0% of the capital accounts, distribution rights, total equity and voting interests or general or limited partnership interests, as applicable, are owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof whether in the form of membership, general, special or limited partnership or otherwise, and (y) such Person or any Restricted Subsidiary of such Person is a controlling general partner or otherwise controls such entity. wSubsidiary Guarantorx e]Yfk Yfq BmYjYflgj gl`]j l`Yf Cgd\af_k gj =FAN Cgd\af_k, wSynthetic Leasex e]Yfk Yfq kqfl`]la[ d]Yk]* lYp j]l]flagf gh]jYlaf_ d]Yk]* g^^-balance sheet loan or similar off-balance sheet financing arrangement whereby the arrangement is considered borrowed money indebtedness for tax purposes but is classified as an operating lease or does not otherwise appear on a balance sheet under GAAP. wTreasury Ratex means, as of any Redemption Date, the yield to maturity as of the applicable notice of redemption of U.S. Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled Yf\ hmZdak`]\ af l`] egkl j][]fl klYlakla[Yd j]d]Yk] \]ka_fYl]\ Yk wC,/3x mf\]j the caption wOj]Ykmjq >gfklYfl HYlmjala]kx gj Yfq km[[]kkgj hmZda[Ylagf o`a[` ak hmZdak`]\ Yl d]Ykl o]]cdq by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or companion online data resource published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System) and which establishes yields on actively traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to constant maturity that has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to the date of such notice (or, if such statistical release is no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the applicable Redemption Date to September

1, 2023. wTrust Indenture Actx means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended. wTrusteex e]Yfk R]ddk Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, until a successor replaces it in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Indenture and thereafter means the successor serving hereunder. wUniform Commercial Codex means the Uniform Commercial Code or any successor provision thereof as the same may from time to time be in effect in the State of New York. wUnrestricted Definitive Notex e]Yfk gf] gj egj] ?]^afalan] Igl]k l`Yl \g fgl Z]Yj Yf\ are not required to bear the Private Placement Legend. wUnrestricted Global Notex e]Yfk Y h]jeYf]fl BdgZYd Igl]* kmZklYflaYddq af l`] ^gje g^ Exhibit A `]j]lg* l`Yl Z]Yjk l`] BdgZYd Igl] G]_]f\ Yf\ l`Yl `Yk l`] wSchedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Notex YllY[`]\ l`]j]lg* Yf\ l`Yl ak \]hgkal]\ oal` gj gf Zehalf of and registered in the name of the Depositary, representing Notes that do not bear the Private Placement Legend. -31- wUnrestricted Subsidiaryx e]Yfk8 (1) any Subsidiary of the Issuer which at the time of determination is an Unrestricted Subsidiary (as designated by the Issuer, as provided below); and (2) any Subsidiary of an Unrestricted Subsidiary. Unrestricted Subsidiaries will not be subject to any of the restrictive covenants set forth in this Indenture. The Issuer may designate any Subsidiary of the Issuer (including any existing Subsidiary and any newly acquired or newly formed Subsidiary) to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary unless such Subsidiary or any of its Subsidiaries owns any Equity Interests or Indebtedness of, or owns or holds any Lien on, any property of, the Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer (other than solely any Subsidiary of the Subsidiary to be so designated); provided that: (1) at or prior to the time of designation, the Subsidiary to be so designated shall be designated an unrestricted subsidiary under the Amended and Restated Credit Facilities or any Credit Facility that replaces, refunds or refinances any part of the loans or commitments thereunder; and (2) each of (a) the Subsidiary to be so designated and (b) its Subsidiaries has not at the time of designation, and does not thereafter, create, incur, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become directly or indirectly liable with respect to any Indebtedness pursuant to which the lender has recourse to any of the assets of the Issuer or any

Restricted Subsidiary. The Issuer may designate any Unrestricted Subsidiary to be a Restricted Subsidiary; provided that, immediately after giving effect to such designation, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing. Any such designation by the Issuer shall be notified by the Issuer to the Trustee by promptly filing with the Trustee a copy of the resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer or Yfq [geeall]] l`]j]g^ _anaf_ ]^^][l lg km[` \]ka_fYlagf Yf\ Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] []jlifying that such designation complied with the foregoing provisions. wU.S. Personx e]Yfk Y P,N, h]jkgf Yk \]^af]\ af Mmd] 7.0'c( mf\]j l`] N][mjala]k <[l, wVoting Stockx of any Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the election of the board of directors of such Person. wWholly-Owned Subsidiaryx of any Person means a Subsidiary of such Person, 100% of l`] gmlklYf\af_ @imalq Dfl]j]klk g^ o`a[` 'gl`]j l`Yf \aj][lgjkz imYda^qaf_ k`Yj]k( k`Ydd Yl l`] time be owned by such Person or by one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of such Person. Section 1.02 Other Definitions. Term Defined in Section wAdditional Notesx 2.01



 







-32- wApplicable Premium Deficitx 8.04 wAuthentication Orderx 2.02 wChange of Control Offerx 4.09 wChange of Control Paymentx 4.09 wChange of Control Payment Datex 4.09 wCovenant Defeasancex 8.03 wCovenant Suspension Eventx 4.11 wEvent of Defaultx 6.01 wEscrow Accountx Section 3.09(a) wEscrow Propertyx Section 3.09(a) wEscrow Release Conditionx Section 3.09(b) wIncreased Amountx 4.07 wInitial Defaultx 6.01 wLCT Electionx 4.12 wLCT Test Datex 4.12 wLegal Defeasancex 8.02 wNote Registerx 2.03 wOutside Datex Section 3.09(b) wPaying Agentx 2.03 wRedemption Datex 3.07 wRegistrarx 2.03 wReversion Datex 4.11 wSpecial Mandatory Redemption Datex Section 3.09(d) wSpecial Mandatory Redemption Eventx Section 3.09(d) wSpecial Mandatory Redemption Notice Datex Section 3.09(d) wSpecial Mandatory Redemption Pricex Section 3.09(d) wSuccessorx 5.01 wSuccessor Personx 5.01 wSuspended Covenantx 4.11 wSuspension Periodx 4.11 Section 1.03 Rules of Construction. Unless the context otherwise requires: (a) a term has the meaning assigned to it; (b) an accounting term not otherwise defined has the meaning assigned to it in accordance with GAAP; (c) wgjx ak fgl ]p[dmkan]9 -33- (d) words in the singular include the plural, and in the plural include the singular; (e) woaddx k`Ydd Z] afl]jhj]l]\ lg ]phj]kk Y [geeYf\9 (f) provisions apply to successive events and transactions; (g) references to sections of, or rules under, the Securities Act shall be deemed to include substitute, replacement or successor sections or rules adopted by the SEC from time to time; (h) Yfq j]^]j]f[] lg Yf w<jla[d]*x wN][lagfx gj w[dYmk]x j]^]jk lg Yf <jla[d]* Section or clause, as the case may be, of this Indenture; (i) 'a( l`] ogj\k w`]j]af*x w`]j]g^x Yf\ w`]j]mf\]jx Yf\ gl`]j ogj\k g^ similar import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not any particular Article, Section, clause or other subdivision; (j) 'b( l`] h`jYk] waf ojalaf_x or any similar phrase as used herein shall be deemed to include PDF attachments and other electronic means of transmission, unless otherwise indicated; and (k) waf[dm\af_x e]Yfk af[dm\af_ oal`gml daealYlagf, Section 1.04 Acts of Holders. (a) Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action provided by this Indenture to be given or taken by Holders may be embodied in and evidenced by one or more instruments of substantially similar tenor signed by such Holders in

person or by an agent duly appointed in writing. Except as herein otherwise expressly provided, such action shall become effective when such instrument or instruments or record or both are delivered to the Trustee and, where it is hereby expressly required, to the Issuer. Proof of execution of any such instrument or of a writing appointing any such agent, or the holding by any Person of a Note, shall be sufficient for any purpose of this Indenture and (subject to Section 7.01) conclusive in favor of the Trustee and the Issuer, if made in the manner provided in this Section 1.04. (b) The fact and date of the execution by any Person of any such instrument or writing may be proved by the affidavit of a witness of such execution or by the certificate of any notary public or other officer authorized by law to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the individual signing such instrument or writing acknowledged to him the execution thereof. Where such execution is by or on behalf of any legal entity other than an individual, such certificate or affidavit shall also constitute proof of the authority of the Person executing the same. The fact and date of the execution of any such instrument or writing, or the authority of the Person executing the same, may also be proved in any other manner that the Trustee deems sufficient. (c) The ownership of Notes shall be proved by the Note Register. -34- (d) Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action by the Holder of any Note shall bind every future Holder of the same Note and the Holder of every Note issued upon the registration of transfer thereof or in exchange therefor or in lieu thereof, in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Trustee or the Issuer in reliance thereon, whether or not notation of such action is made upon such Note. (e) The Issuer may set a record date for purposes of determining the identity of Holders entitled to give any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or take any other act, or to vote or consent to any action by vote or consent authorized or permitted to be given or taken by Holders. Unless otherwise specified, if not set by the Issuer prior to the first solicitation of a Holder made by any Person in respect of any such action, or in the case of any such vote, prior to such vote, any such record date shall be the later of 30 days prior to the first solicitation of such consent or the date of the

most recent list of Holders furnished to the Trustee prior to such solicitation. (f) Without limiting the foregoing, a Holder entitled to take any action hereunder with regard to any particular Note may do so with regard to all or any part of the principal amount of such Note or by one or more duly appointed agents, each of which may do so pursuant to such appointment with regard to all or any part of such principal amount. Any notice given or action taken by a Holder or its agents with regard to different parts of such principal amount pursuant to this paragraph shall have the same effect as if given or taken by separate Holders of each such different part. (g) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, a Holder, including DTC, may make, give or take, by a proxy or proxies duly appointed in writing, any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action provided in this Indenture to be made, given or taken by Holders, and DTC may provide its proxy or proxies to the beneficial owners of interests in any such Global Note through the Applicable Procedures and its other standing instructions and customary practices. (h) The Issuer may fix a record date for the purpose of determining the Persons who are beneficial owners of interests in any Global Note held by DTC entitled under the Applicable Procedures to make, give or take, by a proxy or proxies duly appointed in writing, any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action provided in this Indenture to be made, given or taken by Holders. If such a record date is fixed, the Holders on such record date or their duly appointed proxy or proxies, and only such Persons, shall be entitled to make, give or take such request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action, whether or not such Holders remain Holders after such record date. No such request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action shall be valid or effective if made, given or taken more than 90 days after such record date. -35- ARTICLE II THE NOTES Section 2.01 Form and Dating; Terms. (a) General. The Igl]k Yf\ l`] Ojmkl]]zk []jla^a[Yl] g^ Yml`]fla[Ylagf k`Ydd Z] substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto. The Notes may have notations, legends or endorsements required by law, stock exchange rules or usage. Each Note shall be dated the date of the Ojmkl]]zk Yml`]fla[Ylagf, O`] Igl]k k`Ydd Z] af eafaeme

\]fgeafYlagfk g^ $0*... Yf\ integral multiples of $1,000 in excess of $2,000. (b) Global Notes. Notes issued in global form shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto (including the Global Ngl] G]_]f\ l`]j]gf Yf\ l`] wSchedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Notex YllY[`]\ l`]j]lg(, Igl]k akkm]\ af \]^afalan] ^gje shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto (but without the Global Note Legend l`]j]gf Yf\ oal`gml l`] wSchedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Notex YllY[`]\ thereto). Each Global Note shall represent such of the outstanding Notes as shall be specified in l`] wSchedule of Exchanges of Interests in the Global Notex YllY[`]\ l`]j]lg Yf\ ]Y[` k`Ydd provide that it shall represent up to the aggregate principal amount of Notes from time to time endorsed thereon and that the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes represented thereby may from time to time be reduced or increased, as applicable, to reflect exchanges and redemptions. Any endorsement of a Global Note to reflect the amount of any increase or decrease in the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes represented thereby shall be made by the Trustee as Custodian, in accordance with instructions given by the Holder thereof as required by Section 2.06. (c) Terms. The aggregate principal amount of Notes that may be authenticated and delivered under this Indenture is unlimited. The terms and provisions contained in the Notes shall constitute, and are hereby expressly made, a part of this Indenture and the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Trustee, by their execution and delivery of this Indenture or a supplemental indenture in the form of Exhibit D hereto, expressly agree to such terms and provisions and to be bound thereby. However, to the extent any provision of any Note conflicts with the express provisions of this Indenture, the provisions of this Indenture shall govern and be controlling. The Notes shall be subject to repurchase by the Issuer pursuant to a Change of Control Offer as provided in Section 4.09. The Notes shall not be redeemable, other than as provided in Article III. Additional Notes ranking pari passu with the InitaYd Igl]k 'wAdditional Notesx( eYq Z] created and issued from time to time by the Issuer without notice to or consent of the Holders and shall be consolidated with and form a single class with the Initial Notes and shall have the same terms as to status, waivers, amendments,

redemptions, offers to purchase and otherwise as the Initial Notes; provided, that Additional Notes shall not be issued with the same CUSIP or ISIN, if any, as the Initial Notes unless such Additional Notes are fungible with the Initial Notes



 







-36- for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Additional Notes that are Regulation S Notes shall have a separate CUSIP or ISIN during the Restricted Period. Section 2.02 Execution and Authentication. At least one Officer of the Issuer shall execute the Notes by manual, facsimile, PDF attachment or other electronically transmitted signature. If an Officer whose signature is on a Note no longer holds that office at the time a Note is authenticated, the Note shall nevertheless be valid. A Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under this Indenture or be valid or obligatory for any purpose until authenticated substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto by the manual signature of the Trustee. The signature shall be conclusive evidence that the Note has been duly authenticated and delivered under this Indenture. Jf l`] Dkkm] ?Yl]* l`] Ojmkl]] k`Ydd* mhgf j][]ahl g^ Yf Dkkm]j Jj\]j 'Yf wAuthentication Orderx(* Yml`]fla[Yl] Yf\ \]dan]j l`] DfalaYd Igl]k, Df Y\\alagf* Yl Yfq lae]* ^jge lae] lg lae]* the Trustee shall upon receipt of an Authentication Order authenticate and deliver any Additional Notes for an aggregate principal amount specified in such Authentication Order for such Additional Notes issued hereunder. In connection with authenticating such Additional Notes, the Trustee shall be entitled to receive an Opinion of Counsel stating that such Additional Notes, when authenticated and delivered by the Trustee will constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Issuer, enforceable in accordance with their terms, subject to customary carve- outs and assumptions. The Trustee may appoint an authenticating agent acceptable to the Issuer to authenticate Notes. An authenticating agent may authenticate Notes whenever the Trustee may do so. Each reference in this Indenture to authentication by the Trustee includes authentication by such agent. An authenticating agent has the same rights as an Agent to deal with Holders or an Affiliate of the Issuer. Section 2.03 Registrar and Paying Agent. The Issuer shall maintain (i) an office or Y_]f[q o`]j] Igl]k eYq Z] hj]k]fl]\ ^gj j]_akljYlagf g^ ljYfk^]j gj ^gj ]p[`Yf_] 'wRegistrarx( and (ii) an office or agency in the United States where Notes may be presented for payment (the wPaying Agentx(, O`] M]_akljYj k`Ydd c]]h Y j]_akl]j g^ l`] Igl]k 'wNote Registerx( Yf\ g^ l`]aj transfer and exchange. The Issuer may appoint one or more co-registrars and one or more Y\\alagfYd hYqaf_ Y_]flk, O`] l]je

wRegistrarx af[dm\]k Yfq [g-registrar. The Issuer shall maintain a registrar in the Unite\ NlYl]k, O`] l]je wPaying Agentx af[dm\]k Yfq Y\\alagfYd paying agents. The Issuer initially appoints the Trustee as (i) Registrar and Paying Agent and (ii) the Custodian with respect to the Global Notes. The Issuer may change any Paying Agent or Registrar without prior notice to any Holder. The Issuer shall notify the Trustee in writing of the name and address of any Agent not a party to this Indenture. If the Issuer fails to appoint or maintain another entity as Registrar or Paying Agent, the Trustee shall act as such. The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may act as Paying Agent or Registrar. The Issuer initially appoint DTC to act as Depositary with respect to the Global Notes. -37- Section 2.04 Paying Agent to Hold Money in Trust. The Issuer shall require the Paying Agent other than the Trustee to agree in writing that the Paying Agent shall hold in trust for the benefit of Holders or the Trustee all money held by the Paying Agent for the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes, and will notify the Trustee in writing of any default by the Issuer in making any such payment. While any such default continues, the Trustee may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. The Issuer at any time may require a Paying Agent to pay all money held by it to the Trustee. Upon payment over to the Trustee, the Paying Agent (if other than the Issuer or one of its Subsidiaries) shall have no further liability for the money. If the Issuer or one of its Subsidiaries acts as Paying Agent, it shall segregate and hold in a separate trust fund for the benefit of the Holders all money held by it as Paying Agent. Upon any bankruptcy or reorganization proceedings relating to the Issuer, the Trustee shall serve as Paying Agent for the Notes. Section 2.05 Holder Lists. The Registrar shall preserve in as current a form as is reasonably practicable the most recent list available to it of the names and addresses of all Holders. If the Trustee is not the Registrar, the Issuer shall furnish to the Trustee at least five Business Days before each Interest Payment Date and at such other times as the Trustee may request in writing, a list in such form and as of such date as the Trustee may reasonably require of the names and addresses of the Holders of Notes. Section 2.06 Transfer and Exchange. (a)

Transfer and Exchange of Global Notes. Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 2.06, a Global Note may be transferred, in whole and not in part, only to another nominee of the Depositary or to a successor thereto or a nominee of such successor. A beneficial interest in a Global Note shall be exchangeable for a Definitive Note if (i) the Depositary (x) notifies the Issuer that it is unwilling or unable to continue as Depositary for such Global Note or (y) has ceased to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act, and, in either case, a successor Depositary is not appointed by the Issuer within 120 days or (ii) in the case of any Global Note, there shall have occurred and be continuing an Event of Default with respect to such Global Note and the Depositary shall have requested the issuance of Definitive Notes. Upon the occurrence of any of the preceding events in clause (i) or (ii) above, Definitive Notes delivered in exchange for any Global Note or beneficial interests therein will be registered in the names, and issued in any approved denominations, requested by or on behalf of the Depositary (in accordance with the Applicable Procedures). Global Notes also may be exchanged or replaced, in whole or in part, as provided in Sections 2.07 and 2.10. Every Note authenticated and delivered in exchange for, or in lieu of, a Global Note or any portion thereof, pursuant to this Section 2.06 or Section 2.07 or Section 2.10, shall be authenticated and delivered in the form of, and shall be, a Global Note, except for Definitive Notes issued subsequent to any of the preceding events in clause (i) or (ii) above and pursuant to Section 2.06(c). A Global Note may not be exchanged for another Note other than as provided in this Section 2.06(a); provided, however, that beneficial interests in a Global Note may be transferred and exchanged as provided in Section 2.06(b) or (c). (b) Transfer and Exchange of Beneficial Interests in the Global Notes. The transfer and exchange of beneficial interests in the Global Notes shall be effected through the Depositary, in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture and the Applicable Procedures. -38- Beneficial interests in the Restricted Global Notes shall be subject to restrictions on transfer comparable to those set forth herein to the extent required by the Securities Act. Beneficial interests in Global Notes shall be transferred or exchanged only for beneficial interests in

Global Notes pursuant to this subsection (b). Transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Notes also shall require compliance with either subparagraph (1) or (2) below, as applicable, as well as one or more of the other following subparagraphs, as applicable: (1) Transfer of Beneficial Interests in the Same Global Note. Beneficial interests in any Restricted Global Note may be transferred to Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in the same Restricted Global Note in accordance with the transfer restrictions set forth in the Private Placement Legend; provided that prior to the expiration of the Restricted Period, transfers of beneficial interests in the Regulation S Global Note may not be made to a U.S. Person or for the account or benefit of a U.S. Person (other than an initial purchaser of the Notes) unless permitted by applicable law and made in compliance with subsections (2) or (3) below. Beneficial interests in any Unrestricted Global Note may be transferred to Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note. No written orders or instructions shall be required to be delivered to the Registrar to effect the transfers described in this Section 2.06(b)(1). (2) All Other Transfers and Exchanges of Beneficial Interests in Global Notes. In connection with all transfers and exchanges of beneficial interests that are not subject to Section 2.06(b)(1), the transferor of such beneficial interest must deliver to the Registrar either (A) (1) a written order from a Participant or an Indirect Participant given to the Depositary in accordance with the Applicable Procedures directing the Depositary to credit or cause to be credited a beneficial interest in another Global Note in an amount equal to the beneficial interest to be transferred or exchanged and (2) instructions given in accordance with the Applicable Procedures containing information regarding the Participant account to be credited with such increase or (B) (1) a written order from a Participant or an Indirect Participant given to the Depositary in accordance with the Applicable Procedures directing the Depositary to cause to be issued a Definitive Note in an amount equal to the beneficial interest to be transferred or exchanged and (2) instructions given by the Depositary to the Registrar containing information regarding the Person in whose name such Definitive Note shall be registered to effect the transfer or

exchange referred to in (1) above; provided that in no event shall Definitive Notes be issued upon the transfer or exchange of beneficial interests in the Regulation S Global Note prior to (x) the expiration of the Restricted Period and (y) the receipt by the Registrar of a duly completed Certificate of Transfer or Certificate of Exchange, as applicable, required by the Issuer to establish compliance with Rule 903 of the Securities Act. Upon satisfaction of all of the requirements for transfer or exchange of beneficial interests in Global Notes contained in this Indenture and the Notes or otherwise applicable under the Securities Act, the Trustee shall adjust the principal amount of the relevant Global Note(s) pursuant to Section 2.06(h). -39- (3) Transfer of Beneficial Interests to Another Restricted Global Note. A beneficial interest in any Restricted Global Note may be transferred to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another Restricted Global Note if the transfer complies with the requirements of Section 2.06(b)(2) and the Registrar receives the following: (A) if the transferee will take delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in a 144A Global Note, then the transferor must deliver a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (1) thereof; or (B) if the transferee will take delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in a Regulation S Global Note, then the transferor must deliver a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (2) thereof. (4) Transfer and Exchange of Beneficial Interests in a Restricted Global Note for Beneficial Interests in an Unrestricted Global Note. A beneficial interest in any Restricted Global Note may be exchanged by any holder thereof for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or transferred to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, if the exchange or transfer complies with the requirements of Section 2.06(b)(2) and the Registrar receives the following: (i) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, a duly completed Certificate of Exchange from such Holder, including the certifications in clause (1)(a) thereof; or (ii) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to

transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who shall take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer from such Holder, including the certifications in clause (5) thereof; and, in each case, if the Registrar or the Issuer so requests or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar and the Issuer to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. If any such transfer is so effected at a time when an Unrestricted Global Note has not yet been issued, the Issuer shall issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with Section 2.02, the Trustee will authenticate one or more Unrestricted Global Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of beneficial interests so transferred. (5) If the Issuer determines (upon the advice of counsel and such other certifications and evidence as the Issuer may reasonably require) that a Note is eligible (without limits) for resale pursuant to Rule 144 (or a successor provision) and that the Private Placement Legend is no longer necessary or appropriate in order to ensure that subsequent transfers of the Note (or a beneficial interest therein) are effected in



 







-40- compliance with the Securities Act, the Issuer shall instruct in writing the Trustee to cancel the Notes and issue to the non-affiliate Holders thereof (or to their transferees) new Notes of like tenor and amount, registered in the name of the Holder thereof (or to their transferees), that does not bear the Private Placement Legend, and the Trustee will comply with such instruction. (6) Beneficial interests in an Unrestricted Global Note cannot be exchanged for, or transferred to Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of, a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note. (c) Transfer or Exchange of Beneficial Interests for Definitive Notes. Beneficial interests in Global Notes shall be exchanged only for Definitive Notes pursuant to this clause (c). (1) Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes to Restricted Definitive Notes. If any holder of a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a Restricted Definitive Note or to transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a Restricted Definitive Note, then, upon the occurrence of any of the events in clause (i) or (ii) of Section 2.06(a) and receipt by the Registrar of the following documentation: (A) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a Restricted Definitive Note, a duly completed Certificate of Exchange from such Holder, including the certifications in clause (2)(a) thereof; (B) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to a QIB in accordance with Rule 144A, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (1) thereof; (C) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to a Non-U.S. Person in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (2) thereof; (D) if such beneficial interest is being transferred pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in accordance with Rule 144, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (4)(a) thereof; (E) if such beneficial interest is being transferred to the Issuer or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (4)(b) thereof; or (F) if such beneficial interest is being transferred pursuant to an effective registration

statement under the Securities Act, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (4)(c) thereof, and the Trustee shall cause the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Global Note -41- to be reduced accordingly pursuant to Section 2.06(h), and the Issuer shall execute and, upon receipt of the Authentication Order, the Trustee shall authenticate and mail to the Person designated in the instructions a Definitive Note in the applicable principal amount. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note pursuant to this Section 2.06(c) shall be registered in such name or names and in such authorized denomination or denominations as the holder of such beneficial interest shall instruct the Registrar through instructions from the Depositary and the Participant or Indirect Participant. The Trustee shall mail such Definitive Notes to the Persons in whose names such Notes are so registered. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in Restricted Global Note pursuant to this Section 2.06(c)(1) shall bear the Private Placement Legend and shall be subject to all restrictions on transfer contained therein. (2) Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note may exchange such beneficial interest for an Unrestricted Definitive Note or may transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note only upon the occurrence of any of the events in clause (i) or (ii) of Section 2.06(a) and if the Registrar receives (i) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for an Unrestricted Definitive Note, a duly completed Certificate of Exchange from such Holder, including the certifications in clause (1)(b) thereof; or (ii) if the holder of such beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note proposes to transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who shall take delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (5) thereof; and, in each case, if the Registrar or the Issuer so request or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar and the Issuer to the effect that such exchange or transfer is

in compliance with the Securities Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. (3) Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. If any holder of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note proposes to exchange such beneficial interest for a Definitive Note or to transfer such beneficial interest to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a Definitive Note, then, upon the occurrence of any of the events in clause (i) or (ii) of Section 2.06(a) and satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 2.06(b)(2), the Trustee shall cause the aggregate principal amount of the applicable Global Note to be reduced accordingly pursuant to Section 2.06(h), and the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and mail to the Person designated in the instructions a Definitive Note in the applicable principal amount. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest pursuant to this Section 2.06(c)(3) shall be registered in such name or names and in such authorized denomination or denominations as the holder of such beneficial interest shall instruct the Registrar through instructions from or through the Depositary and the Participant or Indirect Participant. The Trustee shall mail such Definitive Notes -42- to the Persons in whose names such Notes are so registered. Any Definitive Note issued in exchange for a beneficial interest pursuant to this Section 2.06(c)(3) shall not bear the Private Placement Legend. (d) Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes for Beneficial Interests. Restricted Definitive Notes shall be exchanged only for beneficial interests in Restricted Global Notes pursuant to this subsection (d). (1) Restricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Restricted Global Notes. If any Holder of a Restricted Definitive Note proposes to exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note or to transfer such Restricted Definitive Note to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note, then, upon receipt by the Registrar of the following documentation: (A) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Note proposes to exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Note, a duly completed Certificate of Exchange from such Holder, including

the certifications in clause (2)(b) thereof; (B) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to a QIB in accordance with Rule 144A, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (1) thereof; (C) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to a Non-U.S. Person in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (2) thereof; (D) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in accordance with Rule 144, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (4)(a) thereof; (E) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred to the Issuer or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (4)(b) thereof; or (F) if such Restricted Definitive Note is being transferred pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (4)(c) thereof, and the Trustee shall cancel the Restricted Definitive Note, increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of, in the case of clause (A) above, the applicable Restricted Global Note, in the case of clause (B) above, the applicable 144A Global Note, and in the case of clause (C) above, the applicable Regulation S Global Note. -43- (2) Restricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes. A Holder of a Restricted Definitive Note may exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or transfer such Restricted Definitive Note to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note only if the Registrar receives (i) if the Holder of such Definitive Notes proposes to exchange such Notes for a beneficial interest in the Unrestricted Global Note, a duly completed Certificate of Exchange from such Holder, including the certifications in item (1)(c) thereof; or (ii) if the Holder of such Definitive Notes proposes to transfer such Notes to a Person who shall take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in the Unrestricted Global Note, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer from such Holder, including the certifications in clause (5) thereof; and, in

each case, if the Registrar or the Issuer so request or if the Applicable Procedures so require, an Opinion of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar and the Issuer to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon satisfaction of the conditions of any of the subparagraphs in this Section 2.06(d)(2), the Trustee shall cancel the Definitive Notes and increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of the Unrestricted Global Note. (3) Unrestricted Definitive Notes to Beneficial Interests in Unrestricted Global Notes. A Holder of an Unrestricted Definitive Note may exchange such Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note or transfer such Definitive Notes to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note at any time. Upon receipt of a request for such an exchange or transfer, the Trustee shall cancel the applicable Unrestricted Definitive Note and increase or cause to be increased the aggregate principal amount of one of the Unrestricted Global Notes. If any such exchange or transfer from a Definitive Note to a beneficial interest is effected pursuant to subsection (1)(B) or (3) above of this Section 2.06(d) at a time when an Unrestricted Global Note has not yet been issued, the Issuer shall issue and, upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with Section 2.02, the Trustee shall authenticate one or more Unrestricted Global Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Definitive Notes so transferred. (e) Transfer and Exchange of Definitive Notes for Definitive Notes. Upon j]im]kl Zq Y Cgd\]j g^ ?]^afalan] Igl]k Yf\ km[` Cgd\]jzk [gehdaYf[] oal` l`] hjgnakagfk g^ l`ak Section 2.06(e), the Registrar shall register the transfer or exchange of Definitive Notes. Definitive Notes shall be exchanged only for Definitive Notes pursuant to this subsection (e). Prior to such registration of transfer or exchange, the requesting Holder shall present or surrender to the Registrar the Definitive Notes duly endorsed or accompanied by a written instruction of transfer in form satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by such Holder or by its attorney, duly authorized in

writing. In addition, the requesting Holder shall provide any additional certifications, documents and information, as applicable, required pursuant to the following provisions of this Section 2.06(e):



 







-44- (1) Restricted Definitive Notes to Restricted Definitive Notes. Any Restricted Definitive Note may be transferred to and registered in the name of Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of a Restricted Definitive Note if the Registrar receives the following: (A) if the transfer will be made pursuant to a QIB in accordance with Rule 144A, then the transferor must deliver a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in item (1) thereof; (B) if the transfer will be made pursuant to Rule 903 or Rule 904 then the transferor must deliver a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications in clause (2) thereof; or (C) if the transfer will be made pursuant to any other exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, then the transferor must deliver a duly completed Certificate of Transfer, including the certifications required by clause (4) thereof, if applicable. (2) Restricted Definitive Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. Any Restricted Definitive Note may be exchanged by the Holder thereof for an Unrestricted Definitive Note or transferred to a Person or Persons who take delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note if the Registrar receives the following (i) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Notes proposes to exchange such Notes for an Unrestricted Definitive Note, a duly completed Certificate of Exchange from such Holder, including the certifications in clause (1)(d) thereof; or (ii) if the Holder of such Restricted Definitive Notes proposes to transfer such Notes to a Person who shall take delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note, a duly completed Certificate of Transfer from such Holder, including the certifications in clause (5) thereof; and, in each case, if the Registrar or the Issuer so request, an Opinion of Counsel in form reasonably acceptable to the Registrar and the Issuer to the effect that such exchange or transfer is in compliance with the Securities Act and that the restrictions on transfer contained herein and in the Private Placement Legend are no longer required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. (3) Unrestricted Definitive Notes to Unrestricted Definitive Notes. A Holder of Unrestricted Definitive Notes may transfer such Notes to a Person who takes delivery thereof in the form of an Unrestricted Definitive Note. Upon receipt of a request to register such a

transfer, the Registrar shall register the Unrestricted Definitive Notes pursuant to the instructions from the Holder thereof. (f) Legends. The following legends shall appear on the face of all Global Notes and Definitive Notes issued under this Indenture unless specifically stated otherwise in the applicable provisions of this Indenture: (1) Private Placement Legend. -45- (A) Except as permitted by subparagraph (B) below, each Global Note and each Definitive Note (and all Notes issued in exchange therefor or substitution thereof) shall bear the legend in substantially the following form: wOC@ JAA@MDIB <I? N<GE OF THIS NOTE (OR ITS PREDECESSOR) HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS <H@I?@? 'OC@ wN@>PMDOD@N <>Ox(* <I?* <>>JM?DIBGT* OCDN IJO@ H<T NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS, EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN THE NEXT SENTENCE. BY ITS ACQUISITION HEREOF OR OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN, THE HOLDER: '/( M@KM@N@ION OC<O DO DN IJO <I w<AADGD<O@x '<N ?@ADI@? DI RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) OF BLACK KNIGHT INFORSERV, GG> <I? '<( DN < wLP<GDAD@? DINODOPODJI<G =PT@Mx '<N ?@ADI@? DI MPG@ /22< PI?@M OC@ N@>PMDOD@N <>O( '< wLD=x(* JM '=( DO C<N ACQUIRED THIS NOTE IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (2) AGREES THAT IT WILL NOT RESELL OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER THIS NOTE OR ANY BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN EXCEPT (A) TO BLACK KNIGHT INFOSERV, LLC OR ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES, (B) TO A PERSON WHOM THE SELLER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QIB PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A QIB IN A TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 144A, (C) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 903 OR 904 OF REGULATION S OF THE SECURITIES ACT, (D) IN A TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (E) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANOTHER EXEMPTION FROM

THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT (AND BASED UPON AN OPINION OF COUNSEL ACCEPTABLE TO THE ISSUER AND THE TRUSTEE) OR (F) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT AND, IN EACH CASE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER APPLICABLE JURISDICTION AND (3) AGREES THAT IT WILL DELIVER TO EACH PERSON TO WHOM THIS NOTE OR AN INTEREST HEREIN IS TRANSFERRED A NOTICE SUBSTANTIALLY TO THE EFFECT OF THIS LEGEND. <N PN@? C@M@DI* OC@ O@MHN wJAANCJM@ OM<IN<>ODJINx <I? wPIDO@? NO<O@Nx C<Q@ OC@ H@<IDIBN BDQ@I OJ OC@H =T MPG@ 7.0 JA REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT. THE INDENTURE CONTAINS A PROVISION REQUIRING THE TRUSTEE TO REFUSE TO REGISTER ANY OM<INA@M JA OCDN IJO@ DI QDJG<ODJI JA OC@ AJM@BJDIB,x (B) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Global Note or Definitive Note issued pursuant to subparagraph (b)(4), (c)(2), (c)(3), (d)(2), -46- (d)(3), (e)(2) or (e)(3) of this Section 2.06 (and all Notes issued in exchange therefor or substitution thereof) shall not bear the Private Placement Legend. (2) Global Note Legend. Each Global Note shall bear a legend in substantially the following form (with appropriate changes in the last sentence if DTC is not the Depositary): wOCDN BGJ=<G IJO@ DN C@G? =T OC@ ?@KJNDO<MT '<N ?@ADI@? DI THE INDENTURE GOVERNING THIS NOTE) OR ITS NOMINEE IN CUSTODY FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS HEREOF, AND IS NOT TRANSFERABLE TO ANY PERSON UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES EXCEPT THAT (I) THE TRUSTEE MAY MAKE SUCH NOTATIONS HEREON AS MAY BE REQUIRED PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.06(h) OF THE INDENTURE, (II) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE EXCHANGED IN WHOLE BUT NOT IN PART PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.06(a) OF THE INDENTURE, (III) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE DELIVERED TO THE TRUSTEE FOR CANCELLATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 2.11 OF THE INDENTURE AND (IV) THIS GLOBAL NOTE MAY BE TRANSFERRED TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY WITH THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE

ISSUER. UNLESS AND UNTIL IT IS EXCHANGED IN WHOLE OR IN PART FOR NOTES IN DEFINITIVE FORM, THIS NOTE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT AS A WHOLE BY THE DEPOSITARY TO A NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITARY OR BY A NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITARY TO THE DEPOSITARY OR ANOTHER NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITARY OR BY THE DEPOSITARY OR ANY SUCH NOMINEE TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY OR A NOMINEE OF SUCH SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY. UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY OMPNO >JHK<IT '33 R<O@M NOM@@O* I@R TJMF* I@R TJMF( 'wDTCx( OJ THE ISSUER OR ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER NAME AS MAY BE REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS MAY BE REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL INASMUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., C<N <I DIO@M@NO C@M@DI,x (g) Cancellation and/or Adjustment of Global Notes. At such time as all beneficial interests in a particular Global Note have been exchanged for Definitive Notes or a particular Global Note has been redeemed, repurchased or canceled in whole and not in part, each such Global Note shall be returned to or retained and canceled by the Trustee in accordance with Section 2.11. At any time prior to such cancellation, if any beneficial interest in a Global Note is exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a beneficial interest in another Global Note or for Definitive Notes, the principal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note shall be reduced accordingly and an endorsement shall be made on such Global Note by the Trustee to reflect such reduction; and if the beneficial interest is being exchanged for or transferred to a Person who will take delivery thereof in the form of a -47- beneficial interest in another Global Note, such other Global Note shall

be increased accordingly and an endorsement shall be made on such Global Note by the Trustee to reflect such increase. (h) General Provisions Relating to Transfers and Exchanges. (1) To permit registrations of transfers and exchanges, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate Global Notes and Definitive Notes upon receipt of an Authentication Order in accordance with Section 2.02 gj Yl l`] M]_akljYjzk j]im]kl, (2) No service charge shall be made to a holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note or to a Holder of a Definitive Note for any registration of transfer or exchange, but the Issuer may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any transfer tax or similar governmental charge payable in connection therewith (other than any such transfer taxes or similar governmental charge payable upon exchange or transfer pursuant to Sections 2.07, 2.10, 3.06, 4.09 and 9.04). (3) All Global Notes and Definitive Notes issued upon any registration of transfer or exchange of Global Notes or Definitive Notes shall be the valid obligations of the Issuer, evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits under this Indenture, as the Global Notes or Definitive Notes surrendered upon such registration of transfer or exchange. (4) Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar shall be required (A) to issue, to register the transfer of or to exchange any Notes during a period beginning at the opening of business 15 days before the day of any selection of Notes for redemption under Section 3.02 and ending at the close of business on the day of selection or (B) to register the transfer of or to exchange any Note so selected for redemption in whole or in part, except the unredeemed portion of any Note being redeemed in part. (5) Prior to due presentment for the registration of a transfer of any Note, the Trustee, any Agent and the Issuer may deem and treat the Person in whose name any Note is registered as the absolute owner of such Note for the purpose of receiving payment of principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on such Notes and for all other purposes, and none of the Trustee, any Agent or the Issuer shall be affected by notice to the contrary. (6) Upon surrender for registration of transfer of any Note at the office or agency of the Issuer designated pursuant to Section 4.02, the Issuer shall execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and mail, in the name of the designated transferee or

transferees, one or more replacement Notes of any authorized denomination or denominations of a like aggregate principal amount. (7) At the option of the Holder, Notes may be exchanged for other Notes of any authorized denomination or denominations of a like aggregate principal amount upon surrender of the Notes to be exchanged at such office or agency. Whenever any Global Notes or Definitive Notes are so surrendered for exchange, the Issuer shall execute, and the Trustee shall authenticate and mail, the replacement Global Notes and Definitive



 







-48- Notes which the Holder making the exchange is entitled to in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.02. (8) All certifications, certificates and Opinions of Counsel required to be submitted to the Registrar pursuant to this Section 2.06 to effect a registration of transfer or exchange may be submitted by email or facsimile. (9) Neither the Registrar nor the Trustee shall have any obligation or duty to monitor, determine or inquire as to compliance with any restrictions on transfer imposed under this Indenture or under applicable law with respect to any transfer of any interest in any Note (including any transfers between or among Participants or beneficial owners of interests in any Global Notes) other than to require delivery of such certificates and other documentation or evidence as are expressly required by, and to do so if and when expressly required by the terms of, this Indenture, and to examine the same to determine substantial compliance as to form with the express requirements hereof. (10) Neither the Trustee nor any Agent shall have any responsibility or liability for any actions taken or not taken by the Depositary. (11) In connection with any proposed transfer from a Global Note to a Definitive Note, the Issuer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to provide or cause to be provided to the Trustee all information within its possession that is requested by the Trustee and necessary to allow the Trustee to comply with any applicable tax reporting obligations, including without limitation any cost basis reporting obligations under Internal Revenue Code Section 6045. The Trustee may rely on any such information provided to it and shall have no responsibility to verify or ensure the accuracy of such information. Section 2.07 Replacement Notes. If any mutilated Note is surrendered to the Trustee, the Registrar or the Issuer and the Trustee receives evidence to its satisfaction of the ownership and destruction, loss or theft of any Note, the Issuer shall issue and the Trustee, upon receipt of Yf <ml`]fla[Ylagf Jj\]j* k`Ydd Yml`]fla[Yl] Y j]hdY[]e]fl Igl] a^ l`] Ojmkl]]zk j]imaj]e]flk Yj] met. An indemnity bond must be supplied by the Holder that is sufficient in the judgment of the Trustee to protect the Trustee and in the judgment of the Issuer to protect the Issuer, the Trustee, any Agent and any authenticating agent from any loss that any of them may suffer if a Note is replaced. The Issuer may

charge for its expenses (including the expenses of the Trustee) in replacing a Note. Every replacement Note is a contractual obligation of the Issuer and shall be entitled to all of the benefits of this Indenture equally and proportionately with all other Notes duly issued hereunder. Section 2.08 Outstanding Notes. The Notes outstanding at any time are all the Notes authenticated by the Trustee except for those canceled by it, those delivered to it for cancellation, those reductions in the interest in a Global Note effected by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions hereof, and those described in this Section 2.08 as not outstanding. Except as set -49- forth in Section 2.09, a Note does not cease to be outstanding because the Issuer or an Affiliate of the Issuer holds the Note. If a Note is replaced pursuant to Section 2.07, it ceases to be outstanding unless the Trustee receives proof satisfactory to it that the replaced Note is held by a bona fide purchaser. If the principal amount of any Note is considered paid under Section 4.01, it ceases to be outstanding and interest on it ceases to accrue. If the Paying Agent (other than the Issuer, a Subsidiary of the Issuer or an Affiliate of any thereof) holds, on a Redemption Date or maturity date, money sufficient to pay Notes payable on that date, then on and after that date such Notes shall be deemed to be no longer outstanding and shall cease to accrue interest. Section 2.09 Treasury Notes. In determining whether the Holders of the required principal amount of Notes have concurred in any direction, waiver or consent, Notes owned by the Issuer, or by any Affiliate of the Issuer, shall be considered as though not outstanding, except that for the purposes of determining whether the Trustee shall be protected in relying on any such direction, waiver or consent, only Notes that a Responsible Officer of the Trustee actually knows are so owned shall be so disregarded. Notes so owned which have been pledged in good faith k`Ydd fgl Z] \akj]_Yj\]\ a^ l`] hd]\_]] ]klYZdak`]k lg l`] kYlak^Y[lagf g^ l`] Ojmkl]] l`] hd]\_]]zk right to deliver any such direction, waiver or consent with respect to the Notes and that the pledgee is not the Issuer or any obligor upon the Notes or any Affiliate of the Issuer or of such other obligor. Section 2.10 Temporary Notes. Until certificates representing Notes are ready for delivery, the Issuer may prepare and the Trustee, upon receipt of an

Authentication Order, shall authenticate temporary Notes. Temporary Notes shall be substantially in the form of certificated Notes but may have variations that the Issuer considers appropriate for temporary Notes and as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Trustee. Without unreasonable delay, the Issuer shall prepare and the Trustee shall authenticate definitive Notes in exchange for temporary Notes. Holders and beneficial holders, as the case may be, of temporary Notes shall be entitled to all of the benefits accorded to Holders, or beneficial holders, respectively, of Notes under this Indenture. Section 2.11 Cancellation. The Issuer at any time may deliver Notes to the Trustee for cancellation. The Registrar and Paying Agent shall forward to the Trustee any Notes surrendered to them for registration of transfer, exchange or payment. The Trustee or, at the direction of the Trustee, the Registrar or the Paying Agent and no one else shall cancel all Notes surrendered for registration of transfer, exchange, payment, replacement or cancellation and shall dispose of cancelled Notes (subject to the record retention requirement of the Exchange Act in accordance with its customary procedures). Certification of the disposal of all cancelled Notes shall be delivered to the Issuer upon its written request. The Issuer may not issue new Notes to replace Notes that it has paid or that have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation. Section 2.12 Defaulted Interest. If the Issuer default in a payment of interest on the Notes, the Issuer shall pay the defaulted interest in any lawful manner plus, to the extent lawful, -50- interest payable on the defaulted interest to the Persons who are Holders of Notes on a subsequent special record date, in each case at the rate provided in the Notes and in Section 4.01. The Issuer shall notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of defaulted interest proposed to be paid on each Note and the date of the proposed payment, and at the same time the Issuer shall deposit with the Trustee, an amount of money equal to the aggregate amount proposed to be paid in respect of such defaulted interest or shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee, for such deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment, such money when deposited to be held in trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled to such defaulted interest as provided in this Section 2.12. The Issuer shall fix or cause to be

fixed each such special record date and payment date; provided that no such special record date shall be less than 10 days prior to the related payment date for such defaulted interest. The Issuer shall promptly notify the Trustee of such special record date. At least 15 days before the special record date, the Issuer (or, upon the written request of the Issuer made at least 1 Business Day prior to the date on which notice is to be sent (or such shorter period as agreed to by the Trustee), the Trustee, in the name and at the expense of the Issuer) shall mail or cause to be mailed, first-class postage prepaid or delivered electronically in accordance with the Applicable Procedures, to each Holder a notice at his or her address as it appears in the Note Register that states the special record date, the related payment date and the amount of such interest to be paid. Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.12 and for greater certainty, each Note delivered under this Indenture upon registration of transfer of or in exchange for or in lieu of any other Note shall carry the rights to interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue, which were carried by such other Note. Section 2.13 CUSIP/ISIN Numbers. The Issuer in issuing the Notes may use CUSIP or ISIN numbers, as applicable, (if then generally in use) and, if so, the Trustee shall use CUSIP or ISIN numbers, as applicable, in notices of redemption as a convenience to Holders; provided that any such notice may state that no representation is made as to the correctness of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of redemption and that reliance may be placed only on the other identification numbers printed on the Notes, and any such redemption shall not be affected by any defect in or omission of such numbers. The Issuer will as promptly as practicable notify the Trustee in writing of any change in the CUSIP or ISIN numbers, as applicable. ARTICLE III REDEMPTION Section 3.01 Notices to Trustee. If the Issuer elects to redeem Notes pursuant to Section 3.07, it shall furnish to the Trustee, at least five Business Days before notice of redemption is required to be given or caused to be given to the applicable Holders pursuant to Section 3.03 (unless a shorter notice shall be agreed to by the Trustee) but not more than 60 days Z]^gj] Y M]\]ehlagf ?Yl]* Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] k]llaf_ ^gjl` (i) the section of this Indenture pursuant to which the

redemption shall occur, (ii) the Redemption Date, (iii) the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed and (iv) the redemption price (or manner of calculation if not then known). -51- Section 3.02 Selection of Notes to Be Redeemed or Purchased. If fewer than all of the Notes are to be redeemed or purchased in an offer to purchase at any time, the Trustee shall select the Notes to be redeemed or purchased (a) if the Notes are listed on any national securities exchange, in compliance with the requirements of the principal national securities exchange on which the Notes are listed and in accordance with the Applicable Procedures of the Depositary or (b) if the Notes are not listed on a national securities exchange or registered with DTC, or if DTC prescribes no method of selection, on a pro rata basis or by lot. In the event of partial redemption or purchase by lot, the particular Notes to be redeemed or purchased shall be selected, unless otherwise provided herein, not less than 10 nor more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date by the Trustee from the outstanding Notes not previously called for redemption or purchase. The Trustee shall promptly notify the Issuer in writing of the Notes selected for redemption or purchase and, in the case of any Note selected for partial redemption or purchase, the principal amount thereof to be redeemed or purchased. Notes and portions of Notes selected shall be in amounts of $2,000 or whole multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof; no Notes of $2,000 or less can be redeemed in part, except that if all of the Notes of a Holder are to be redeemed or purchased, the entire outstanding amount of Notes held by such Holder, even if not a multiple of $1,000, shall be redeemed or purchased. Except as provided in the preceding sentence, provisions of this Indenture that apply to Notes called for redemption or purchase also apply to portions of Notes called for redemption or purchase. In no event shall the Trustee be responsible for monitoring, or charged with knowledge of, the maximum aggregate amount of the Notes eligible to be redeemed. Section 3.03 Notice of Redemption. The Issuer shall deliver in accordance with the Applicable Procedures or mail or cause to be mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, notices of redemption at least 10 days but not more than 60 days before the Redemption Date to each Holder of Notes to be redeemed at km[`

Cgd\]jzk j]_akl]j]\ Y\\j]kk* ]p[]hl l`Yl j]\]ehlagf notices may be sent more than 60 days prior to a Redemption Date if the notice is issued in connection with Article VIII or Article XI. The notice shall identify the Notes to be redeemed (including the CUSIP or ISIN number) and shall state: (a) the Redemption Date; (b) the redemption price; (c) if any Note is to be redeemed in part only, the portion of the principal amount of that Note that is to be redeemed and that, after the Redemption Date upon surrender of such Note, a new Note or Notes in principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the original Note representing the same indebtedness to the extent not redeemed will be issued in the name of the Holder of the Notes upon cancellation of the original Note; (d) the name and address of the Paying Agent;



 







-52- (e) that Notes called for redemption must be surrendered to the Paying Agent to collect the redemption price; (f) that, unless the Issuer defaults in making such redemption payment, interest on Notes called for redemption ceases to accrue on and after the Redemption Date; (g) the section of this Indenture pursuant to which the Notes called for redemption are being redeemed; (h) that no representation is made as to the correctness or accuracy of the CUSIP or ISIN number, as applicable, if any, listed in such notice or printed on the Notes; and (i) if such redemption or purchase is subject to satisfaction of one or more conditions precedent, a description of each condition to such redemption or purchase and, if Yhhda[YZd]* l`Yl* af l`] Dkkm]jzk \ak[j]lagf* l`] M]\]ehlagf ?Yl] gj hmj[`Yk] \Yl] eYq Z] \]dYq]\ until such time (including more than 60 days after the date the notice of redemption was sent, including by electronic transmission) as any or all such conditions shall be satisfied, or such redemption or purchase may not occur and such notice may be rescinded in the event that any or all such conditions shall not have been satisfied by the Redemption Date or the purchase date, or by the Redemption Date or purchase date as so delayed, or such notice may be rescinded at any lae] af l`] Dkkm]jzk \ak[j]lagf a^ af l`] _gg\ ^Yal` bm\_e]fl g^ l`] Dkkm]j Yfq gj Ydd g^ km[` conditionk oadd fgl Z] kYlak^a]\* Yf\ l`Yl* af l`] Dkkm]jzk \ak[j]lagf* hYqe]fl g^ l`] j]\]ehlagf gj hmj[`Yk] hja[] Yf\ h]j^gjeYf[] g^ l`] Dkkm]jzk gZda_Ylagfk oal` j]kh][l lg km[` j]\]ehlagf gj purchase may be performed by another Person. At the Dkkm]jzk request, the Trustee shall give the notice of redemption in the Dkkm]jzk name and at its expense; provided that the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee, at least five Business Days before notice of redemption is required to be given or caused to be given to Holders pursuant to this Section 3.03 (unless a shorter notice shall be agreed to by the Trustee), Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] j]im]klaf_ l`Yl l`] Ojmkl]e give such notice and setting forth the information to be stated in such notice as provided in the preceding paragraph. Section 3.04 Effect of Notice of Redemption. Once notice of redemption is given in accordance with Section 3.03 and any conditions thereto are satisfied, Notes called for redemption become irrevocably due and payable on the Redemption Date at the redemption price (except as provided for in Section 3.03(i)). The

notice, if given in a manner herein provided, shall be conclusively presumed to have been given, whether or not the Holder receives such notice. In any case, failure to give such notice or any defect in the notice to the Holder of any Note designated for redemption in whole or in part shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any other Note. Subject to Section 3.05, on and after the Redemption Date, interest ceases to accrue on Notes or portions of Notes called for redemption. Section 3.05 Deposit of Redemption or Repurchase Price. Prior to 12:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the redemption or purchase date, the Issuer shall deposit with the Paying Agent an amount of money, in immediately available funds, sufficient to pay the redemption or purchase price of and accrued and unpaid interest on all Notes to be redeemed or repurchased on -53- that date. The Paying Agent shall promptly return to the Issuer any money deposited with the Paying Agent by the Issuer in excess of the amounts necessary to pay the redemption price of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, all Notes to be redeemed or repurchased. If the Issuer complies with the provisions of the preceding paragraph and any conditions thereto are satisfied, on and after the Redemption Date or Repurchase Date, interest shall cease to accrue on the Notes, or the portions of Notes, as applicable, called for redemption or purchase. If a Note is redeemed or repurchased on or after a Record Date but on or prior to the related Interest Payment Date, then any accrued and unpaid interest to the Redemption Date or Repurchase Date shall be paid to the Person in whose name such Note was registered at the close of business on such Record Date, and no additional interest will be payable to Holders whose Notes are so redeemed or repurchased. If any Note called for redemption or repurchase shall not be so paid upon surrender for redemption or purchase because of the failure of the Issuer to comply with the preceding paragraph, interest shall be paid on the unpaid principal, from the Redemption Date or Repurchase Date until such principal is paid, and to the extent lawful on any interest accrued to the Redemption Date or Repurchase Date not paid on such unpaid principal, in each case at the rate provided in the Notes and in Section 4.01. Section 3.06 Notes Redeemed or Purchased in Part. Upon surrender of a Note

that is redeemed or repurchased in part, the Issuer shall issue and the Trustee shall authenticate for the Holder at the expense of the Issuer a new Note equal in principal amount to the unredeemed or unpurchased portion of the Note surrendered representing the same indebtedness to the extent not redeemed or purchased; provided that each new Note will be in a principal amount of $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof. It is understood that, notwithstanding anything in this Indenture to the contrary, only an Authentication Order and not an Opinion of >gmfk]d gj J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] ak j]imaj]\ ^gj l`] Ojmkl]] lg Yml`]flacate such new Note. Section 3.07 Optional Redemption. Except as set forth below in this Section 3.07 or in Section 4.09, the Issuer will not be entitled to redeem the Notes at its option prior to September 1, 2023. (a) At any time prior to September 1, 2023, the Issuer may on one or more occasions redeem the Notek* af o`gd] gj af hYjl* mhgf fgl d]kk l`Yf /. fgj egj] l`Yf 4. \Yqkz prior notice as described under Section 3.02, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes being redeemed plus the Applicable Premium as of the date of redemption 'l`] wRedemption Datex(* Yf\ Y[[jm]\ Yf\ mfhYa\ afl]j]kl* a^ Yfq* lg* Zml ]p[dm\af_* l`] Redemption Date, subject to the rights of Holders on the relevant Record Date to receive interest due on the relevant Interest Payment Date in accordance with Section 3.05. Calculation of the Applicable Premium will be made by the Issuer or on behalf of the Issuer or by such Person as the Issuer shall designate; provided that such calculation or the correctness thereof shall not be a duty or obligation of the Trustee acting in any capacity under this Indenture. (b) On and after September 1, 2023, the Issuer may on one or more occasions j]\]]e l`] Igl]k* af o`gd] gj af hYjl* mhgf fgl d]kk l`Yf /. fgj egj] l`Yf 4. \Yqkz hjagj fgla[] as described under Section 3.02, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed) set forth below, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to, but excluding, the applicable Redemption Date, subject to the rights of Holders on the -54- relevant Record Date to receive interest due on the relevant Interest Payment Date in accordance with Section 3.05, if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on September 1 of

each of the years indicated below: Year Optional Redemption Price 2023 101.813% 2024 100.906% 2025 and thereafter 100.000% In addition, prior to September 1, 2023, the Issuer may, at its option, upon not less than 10 nor more than 60 days; prior notice as described under Section 3.02, on one or more occasions, redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes issued by it at a redemption price equal to 103.625% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, thereon to, but excluding, the applicable Redemption Date, subject to the rights of Holders on the relevant Record Date to receive interest due on the relevant Interest Payment Date in accordance with Section 3.05, with the net cash proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings; provided that at least 50% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes issued under this Indenture (giving effect to the issuance of any Additional Notes) remains outstanding immediately after the occurrence of each such redemption; provided, further, that each such redemption occurs within 180 days of the date of closing of each such Equity Offering. (c) Notice of any redemption or purchase of the Notes may, at the Dkkm]jzk discretion, be subject to one or more conditions precedent, including the completion of an Equity Offering or other corporate transaction. (d) Any redemption pursuant to this Section 3.07 shall be made pursuant to the provisions of Sections 3.01 through 3.06. Section 3.08 Mandatory Redemption. The Issuer shall not be required to make mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the Notes, except as set forth in Section 3.09. The Issuer and its Affiliates may acquire Notes by means other than a redemption, whether by tender offer, open market purchases, negotiated transactions or otherwise, in accordance with applicable securities laws, so long as such acquisition does not otherwise violate the terms of this Indenture. Section 3.09 Special Mandatory Redemption. (a) Concurrently with the issuance of the Notes, the Issuer will enter into the Escrow Agreement with the Escrow Agent, pursuant to which the Issuer shall deposit, or cause lg Z] \]hgkal]\* aflg Yf Y[[gmfl mf\]j l`] [gfljgd g^ l`] @k[jgo <_]fl 'l`] wEscrow Accountx( the net proceeds from the issuance of the Notes (together with any other property from time to lae] `]d\ af l`] @k[jgo <[[gmfl* l`] wEscrow

Propertyx(, <k dgf_ Yk l`] @k[jgo Kjgh]jlq ak deposited with the Escrow Agent, it will be invested by the Escjgo <_]fl Yl l`] Dkkm]jzk instruction in U.S. Treasury securities and certain other permitted investments as directed by the Issuer. -55- (b) In order to cause the Escrow Agent to release the Escrow Property to the Issuer, on or prior to May 04* 0.0/ 'l`] wOutside Datex(* l`] Dkkm]j emkl \]dan]j Yf J^^a[]jzk Certificate to the Escrow Agent and the Trustee certifying that the Optimal Blue Acquisition will be consummated simultaneously or substantially concurrently with the release of funds from the Escrow Account (th] wEscrow Release Conditionx(, (c) If the Escrow Release Condition is satisfied prior to 11:59 p.m. (New York City time) on the Outside Date, the Escrow Agent shall release the Escrow Property (including investment earnings) to or at the instruction of the Issuer. (d) If (i) the Escrow Release Condition has not been satisfied prior to 11:59 p.m. (New York City time) on the Outside Date or (ii) the Issuer delivers a termination notice to the Escrow Agent and the Trustee prior to 11:59 p.m. (New York City time) on the Outside Date indicating that (a) Holdings will not pursue the consummation of the Optimal Blue Acquisition or (b) the Issuer has determined in its sole discretion that the Escrow Release Condition cannot or is not reasonably likely to be satisfied by 11:59 p.m. (New York City time) on the Outside ?Yl] 'Yfq ]n]fl \]k[jaZ]\ af [dYmk]k 'a( gj 'aa( g^ l`ak k]fl]f[]* Y wSpecial Mandatory Redemption Eventx(* 'p( the Issuer shall promptly (but in no event later than three Business Days following such Special Mandatory Redemption Event) send a notice of special mandatory redemption to the Holders (with a copy of such notice to be simultaneously delivered to the Ojmkl]]( 'km[` \Yl] g^ fgla^a[Ylagf lg l`] Cgd\]jk* l`] wSpecial Mandatory Redemption Notice Datex(* l`Yt the Notes will be redeemed no later than five Business Days (and no sooner than two =mkaf]kk ?Yqk( Y^l]j l`] Nh][aYd HYf\Ylgjq M]\]ehlagf Igla[] ?Yl] 'km[` \Yl]* l`] wSpecial Mandatory Redemption Datex(* 'q( the Issuer shall redeem the Notes on the Special Mandatory Redemption Date at a special mandatory redemption price equal to 100% of the initial issue price of the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest from the date of initial issuance of the Notes to, but not including, the Special Mandatory

Redemptagf ?Yl] 'l`] wSpecial Mandatory Redemption Pricex(, Jf gj Z]^gj] l`] =mkaf]kk ?Yq aee]\aYl]dq hjagj lg l`] Nh][aYd HYf\Ylgjq M]\]ehlagf Date, the Escrow Agent shall release the Escrow Property (including investment earnings) to the Trustee, without the requirement of notice to or action by the Issuer, the Trustee or any other Person, and, on or prior to the Special Mandatory Redemption Date, the Issuer will provide to the Trustee any additional amounts necessary to fund the redemption of the Notes at the Special Mandatory Redemption Price. On the Special Mandatory Redemption Date, the Trustee shall cause the redemption of the Notes and the payment to the Holders of the Special Mandatory Redemption Price. (e) For the avoidance of doubt, Section 3.07 shall not apply to the Special Mandatory Redemption. ARTICLE IV COVENANTS Section 4.01 Payment of Notes. The Issuer shall pay or cause to be paid the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes on the dates and in the manner provided in the Notes. Principal, premium, if any, and interest shall be considered paid on the date due if the Paying Agent, if other than the Issuer or a Subsidiary, holds as of 12:00 p.m. (New York City



 







-56- time) on the due date money deposited by the Issuer in immediately available funds and designated for and sufficient to pay all principal, premium, if any, and interest then due. With respect to Definitive Notes, if any, presentation is due at maturity. The Issuer shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue principal at the rate equal to the then applicable interest rate on the Notes to the extent lawful; it shall pay interest (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under any Bankruptcy Law) on overdue installments of interest (without regard to any applicable grace period) at the same rate to the extent lawful. Section 4.02 Maintenance of Office or Agency. The Issuer shall maintain the office or agency required under Section 2.03 where Notes may be surrendered for registration of transfer or for exchange and where notices and demands to or upon the Issuer in respect of the Notes and this Indenture may be served. The Issuer shall give prompt written notice to the Trustee of the location, and any change in the location, of such office or agency. If at any time the Issuer shall fail to maintain any such required office or agency or shall fail to furnish the Trustee with the address thereof, such presentations, surrenders, notices and demands may be made or served at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee; provided that no service of legal process may be made upon the Issuer at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee. The Issuer may also from time to time designate one or more other offices or agencies where the Notes may be presented or surrendered for any or all such purposes and may from time to time rescind such designations; provided that no such designation or rescission shall in any manner relieve the Issuer of its obligation to maintain an office or agency required under Section 2.03. The Issuer shall give prompt written notice to the Trustee of any such designation or rescission and of any change in the location of any such other office or agency. The Issuer hereby designates the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee as one such office or agency of the Issuer in accordance with Section 2.03. Section 4.03 Reports and Other Information. Whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the SEC, so long as any Notes are outstanding under this Indenture: (a) Holdings shall furnish to the Holders and the

Trustee the following information, such information, in each case, to comply in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the specified form: (i) within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year (or if such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day), all financial information that would be required to be contained in an annual report on Form 10-K, or any successor or comparable form, filed by Cgd\af_k oal` l`] N@>* af[dm\af_ Y wHYfY_]e]flzk ?ak[mkkagf Yf\ <fYdqkak g^ AafYf[aYd >gf\alagf Yf\ M]kmdlk g^ Jh]jYlagfkx and a report gf l`] YffmYd ^afYf[aYd klYl]e]flk Zq l`] Cgd\af_kz af\]h]f\]fl j]_akl]j]\ public accounting firm; -57- (ii) within 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year (or if such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day), all financial information that would be required to be contained in a quarterly report on Form 10-Q, or any successor or comparable form, filed by Holdings with the SEC, including Y wHYfY_]e]flzk ?ak[mkkagf Yf\ <fYdqkak g^ AafYf[aYl Condition and M]kmdlk g^ Jh]jYlagfk*x Yf\ ^afYf[aYd klYl]e]flk hj]hYj]\ af Y[[gj\Yf[] with GAAP; and (iii) all information required by current reports that would be required to be filed with the SEC by Holdings on Form 8-K, or any successor or comparable form, if Holdings were required to file such reports, in each case within five Business Days of the date on which time h]jag\k kh][a^a]\ af l`] N@>zk jmd]k Yf\ j]_mdYlagfk9 In addition, for so long as any Notes remain outstanding, Holdings will furnish to the Holders and to securities analysts and prospective investors, upon their request, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act. (b) Holdings will be deemed to have furnished such information referred to in paragraph (a) above to the Trustee and the Holders if Holdings or any direct or indirect parent of Holdings has filed such information with the SEC via the EDGAR (or successor) filing system and such information is publicly available. (c) To the extent any such reports referred to in paragraph (a) above is not so filed or furnished, as applicable, within the time periods specified above and such reports are subsequently filed or furnished, as applicable, Holdings will be deemed to have satisfied its obligations with respect thereto at such time and any Default or Event of Default with respect thereto shall be deemed to have been cured.

(d) Delivery of reports, information and documents to the Trustee under this Section 4.03 Yj] ^gj af^gjeYlagfYd hmjhgk]k gfdq Yf\ l`] Ojmkl]]zk j][]ahl g^ l`] ^gj]_gaf_ k`Ydd not constitute constructive or actual notice of any information contained therein or determinable from information contained therein, including compliance with any of the covenants hereunder 'Yk lg o`a[` l`] Ojmkl]] ak ]flald]\ lg j]dq ]p[dmkan]dq gf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl]k(, O`] Ojmkl]] shall have no liability or responsibility for the filing, timeliness or content of such reports. Section 4.04 Compliance Certificate. (a) Holdings shall deliver to the Trustee, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year ending after the Issue Date, a certificate from the principal executive officer, principal financial officer or principal accounting officer stating that, in the course of the performance by the signer of his or her duties as an officer, he or she would normally have knowledge of any default by the Issuer in the performance of any of its obligations contained in this Indenture, and that a review of the activities of Holdings, the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries during the preceding fiscal year has been made under the supervision of the signing Officer with a view to determining whether Holdings, the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries have kept, observed, -58- performed and fulfilled their obligations under this Indenture, and further stating, as to such Officer signing such certificate, that to the best of his or her knowledge Holdings, the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries have kept, observed, performed and fulfilled each and every condition and covenant contained in this Indenture and is not in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of this Indenture (or, if a Default shall have occurred and is continuing, describing all such Defaults of which he or she may have knowledge and what action the Issuer is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto). (b) When any Default has occurred and is continuing under this Indenture, or if the Trustee or the holder of any other evidence of Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries gives any notice or takes any other action with respect to a claimed Default, the Issuer shall promptly (which shall be no more than ten Business Days after becoming aware of any Default) deliver to the Trustee by

registered or certified mail or by ^Y[kaead] ljYfkeakkagf Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] kh][a^qaf_ km[` ?]^Ymdl* alk klYlmk Yf\ o`Yl actions the Issuer is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto. Section 4.05 Taxes. Holdings shall pay, and shall cause each of its Restricted Subsidiaries to pay, prior to delinquency, all material taxes, assessments, and governmental levies except such as are contested in good faith and by appropriate negotiations or proceedings or where the failure to effect such payment is not adverse in any material respect to the Holders of the Notes. Section 4.06 Stay, Extension and Usury Laws. The Issuer and each of the Guarantors covenant (to the extent that they may lawfully do so) that they shall not at any time insist upon, plead, or in any manner whatsoever claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any stay, extension or usury law wherever enacted, now or at any time hereafter in force, that may affect the covenants or the performance of this Indenture; and the Issuer and each of the Guarantors (to the extent that they may lawfully do so) hereby expressly waive all benefit or advantage of any such law, and covenant that they shall not, by resort to any such law, hinder, delay or impede the execution of any power herein granted to the Trustee, but shall suffer and permit the execution of every such power as though no such law has been enacted. Section 4.07 Liens. (a) The Issuer will not, and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien (except Permitted Liens) that secures Indebtedness on any asset or property of the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary, unless: (1) in the case of Liens securing Subordinated Indebtedness, the Notes and related Guarantees are secured by a Lien on such property, assets or proceeds that is senior in priority to such Liens; or (2) in all other cases, the Notes or the related Guarantees are equally and ratably secured. (b) The documentation for any Lien created for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes pursuant to this Section 4.07 shall provide that such Lien shall be deemed -59- automatically and unconditionally released and discharged upon the release and discharge of the applicable Lien described in clauses (1) and (2) of Section 4.07(a). (c) For purposes of determining compliance with this Section 4.07, (A) a Lien securing an item of Indebtedness need

not be permitted solely by reference to one category of h]jeall]\ Ga]fk 'gj Yfq hgjlagf l`]j]g^( \]k[jaZ]\ af l`] \]^afalagf g^ wK]jeall]\ Ga]fkx gj pursuant to Section 4.07(a) but may be permitted in part under any combination thereof and (B) in the event that a Lien securing an item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) meets the criteria of one or more of the categories of permitted Liens (or any portion thereof) described in l`] \]^afalagf g^ wK]jeall]\ Ga]fkx gj hmjkmYfl lg Section 4.07(a), the Issuer may, in its sole discretion, classify or reclassify, or later divide, classify or reclassify (as if incurred at such later time), such Lien securing such item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) in any manner that complies with this covenant and will be entitled to only include the amount and type of such Lien or such item of Indebtedness secured by such Lien (or any portion thereof) in one of the [Yl]_gja]k g^ h]jeall]\ Ga]fk 'gj Yfq hgjlagf l`]j]g^( \]k[jaZ]\ af l`] \]^afalagf g^ wK]jeall]\ Ga]fkx gj hmjkmYfl lg Section 4.07(a) and, in such event, such Lien securing such item of Indebtedness (or any portion thereof) will be treated as being Incurred or existing pursuant to only such clause or clauses (or any portion thereof) or pursuant to Section 4.07(a) without giving Pro Forma Effect to such item (or portion thereof) when calculating the amount of Liens or Indebtedness that may be Incurred pursuant to any other clause or paragraph. In addition, with respect to the creation of any Lien permitted by the provisions of this Indenture in reliance on the pro forma calculation of the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio, EBITDA or Pro Forma EBITDA, as applicable, Pro Forma Effect shall not be given to any Lien created (or expected to be made) substantially simultaneously or contemporaneously with creation of such Lien in reliance on any gl`]j wfgf-jYlag ZYkc]lx k]l ^gjl` af l`ak Df\]flmj], (d) With respect to any Lien securing Indebtedness that was permitted to secure such Indebtedness at the time of the incurrence of such Indebtedness, such Lien shall also Z] h]jeall]\ lg k][mj] Yfq Df[j]Yk]\ <egmfl g^ km[` Df\]Zl]\f]kk, O`] wIncreased Amountx g^ any Indebtedness shall mean any increase in the amount of such Indebtedness in connection with any accrual of interest, the accretion of accreted value, the amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest in the form of additional Indebtedness with the same terms, accretion of original issue discount or

liquidation preference and increase in the amount of Indebtedness outstanding solely as a result of fluctuations in the exchange rate of currencies or increases in the value of property securing Indebtedness. Section 4.08 Corporate Existence. Subject to Article V, Holdings shall do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect (i) its corporate existence, and the corporate, partnership or other existence of each of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries, in accordance with the respective organizational documents (as the same may be amended from time to time) of Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and each of the Restricted Subsidiaries and (ii) the rights (charter and statutory), licenses and franchises of Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries; provided that Holdings shall not be required to preserve any such right, license or franchise, or the corporate, partnership or other existence of any of BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or the Restricted Subsidiaries, if Holdings in good faith shall determine that the preservation thereof is no longer desirable in the



 







-60- conduct of the business of Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. Section 4.09 Offer to Repurchase Upon Change of Control Triggering Event. (a) If a Change of Control Triggering Event occurs after the Issue Date, the Issuer shall make an offer to repurchase all of the Notes pursuant to the offer described below 'l`] wChange of Control Offerx( Yl Y hja[] af [Yk` 'l`] wChange of Control Paymentx( ]imYd lg 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of repurchase, subject to the right of Holders of the Notes of record on the relevant Record Date to receive interest due on the corresponding Interest Payment Date. Within 30 days following any Change of Control Triggering Event, the Issuer shall send notice of such Change of Control Offer electronically or by first-class mail, with a copy to the Trustee, to each Holder of Notes to the address of such Holder appearing in the security register or otherwise in accordance with the Applicable Procedures, with the following information: (1) that a Change of Control Offer is being made pursuant to this Section 4.09 and that all Notes properly tendered pursuant to such Change of Control Offer will be accepted for payment by the Issuer; (2) the repurchase price and the repurchase date, which will be no earlier than 10 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is sefl 'l`] wChange of Control Payment Datex(* ]p[]hl af l`] [Yk] g^ Y [gf\alagfYd >`Yf_] g^ >gfljgd J^^]j eY\] af advance of a Change of Control as described below; (3) that any Note not properly tendered will remain outstanding and continue to accrue interest; (4) that unless the Issuer defaults in the payment of the Change of Control Payment, all Notes accepted for payment pursuant to the Change of Control Offer will cease to accrue interest on the Change of Control Payment Date; (5) that Holders electing to have any Notes repurchased pursuant to a Change g^ >gfljgd J^^]j oadd Z] j]imaj]\ lg kmjj]f\]j km[` Igl]k* oal` l`] ^gje ]flald]\ wOption of Holder to Elect Repurchasex gf l`] j]n]jk] g^ km[` Igl]k [gehd]l]\* gj gl`]joak] af accordance with the Applicable Procedures, to the paying agent specified in the notice at the address specified in the notice prior to the close of business on the third Business Day immediately preceding the Change of Control Payment Date; (6) that Holders will be entitled to

withdraw their tendered Notes and their election to require the Issuer to repurchase such Notes, provided that the paying agent receives, not later than the expiration time of the Change of Control Offer, a facsimile transmission or letter setting forth the name of the Holder of the Notes, the principal amount of Notes tendered for repurchase, and a statement that such Holder is withdrawing its tendered Notes and its election to have such Notes repurchased and any other information as may be required by the paying agent, or otherwise in accordance with the applicable procedures of DTC; -61- (7) that if the Issuer is redeeming fewer than all of the Notes, the Holders of the remaining Notes will be issued new Notes and such new Notes will be equal in principal amount to the unrepurchased portion of the Notes surrendered. The unrepurchased portion of the Notes must be equal to $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof; (8) if such notice is sent prior to the occurrence of a Change of Control Triggering Event, that the Change of Control Offer is conditioned on the occurrence of such Change of Control Triggering Event, and, if applicable, that, in the Dkkm]jzk discretion, the Change of Control Payment Date may be delayed until such time as any or all applicable conditions shall be satisfied, or that such purchase may not occur and such notice may be rescinded in the event that the Issuer shall determine that the Change of Control Triggering Event will not occur by the Change of Control Payment Date, or by the Change of Control Payment Date as so delayed; and (9) the other instructions, as determined by the Issuer, consistent with this Section 4.09, that a Holder must follow. The notice, if given in a manner herein provided, shall be conclusively presumed to have been given, whether or not the Holder receives such notice. If (A) the notice is given in a manner herein provided and (B) any Holder fails to receive such notice or a Holder receives such fgla[] Zml al ak \]^][lan]* km[` Cgd\]jzk ^Yadmj] lg j][]an] km[` fgla[] gj km[` \]^][l k`Ydd fgl affect the validity of the proceedings for the purchase of the Notes as to all other Holders that property received such notice without defect. The Issuer shall comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent such laws or regulations are applicable in

connection with the repurchase of Notes pursuant to a Change of Control Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the provisions of this Section 4.09, the Issuer shall comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and shall not be deemed to have breached its obligations under this Section 4.09 by virtue thereof. (b) On the Change of Control Payment Date, the Issuer shall, to the extent permitted by law: (1) accept for payment all Notes issued by it or portions thereof properly tendered pursuant to the Change of Control Offer; (2) deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Paying Agent an amount equal to the aggregate Change of Control Payment in respect of all Notes or portions thereof so tendered; and (3) deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Trustee for cancellation the Notes so accepted together with Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] lg l`] Ojmkl]] klYlaf_ l`Yl km[` Igl]k gj portions thereof have been tendered to and repurchased by the Issuer. (c) The Issuer shall not be required to make a Change of Control Offer following a Change of Control Triggering Event and a Holder will not have the right to require the Issuer to repurchase any Notes pursuant to a Change of Control Offer if (1) a third party -62- makes the Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in this Section 4.09 applicable to a Change of Control Offer made by the Issuer and purchases all Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn under such Change of Control Offer or (2) a notice of redemption of all outstanding Notes has been given pursuant to Sections 3.03 and 3.07, unless and until there is a default in the payment of the redemption price on the applicable Redemption Date or the redemption is not consummated due to the failure of a condition precedent contained in the applicable redemption notice to be satisfied. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, a Change of Control Offer may be made in advance of a Change of Control Triggering Event, conditioned upon the occurrence of such Change of Control Triggering Event, if a definitive agreement is in place for the related Change of Control at the time of making of the Change of Control Offer. (d) If Holders of not less than 90% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes validly tender and do not withdraw such Notes in a Change of Control

Offer and the Issuer, or any third party making a Change of Control Offer in lieu of the Issuer as described in this Section 4.09, repurchase all of the Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn by such Holders, the Issuer or such third party shall have the right, upon not less than 10 days nor egj] l`Yf 4. \Yqkz hjagj fgla[] 'hjgna\]\ l`Yl km[` fgla[] ak _an]f fgl egj] l`Yf 1. \Yqk following such repurchase pursuant to the Change of Control Offer described above), to redeem all Notes that remain outstanding following such purchase at a price in cash equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the date of redemption, subject to the right of Holders of the Notes of record on the relevant Record Date to receive interest due on the corresponding Interest Payment Date. (e) Other than as specifically provided in this Section 4.09, any repurchase pursuant to this Section 4.09 shall be made pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.02, Section 3.05 and Section 3.06. Section 4.10 Limitation on Guarantees of Indebtedness by Restricted Subsidiaries. The Issuer shall not permit any Restricted Subsidiary that is a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary (other than a Guarantor, a Pending Merger Subsidiary, any Foreign Subsidiary and any FSHCO), to become a guarantor or borrower with respect to Indebtedness under the Amended and Restated Credit Facilities, unless: (1) such Restricted Subsidiary within 60 days thereafter shall have executed and delivered a supplemental indenture to this Indenture, the form of which is attached as Exhibit D hereto, providing for a Guarantee by such Restricted Subsidiary; and (2) such Restricted Subsidiary within 60 days thereafter shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel. The Issuer may elect, in its sole discretion, to cause any Person that is not otherwise required to be a Guarantor to become a Guarantor, in which case such Person shall only be required to execute and deliver a supplemental indenture to this Indenture providing for a Guarantee by such Person. Section 4.11 Suspension of Certain Covenants. -63- (a) If (i) the Notes have an Investment Grade Rating from any two of the three Rating Agencies and (ii) no Default has occurred and is continuing under this Indenture (the occurrence of the events described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) being collectively referred lg Yk Y wCovenant Suspension Eventx(* l`] Dkkm]j Yf\

l`] M]klja[l]\ NmZka\aYja]k oadd fgl Z] subject to Section 4.10 'l`] wSuspended Covenantx(, (b) In the event that the Issuer, the Guarantors and the other Restricted Subsidiaries are not subject to the Suspended Covenants under this Indenture for any period of time as a result of the foregoing, and on any smZk]im]fl \Yl] 'l`] wReversion Datex( l`] Igl]k \g not have an Investment Grade Rating from any of the three Rating Agencies, then the Issuer, the Guarantors and the other Restricted Subsidiaries will thereafter again be subject to the Suspended Covenant with respect to future events. Notwithstanding that the Suspended Covenants may be reinstated, no Default, Event of Default or breach of any kind shall be deemed to exist under this Indenture, the Notes or the Guarantees with respect to the Suspended Covenants, and none of the Issuer, the Guarantors nor any of the other Restricted Subsidiaries shall bear any liability for any actions taken or events occurring during the Suspension Period, or any actions taken at any time pursuant to any contractual obligation arising prior to the Reversion Date, as a result of a failure to comply with the Suspended Covenants during the Suspension Period (or upon termination of the Suspension Period or after that time based solely on events that occurred during the Suspension Period solely to the extent arising from the failure to comply with the Suspended Covenants during the Suspension Period). (c) The period of time from and including the date of the Covenant Suspension Event to (and excluding) the Reversion Date is referred to in this description as the wSuspension Period,x Df l`] ]n]fl g^ Yfq km[` j]afklYl]e]fl* fg Y[lagf lYc]f gj geall]\ lg Z] taken by the Issuer, the Guarantors or any of the other Restricted Subsidiaries prior to such reinstatement will give rise to a Default or Event of Default under this Indenture with respect to the Notes with respect to the Suspended Covenant. No Subsidiaries shall be designated as Unrestricted Subsidiaries during any Suspension Period. (d) O`] Dkkm]j eYq hjgna\] Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] lg the Trustee indicating the occurrence of any Covenant Suspension Event or Reversion Date; provided that a Suspension K]jag\ oadd fgl [gee]f[] mflad l`] \]dan]jq g^ Yfq km[` J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl], O`] Ojmkl]] eYq hjgna\] Y [ghq g^ km[` J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yle to any Holder upon written request. The Trustee will have no obligation to (i)

independently determine or verify if such events have occurred, (ii) make any determination regarding the impact of actions taken during the Suspension Period gf l`] Dkkm]jzk Yf\ alk M]klja[l]\ NmZka\aYja]kz ^mlmj] [gehdaYf[] oal` l`]aj [gn]fYflk gj (iii) notify the Holders of any Covenant Suspension Event or Reversion Date. Section 4.12 Financial Calculations for Limited Condition Transaction. When determining the availability under any basket, ratio or test under this Indenture or compliance with any provision of this Indenture, in each case in connection with a Limited Condition Transaction and any actions or transactions related thereto (including the incurrence of Liens and any acquisitions, Investments, incurrence or issuance of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock and the use of proceeds thereof and repayments of Indebtedness and asset sales), the date of determination of such basket, ratio or test and whether any such action or transaction is permitted (or any requirement or condition therefor is complied with or satisfied) and of any



 







-64- ?]^Ymdl gj @n]fl g^ ?]^Ymdl eYq* Yl l`] ghlagf g^ l`] Dkkm]j 'l`] Dkkm]jzk ]d][lagf lg ]p]j[ak] km[` ghlagf* Yf wLCT Electionx(* Z] (1) in the case of any acquisition (including by way of merger) or Investment (and any Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock incurred or assumed or asset sales consummated in connection therewith in connection therewith), at the time of either (x) the execution of the definitive agreements with respect to such acquisition or Investment or (y) the consummation of such acquisition or Investment and (2) in the case of any voluntary or optional prepayment, redemption, purchase, repurchase, defeasance or other satisfaction of any Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, at the time of (x) delivery of irrevocable notice with respect to such prepayment, redemption, purchase, defeasance or other satisfaction of such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock or (y) the making of such voluntary or optional prepayment, redemption, purchase, defeasance or other satisfaction of such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock (such date of determination, l`] wLCT Test Datex(, If, after giving Pro Forma Effect to the Limited Condition Transaction and any actions or transactions related thereto (including the incurrence of Liens and any acquisitions, Investments, incurrence or issuance of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock and the use of proceeds thereof and repayments of Indebtedness and asset sales) and any related Pro Forma Adjustments, the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries would have been permitted to take such actions or consummate such transactions on the relevant LCT Test Date in compliance with such basket, ratio or test (and any related requirements and conditions), such basket, ratio or test (and any related requirements and conditions) shall be deemed to have been complied with (or satisfied) for all purposes; provided that (a) if financial statements for one or more subsequent fiscal quarters shall have become available, the Issuer may elect, in its sole discretion, to re- determine all such baskets, ratios or tests on the basis of such financial statements, in which case, such date of redetermination shall thereafter be deemed to be the applicable LCT Test Date for purposes of such baskets, ratios or tests, (b) except as contemplated in the foregoing clause (a), compliance with such baskets, ratios or tests (and any related requirements and

conditions) shall not be determined or tested at any time after the applicable LCT Test Date for such Limited Condition Transaction and any actions or transactions related thereto (including the incurrence of Liens and any acquisitions, Investments, incurrence or issuance of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock and the use of proceeds thereof and repayments of Indebtedness and asset sales) and (c) Consolidated Interest Expense will be calculated using an assumed interest rate based on the indicative interest margin contained in any financing commitment documentation with respect to such Indebtedness or, if no such indicative interest margin exists, as reasonably determined by the Issuer in good faith. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Issuer has made an LCT Election, (1) if any of the ratios, tests or baskets for which compliance was determined or tested as of the LCT Test Date would at any time after the LCT Test Date have been exceeded or otherwise failed to have been complied with as a result of fluctuations in any such ratio, test or basket, including due to fluctuations in Pro Forma EBITDA, such baskets, tests or ratios will not be deemed to have been exceeded or failed to have been complied with as a result of such fluctuations; (2) if any related requirements and conditions (including as to the absence of any continuing Default or Event of Default) for which compliance or satisfaction was determined or tested as of the LCT Test Date would at any time after the LCT Test Date not have been complied with or satisfied (including due to the occurrence or continuation of an Default or Event of Default), such requirements and -65- conditions will not be deemed to have been failed to be complied with or satisfied (and such Default or Event of Default shall be deemed not to have occurred or be continuing); and (3) in calculating the availability under any ratio, test or basket in connection with any action or transaction unrelated to such Limited Condition Transaction following the relevant LCT Test Date and prior to the earlier of the date on which such Limited Condition Transaction is consummated or the date that the definitive agreement or date for redemption, purchase or repayment specified in an irrevocable notice for such Limited Condition Transaction is terminated, expires or passes, as applicable, without consummation of such Limited Condition Transaction, any such ratio, test or basket shall be determined or tested giving Pro

Forma Effect to such Limited Condition Transaction and other transactions in connection therewith (including any incurrence of Indebtedness and the use of proceeds thereof). With respect to any such calculations of the availability under any basket, ratio or test under this Indenture or compliance with any provision of this Indenture, in each case in connection with a Limited Condition Transaction and any actions or transactions related thereto (including the incurrence of Liens, and any acquisitions, Investments, incurrence or issuance of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock and the use of proceeds thereof and repayments of Indebtedness and asset sales), the Issuer will deliver to the Trustee promptly following the date the definitive agreement for such Limited Condition Transaction is entered aflg Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] klYlaf_ l`Yl km[` \]^afalan] Y_j]]e]fl `Yk Z]]f ]p][ml]\ Yf\ l`Yl l`] Issuer has made any applicable basket, ratio or test calculations in accordance this provision and in compliance with the terms of this Indenture. The Trustee shall have no liability or responsibility in connection with any Limited Condition Transaction or any information or calculation therewith. ARTICLE V SUCCESSORS Section 5.01 Merger, Consolidation or Sale of All or Substantially All Assets. (a) None of Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer may consolidate or merge with or into or wind up into (whether or not Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be, is the surviving entity), or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all gj kmZklYflaYddq Ydd g^ alk j]kh][lan] NmZka\aYja]kz hjgh]jla]k gj Ykk]lk* lYc]f Yk Y o`gd]* af gf] gj more related transactions, to any Person unless: (1) Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer is the surviving Person or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be) or the Person to whom such sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition will have been made is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or similar entity organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia (such K]jkgf* Yk l`] [Yk] eYq Z]* Z]af_ `]j]af [Ydd]\ l`] wSuccessorx(9 -66- (2) the Successor expressly assumes all the obligations of Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be, under this Indenture and the Notes

pursuant to supplemental indentures or other documents or instruments; (3) except in the case of a transaction with a Guarantor, immediately after such transaction, no Event of Default exists; and (4) in any transaction in which there is a Successor, the Issuer (or Successor) k`Ydd `Yn] \]dan]j]\ lg l`] Ojmkl]] Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] Yf\ Yf Jhafagf g^ >gmfk]d* each stating that such consolidation, merger, wind up, sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition and such supplemental indentures, if any, comply with this Indenture. (b) The Successor will succeed to, and be substituted for, Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be, under this Indenture, the Guarantees and the Notes, as applicable, and Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be, will automatically be released and discharged from its obligations under this Indenture and the Notes. Notwithstanding clause (3) of subsection (a) of this Section 5.01: (1) any Restricted Subsidiary may consolidate with, merge into or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all or part of its properties and assets to the Issuer or any other Restricted Subsidiary; (2) the Issuer may merge with an Affiliate of the Issuer solely for the purpose of reorganizing the Issuer in a State of the United States or the District of Columbia; and (3) Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may be converted into, or reorganized or reconstituted as a limited liability company, limited partnership or corporation organized or existing under the laws of a jurisdiction in the United States. (c) Except pursuant to Section 10.06, no Subsidiary Guarantor will, and the Issuer will not permit any such Subsidiary Guarantor to, consolidate or merge with or into or wind up into (whether or not Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or such Guarantor is the surviving Person), or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its properties or assets, in one or more related transactions, to any Person (other than the Issuer or any other Guarantor) unless: (1) such Guarantor is the surviving Person or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than such Guarantor), or to which such sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition will have been made, is (x) a Person organized or existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of organization of

such Guarantor, as the case may be, or the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia or (y) another Guarantor (such Guarantor or such Person, as the case may be* Z]af_ `]j]af [Ydd]\ l`] wSuccessor Personx(9 -67- (2) the Successor Person, if other than such Guarantor, the Issuer or another Guarantor, expressly assumes all the obligations of such Guarantor under this Indenture Yf\ km[` BmYjYflgjzk j]dYl]\ BmYjYfl]]* pursuant to supplemental indentures or other documents or instruments; (3) immediately after such transaction, no Event of Default exists under clauses (1), (2) or (6) of Section 6.01(a); and (4) in any transaction in which there is a Successor Person, the Issuer shall `Yn] \]dan]j]\ lg l`] Ojmkl]] Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] Yf\ Yf Jhafagf g^ >gmfk]d* ]Y[` stating that such consolidation, merger, sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition and such supplemental indentures, if any, comply with this Indenture. Igloal`klYf\af_ l`] ^gj]_gaf_ [dYmk] '2(* fg J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] gj Jhafagf g^ >gmfk]d will be required in respect of the Pending Mergers. (d) In the case of clause (1) of subsection (c) of this Section 5.01, the Successor Person will succeed to, and be substituted for, such Guarantor under this Indenture and km[` BmYjYflgjzk BmYjYfl]] Yf\ km[` BmYjYflgj oadd YmlgeYla[Yddq Z] j]d]Yk]\ Yf\ \ak[`Yj_]\ ^jge alk gZda_Ylagfk mf\]j l`ak Df\]flmj] Yf\ km[` BmYjYflgjzk BmYjYfl]], Igloal`klYf\af_ l`] foregoing, any Guarantor may merge into or transfer all or part of its properties and assets to another Guarantor or the Issuer and any Guarantor may be converted into, or reorganized or reconstituted as a limited liability company, limited partnership or corporation organized or existing under the laws of a jurisdiction of the Unites States. Section 5.02 Successor Substituted. Upon any consolidation, merger or wind up, or any sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be, in accordance with Section 5.01, the Successor shall succeed to, and be substituted for (so that from and after the date of such consolidation, merger, wind up, sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition, the provisions of this Indenture referring to Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be, shall refer instead to the Successor and

not to Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be), and may exercise every right and power of Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, as the case may be, under this Indenture with the same effect as if the Successor had been named as Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer as the case may be herein; provided that the predecessor Holdings, BKFS Holdings, or the Issuer, as the case may be, shall not be relieved from the obligation to pay the principal of and interest, if any, on the Notes except in the case of a sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of all of l`] Yhhda[YZd] Cgd\af_kz* =FAN Cgd\af_kz gj l`] Dkkm]jzk Ykk]lk l`Yl e]]lk l`] j]imaj]e]flk g^ Section 5.01. ARTICLE VI DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES Section 6.01 Events of Default.



 







-68- (a) <f wEvent of Defaultx o`]j]n]j mk]\ `]j]af* e]Yfk Yfq gf] g^ l`] following events with respect to the Notes: (1) default in payment when due and payable, upon redemption, acceleration or otherwise, of principal of, or premium, if any, on, the Notes; (2) default for 30 days or more in the payment when due of interest on or with respect to the Notes; (3) failure by Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary for (i) 60 days after receipt of written notice given to the Issuer by the Trustee or to the Issuer with a copy to the Trustee by the Holders of not less than 30% in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding to comply with any of its obligations, covenants or agreements (other than a default referred to in clause (1) or (2) above or in subclause (ii) of this clause (3)) contained in this Indenture or the Notes or (ii) 270 days after receipt of written notice given by the Trustee or the Holders of not less than 30% in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding to comply with Section 4.03; (4) default under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there is issued or by which there is secured or evidenced any Indebtedness for money borrowed by Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or any of its Significant Subsidiaries or the payment of which is guaranteed by Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or any of its Significant Subsidiaries, other than Indebtedness owed to Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, whether such Indebtedness or guarantee now exists or is created after the issuance of the Notes, if both: (A) such default either results from the failure to pay any principal of such Indebtedness at its stated final maturity (after giving effect to any applicable grace periods) or relates to an obligation other than the obligation to pay principal of any such Indebtedness at its stated final maturity and results in the holder or holders of such Indebtedness causing such Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; and (B) (ii) the principal amount of such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness in default for failure to pay principal at stated final maturity (after giving effect to any applicable grace periods), or the maturity of which has been so accelerated, aggregate $100.0 million or more at any one time outstanding; (5) The failure to consummate the Special Mandatory Redemption, to the extent

required by Section 3.09; (6) Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or any Significant Subsidiary, pursuant to or within the meaning of any Bankruptcy Law: (i) commences proceedings to be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent; -69- (ii) consents to the institution of bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings against it, or the filing by it of a petition or answer or consent seeking reorganization or relief under applicable Bankruptcy Law; (iii) consents to the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of it or for all or substantially all of its property; (iv) makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (v) generally is not paying its debts as they become due; (7) a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order or decree under any Bankruptcy Law that: (i) is for relief against Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or any Significant Subsidiary in a proceeding in which the Issuer or any such Significant Subsidiary is to be adjudicated bankrupt or insolvent; (ii) appoints a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, sequestrator or other similar official of the Issuer or any Significant Subsidiary, or for all or substantially all of the property of Holdings, BKFS Holdings, the Issuer or any Significant Subsidiary; or (iii) orders the liquidation of the Issuer or any Significant Subsidiary; and the order or decree remains unstayed and in effect for 60 consecutive days; or (8) the Guarantee of Holdings, BKFS Holdings or any Significant Subsidiary that is a Guarantor shall for any reason cease to be in full force and effect or be declared null and void or any responsible officer of any of Holdings, BKFS Holdings or any other Guarantor that is a Significant Subsidiary, as the case may be, denies that it has any further liability under its Guarantee or gives written notice to such effect, other than by reason of the termination of this Indenture or the release of any such Guarantee in accordance with this Indenture. (b) A Default under clauses (3) or (4) of Section 6.01(a) will not constitute an Event of Default until the Trustee or the Holders of 30% in principal amount of the outstanding Notes notify the Issuer of the Default and, with respect to clause (3) of Section 6.01(a), the Issuer does not cure such Default within the time specified in clause (3) of Section 6.01(a) after receipt of such notice. (c) If a Default for a failure to report or failure to deliver a required certificate af [gff][lagf oal` Yfgl`]j \]^Ymdl 'l`]

wInitial Defaultx( g[[mjk* l`]f* Yl l`] lae] km[` DfalaYd Default is cured, such Default for a failure to report or failure to deliver a required certificate in connection with another Default that resulted solely because of that Initial Default will also be cured without any further action. In addition, any Default or Event of Default for the failure to comply with the time periods prescribed in Section 4.03 or otherwise to deliver any notice or certificate pursuant to any other provision of this Indenture shall be deemed to be cured upon the -70- delivery of any such report required by Section 4.03 or such notice or certificate, as applicable, even though such delivery is not within the prescribed period specified in this Indenture. Section 6.02 Acceleration. If any Event of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in clause (6) or (7) of Section 6.01(a) with respect to Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer) occurs and is continuing under this Indenture, the Trustee by written notice to the Issuer or the Holders of at least 30% in principal amount of the then total outstanding Notes by written notice to the Issuer and the Trustee, may declare the principal, premium, if any, interest and any other monetary obligations on all the then outstanding Notes to be due and payable immediately. Upon the effectiveness of such declaration, such principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to the Notes shall be due and payable immediately. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an Event of Default arising under clause (6) or (7) of Section 6.01(a) with respect to Holdings, BKFS Holdings or the Issuer, all outstanding Notes shall be due and payable without further action or notice. Section 6.03 Other Remedies. Subject to the duties of the Trustee as provided for in Article VII, if an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy to collect the payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes or to enforce the performance of any provision of the Notes or this Indenture. The Trustee may maintain a proceeding even if it does not possess any of the Notes or does not produce any of them in the proceeding. A delay or omission by the Trustee or any Holder of a Note in exercising any right or remedy accruing upon an Event of Default shall not impair the right or remedy or constitute a waiver of or acquiescence in the Event of Default. All remedies are cumulative to the

extent permitted by law. Section 6.04 Waiver of Defaults. Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes by written notice to the Trustee may on behalf of the Holders of all of the Notes waive any existing Default and its consequences hereunder, except a continuing Default in the payment of interest on premium, if any, or on the principal of any Note held by a non-consenting Holder; and may rescind any acceleration and its consequences with respect to the Notes. In the event of any Event of Default specified in clause (4) of Section 6.01(a), such Event of Default and all consequences thereof (excluding any resulting payment default, other than as a result of acceleration of the Notes) shall be annulled, waived and rescinded automatically and without any action by the Trustee or the Holders, if within 30 days after such @n]fl g^ ?]^Ymdl Yjgk] l`] Dkkm]j \]dan]jk Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] lg l`] Ojmkl]] klYlaf_ l`Yl8 (1) the Indebtedness or guarantee that is the basis for such Event of Default has been discharged; or (2) the holders thereof have rescinded or waived the acceleration, notice or action (as the case may be) giving rise to such Event of Default; or (3) the default that is the basis for such Event of Default has been cured, it being understood that in no event shall an acceleration of the principal amount of the Notes as described above be annulled, waived or rescinded upon the happening of any such events. -71- Upon any such waiver, such Default shall cease to exist, and any Event of Default arising therefrom shall be deemed to have been cured for every purpose of this Indenture; but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other Default or impair any right consequent thereon. Section 6.05 Control by Majority. Holders of a majority in principal amount of the total outstanding Notes may direct in writing the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee or of exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee. The Trustee, however, may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or this Indenture or that the Trustee determines is unduly prejudicial to the rights of any other Holder of a Note or that would involve the Trustee in personal liability (it being understood that the Trustee shall have no duty to determine whether such direction is prejudicial to the rights of the Holders). Section 6.06

Limitation on Suits. Subject to Section 6.07, no Holder of a Note may pursue any remedy with respect to this Indenture or the Notes unless: (a) such Holder has previously given the Trustee written notice that an Event of Default is continuing; (b) Holders of at least 30% in principal amount of the total outstanding Notes have requested in writing the Trustee to pursue the remedy; (c) Holders of the Notes have offered, and if requested, provided, the Trustee security or indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee in its sole discretion against any loss, liability or expense; (d) the Trustee has not complied with such written request within 60 days after the receipt thereof and the offer of security or indemnity; and (e) Holders of a majority in principal amount of the total outstanding Notes have not given the Trustee a direction inconsistent with such request within such 60-day period. A Holder of a Note may not use this Indenture to prejudice the rights of another Holder of a Note or to obtain a preference or priority over another Holder of a Note (it being understood that the Trustee does not have an affirmative duty to ascertain whether or not such actions or forbearances are unduly prejudicial to such Holders). Section 6.07 Rights of Holders of Notes to Receive Payment. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture, the right of any Holder of a Note to receive payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on the Note, on or after the respective due dates expressed in the Note (including in connection with a Change of Control Offer), or to bring suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after such respective dates, shall not be impaired or affected without the consent of such Holder. Section 6.08 Collection Suit by Trustee. If an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(a)(1) or (2) occurs and is continuing, without the possession of any of the Notes or the production thereof in any proceeding related thereto, the Trustee is authorized to recover judgment in its own name and as trustee of an express trust against the Issuer for the whole



 







-72- amount of principal of, premium, if any, and interest remaining unpaid on the Notes and interest on overdue principal and, to the extent lawful, interest and such further amount as shall be sufficient to cover the costs and expenses of collection, including the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel (including without limitation any amounts due to the Trustee pursuant to Section 7.06). Section 6.09 Restoration of Rights and Remedies. If the Trustee or any Holder has instituted any proceeding to enforce any right or remedy under this Indenture and such proceeding has been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or has been determined adversely to the Trustee or to such Holder, then and in every such case, subject to any determination in such proceedings, the Issuer, the Trustee and the Holders shall be restored severally and respectively to their former positions hereunder and thereafter all rights and remedies of the Trustee and the Holders shall continue as though no such proceeding has been instituted. Section 6.10 Rights and Remedies Cumulative. Except as otherwise provided with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes in Section 2.07, no right or remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the Holders is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, and every right and remedy shall, to the extent permitted by law, be cumulative and in addition to every other right and remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or otherwise. The assertion or employment of any right or remedy hereunder, or otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any other appropriate right or remedy. Section 6.11 Delay or Omission Not Waiver. No delay or omission of the Trustee or of any Holder of any Note to exercise any right or remedy accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair any such right or remedy or constitute a waiver of any such Event of Default or an acquiescence therein. Every right and remedy given by this Article or by law to the Trustee or to the Holders may be exercised from time to time, and as often as may be deemed expedient, by the Trustee or by the Holders, as the case may be. Section 6.12 Trustee May File Proofs of Claim. The Trustee is authorized to file such proofs

of claim and other papers or documents as may be necessary or advisable in order to have the claims of the Trustee (including any claim for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel) and the Holders of the Notes allowed in any judicial proceedings relative to the Issuer (or any other obligor upon the Notes including the Guarantors), its creditors or its property and shall be entitled and empowered to participate as a member in any official committee of creditors appointed in such matter and to collect, receive and distribute any money or other property payable or deliverable on any such claims and any custodian in any such judicial proceeding is hereby authorized by each Holder to make such payments to the Trustee, and in the event that the Trustee shall consent to the making of such payments directly to the Holders, to pay to the Trustee any amount due to it for the reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.06. To the extent that the payment of any such compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Trustee, its agents and counsel, and any other amounts due the Trustee under Section 7.06 out of the estate in any such proceeding, shall be denied for any reason, payment of the same shall be secured by a -73- Lien on, and shall be paid out of, any and all distributions, dividends, money, securities and other properties that the Holders may be entitled to receive in such proceeding whether in liquidation or under any plan of reorganization or arrangement or otherwise. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to authorize the Trustee to authorize or consent to or accept or adopt on behalf of any Holder any plan of reorganization, arrangement, adjustment or composition affecting the Notes or the rights of any Holder, or to authorize the Trustee to vote in respect of the claim of any Holder in any such proceeding. Section 6.13 Priorities. If the Trustee or any Agent collects any money or property pursuant to this Article VI, it shall pay out the money and property in the following order: (a) to the Trustee, the Agents, their agents and attorneys for amounts due to such parties under this Indenture, including payment of all compensation, expenses and liabilities

incurred, and all advances made, by the Trustee or any Agent and the costs and expenses of collection; (b) to Holders of Notes for amounts due and unpaid on the Notes for principal, premium, if any, and interest, ratably, without preference or priority of any kind, according to the amounts due and payable on the Notes for principal, premium, if any, and interest, respectively; and (c) to the Issuer or to such party as a court of competent jurisdiction shall direct including a Guarantor, if applicable. The Trustee may fix a record date and payment date for any payment to Holders of Notes pursuant to this Section 6.13. Section 6.14 Undertaking for Costs. In any suit for the enforcement of any right or remedy under this Indenture or in any suit against the Trustee for any action taken or omitted by it as a Trustee, a court in its discretion may require the filing by any party litigant in the suit of an undertaking to pay the costs of the suit, and the court in its discretion may assess reasonable [gklk* af[dm\af_ j]YkgfYZd] Yllgjf]qkz ^]]k Yf\ ]ph]fk]k* Y_Yafkl Yfq hYjlq dala_Yfl af l`] kmal* having due regard to the merits and good faith of the claims or defenses made by the party litigant. This Section 6.14 does not apply to a suit by the Trustee, a suit by a Holder of a Note pursuant to Section 6.07, or a suit by Holders of more than 10% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes. ARTICLE VII TRUSTEE Section 7.01 Duties of Trustee. (a) If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and is actually known to a Responsible Officer of the Trustee, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise, as a prudent persgf ogmd\ ]p]j[ak] gj mk] mf\]j l`] [aj[meklYf[]k af l`] [gf\m[l g^ km[` h]jkgfzk own affairs. -74- (b) Except during the continuance of an Event of Default: (i) the duties of the Trustee shall be determined solely by the express provisions of this Indenture and the Trustee need perform only those duties that are specifically set forth in this Indenture and no others, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee nor shall any discretionary or permissive right or privilege of the Trustee set forth herein be construed as a duty or obligation; and (ii) in the absence of bad faith on its part, the Trustee may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the

correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon certificates or opinions furnished to the Trustee and conforming to the requirements of this Indenture. However, in the case of any such certificates or opinions which by any provision hereof are specifically required to be furnished to the Trustee, the Trustee shall examine the certificates and opinions to determine whether or not they conform on their face to the requirements of this Indenture (but need not confirm or investigate the accuracy of mathematical calculation or other facts stated therein). (c) The Trustee may not be relieved from liabilities for its own grossly negligent action, its own grossly negligent failure to act, or its own willful misconduct, except that: (i) this paragraph (c) does not limit the effect of paragraph (b) of this Section 7.01; (ii) the Trustee shall not be liable for any error of judgment made in good faith by a Responsible Officer, unless it is proved in a court of competent jurisdiction that the Trustee was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts; and (iii) the Trustee shall not be liable with respect to any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in accordance with a direction received by it pursuant to Section 6.05. (d) Whether or not therein expressly so provided, every provision of this Indenture that in any way relates to the Trustee is subject to paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this Section 7.01 and Section 7.02(f). (e) The Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under this Indenture at the request or direction of any of the Holders of the Notes unless the Holders have offered, and if requested, provided, to the Trustee indemnity or security satisfactory to the Trustee, in its sole discretion, against any loss, liability or expense. (f) The Trustee shall not be liable for interest on any money received by it except as the Trustee may agree in writing with the Issuer. Money held in trust by the Trustee need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law. Section 7.02 Rights of Trustee. -75- (a) The Trustee may conclusively rely upon any document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper Person. The Trustee need not investigate any fact or matter stated in the document, but the Trustee, in its discretion, may make such further inquiry or investigation into such facts or matters as it may see fit, and, if the Trustee shall determine to

make such further inquiry or investigation, it shall be entitled to examine the books, records and premises of the Issuer, personally or by agent or attorney at the sole cost of the Issuer and shall incur no liability or additional liability of any kind by reason of such inquiry or investigation. (b) =]^gj] l`] Ojmkl]] Y[lk gj j]^jYafk ^jge Y[laf_* al eYq j]imaj] Yf J^^a[]jzk Certificate or an Opinion of Counsel or both, except as otherwise set forth herein. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith in reliance on such J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] gj Jhafagf g^ >gmfk]d, O`] Ojmkl]] eYq [gfkmdl oal` [gmfk]d g^ alk selection and the advice of such counsel or any Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection from liability in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by it hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon. (c) The Trustee may act through its attorneys and agents and shall not be responsible for the conduct of any agent or attorney appointed with due care. (d) The Trustee shall not be liable for any action it takes or omits to take in good faith that it believes to be authorized or within the rights or powers conferred upon it by this Indenture. (e) Unless otherwise specifically provided in this Indenture, any demand, request, direction or notice from the Issuer shall be sufficient if signed by an Officer of the Issuer. The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith at the direction of the Issuer. (f) None of the provisions of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise to incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers. (g) Except with respect to Section 4.01 if the Trustee is the Paying Agent, the Trustee shall have no duty to inquire as to the performance by the Issuer with respect to the covenants contained in Article IV. The Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any event, Default or Event of Default unless a Responsible Officer of the Trustee has actual knowledge thereof or unless written notice of any such event, Default or Event of Default is received by a Responsible Officer of the Trustee at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, and such notice references the Notes and this Indenture. (h) In no event shall the Trustee be responsible or liable for special, indirect, punitive or consequential loss or

damage of any kind whatsoever (including, but not limited to, loss of profit) irrespective of whether the Trustee has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage and regardless of the form of action. (i) The rights, privileges, protections, immunities and benefits given to the Trustee, including, without limitation, its right to be indemnified, are extended to, and shall be



 







-76- enforceable by, the Trustee in each of its capacities hereunder, and each agent, custodian and other Person employed to act hereunder. (j) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the performance of its powers and duties hereunder. (k) The Trustee may request that the Issuer deliver a certificate setting forth the names of individuals and/or titles of officers authorized at such time to take specified actions pursuant to this Indenture. (l) The Trustee shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith at the direction of the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the outstanding Notes as to the time, method and place of conducting any proceedings for any remedy available to the Trustee or the exercising of any power conferred by this Indenture, ]p[]hl ^gj l`] Ojmkl]]zk gof _jgkk f]_da_]f[] gj oadd^md eak[gf\m[l, (m) All of the rights, privileges, protections, immunities and benefits given to the Trustee, including, without limitation, its right to be indemnified, are extended to, and shall be enforceable by, the Trustee in each of its capacities hereunder, including as Agent and Custodian. Section 7.03 Individual Rights of Trustee. The Trustee in its individual or any other capacity may become the owner or pledgee of Notes and may otherwise deal with the Issuer or any Affiliate of the Issuer with the same rights it would have if it were not Trustee. However, in the event that the Trustee acquires any conflicting interest it must eliminate such conflict within 90 days, apply to the SEC for permission to continue as trustee or resign. Any Agent may do the same with like rights and duties. Section 7.04 HadbcTTjb 8XbR[PX\Ta. The Trustee shall not be responsible for and makes no representation as to the validity or adequacy of this Indenture or the Notes, it shall not be Y[[gmflYZd] ^gj l`] Dkkm]jzk mk] g^ l`] hjg[]]\k ^jge l`] Igl]k gj Yfq egf]q hYa\ lg l`] Dkkm]j gj mhgf l`] Dkkm]jzk \aj][lagf mf\]j Yfq hjgnakagf g^ l`ak Df\]flmj]* al k`Ydd fgl Z] j]khgfkaZd] ^gr the use or application of any money received by any Paying Agent other than the Trustee, and it shall not be responsible for any statement or recital herein or any statement in the Notes or any other document in connection with the sale of the Notes or pursuant to this Indenture other than its certificate of authentication. Section 7.05 Notice of Defaults. If a Default occurs and is continuing

and if it is actually known to a Responsible Officer of the Trustee, the Trustee shall send to Holders of Notes a notice of l`] ?]^Ymdl oal`af 7. \Yqk Y^l]j l`] Ojmkl]]zk j][]ahl g^ fgla[] g^ l`] occurrence of the Default. Except in the case of a Default relating to the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest on any Note, the Trustee may withhold from the Holders notice of any continuing Default if and so long as it in good faith determines that withholding the notice is in the interests of the Holders of the Notes. The Trustee shall not be deemed to know of any Default unless a Responsible Officer of the Trustee has actual knowledge thereof or unless written notice of any event which is such a Default is received by the Trustee at the Corporate Trust Office of the Trustee, and such notice references the Notes and this Indenture. -77- Section 7.06 Compensation and Indemnity. The Issuer shall pay to the Trustee from time to time such compensation for its acceptance of this Indenture and services hereunder as the hYjla]k k`Ydd Y_j]] af ojalaf_ ^jge lae] lg lae], O`] Ojmkl]]zk [geh]fkYlagf k`Ydd fgl Z] daeal]\ by any law on compensation of a trustee of an express trust. The Issuer shall reimburse the Trustee promptly upon request for all reasonable disbursements, advances and expenses incurred or made by it in addition to the compensation for its services. Such expenses shall include the j]YkgfYZd] [geh]fkYlagf* \akZmjk]e]flk Yf\ ]ph]fk]k g^ l`] Ojmkl]]zk Y_]flk Yf\ [gmfk]d, The Issuer and the Guarantors, jointly and severally, shall indemnify the Trustee for, and hold the Trustee, its officers, directors, employees and agents harmless against, any and all loss, \YeY_]* [dYaek* daYZadalq* [gkl gj ]ph]fk] 'af[dm\af_* oal`gml daealYlagf* Yllgjf]qkz ^]]k Yf\ expenses and court costs) incurred by it (as evidenced in an invoice from the Trustee) in connection with the acceptance or administration of this trust and the performance of its duties `]j]mf\]j 'af[dm\af_ j]YkgfYZd] Yllgjf]qzk ^]]k Yf\ ]ph]fk]k Yf\ l`] gl`]j [gklk Yf\ ]ph]fk]k and court costs of enforcing this Indenture against the Issuer or any of the Guarantors (including this Section 7.06) or defending itself against any claim whether asserted by any Holder, the Issuer or any Guarantor, or liability in connection with the acceptance, exercise or performance of any of its powers or duties hereunder). The Trustee shall notify the Issuer promptly of any claim for

which it may seek indemnity, but failure by the Trustee to so notify the Issuer shall not relieve the Issuer of its obligations hereunder. The Issuer shall defend the claim and the Trustee may have separate counsel and the Issuer shall pay the fees and expenses of such counsel. The Issuer need not reimburse any expense or indemnify against any loss, liability or expense af[mjj]\ Zq l`] Ojmkl]] l`jgm_` l`] Ojmkl]]zk gof oadd^md eak[gf\m[l gj _jgkk f]_da_]f[], The obligations of the Issuer under this Section 7.06 shall survive the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, including any termination or rejection hereof under any Bankruptcy Law, or the earlier resignation, removal or replacement of the Trustee. To secure the payment obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantors in this Section 7.06, the Trustee shall have a Lien prior to the Notes on all money or property held or collected by the Trustee, except that held in trust to pay principal and interest on particular Notes. Such Lien shall survive the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, or the earlier resignation, removal or replacement of the Trustee. When the Trustee incurs expenses or renders services after an Event of Default specified in Section 6.01(a)(6) or (7) occurs, the expenses and the compensation for the services (including the fees and expenses of its agents and counsel) are intended to constitute expenses of administration under any Bankruptcy Law. Section 7.07 Replacement of Trustee. A resignation or removal of the Trustee and Yhhgafle]fl g^ Y km[[]kkgj Ojmkl]] k`Ydd Z][ge] ]^^][lan] gfdq mhgf l`] km[[]kkgj Ojmkl]]zk acceptance of appointment as provided in this Section 7.07. The Trustee may resign in writing at any time and be discharged from the trust hereby created by so notifying the Issuer. The Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then gmlklYf\af_ Igl]k eYq j]egn] l`] Ojmkl]] mhgf fg d]kk l`Yf 1. \Yqkz Y\nYf[] ojall]f fgla[] Zq -78- so notifying the Trustee and the Issuer in writing. The Issuer may remove the Trustee upon no d]kk l`Yf 1. \Yqkz Y\nYf[] ojall]f fgla[] a^8 (a) the Trustee fails to comply with Section 7.09; (b) the Trustee is adjudged a bankrupt or an insolvent or an order for relief is entered with respect to the Trustee under any Bankruptcy Law; (c) a custodian or public officer takes charge of the Trustee or its property; or (d) the Trustee becomes incapable of acting. If the Trustee resigns or is

removed or if a vacancy exists in the office of Trustee for any reason, the Issuer shall promptly appoint a successor Trustee. Within one year after the successor Trustee takes office, the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may appoint a successor Trustee to replace the successor Trustee appointed by the Issuer. If a successor Trustee does not take office within 60 days after the retiring Trustee j]ka_fk gj ak j]egn]\* l`] j]lajaf_ Ojmkl]] 'Yl l`] Dkkm]jzk ]ph]fk](* l`] Dkkm]j gj l`] Cgd\]jk g^ at least 10% in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee. If the Trustee, after written request by any Holder who has been a Holder for at least six months, fails to comply with Section 7.09, such Holder may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the removal of the Trustee and the appointment of a successor Trustee. A successor Trustee shall deliver a written acceptance of its appointment to the retiring Trustee and to the Issuer. Thereupon, the resignation or removal of the retiring Trustee shall become effective, and the successor Trustee shall have all the rights, powers and duties of the Trustee under this Indenture. The successor Trustee shall mail a notice of its succession to Holders. The retiring Trustee shall promptly transfer all property held by it as Trustee to the successor Trustee; provided all sums owing to the Trustee hereunder have been paid and subject to the Lien provided for in Section 7.06. Notwithstanding replacement of the Trustee pursuant to this Section 7.07* l`] Dkkm]jzk gZda_Ylagfk mf\]j Section 7.06 shall continue for the benefit of the retiring Trustee. Section 7.08 Successor Trustee by Merger, etc. If the Trustee consolidates, merges or converts into, or transfers all or substantially all of its corporate trust business to, another corporation, the successor corporation without any further act shall be the successor Trustee. In case at the time such successor or successors by merger, conversion or consolidation to the Trustee shall succeed to the trusts created by this Indenture any of the Notes shall have been authenticated but not delivered, any such successor to the Trustee may adopt the certificate of authentication of any predecessor trustee, and deliver such Notes so authenticated; and in case at that time any of the Notes

shall not have been authenticated, any successor to the Trustee may authenticate such Notes either in the name of any predecessor hereunder or in the name of the successor to the Trustee; and in all such cases such certificates shall have the full force which it -79- is anywhere in the Notes or in this Indenture provided that the certificate of the Trustee shall have. Section 7.09 Eligibility; Disqualification. There shall at all times be a Trustee hereunder that is a corporation organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or of any state thereof that is authorized under such laws to exercise corporate trustee power, that is subject to supervision or examination by federal or state authorities and that has a combined capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000 as set forth in its most recent published annual report of condition. ARTICLE VIII LEGAL DEFEASANCE AND COVENANT DEFEASANCE Section 8.01 Option to Effect Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance. The Issuer may, at its option and at any time, elect to have either Section 8.02 or 8.03 be applied to all outstanding Notes upon compliance with the conditions set forth below in this Article VIII. Section 8.02 Legal Defeasance and Discharge, Phgf l`] Dkkm]jzk ]p]j[ak] mf\]j Section 8.01 of the option applicable to this Section 8.02, the Issuer and the Guarantors shall, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04, be deemed to have been discharged from their obligations with respect to all outstanding Notes and Guarantees on the \Yl] l`] [gf\alagfk k]l ^gjl` Z]dgo Yj] kYlak^a]\ 'wLegal Defeasancex(, Agj l`ak hmjhgk]* G]_Yd Defeasance means that the Issuer shall be deemed to have paid and discharged the entire Indebtedness represented by the outstanding Notes, which shall thereafter be deemed to be wgmlklYf\af_x gfdq ^gj l`] hmjhgk]k g^ Section 8.05 and the other Sections of this Indenture referred to in clauses (a) and (b) below, and to have satisfied all its other obligations under the Notes and this Indenture including that of the Guarantors (and the Trustee, on demand of and at the expense of the Issuer, shall execute such instruments as reasonably requested by the Issuer acknowledging the same), except for the following provisions which shall survive until otherwise terminated or discharged hereunder: (a) the rights of Holders of Notes to receive payments in respect of the

principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such Notes when such payments are due solely out of the trust created pursuant to this Indenture referred to in Section 8.04; (b) the Dkkm]jzk obligations with respect to the Notes concerning issuing temporary Notes, registration of such Notes, mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes and the maintenance of an office or agency for payment and money for security payments held in trust; (c) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the Trustee, and the Dkkm]jzk obligations in connection therewith; and (d) the provisions of this Section 8.02. Subject to compliance with this Article VIII, the Issuer may exercise its option under this Section 8.02 notwithstanding the prior exercise of its option under Section 8.03.



 







-80- Section 8.03 Covenant Defeasance. Upon the Dkkm]jzk exercise under Section 8.01 of the option applicable to this Section 8.03, the Issuer and the Guarantors shall, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04, be released from their obligations under the covenants contained in Sections 4.03, 4.04, 4.05, 4.07, 4.08, 4.09 and 4.10 and clauses (3) and (4) of Section 5.01(a), Sections 5.01(b)(3) and 5.01(d) with respect to the outstanding Notes on and after the date the conditions set forth in Section 8.04 Yj] kYlak^a]\ 'wCovenant Defeasancex(* Yf\ km[` Igl]k k`Ydd l`]j]Y^l]j Z] \]]e]\ fgl wgmlklYf\af_x ^gj l`] hmjhgk]k g^ any direction, waiver, consent or declaration or act of Holders (and the consequences of any l`]j]g^( af [gff][lagf oal` km[` [gn]fYflk* Zml k`Ydd [gflafm] lg Z] \]]e]\ wgmlklYf\af_x ^gj Ydd other purposes hereunder (it being understood that such Notes shall not be deemed outstanding for accounting purposes). For this purpose, Covenant Defeasance means that, with respect to the outstanding Notes, the Issuer or any Guarantor, as applicable, may omit to comply with and shall have no liability in respect of any term, condition or limitation set forth in any such covenant, whether directly or indirectly, by reason of any reference elsewhere herein to any such covenant or by reason of any reference in any such covenant to any other provision herein or in any other document and such omission to comply shall not constitute a Default or an Event of Default under Section 6.01, but, except as specified above, the remainder of this Indenture and the Notes shall be unaffected thereby. In addition, upon the Dkkm]jzk exercise under Section 8.01 of the option applicable to this Section 8.03, subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 8.04, Sections 6.01(a)(3), (4), (5), (6) (solely with respect to Holdings and Significant Subsidiaries) and (7) (solely with respect to Holdings and Significant Subsidiaries) shall not constitute Events of Default. Section 8.04 Conditions to Legal or Covenant Defeasance. The following shall be the conditions to the application of either Section 8.02 or 8.03 to the outstanding Notes: In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance with respect to the Notes: (a) the Issuer must irrevocably deposit with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes, cash in U.S. dollars, Government Securities, or a

combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient to pay the principal amount of, premium, if any, and interest due on the Notes on the stated maturity date or on the Redemption Date, as the case may be, of such principal amount, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes; provided, that in connection with any defeasance to a Redemption Date that would require the payment of the Applicable Premium, the amount deposited in respect of the Applicable Premium shall be sufficient for purpose of this Indenture to the extent that an amount is deposited with the Trustee equal to the Applicable Premium calculated as of the date of the notice of redemption, with any deficit as of the applicable Redemption Date (any such amount, th] wApplicable Premium Deficitx( gfdq j]imaj]\ lg Z] \]hgkal]\ oal` l`] Ojmkl]] gf gj hjagj lg l`] Yhhda[YZd] M]\]ehlagf ?Yl], <fq <hhda[YZd] Kj]eame ?]^a[al k`Ydd Z] k]l ^gjl` af Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] delivered to the Trustee two Business Days prior to the deposit of such Applicable Premium Deficit that confirms that such Applicable Premium Deficit shall be applied toward such redemption; -81- (b) in the case of Legal Defeasance, the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel confirming that, subject to customary assumptions and exclusions, (i) the Issuer has received from, or there has been published by, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service a ruling, or (ii) since the issuance of the Notes, there has been a change in the applicable U.S. federal income tax law, in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such Opinion of Counsel shall confirm that, subject to customary assumptions and exclusions, the beneficial owners of the Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as applicable, as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Legal Defeasance had not occurred; (c) in the case of Covenant Defeasance, the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel confirming that, subject to customary assumptions and exclusions, the beneficial owners of the Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a result of such Covenant Defeasance and will be subject to such tax on the same amounts, in the

same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred; (d) no Default (other than that resulting from borrowing funds to be applied to make such deposit and any similar and simultaneous deposit relating to other Indebtedness and, in each case, the granting of Liens in connection therewith) shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit; (e) such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance shall not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under the Amended and Restated Credit Facilities or any other material agreement or instrument (other than this Indenture) to which, the Issuer or any Guarantor is a party or by which the Issuer or any Guarantor is bound (other than that resulting from borrowing funds to be applied to make such deposit and any similar and simultaneous deposit relating to other Indebtedness and, in each case, the granting of Liens in connection therewith); (f) l`] Dkkm]j k`Ydd `Yn] \]dan]j]\ lg l`] Ojmkl]] Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] stating that the deposit was not made by the Issuer with the intent of defeating, hindering, delaying or defrauding any creditors of the Issuer or any Guarantor or others; and (g) l`] Dkkm]j k`Ydd `Yn] \]dan]j]\ lg l`] Ojmkl]] Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] Yf\ an Opinion of Counsel (which Opinion of Counsel may be subject to customary assumptions and exclusions) each stating that all conditions precedent provided for or relating to the Legal Defeasance or the Covenant Defeasance, as the case may be, have been complied with. -82- Section 8.05 Deposited Money and Government Securities to Be Held in Trust; Other Miscellaneous Provisions. Subject to Section 8.06, all money and Government Securities (including the proceeds thereof) deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Section 8.04 in respect of the outstanding Notes shall be held in trust and applied by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of such Notes and this Indenture, to the payment through the Paying Agent (including the Issuer or a Guarantor acting as Paying Agent) to the Holders of such Notes of all sums due and to become due thereon in respect of principal, premium and interest, but such money need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law. The Issuer shall pay and indemnify the Trustee against any tax, fee or other charge imposed on or assessed against

the cash or Government Securities deposited pursuant to Section 8.04 or the principal and interest received in respect thereof other than any such tax, fee or other charge which by law is for the account of the Holders of the outstanding Notes. Anything in this Article VIII to the contrary notwithstanding, the Trustee shall deliver or pay to the Issuer from time to time upon the request of the Issuer any money or Government Securities held by it as provided in Section 8.04 which, in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants expressed in a written certification thereof delivered to the Trustee (which may be the opinion delivered under Section 8.04(b), are in excess of the amount thereof that would then be required to be deposited to effect an equivalent Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance. Section 8.06 Repayment to Issuer. Subject to abandoned property law, any money deposited with the Trustee or any Paying Agent, or then held by the Issuer, in trust for the payment of the principal of, premium or interest on any Note and remaining unclaimed for two (2) years after such principal, and premium or interest has become due and payable shall be paid to the Issuer on its request or (if then held by the Issuer) shall be discharged from such trust; and the Holder of such Note shall thereafter look only to the Issuer for payment thereof, and all liability of the Trustee or any Paying Agent with respect to such trust money, and all liability of the Issuer as trustee thereof, shall thereupon cease. Section 8.07 Reinstatement. If the Trustee or the Paying Agent is unable to apply any United States dollars or Government Securities in accordance with Section 8.02 or 8.03, as the case may be, by reason of any order or judgment of any court or governmental authority enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting such application, then the Dkkm]jzk obligations under this Indenture and the Notes shall be revived and reinstated as though no deposit had occurred pursuant to Section 8.02 or 8.03 until such time as the Trustee or Paying Agent is permitted to apply all such money in accordance with Section 8.02 or 8.03, as the case may be; provided that, if the Issuer makes any payment of principal of, premium or interest on any Note following the reinstatement of its obligations, the Issuer shall be subrogated to the rights of the Holders of such Notes to receive such payment from the money held

by the Trustee or the Paying Agent. -83- ARTICLE IX AMENDMENT, SUPPLEMENT AND WAIVER Section 9.01 Without Consent of Holders of Notes. Notwithstanding Section 9.02, the Issuer, any Guarantor (with respect to a Guarantee or this Indenture) and the Trustee may amend or supplement this Indenture and any Guarantee or Notes without the consent of any Holder: (1) to cure any ambiguity, omission, mistake, defect or inconsistency, as set forth in Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] hjgna\]\ lg l`] Ojmkl]]9 (2) to provide for certificated Notes in addition to or in place of uncertificated Notes; (3) to comply with Section 5.01; (4) to provide for the assumption of the Dkkm]jzk gj Yfq BmYjYflgjzk obligations to the Holders as required by this Indenture; (5) to make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the Holders or that does not materially adversely affect the legal rights under this Indenture of any such Holder; (6) to add covenants for the benefit of the Holders, to secure the Notes and the Guarantees or to surrender any right or power conferred upon the Issuer or any Guarantor; (7) to comply with the requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of this Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act, in the event this Indenture is to be or has been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act; (8) to evidence and provide for the acceptance and appointment under this Indenture of a successor Trustee or a successor paying agent thereunder pursuant to the requirements thereof; (9) to add a Guarantor or co-obligor under this Indenture or to release any Guarantor or Guarantee if at the time of such release such Guarantor is not required by this Indenture to be a Guarantor; (10) to conform the text of this Indenture, Guarantees or the Notes to any hjgnakagf g^ l`] wDescription of Notesx k][lagf g^ l`] J^^]jing Memorandum to the ]pl]fl l`Yl km[` hjgnakagf af km[` wDescription of Notesx k][lagf oYk afl]f\]\ lg Z] Y substantially verbatim recitation of a provision of this Indenture, Guarantee or Notes; (11) to make any amendment to the provisions of this Indenture relating to the transfer and legending of Notes as permitted by this Indenture, including, without limitation to facilitate the issuance and administration of the Notes; provided that



 







-84- (i) compliance with this Indenture as so amended would not result in Notes being transferred in violation of the Securities Act or any applicable securities law and (ii) such amendment does not materially and adversely affect the rights of Holders to transfer Notes; or (12) to provide for the issuance of Additional Notes in accordance with the terms of this Indenture. Upon the request of the Issuer accompanied by resolutions of its board of directors authorizing the execution of any such amended or supplemental indenture, and upon receipt by the Trustee of the documents described in Section 9.05, the Trustee shall join with the Issuer and the Guarantors, as applicable, in the execution of any amended or supplemental indenture authorized or permitted by the terms of this Indenture and to make any further appropriate agreements and stipulations that may be therein contained, but the Trustee shall not be obligated to enter into such amended or supplemental indenture that affects its own rights, duties, liabilities or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Opinion of Counsel shall be required in connection with the addition of a Guarantor under this Indenture upon execution and delivery by such Guarantor and the Trustee of a supplemental indenture to this Indenture, the form of which is attached as Exhibit D `]j]lg* Yf\ \]dan]jq g^ Yf J^^a[]jzk Certificate. Section 9.02 With Consent of Holders of Notes. Except as provided below in this Section 9.02, the Issuer and the Trustee may amend or supplement this Indenture, the Notes and the Guarantees with the consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding (including, without limitation, consents obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for, or purchase of, the Notes), and, subject to Sections 6.04 and 6.07, any existing Default or Event of Default (other than a Default or Event of Default in the payment of the principal of, premium or interest on the Notes, except a payment default resulting from an acceleration that has been rescinded) or compliance with any provision of this Indenture, the Guarantees or the Notes may be waived with the consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes (including consents obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for, or purchase of, the Notes). Section 2.08

and Section 2.09 k`Ydd \]l]jeaf] l`] Igl]k l`Yl Yj] [gfka\]j]\ lg Z] wgmlklYf\af_x ^gj l`] hmjhgk]k g^ l`ak Section 9.02. Upon the request of the Issuer accompanied by resolutions of its board of directors authorizing the execution of any such amended or supplemental indenture or waiver, and upon the filing with the Trustee of evidence satisfactory to the Trustee of the consent of the Holders of Notes as aforesaid, and upon receipt by the Trustee of the documents described in Section 9.05, the Trustee shall join with the Issuer in the execution of such amended or supplemental indenture mfd]kk km[` Ye]f\]\ gj kmhhd]e]flYd af\]flmj] Y^^][lk l`] Ojmkl]]zk gof ja_`lk* \mla]k* liabilities or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise, in which case the Trustee may in its discretion, but shall not be obligated to, enter into such amended or supplemental indenture. It shall not be necessary for the consent of the Holders of Notes under this Section 9.02 to approve the particular form of any proposed amendment or waiver, but it shall be sufficient if such consent approves the substance thereof. -85- After an amendment, supplement or waiver under this Section 9.02 becomes effective, the Issuer shall mail to the Holders of the Notes affected thereby a notice briefly describing the amendment, supplement or waiver. Any failure of the Issuer to mail such notice, or any defect therein, shall not, however, in any way impair or affect the validity of any such amended or supplemental indenture or waiver. Without the consent of each affected Holder of Notes, an amendment or waiver under this Section 9.02 may not, with respect to any Notes held by a non-consenting Holder: (1) reduce the principal amount of such Notes whose Holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver; (2) reduce the principal amount of or change the fixed final maturity of any such Note or alter or waive the provisions with respect to the redemption of such Notes (other than provisions relating to Section 4.09 to the extent that any such amendment or waiver does not have the effect of reducing the principal of or changing the fixed final maturity of any such Note or altering or waiving the provisions with respect to the redemption of such Notes), (3) reduce the rate of or change the time for payment of interest on any Note; (4) waive a Default or Event of Default in the payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Notes, except a

rescission of acceleration of the Notes by the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such acceleration, or in respect of a covenant or provision contained in this Indenture or any Guarantee which cannot be amended or modified without the consent of all affected Holders; (5) make any Note payable in money other than that stated therein; (6) make any change in the provisions of this Indenture relating to waivers of past Defaults or the rights of Holders to receive payments of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the Notes; (7) make any change in these amendment and waiver provisions (except pursuant to Section 9.01, which relates to amendments permitted without the consent of any Holders); (8) amend the contractual right of Holders expressly set forth in this Indenture or the Notes to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or with respect to km[` Cgd\]jzk Igl]k gf gj Y^l]j l`] \m] \Yl]k l`]j]^gj9 (9) subordinate the Notes to other Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Guarantor in a manner that would adversely affect the Holders; or (10) except as expressly permitted by this Indenture, modify the Guarantees of Holdings, BKFS Holdings or any Significant Subsidiary in any manner adverse in any material respect to the Holders of the Notes. -86- Section 9.03 Revocation and Effect of Consents. Until an amendment, supplement or waiver becomes effective, a consent to it by a Holder of a Note is a continuing consent by the Holder of a Note and every subsequent Holder of a Note or portion of a Note that evidences the kYe] \]Zl Yk l`] [gfk]flaf_ Cgd\]jzk Igl]* ]n]f a^ fglYlagf g^ l`] [gfk]fl ak fgl eY\] gf Yfq Note. However, any such Holder of a Note or subsequent Holder of a Note may revoke the consent as to its Note if the Trustee receives written notice of revocation before the date the waiver, supplement or amendment becomes effective. An amendment, supplement or waiver becomes effective in accordance with its terms and thereafter binds every Holder. The Issuer may, but shall not be obligated to, fix a record date for the purpose of determining the Holders entitled to consent to any amendment, supplement, or waiver. If a record date is fixed, then, notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, those Persons who were Holders at such record date (or their duly designated

proxies), and only such Persons, shall be entitled to consent to such amendment, supplement, or waiver or to revoke any consent previously given, whether or not such Persons continue to be Holders after such record date. No such consent shall be valid or effective for more than 120 days after such record date unless the consent of the requisite number of Holders has been obtained. Section 9.04 Notation on or Exchange of Notes. The Trustee may place an appropriate notation about an amendment, supplement or waiver on any Note thereafter authenticated. The Issuer in exchange for all Notes may issue and the Trustee shall, upon receipt of an Authentication Order, authenticate new Notes that reflect the amendment, supplement or waiver. Failure to make the appropriate notation or issue a new Note shall not affect the validity and effect of such amendment, supplement or waiver. Section 9.05 Trustee to Sign Amendments, etc. The Trustee shall sign any amendment, supplement or waiver authorized pursuant to this Article IX if the amendment or supplement does not adversely affect the rights, duties, liabilities or immunities of the Trustee. The Issuer may not sign an amendment, supplement or waiver until its board of directors approves it. In executing any amendment, supplement or waiver, the Trustee shall receive and (subject to Section 7.01) shall be fully protected in conclusively relying upon, in addition to the documents required by Section 12.02* Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] Yf\ Yf Jhafagf g^ >gmfk]d klYlaf_ that the execution of such amendment, supplement or waiver is authorized or permitted by this Indenture and that such amendment, supplement or waiver is the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Issuer and any Guarantors party thereto, enforceable against them in accordance with its terms, subject to customary exceptions, and complies with the provisions hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Opinion of Counsel will be required for the Trustee to execute any amendment or supplement adding a new Guarantor under this Indenture. ARTICLE X GUARANTEES Section 10.01 Guarantee. Each of the Guarantors hereby, jointly and severally, irrevocably and unconditionally, guarantees to each Holder of a Note authenticated and delivered -87- by the Trustee and to the Trustee and its successors and assigns, irrespective of the validity and enforceability of this Indenture, the Notes or

the obligations of the Issuer hereunder or thereunder, that: (a) the principal of, interest and premium, if any, on the Notes shall be promptly paid in full when due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, redemption or otherwise, and interest on the overdue principal of and interest on the Notes, if any, if lawful, and all other obligations of the Issuer to the Holders or the Trustee hereunder or thereunder shall be promptly paid in full or performed, all in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof; and (b) in case of any extension of time of payment or renewal of any Notes or any of such other obligations, that same shall be promptly paid in full when due or performed in accordance with the terms of the extension or renewal, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise. Failing payment when due of any amount so guaranteed or any performance so guaranteed for whatever reason, the Guarantors shall be jointly and severally obligated to pay the same immediately. Each Guarantor agrees that this is a guarantee of payment and not a guarantee of collection. The Guarantors hereby agree that their obligations hereunder shall be unconditional, irrespective of the validity, regularity or enforceability of the Notes or this Indenture, the absence of any action to enforce the same, any waiver or consent by any Holder of the Notes with respect to any provisions hereof or thereof, the recovery of any judgment against the Issuer, any action to enforce the same or any other circumstance which might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a guarantor. Each Guarantor hereby waives diligence, presentment, demand of payment, filing of claims with a court in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the Issuer, any right to require a proceeding first against the Issuer, protest, notice and all demands whatsoever and covenants that this Guarantee shall not be discharged except by complete performance of the obligations contained in the Notes and this Indenture. Each Guarantor also agrees to pay any and all costs and expenses (including reasonable attojf]qkz ^]]k( af[mjj]\ Zq l`] Trustee or any Holder in enforcing any rights under this Section 10.01. If any Holder or the Trustee is required by any court or otherwise to return to the Issuer, the Guarantors or any custodian, trustee, liquidator or other similar official acting in relation to either the Issuer or the

Guarantors, any amount paid either to the Trustee or such Holder, this Guarantee, to the extent theretofore discharged, shall be reinstated in full force and effect. Each Guarantor agrees that it shall not be entitled to any right of subrogation in relation to the Holders in respect of any obligations guaranteed hereby until payment in full of all obligations guaranteed hereby. Each Guarantor further agrees that, as between the Guarantors, on the one hand, and the Holders and the Trustee, on the other hand, (x) the maturity of the obligations guaranteed hereby may be accelerated as provided in Article VI for the purposes of this Guarantee, notwithstanding any stay, injunction or other prohibition preventing such acceleration in respect of the obligations guaranteed hereby, and (y) in the event of any declaration of acceleration of such obligations as provided in Article VI, such obligations (whether or not due and payable) shall forthwith become due and payable by the Guarantors for the purpose of this Guarantee. The Guarantors shall have the right to seek contribution from any non-paying Guarantor so long as the exercise of such right does not impair the rights of the Holders under the Guarantees.



 







-88- Each Guarantee shall remain in full force and effect and continue to be effective should any petition be filed by or against the Issuer for liquidation, reorganization, should the Issuer become insolvent or make an assignment for the benefit of creditors or should a receiver or ljmkl]] Z] Yhhgafl]\ ^gj Ydd gj Yfq ka_fa^a[Yfl hYjl g^ l`] Dkkm]jzk Ykk]lk* Yf\ k`Ydd* lg lhe fullest extent permitted by law, continue to be effective or be reinstated, as the case may be, if at any time payment and performance of the Notes are, pursuant to applicable law, rescinded or reduced in amount, or must otherwise be restored or returned by any obligee on the Notes or Guarantees, o`]l`]j Yk Y wnga\YZd] hj]^]j]f[]*x w^jYm\md]fl ljYfk^]jx gj gl`]joak]* Ydd Yk l`gm_` km[` payment or performance had not been made. In the event that any payment or any part thereof, is rescinded, reduced, restored or returned, the Notes shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be reinstated and deemed reduced only by such amount paid and not so rescinded, reduced, restored or returned. In case any provision of any Guarantee shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. The Guarantee issued by any Guarantor shall be a general unsecured senior obligation of such Guarantor and shall be pari passu in right of payment with all existing and future Senior Indebtedness of such Guarantor, if any. Each payment to be made by a Guarantor in respect of its Guarantee shall be made without set-off, counterclaim, reduction or diminution of any kind or nature. Section 10.02 Limitation on Guarantor Liability. Each Guarantor, and by its acceptance of Notes, each Holder, hereby confirms that it is the intention of all such parties that the Guarantee of such Guarantor not constitute a fraudulent transfer or conveyance for purposes of Bankruptcy Law, the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act, the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act or any similar federal or state law to the extent applicable to any Guarantee. To effectuate the foregoing intention, the Trustee, the Holders and the Guarantors hereby irrevocably agree that the obligations of each Guarantor shall be limited to the maximum amount as will, after giving effect to such maximum amount and all other contingent and fixed liabilities of such Guarantor that are relevant under such

laws and after giving effect to any collections from, rights to receive contribution from or payments made by or on behalf of any other Guarantor in respect of the obligations of such other Guarantor under this Article X, result in the obligations of such Guarantor under its Guarantee not constituting a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer under applicable law. Each Guarantor that makes a payment under its Guarantee shall be entitled upon payment in full of all guaranteed obligations under this Indenture to a contribution from ]Y[` gl`]j BmYjYflgj af Yf Yegmfl ]imYd lg km[` gl`]j BmYjYflgjzk pro rata portion of such payment based on the respective net assets of all the Guarantors at the time of such payment determined in accordance with GAAP. Section 10.03 Execution and Delivery. To evidence its Guarantee set forth in Section 10.01, each initial Guarantor hereby agrees that this Indenture has been executed on behalf of such Guarantor by one of its Officers. -89- Each Guarantor hereby agrees that its Guarantee set forth in Section 10.01 shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the absence of the endorsement of any notation of such Guarantee on the Notes. If an Officer whose signature is on this Indenture or any supplemental indenture in the form of Exhibit D hereto no longer holds that office at the time the Trustee authenticates the Note, the Guarantee shall be valid nevertheless. Upon execution of a supplemental indenture to this Indenture by a new Guarantor substantially in the form attached as Exhibit D hereto, the Guarantee of such Guarantor set forth in this Indenture shall be deemed duly delivered, without any further action by any Person, on behalf of such Guarantor. The delivery of any Note by the Trustee, after the authentication thereof hereunder, shall constitute due delivery of the Guarantee set forth in this Indenture on behalf of the Guarantors. If required by Section 4.10, the Issuer shall cause any newly created or acquired Restricted Subsidiary to comply with the provisions of Section 4.10 and this Article X, to the extent applicable. Section 10.04 Subrogation. Each Guarantor shall be subrogated to all rights of Holders of Notes against the Issuer in respect of any amounts paid by any Guarantor pursuant to the provisions of Section 10.01; provided that, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, no Guarantor shall be entitled to enforce

or receive any payments arising out of, or based upon, such right of subrogation until all amounts then due and payable by the Issuer under this Indenture or the Notes shall have been paid in full. Section 10.05 Benefits Acknowledged. Each Guarantor acknowledges that it will receive direct and indirect benefits from the financing arrangements contemplated by this Indenture and that the guarantee and waivers made by it pursuant to its Guarantee are knowingly made in contemplation of such benefits. Section 10.06 Release of Guarantees. A Guarantee by a Guarantor shall be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged, and no further action by such BmYjYflgj* l`] Dkkm]j gj l`] Ojmkl]] ak j]imaj]\ ^gj l`] j]d]Yk] g^ km[` BmYjYflgjzk BmYjYfl]]* upon: (a) other than with respect to Guarantees of Holdings and BKFS Holdings, any sale, exchange or transfer (by merger, consolidation or otherwise) of (i) the Capital Stock of such Guarantor, after which such Guarantor is no longer a Restricted Subsidiary or (ii) all or substantially all the assets of such Guarantor to any Person other than Holdings or a Restricted Subsidiary, and otherwise in compliance with the applicable provisions of this Indenture; (b) other than with respect to Guarantees of Holdings and BKFS Holdings, the release or discharge from its obligations under its guarantees of payment of any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Guarantor under the Amended and Restated Credit Facilities (it being understood that a release subject to a contingent reinstatement is still considered a release, and if -90- any such Indebtedness of such Guarantor under the Amended and Restated Credit Facilities is so reinstated, such Guarantee shall also be reinstated); (c) other than with respect to Guarantees of Holdings and BKFS Holdings, the designation of any Restricted Subsidiary that is a Guarantor as an Unrestricted Subsidiary in compliance with the applicable provisions of this Indenture; or (d) the Issuer exercising its Legal Defeasance option or Covenant Defeasance option in accordance with Article VIII gj l`] Dkkm]jzk gZda_Ylagfk mf\]j l`ak Df\]flmj] Z]af_ discharged in accordance with Article XI. In the case of a release and discharge in accordance with the above, the Issuer shall deliver written notice to the Trustee of such release and discharge, but failure to so notify the Trustee shall not constitute a Default or Event

of Default. ARTICLE XI SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE Section 11.01 Satisfaction and Discharge. This Indenture shall be discharged and shall cease to be of further effect as to the Notes and the Guarantees (except for certain rights of the Ojmkl]] Yf\ l`] Dkkm]jzk gZda_Ylagfk af [gff][lagf l`]j]oal` l`Yl ]phj]kkdq kmjnan](* o`]f ]al`]j8 (1) all Notes theretofore authenticated and delivered, except lost, stolen or destroyed Notes which have been replaced or paid and Notes for whose payment money has theretofore been deposited in trust, have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation; or (2) (a) all Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation have become due and payable by reason of the making of a notice of redemption or otherwise, will become due and payable within one year or are to be called for redemption and redeemed within one year under arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice of redemption by the Trustee in the name, and at the expense, of the Issuer, and the Issuer has irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds in trust solely for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes cash in U.S. dollars, Government Securities, or a combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient without consideration of any reinvestment of interest to pay and discharge the entire indebtedness on the Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation for principal, premium, if any, and accrued interest to the date of maturity or redemption; provided that, upon any redemption that requires the payment of the Applicable Premium, the amount deposited shall be sufficient for purpose of this Indenture to the extent that an amount is deposited with the Trustee equal to the Applicable Premium calculated as of the date of the notice of redemption, with any Applicable Premium Deficit only required to be deposited with the Trustee on or prior to the applicable R]\]ehlagf ?Yl], <fq <hhda[YZd] Kj]eame ?]^a[al k`Ydd Z] k]l ^gjl` af Yf J^^a[]jzk Certificate delivered to the Trustee simultaneously with the deposit of such Applicable -91- Premium Deficit that confirms that such Applicable Premium Deficit shall be applied toward such redemption; (b) the Issuer has paid or caused to be paid all sums payable by it under this Indenture; and (c) the Issuer has delivered irrevocable instructions to the Trustee to apply the deposited money

toward the payment of the Notes at maturity or the Redemption Date, as the case may be. Df Y\\alagf* l`] Dkkm]j emkl \]dan]j Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] Yf\ Yf Jhafagf g^ >gmfk]d (which Opinion of Counsel may be subject to customary assumptions and exclusions) to the Trustee stating that all conditions precedent to satisfaction and discharge have been satisfied. Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, if money shall have been deposited with the Trustee pursuant to subclause (a) of clause (2) of this Section 11.01, the provisions of Section 11.02 and Section 8.06 shall survive. Section 11.02 Application of Trust Money. Subject to the provisions of Section 8.06, all money deposited with the Trustee pursuant to Section 11.01 shall be held in trust and applied by it, in accordance with the provisions of the Notes and this Indenture, to the payment, through any Paying Agent (including the Issuer acting as its own Paying Agent) to the Persons entitled thereto, of the principal (and premium, if any) and interest for whose payment such money has been deposited with the Trustee; but such money need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law. If the Trustee or Paying Agent is unable to apply any money or Government Securities in accordance with Section 11.01 by reason of any legal proceeding or by reason of any order or judgment of any court or governmental authority enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting km[` Yhhda[Ylagf* l`] Dkkm]jzk Yf\ Yfq BmYjYflgjzk gZda_Ylagfk mf\]j l`ak Df\]flmj] Yf\ l`] Igl]k shall be revived and reinstated as though no deposit had occurred pursuant to Section 11.01; provided that if the Issuer has made any payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Notes because of the reinstatement of its obligations, the Issuer shall be subrogated to the rights of the Holders of such Notes to receive such payment from the money or Government Securities held by the Trustee or Paying Agent. ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS Section 12.01 Notices. Any notice or communication by the Issuer, any Guarantor, the Trustee or any Paying Agent to the others is duly sent and given if in writing and delivered in person or mailed by first-class mail (registered or certified, return receipt requested), fax or gn]jfa_`l Yaj [gmja]j _mYjYfl]]af_ f]pl \Yq \]dan]jq* lg l`] gl`]jkz Y\\j]kk8



 







-92- If to the Issuer and/or any Guarantor: Black Knight InfoServ, LLC c/o Black Knight, Inc. 601 Riverside Ave. Jacksonville, Florida 32204 Attention: Chief Legal Officer If to the Trustee: Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 1 Independent Drive, Suite 620 Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Attention: Corporate Trust Services u Administration, Black Knight InfoServ, LLC The Issuer, any Guarantor, the Trustee or any Paying Agent, by notice to the others, may designate additional or different addresses for subsequent notices or communications. All notices and communications (other than those sent to Holders) shall be deemed to have been duly sent and given: (i) at the time delivered by hand, if personally delivered; (ii) five calendar days after being deposited in the mail, postage prepaid, if mailed by first-class mail; (iii) when receipt is acknowledged, if transmitted electronically or by fax; (iv) the next Business Day after timely delivery to the courier, if sent by overnight air courier guaranteeing next day delivery; and (v) on the date sent to DTC, if given otherwise in accordance with the applicable procedures of DTC. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notice or communication delivered to the Trustee shall be deemed effective upon actual receipt thereof. Any notice or communication to a Holder shall be mailed by first-class mail, certified or registered, return receipt requested, or by overnight air courier guaranteeing next day delivery to its address shown on the register kept by the Registrar. Failure to mail a notice or communication to a Holder or any defect in it shall not affect its sufficiency with respect to other Holders. Subject to the proviso in the third paragraph of this Section 12.01, if a notice or communication is mailed in the manner provided above within the time prescribed, it is duly given, whether or not the addressee receives it. If the Issuer mails a notice or communication to Holders, it shall mail a copy to the Trustee and each Agent at the same time. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture or any Note, where this Indenture or any Note provides for notice of any event (including any notice of redemption) to a Holder of a Global Note (whether by mail or otherwise), such notice shall be sufficiently given if given to the Depositary for such Note (or its designee) pursuant to the standing instructions from the Depositary (or its designee), including by electronic mail in

accordance with accepted practices at the Depositary. -93- The Trustee agrees to accept and act upon notice, instructions or directions sent by unsecured email, PDF, facsimile transmission or other similar unsecured electronic methods; provided that the Trustee shall not have any duty or obligation to verify or confirm that the Person sending instructions, directions, reports, notices or other communications or information by unsecured email, PDF, facsimile or other similar unsecured electronic transmission is, in fact, a Person authorized to give such instructions, directions, reports, notices or other communications or information on behalf of the party purporting to send such unsecured email, PDF, facsimile or other similar unsecured electronic transmission; and the Trustee shall not have any liability for any losses, liabilities, damages, costs or expenses incurred or sustained by any party as a result of such reasonable reliance upon or compliance with such instructions, directions, reports, notices or other communications or information. Each other party hereto agrees to assume all risks arising out of the use of such electronic methods to submit instructions and directions, reports, notices or other communications or information to the Trustee, including, without limitation, the risk of the Trustee acting on unauthorized instructions, notices, reports or other communications or information, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties. Section 12.02 Certificate and Opinion as to Conditions Precedent. Upon any request or application by the Issuer or any of the Guarantors to the Trustee to take any action under this Indenture, the Issuer or such Guarantor, as the case may be, shall furnish to the Trustee: (a) <f J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] 'o`a[` k`Ydd include the statements set forth in Section 12.03) stating that, in the opinion of the signers, all conditions precedent and covenants, if any, provided for in this Indenture relating to the proposed action have been satisfied; and (b) An Opinion of Counsel (which shall include the statements set forth in Section 12.03) stating that, in the opinion of such counsel, all such conditions precedent and covenants have been satisfied; provided that such Opinion of Counsel shall not be required in connection with the issuance of the Initial Notes. Section 12.03 Statements Required in Certificate or Opinion. Each certificate or opinion with respect to compliance with a

condition or covenant provided for in this Indenture (other than a certificate provided pursuant to Section 4.04) shall include: (a) a statement that the Person making such certificate or opinion has read such covenant or condition; (b) a brief statement as to the nature and scope of the examination or investigation upon which the statements or opinions contained in such certificate or opinion are based; (c) a statement that, in the opinion of such Person, he or she has made such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable him to express an informed opinion as to whether or not such covenant or condition has been complied with (and, in the case of an Jhafagf g^ >gmfk]d* eYq Z] daeal]\ lg j]daYf[] gf Yf J^^a[]jzk >]jla^a[Yl] Yk lg eYll]jk g^ ^Y[l(9 and (d) a statement as to whether or not, in the opinion of such Person, such condition or covenant has been complied with. -94- Section 12.04 Rules by Trustee and Agents. The Trustee may make reasonable rules for action by or at a meeting of Holders. The Registrar or Paying Agent may make reasonable rules and set reasonable requirements for its functions. Section 12.05 No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Stockholders. No past, present or future director, officer, employee, incorporator, member, partner or stockholder of the Issuer or any Guarantor shall have any liability for any obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantors under the Notes, the Guarantees or this Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of such obligations or their creation. Each Holder by accepting Notes waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the Notes. Section 12.06 Governing Law. THIS INDENTURE, THE NOTES AND THE GUARANTEES WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. Section 12.07 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE ISSUER, THE GUARANTORS AND THE TRUSTEE HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS INDENTURE, THE NOTES OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. Section 12.08 Force Majeure. In no event shall the Trustee be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in

the performance of its obligations under this Indenture arising out of or caused by, directly or indirectly, forces beyond its reasonable control, including without limitation strikes, work stoppages, accidents, acts of war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, nuclear or natural catastrophes or acts of God, and interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, communications or computer (software or hardware) services. Section 12.09 No Adverse Interpretation of Other Agreements. This Indenture may not be used to interpret any other indenture, loan or debt agreement of the Issuer or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries or of any other Person. Any such indenture, loan or debt agreement may not be used to interpret this Indenture. Section 12.10 Successors. All agreements of the Issuer in this Indenture and the Notes shall bind its successors. All agreements of the Trustee in this Indenture shall bind its successors. All agreements of each Guarantor in this Indenture shall bind its successors, except as otherwise provided in Section 10.06. Section 12.11 Severability. In case any provision in this Indenture or in the Notes shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. Section 12.12 Counterpart Originals. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. The exchange of copies of this Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile or PDF transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Indenture as to the parties hereto and may be used in lieu of the original Indenture and signature pages for all purposes. -95- Section 12.13 Table of Contents, Headings, etc. The Table of Contents, Cross- Reference Table and headings of the Articles and Sections of this Indenture have been inserted for convenience of reference only, are not to be considered a part of this Indenture and shall in no way modify or restrict any of the terms or provisions hereof. Section 12.14 Waiver of Immunity. To the extent that the Issuer or any Guarantor may be entitled, in any jurisdiction in which judicial proceedings may at any time be commenced with respect to or arising out of this Indenture, to claim for itself or its revenues, assets or properties immunity (whether by reason of sovereignty or otherwise) from

suit, from the jurisdiction of any court (including but not limited to any court of the United States of America or the State of New York), from attachment prior to judgment, from set-off, from execution of a judgment or from any other legal process, and to the extent that in any such jurisdiction there may be attributed such an immunity (whether or not claimed), the Issuer or such Guarantor hereby irrevocably agrees not to claim and hereby irrevocably waives such immunity to the extent permitted by law. Section 12.15 USA Patriot Act. The parties hereto acknowledge that in accordance with Section 326 of the USA Patriot Act, the Trustee, like all financial institutions and in order to help fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering, is required to obtain, verify, and record information that identifies each person or legal entity that establishes a relationship or opens an account with the Trustee. The parties to this Indenture agree that they will provide the Trustee with such information as it may request in order for the Trustee to satisfy the requirements of the USA Patriot Act. [Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank]



 







A-1 Exhibit A [Form of Face of Note] [Insert the Global Note Legend, if applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture] [Insert the Private Placement Legend, if applicable pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture] BLACK KNIGHT INFOSERV, LLC 3.625% Senior Notes due 2028 >PNDK V​W DNDI V​W [Initially]1 $V​W Ig, V​W Black Knight Df^gN]jn* GG>* Y ?]dYoYj] daeal]\ daYZadalq [gehYfq 'l`] wIssuerx( promises to pay to [CEDE & CO.]1 V​W2* gj alk j]_akl]j]\ Ykka_fk* l`] hjaf[ahYd kme g^ V​W ?JGG<MN '$V​W( V'gj km[` gl`]j Yegmfl Yk k]l ^gjl` gf l`] N[`]\md] g^ @p[`Yf_]k g^ Dfl]j]klk in the Global Note attached hereto)]3 on September 1, 2028. Interest Rate: 3.625% per annum Interest Payment Dates: September 1 and March 1 M][gj\ ?Yl]k8 V​W Yf\V​W Reference is hereby made to the further provisions of this Note set forth on the reverse hereof, which will for all purposes have the same effect as if set forth at this place. [Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank] 1 For Global Notes. 2 For Definitive Notes. 3 For Global Notes.



 







A-2 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this instrument to be duly executed. BLACK KNIGHT INFOSERV, LLC By: Name: Title: A-3 TRUSTE9jG 79FH>;>75H9 D; 5IH=9CH>75H>DC This is one of the Notes referred to in the within-mentioned Indenture: WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee By: Authorized Signatory Dated: [ ]. [FORM OF REVERSE SIDE OF NOTE] A-4 BLACK KNIGHT INFOSERV, LLC 3.625% Senior Notes due 2028 Capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture referred to below unless otherwise indicated. 1. Interest. The Issuer promise to pay interest on the principal amount of this Note at 3.625% per annum from August 26, 2020 until maturity. The Issuer will pay interest semi-annually in arrears on September 1 and March 1 of each year, or if any such day is fgl Y =mkaf]kk ?Yq* gf l`] f]pl km[[]]\af_ =mkaf]kk ?Yq ']Y[`* Yf wInterest Payment Datex( and no interest shall accrue on such payment by reason of such delay. Interest on the Notes will accrue from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no interest has been paid, from the date of issuance; provided that the first Interest Payment Date shall be March 1, 2021. The Issuer will pay interest on overdue principal, premium, if any, and, to the extent lawful, interest, at a rate per annum that is otherwise applicable to this Note. Interest not paid when due and any interest on principal, premium or interest not paid when due will be paid to the Persons that are Holders on a special record date, as further described in the Indenture. Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months. 2. Method of Payment. The Issuer will pay interest on the Notes to the Persons who are registered Holders of Notes at the close of business on the Record Date next preceding the relevant Interest Payment Date, even if such Notes are canceled after such Record Date and on or before such Interest Payment Date, except as provided in the Indenture with respect to defaulted interest. Payment of interest may be made by check mailed to the Holders at their addresses set forth in the register of Holders; provided that payment by wire transfer of immediately available funds will be required with respect to principal of and interest and premium, if any, on, all Global Notes and all other Notes the

Holders of which shall have provided wire transfer instructions to the Issuer or the Paying Agent. Such payment shall be in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts. 3. Paying Agent and Registrar. Initially, the Trustee will act as Paying Agent and Registrar. The Issuer may change any Paying Agent or Registrar without notice to the Holders. The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries may act in any such capacity. 4. Indenture. The Issuer issued the Notes under an Indenture, dated as of August 26, 0.0. 'l`] wIndenturex(* Yegf_ l`] Dkkm]j* l`] _mYjYflgjk hYjlq l`]j]lg Yf\ l`] Trustee. This Note is one of a duly authorized issue of notes of the Issuer designated as its 3.625% Senior Notes due 2028. The Issuer shall be entitled to issue Additional Notes pursuant to, and subject to the conditions set forth in, the Indenture. To the extent any provision of this Note conflicts with the express provisions of the Indenture, the provisions of the Indenture shall govern and be controlling. 5. Optional Redemption; Offers to Repurchase. This Note is subject to optional redemption, and may be the subject of a Change of Control Offer, as further described in A-5 the Indenture. The Issuer shall not be required to make mandatory redemption or sinking fund payments with respect to the Notes. 6. Denominations, Transfer, Exchange. The Notes are in registered form without coupons in minimum denominations of $2,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof. The transfer of Notes may be registered and Notes may be exchanged as provided in the Indenture. The Registrar and the Trustee may require a Holder, among other things, to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents and the Issuer may require a Holder to pay any taxes and fees required by law or permitted by the Indenture. The Issuer need not exchange or register the transfer of any Notes or portion of a Note selected for redemption or tendered (and not validly withdrawn) for repurchase in connection with a Change of Control offer or other tender offer, except for the unredeemed portion of any Notes being redeemed in part. Also, the Issuer need not exchange or register the transfer of any Notes for a period of 15 days before a selection of Notes to be redeemed or tendered. 7. Persons Deemed Owners. The registered Holder of a Note may

be treated as its owner for all purposes. 8. Amendment, Supplement and Waiver. The Indenture, the Guarantees or the Notes may be amended or supplemented as provided in the Indenture. 9. Defaults and Remedies. In the case of an Event of Default, as defined in the Indenture, arising from certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency with respect to Holdings or the Issuer, all outstanding Notes will become due and payable immediately without further action or notice. If any other Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee by written notice to the Issuer or the Holders of at least 30% in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes by written notice to the Issuer and the Trustee may declare all the then outstanding Notes to be due and payable immediately. 10. Authentication. This Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture or be valid or obligatory for any purpose until authenticated by the manual signature of the Trustee. 11. GOVERNING LAW. THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SHALL GOVERN AND BE USED TO CONSTRUE THE INDENTURE, THE NOTES AND THE GUARANTEES. 12. CUSIP Numbers. Pursuant to a recommendation promulgated by the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures, the Issuer has caused CUSIP numbers to be printed on the Notes and the Trustee may use CUSIP numbers in notices of redemption as a convenience to Holders. No representation is made as to the accuracy of such numbers either as printed on the Notes or as contained in any notice of redemption and reliance may be placed only on the other identification numbers placed thereon.



 







A-6 The Issuer will furnish to any Holder upon written request and without charge a copy of the Indenture. Requests may be made to the Issuer at the following address: Black Knight InfoServ, LLC c/o Black Knight, Inc. 601 Riverside Ave. Jacksonville, Florida 32204 Attention: Chief Legal Officer A-7 ASSIGNMENT FORM To assign this Note, fill in the form below: (I) or (we) assign and transfer this Note to: (Insert Ykka_f]]z d]_Yd fYe]( 'Dfk]jl Ykka_f]]zk kg[aYd k][mjalq gj lYp D,?, fmeZ]j( 'Kjafl gj lqh] Ykka_f]]zk fYe]* Y\\j]kk Yf\ rah [g\]( Yf\ ajj]ng[YZdq Yhhgafl V​W lg ljYfk^]j l`ak Igl] gf l`] Zggck g^ l`] Dkkm]j, O`] Y_]fl eYq substitute another to act for him. ?Yl]8 V​W Your Signature: (Sign exactly as your name appears on the face of this Note) Signature Guarantee*: A-8 OPTION OF HOLDER TO ELECT REPURCHASE If you want to elect to have this Note repurchased by the Issuer pursuant to Section 4.09 of the Indenture, check the following box: [ ] If you want to elect to have only part of this Note repurchased by the Issuer pursuant to Section 4.09 of the Indenture, state the amount you elect to have repurchased: $V​W ?Yl]8 V​W Your Signature: (Sign exactly as your name appears on the face of this Note) A-9 SCHEDULE OF EXCHANGES OF INTERESTS IN THE GLOBAL NOTE* O`] afalaYd gmlklYf\af_ hjaf[ahYd Yegmfl g^ l`ak BdgZYd Igl] ak $V​W, O`] ^gddgoaf_ exchanges of a part of this Global Note for an interest in another Global Note or for a Definitive Note, or exchanges of a part of another Global or Definitive Note for an interest in this Global Note, have been made: Date of Exchange Amount of decrease in Principal Amount of this Global Note Amount of increase in Principal Amount of this Global Note Principal Amount of this Global Note following such decrease or increase Signature of authorized signatory of Trustee or Custodian * For Global Notes.



 







B-10 Exhibit B Form of Certificate of Transfer Black Knight InfoServ, LLC c/o Black Knight, Inc. 601 Riverside Ave. Jacksonville, Florida 32204 Attention: Chief Legal Officer Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 1 Independent Drive, Suite 620 Jacksonville, FL 32202 Attn: Corporate Trust Services u Administration, Black Knight InfoServ, LLC Facsimile: (866) 558-8345 Phone: (857) 504-2448 Email: patrick.giordano@wellsfargo.com Re: 3.625% Senior Notes due 2028 Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, dated as of August 26, 2020 (the wIndenturex(* Yegf_ l`] Dkkm]j* l`] _mYjYflgjk hYjlq l`]j]lg Yf\ l`] Ojmkl]], >YhalYdar]\ l]jek used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Indenture. V​W 'l`] wTransferorx( gofk Yf\ hjghgk]k lg ljYfk^]j l`] Igl]Vs] or interest in such Igl]VkW kh][a^a]\ af <ff]p < `]j]lg* af l`] hjaf[ahYd Yegmfl g^ $V​W af km[` Igl]VkW gj afl]j]klk 'l`] wTransferx(* lg V​W 'l`] wTransfereex(* Yk ^mjl`]j kh][a^a]\ af <ff]p < `]j]lg, Df [gff][lagf with the Transfer, the Transferor hereby certifies that: [CHECK ALL THAT APPLY] 1. [_] CHECK IF TRANSFEREE WILL TAKE DELIVERY OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN THE RELEVANT 144A GLOBAL NOTE OR A DEFINITIVE NOTE PURSUANT TO RULE 144A. The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Mmd] /22< mf\]j l`] Pfal]\ NlYl]k N][mjala]k <[l g^ /711* Yk Ye]f\]\ 'l`] wSecurities Actx(* and, accordingly, the Transferor hereby further certifies that the beneficial interest or Definitive Note is being transferred to a Person that the Transferor reasonably believes is purchasing the beneficial interest or Definitive Note for its own account, or for one or more accounts with respect to which such Person exercises sole investment discretion, and such Person and each km[` Y[[gmfl ak Y wimYda^a]\ afklalmlagfYd Zmq]jx oal`af l`] e]Yfaf_ g^ Mmd] /22< af Y transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and such Transfer is in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States. 2. [_] CHECK IF TRANSFEREE WILL TAKE DELIVERY OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN THE REGULATION S GLOBAL NOTE OR A DEFINITIVE NOTE PURSUANT TO REGULATION S. The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act and, accordingly, the Transferor B-11 hereby further certifies that (i) the Transfer is not

being made to a person in the United States and (x) at the time the buy order was originated, the Transferee was outside the United States or such Transferor and any Person acting on its behalf reasonably believed and believes that the Transferee was outside the United States or (y) the transaction was executed in, on or through the facilities of a designated offshore securities market and neither such Transferor nor any Person acting on its behalf knows that the transaction was prearranged with a buyer in the United States, (ii) no directed selling efforts have been made in contravention of the requirements of Rule 903(b) or Rule 904(b) of Regulation S under the Securities Act, (iii) the transaction is not part of a plan or scheme to evade the registration requirements of the Securities Act and (iv) if the proposed transfer is being made prior to the expiration of the 40-day distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S), the transfer is not being made to a U.S. Person or for the account or benefit of a U.S. Person (other than an initial purchaser of the Notes). Upon consummation of the proposed transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will be subject to the restrictions on Transfer enumerated in the Indenture and the Securities Act. 3. [Reserved] 4. [_] CHECK AND COMPLETE IF TRANSFEREE WILL TAKE DELIVERY OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN A DEFINITIVE NOTE PURSUANT TO ANY PROVISION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OTHER THAN RULE 144A OR REGULATION S. The Transfer is being effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to beneficial interests in Restricted Global Notes and Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act and any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States, and accordingly the Transferor hereby further certifies that (check one): (a) [_] such Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act; (b) [_] such Transfer is being effected to the Issuer or a subsidiary thereof; or (c) [_] such Transfer is being effected pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, and in compliance with the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. 5. [_] CHECK IF TRANSFEREE WILL TAKE DELIVERY

OF A BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN AN UNRESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTE OR OF AN UNRESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTE. (a) [_] CHECK IF TRANSFER IS PURSUANT TO RULE 144. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act and in compliance with the transfer restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States and (ii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will no longer be B-12 subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Global Notes, on Restricted Definitive Notes and in the Indenture. (b) [_] CHECK IF TRANSFER IS PURSUANT TO REGULATION S. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 under the Securities Act and in compliance with the transfer restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States and (ii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will no longer be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Global Notes, on Restricted Definitive Notes and in the Indenture. (c) [_] CHECK IF TRANSFER IS PURSUANT TO OTHER EXEMPTION. (i) The Transfer is being effected pursuant to and in compliance with an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act other than Rule 144, Rule 903 or Rule 904 and in compliance with the transfer restrictions contained in the Indenture and any applicable blue sky securities laws of any State of the United States and (ii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act. Upon

consummation of the proposed Transfer in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the transferred beneficial interest or Definitive Note will not be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Global Notes or Restricted Definitive Notes and in the Indenture. This certificate and the statements contained herein are made for your benefit and the benefit of the Issuer. [Insert Name of Transferor] By: V​W IYe]8 V​W Oald]8 V​W ?Yl]\8 V​W B-3 B-13 ANNEX A TO CERTIFICATE OF TRANSFER 1. The Transferor owns and proposes to transfer the following: [CHECK ONE OF (a) OR (b)] (a) [_] a beneficial interest in the: (i) [_] 144A Global Note, or (ii) [_] Regulation S Global Note, or (b) [_] a Restricted Definitive Note. 2. After the Transfer the Transferee will hold: [CHECK ONE] (a) [_] a beneficial interest in the: (i) [_] 144A Global Note, or (ii) [_] Regulation S Global Note, or (iii) [_] Unrestricted Global Note; or (b) [_] a Restricted Definitive Note; or (c) [_] an Unrestricted Definitive Note, in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.



 







C-1 Exhibit C Form of Certificate of Exchange Black Knight InfoServ, LLC c/o Black Knight, Inc. 601 Riverside Ave. Jacksonville, Florida 32204 Attention: Chief Legal Officer Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 1 Independent Drive, Suite 620 Jacksonville, FL 32202 Attn: Corporate Trust Services u Administration, Black Knight InfoServ, LLC Facsimile: (866) 558-8345 Phone: (857) 504-2448 Email: patrick.giordano@wellsfargo.com Re: 3.625% Senior Notes due 2028 Reference is hereby made to the Indenture, dated as of August 26, 2020 (the wIndenturex(* Yegf_ l`] Dkkm]j* l`] _mYjYflgjk hYjlq l`]j]lg Yf\ l`] Ojmkl]], >YhalYdar]\ l]jek used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Indenture. V​W 'l`] wOwnerx( gofk Ynd proposes to exchange the Note[s] or interest in such Note[s] kh][a^a]\ af <ff]p < `]j]lg* af l`] hjaf[ahYd Yegmfl g^ $V​W af km[` Igl]VkW gj afl]j]klk 'l`] wExchangex(, Df [gff][lagf oal` l`] @p[`Yf_]* l`] Jof]j `]j]Zq []jla^a]k l`Yl8 1. EXCHANGE OF RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTES OR BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN A RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTE FOR UNRESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTES OR BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN AN UNRESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTE (a) [_] CHECK IF EXCHANGE IS FROM BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN A RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTE TO BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN AN UNRESTRICTED BGJ=<G IJO@, Df [gff][lagf oal` l`] @p[`Yf_] g^ l`] Jof]jzk Z]f]^a[aYd afl]j]kl af Y Restricted Global Note for a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note in an equal principal amount, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the beneficial interest is being acquired for the Jof]jzk gof Y[[gmfl oal`gml ljYfk^]j* 'aa( km[` @p[`Yf_] `Yk Z]]f ]^^][l]\ af [gehdaYf[] oal` the transfer restrictions applicable to the Global Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the United SlYl]k N][mjala]k <[l g^ /711* Yk Ye]f\]\ 'l`] wSecurities Actx(* 'aaa( l`] j]klja[lagfk on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Note is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States. (b) [_] CHECK IF EXCHANGE IS FROM BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN A RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTE TO UNRESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTE. In connection C-2 oal` l`] @p[`Yf_] g^ l`] Jof]jzk

Z]f]^a[aYd afl]j]kl af Y M]klja[l]\ BdgZYd Igl] ^gj Yf Unrestricted Definitive Note, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the Definitive Note is being acquired ^gj l`] Jof]jzk gof Y[[gmfl oal`gml ljYfk^]r, (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Restricted Global Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the Definitive Note is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States. (c) [_] CHECK IF EXCHANGE IS FROM RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTE TO BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN AN UNRESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTE. In connection with the Jof]jzk @p[`Yf_] g^ Y M]klja[l]\ ?]^afalan] Igl] ^gj Y Z]f]^a[aYd afl]j]kl af Yf Pfj]klja[l]\ Global Note, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the beneficial interest is being acquired for the Jof]jzk gof Y[[gmfl oal`gml ljYfk^]j* 'aa( km[` @p[`Yf_] `Yk Z]]f ]^^][l]\ af [gehdaYf[] oal` the transfer restrictions applicable to Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the beneficial interest is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States. (d) [_] CHECK IF EXCHANGE IS FROM RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTE TO PIM@NOMD>O@? ?@ADIDODQ@ IJO@, Df [gff][lagf oal` l`] Jof]jzk @p[`Yf_] g^ Y Restricted Definitive Note for an Unrestricted Definitive Note, the Owner hereby certifies (i) the Pfj]klja[l]\ ?]^afalan] Igl] ak Z]af_ Y[imaj]\ ^gj l`] Jof]jzk gof Y[[gmfl oal`gml ljYfk^]j* 'aa( such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to Restricted Definitive Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, (iii) the restrictions on transfer contained in the Indenture and the Private Placement Legend are not required in order to maintain compliance with the Securities Act and (iv) the Unrestricted Definitive Note is being acquired in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States. 2.

EXCHANGE OF RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTES OR BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTES FOR RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTES OR BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTES. (a) [_] CHECK IF EXCHANGE IS FROM BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN A RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTE TO RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTE. In connection with l`] @p[`Yf_] g^ l`] Jof]jzk Z]f]^a[aYd afl]j]kl af Y M]kljicted Global Note for a Restricted Definitive Note with an equal principal amount, the Owner hereby certifies that the Restricted ?]^afalan] Igl] ak Z]af_ Y[imaj]\ ^gj l`] Jof]jzk gof Y[[gmfl oal`gml ljYfk^]j, Phgf consummation of the proposed Exchange in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the Restricted Definitive Note issued will continue to be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the Restricted Definitive Note and in the Indenture and the Securities Act. (b) [_] CHECK IF EXCHANGE IS FROM RESTRICTED DEFINITIVE NOTE TO BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN A RESTRICTED GLOBAL NOTE. In connection with the C-3 @p[`Yf_] g^ l`] Jof]jzk M]klja[l]\ ?]^afalan] Igl] ^gj Y Z]f]^a[aYd afl]j]kl af l`] V>C@>F ONE] [_] 144A Global Note or [_] Regulation S Global Note, with an equal principal amount, l`] Jof]j `]j]Zq []jla^a]k 'a( l`] Z]f]^a[aYd afl]j]kl ak Z]af_ Y[imaj]\ ^gj l`] Jof]jzk gof account without transfer and (ii) such Exchange has been effected in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Restricted Global Notes and pursuant to and in accordance with the Securities Act, and in compliance with any applicable blue sky securities laws of any state of the United States. Upon consummation of the proposed Exchange in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, the beneficial interest issued will be subject to the restrictions on transfer enumerated in the Private Placement Legend printed on the relevant Restricted Global Note and in the Indenture and the Securities Act. This certificate and the statements contained herein are made for your benefit and the benefit of the Issuer and are dated. [Insert Name of Owner] By: V​W IYe]8 V​W Oald]8 V​W ?Yl]\8 V​W C-4 ANNEX A TO CERTIFICATE OF EXCHANGE 1. The Owner owns and proposes to exchange the following: [CHECK ONE OF (a) OR (b)] (a) [_] a beneficial interest in the: (i) [_] 144A Global

Note, or (ii) [_] Regulation S Global Note, or (b) [_] a Restricted Definitive Note. 2. After the Exchange the Owner will hold: [CHECK ONE] (a) [_] a beneficial interest in the: (i) [_] 144A Global Note, or (ii) [_] Regulation S Global Note, or (iii) [_] Unrestricted Global Note; or (b) [_] a Restricted Definitive Note; or (c) [_] an Unrestricted Definitive Note, in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.



 





D-1 Exhibit D Form of Supplemental Indenture to be Delivered by Subsequent Guarantors [__________] Nmhhd]e]flYd Df\]flmj] 'l`ak wSupplemental Indenturex(* \Yl]\ Yk g^ [__________], 20[__], among Black Knight InfoServ, LLC, a Delaware limited liability [gehYfq 'l`] wIssuerx(* VXXXXXXXXXXW 'V]Y[`* YW - Vl`]W wGuaranteeing Subsidiaryx( Yf\ R]ddk Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee under the Indenture referred to below (the wTrusteex(, W I T N E S S E T H WHEREAS, the Issuer has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee an indenture 'l`] wIndenturex(* \Yl]\ Yk g^ <m_mkl 04* 0.0.* hjgna\af_ ^gj l`] akkmYf[] g^ l`] Dkkm]jzk 1,403% N]fagj Igl]k \m] 0.06 'l`] wNotesx(9 WHEREAS, the Indenture provides that under certain circumstances the Guaranteeing Subsidiar[y] / [ies] shall execute and deliver to the Trustee a supplemental indenture pursuant to o`a[` l`] BmYjYfl]]af_ NmZka\aYjVqW - Va]kW k`Ydd mf[gf\alagfYddq _mYjYfl]] Ydd g^ l`] Dkkm]jzk Obligations under the Notes and the Indenture on the terms and conditions set forth herein and mf\]j l`] Df\]flmj] 'l`] wGuaranteex(9 Yf\ RC@M@<N* hmjkmYfl lg Section 9.01 of the Indenture, the Issuer and the Trustee are authorized to execute and deliver this Supplemental Indenture without the consent of the Holders of the Notes. NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties mutually covenant and agree for the equal and ratable benefit of the Holders of the Notes as follows: (1) Capitalized Terms. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indenture. (2) Agreement to Guarantee. [Each of the] / [The] Guaranteeing Subsidiar[y] / [ies] hereby (a) jointly and severally agrees, along [with all the other Guaranteeing Subsidiaries and] with all existing Guarantors, to provide an unconditional Guarantee of the Notes on the terms set forth in the Indenture including but not limited to Article X thereof and (b) becomes a party to the Indenture as a Guarantor and, as such, will have the rights and be subject to all of the obligations and agreements of a Guarantor under the Indenture. (3) No Recourse Against Others. No director, officer, employee, incorporator, member, partner or stockholder of [each of the] / [the] Guaranteeing Subsidiar[y] / [ies] shall have

any liability for any obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantors (including the Guaranteeing Subsidiar[y] / [ies]) under the Notes, any Guarantees, the Indenture or this Supplemental Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each Holder by accepting Notes waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the Notes. D-2 (4) GOVERNING LAW. THIS SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. (5) Counterparts. The parties may sign any number of copies of this Supplemental Indenture. Each signed copy shall be an original, but all of them together represent the same agreement. The exchange of copies of this Supplemental Indenture and of signature pages by facsimile or PDF transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Supplemental Indenture as to the parties hereto and may be used in lieu of the original Supplemental Indenture and signature pages for all purposes. (6) Effect of Headings. The Section headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof. (7) The Trustee. The Trustee shall not be responsible in any manner whatsoever for or in respect of the validity or sufficiency of this Supplemental Indenture or for or in respect of the recitals contained herein, all of which recitals are made solely by the Guaranteeing Subsidiary. (8) Notices. All notices or other communications to the Guarantors shall be given as provided in Section 12.01 of the Indenture. (9) Ratification of Indenture; Supplemental Indentures Part of Indenture. Except as expressly amended and supplemented hereby, the Indenture is in all respects ratified and confirmed and all the terms, conditions and provisions thereof shall remain in full force and effect. This Supplemental Indenture shall form a part of the Indenture for all purposes, and every Holder of Notes heretofore or hereafter authenticated and delivered shall be bound hereby. [Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank] D-3 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Supplemental Indenture to be duly executed, all as of the date first above written. BLACK KNIGHT INFOSERV, LLC, as Issuer By: IYe]8 V​W Tild]8 V​W V​W* Yk BmYjYflgj By: IYe]8 V​W Oald]8 V​W WELLS FARGO BANK,

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee By: IYe]8 V​W Oald]8 V​W



 



 

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Jeffrey C. Sprecher, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 2, 2023
 

/s/ Jeffrey C. Sprecher
 

Jeffrey C. Sprecher

Chair of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer



 

7EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, A. Warren Gardiner, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 2, 2023
 

/s/ A. Warren Gardiner
 

A. Warren Gardiner

Chief Financial Officer



 

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

    In connection with the Quarterly Report of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jeffrey C. Sprecher, Chair of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 2, 2023
 

/s/ Jeffrey C. Sprecher
 

Jeffrey C. Sprecher

Chair of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer



 

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

    In connection with the Quarterly Report of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, A. Warren Gardiner, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1)    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 2, 2023
 

/s/ A. Warren Gardiner
 

A. Warren Gardiner

Chief Financial Officer


